
        
            
                
            
        

    


TEARS IN PARADISE

Suffering and Struggles of Indians in Fiji 1879–2004

Rajendra Prasad



“Writer’s Digest, Cincinnati, Ohio, United States – 

“This is an amazing work of research, compiled historical facts, personal stories, anecdotes, even stories within stories. How many of us know much of anything about this area of the world, much less the horrendous suffering the Indians encountered; the book is therefore a genuine eye opener that makes us aware of such pain, inequities, their indentured lives. In that regard Prasad has done public a service, to make us aware.



Mr. Prasad writes evenly, eloquently with heartfelt interest as he uncovers his roots and other surprising discoveries, new languages of his ancestral home. To him, thousands of Indians, Fiji is indeed a paradise lost. The old photos add stark reality, immediacy, expressing the horror of the author’s stories”.
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Readers’ Response


The telling of this story is a catharsis for Rajendra Prasad. The feeling he describes plumbs the depths of emotion simply and without artifice. There is pathos but not pity, pain but not self-centeredness, suffering without sentimentality. Tears in Paradise is in a sense an extraordinary journey . . .

Ratu Joni Madraiwiwi, Vice President, Republic of Fiji


In Tears in Paradise there is substance, hitherto hidden and unknown. It is based not on fiction but truth. It has the power to shock, violence that will confound, suffering that will haunt, endurance that will challenge, struggle that will inspire and fortitude that will astound.

Indian Newslink, Auckland, New Zealand



I was deeply moved by Tears in Paradise . . . once in my hand, I could not put it down and cried at several places. It eloquently brought out the human element often missing in other historical publications on the subject.

K.C. Ramrakha, former MP and prominent lawyer, Sydney, Australia


Tears in Paradise eloquently  captures two significant periods of Indo-Fijian history. It is written with passion often bursting with emotions that will keep the reader entranced to the very end. It is an essential book for every Indo-Fijian family.

Vijendra Kumar, former editor, The Fiji Times, Brisbane, Australia


In Tears in Paradise, an immaculately presented, well-researched book, Rajendra Prasad has painted a very vivid picture of the indentured Indo-Fijians . . . the whips and taunts of the sadistic overseers and managers, exacerbated by a justice system heavily weighted against them, provides gruesome reading.

Bernard Holibar, Secretary, New Zealand Society of Authors, Auckland Branch


Even after a century of hard work, enterprise and sacrifice, descendants of Indian immigrants still shed tears in Fiji because of rising racial hostility in their adopted country. It is this heart-tearing puzzle that Rajendra Prasad seeks to decode in his intense and emotional  book, Tears in Paradise.

Times of India


Prasad deftly alternates between being a personal diarist and dispassionate chronicler, writing equally with heart and head, switching between the roles with great élan . . . The writing of this work has undoubtedly been a cathartic experience for Rajendra Prasad, and his emotion-soaked, straight-from-the-heart  passages envelop the reader in a most engaging manner while unveiling one of the little-known, darkest chapters of our history.

Dev Nadkarni, Senior Editor, Islands Business magazine


Rajendra Prasad’s Tears in Paradise echoes the cries of a community long suppressed and, through it, has found utterance with such power, passion and emotions that will leave the reader in awe, wonder and tears. It has removed the cover over a gruesome period of our history that was deliberately concealed to hide the crimes of the British Colonial Government and the ruthless CSR Company. There is no other book of such eloquence on the indenture period in Fiji.

Thakur Ranjit Singh, human rights activist and newspaper columnist, Auckland, New Zealand
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INTRODUCTION

TEARS IN PARADISE

Suffering and Struggles of Indians in Fiji 1879–2004


During my childhood, I was awed by the stories of girmit, the indenture period of Indian people in Fiji from 1879 to 1919. I never thought that the small flame of passion that my Daadaji (grandfather) and my Daadiji (grandmother) had lit in my heart at a tender age would one day become a burning desire to write this book.

Indo-Fijians are the descendants of indentured labourers who were recruited from India by the British (1879 to 1916) to work in the sugarcane plantations in Fiji. It was a British colony from 1874 to 1970. The indenture system was the successor to a reformed system of slavery in that it was a contractual agreement for a fixed period of five years. Under the indenture system, the British from 1834 to 1916 recruited Indian nationals for its colonial outposts. 60 553 indentured labourers were recruited for Fiji under the indenture system.

The terms and conditions of the contract bound the recruits for nine hours of work per day, five and a half days per week. The employers were to provide accommodation and medical facilities, including some rations for the first six months. Each adult male (fifteen years and over) received one shilling per day and an adult female received nine pence per day. The assignment of work was generally by task, and women were expected to do three-fourths of a man’s task per day. After ten years’ residence, the recruits qualified for a free return passage to India, or they could return to India at their own expense upon completion of their five-year term of indenture.

Indenture was a system of manipulation, domination, intimidation and exploitation of human labour, and mental and physical violence were mercilessly used to increase productivity and raise the profitability of the white planters. In Fiji the dominant planter, miller and the largest employer of indentured labourers was the Australia-based Colonial Sugar Refining Company Limited (CSR Company). It had established its mills at Nausori (1882–1959), Ba (1886), Labasa (1894) and Lautoka (1904). In 1926 it also acquired the sugar mill at Raki Raki from the Melbourne Trust Company. A relatively large mill at Navua, on the eastern side of the main island of Viti Levu, was operated by Vancouver Sugar Company. It employed a large number of indentured labourers. However, following the abolition of the indenture system in Fiji on I January 1920, and unable to operate profitably, it ceased its operations in 1923.

In this book, British depravity and the barbarity of the CSR Company against the indentured labourers is unveiled. While many have rightly said that British colonial rule left the rich legacy of a robust parliamentary democracy, and efficient justice and administrative systems, others have condemned it as a period of British expansionism and exploitation.

Few writers have delved into British brutality and criminality during this period. In British texts, Indo-Fijian history and the role played by the indentured labourers in enriching the British Empire abroad have not featured prominently. However, there were a few writers, like Hugh Tinker, who said of the indentured labourers, in his book A New System of Slavery:


It was their labour, along with British capital and expertise, which created the overseas wealth of Britain.



This assertion has not been repudiated or challenged, and it is indeed indefensible as Indians served the British Empire with unequalled dedication and distinction. It is my contention that the British betrayed them. The Indian indentured labourers were British subjects, as India was under British rule until 1947, but Britain abrogated its obligation and failed to protect their rights. Instead, it joined with others to exploit them.

In Fiji, the British colluded with the ruthless CSR Company in its abuse of the indentured labourers, even turning the justice system into an instrument of torment. The indentured labourers, distraught at the injustices meted out to them, sought redress through the courts. In most cases, they received injustice. The perpetrators of appalling crimes against them escaped punishment. Some of the accounts of violence against the indentured labourers in Fiji under the British Raj are spine-chilling.

I hold the perpetrators of these crimes to be accountable, even at this belated stage. They can no longer hide behind the veneer of righteousness, using sanctimonious aphorisms. It was a carefully orchestrated campaign of exploitation and, to preserve power and to plunder profits, CSR Company and the British visited the gravest atrocities on our people. The trauma of indenture humiliated and shattered the victims.

The wounds of the indenture caused great pain and suffering to subsequent generations of Indo-Fijians. It has had a strong psychological impact on the lives of successive generations of our people who have inherited the stigma of shame. I believe that it was a shame, that of those who robbed a generation of their freedom, liberty and rights. In Fiji, those responsible were the British Government, the CSR Company and the Australian Government. Collectively, they comprised an axis of evil.

The two parts of this book cover two distinct periods of Indo-Fijian history. The first part covers the indenture era, with the first chapter describing a pilgrimage to my ancestral roots. This first half of the book reflects on Indian culture and caste as well as the recruitment of labourers in India and the dispersal of the indentured labourers to the plantations. It details the atrocious working and living conditions and the cases of violence that contributed to murder, mayhem and suicide amongst the indentured labourers. I also cover the reasons for their tolerance of the brutal conditions and the methods they used to bear it, the resistance against the indenture system, its abolition and the aftermath.

I have intensely scrutinised the CSR Company because it held a monopoly over Fiji’s sugar industry during the indenture period and was the largest employer of indentured labourers. Its practices were representative of conditions under which all indentured labourers worked and lived in Fiji.

The second part of this book covers the period 1920 to 2004 and reviews Indo-Fijian history in the post-indenture period. The immigrants viewed this time as a period of triumph, and a time for rebuilding their lives from the ashes of indenture. Most immigrants became sugarcane farmers, leasing land from the CSR Company or indigenous Fijians. In this period, the CSR Company — the tiger of terrorism in the indenture era — remained on the prowl, retaining its arrogance and belligerence towards the Indo-Fijians. This part of the book also reflects on village life from the 1940s to the 1960s, and traces the gradual recognition and the restrained rise of the Indo-Fijians in the political, economic and social life of Fiji under adverse conditions — despised by the colonial masters, exploited by the CSR Company and distrusted by Fijians.

In this period, the British colonial policy of divide and rule created a racial divide between Fijians and Indo-Fijians. Their relationship remained antagonistic right up to independence and soured subsequently, leading to the coups of 14 May 1987 and 19 May 2000. At the dawn of the new century, Fiji raged in the fire of racism and the Indo-Fijians suffered persecution, intimidation, violence and eviction from Fijian land. It broke their faith, hope and trust in Fiji. Despite thousands of Indo-Fijians who have emigrated, a significant number are still in Fiji, hopeful that the country may yet provide them with a safe, secure and stable future.








PART ONE: INDENTURE PERIOD 1879–1919

Struggles of a Forgotten Generation
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CHAPTER ONE

PILGRIMAGE TO MY ANCESTRAL ROOTS


Roots of my life lie in a distant land,

Its magnetism and power remains effervescent.




Fiji is Nature’s delight. Many call it a paradise in the Pacific. It is dotted with islands, its shores lapped by the waters of the vast Pacific Ocean. Swaying coconut palms and the silent but expansive greenery of tropical vegetation give a majestic hue to the islands. Silence on the land and tumult at sea confirm the variety of Nature’s moods. They also symbolise the nation’s variable political moods, sometimes reassuring and sometimes threatening its peoples. Despite such buffeting, Fiji continues to fall and then rise and fall yet again.

In this uneasy political environment, two races feature prominently: Fijians, who make up 51 per cent of the population, and Indo-Fijians who comprise 42 per cent of the population. From the 1940s to the 1980s, the Indo-Fijian population exceeded the Fijian population. However, following the political turmoil caused by the military in 1987 and the civilian coup of 2000, thousands of Indo-Fijians emigrated in search of a safe and secure future.

Indo-Fijians have lived in Fiji for over a hundred years. The pioneer generation, referred to as girmitiyas, was brought to Fiji by the British as indentured labourers to work in the sugarcane plantations. Some returned after the completion of their five-year indenture, but the majority chose not to return to India. My grandparents, who were girmitiyas, were in this category. It is from them that I first learned about the infamous girmit period in Fiji.

Four generations of my family have lived in Fiji since my Daadaji came to these shores, with his wife, Dulara, as a girmitiya in 1908. On completion of their indenture, they settled with his girmitiya cousin Dhelai and his wife Changura, to form one extended family, in Maururu, west of Ba town, in western Viti Levu. In 1919, Dulara died in the flu epidemic which ravaged Fiji along with many other parts of the world. Daadaji never remarried. He continued working for the Rarawai sugar mill after his girmit and, following a chronic back injury, ceased working in 1928. In 1932, the family moved to Vaqia, some seven kilometres south of Ba town, having acquired ten hectares of sugarcane-growing land leased from the CSR Company. Dhelai continued working at the sugar mill and died in a work-related accident in 1942. Changura, my Daadiji, became part of our family.

Our sugarcane farm is in the proximity of the Ba River and is part of its fertile valley. The valley through which the river meanders is rich in agricultural land, devoted almost exclusively to the cultivation of sugarcane. Below the western tip of a mountain ridge, in Vaqia, is our home, tucked into the lower crest of the hill. It has remained the firm anchor of our family where all my three brothers and three sisters were born. Subsequently, my brothers’ children and my children were also born at this family sanctuary.

The hill above our home is grazing land and it overlooks the river, the valley and, in the far distance, to the west, south and east, the unbroken ‘Karia Pahaad,’ the Black Mountain range. The mountains stand like a fortress overlooking a large part of the Ba district, and in the north is the Pacific Ocean. Here and there majestic waterfalls punctuate the Black Mountains; otherwise they sleep under a blanket of darkness from one end to the other. Once, in the distant haze, the mountains looked black when they were thickly vegetated with mostly exotic tropical trees and plants. Now, in the evenings, family members sometimes ascend the hill to capture the refreshing view of the Ba River. The unbroken green canopy of the sugarcane spreads like a huge carpet up to the foothills of the Black Mountain ranges.

I have often stood on this hill above our home. Even in sorrow, it has a refreshing and recuperative effect. Yet it is the sugarcane fields that have constantly gripped my attention. Behind the beauty lies sadness, both profound and intense. Look at the sugarcane fields from high ground. There is an eeriness emanating from their silence. Walk through the narrow tracks, shadowed by cane stalks with dry leaves at the stems and thick green foliage at the top, dancing to the rhythm of the wind. Even in stillness, one can almost feel the powerful presence of the spirits of sorrow and grief exuding from these sugarcane fields. They are the spirits of our ancestors.

The sugar industry in Fiji was established with the blood, sweat and tears of our ancestors. The majority worked on the sugarcane plantations or the mills owned by the CSR Company. The overwhelming number of girmitiyas were Hindu. Hinduism assertively claims that the spirits of those who die in tragic circumstances do not find a resting place. The spirits of the dead become part of that environment. Indenture was that tragic period.

According to Hindu custom, sons propitiate the spirits of parents after their death, following elaborate religious and customary rituals. These are extended annually to all the ascendant familial spirits. However, the servile conditions of the indenture made this neither feasible nor practicable. The dead were disposed of in haste and families and friends were not allowed to engage in the traditional mourning or rituals that followed death.

The desperate cries of the girmitiyas echoed from 1879–1919 in the fields, but it was not until later that the outside world came to their rescue. When their white masters turned away their faces and the victims seethed in agony, the girmitiyas found comfort in relating their anguish to the trees and plants around them. A folk song called bidesia, a lamentation, composed under these traumatic circumstances by one of the girmitiyas, reflects the depth of their suffering:


Chhuri, kudaari ke sung, Ab bitay din aur ratian; Ganne ki hari hari patiyan, Jaane hamari dil ke batiyaan.



In these couplets, the lyricist tells of the widespread suffering of the girmitiyas’ work in the sugarcane fields, saying that knife and hoe are their companions day and night. Atrocities against them are so blatant that even the green leaves of the sugarcane bear witness to the flames of anguish that consume their hearts.

Daadaji, my paternal grandfather, was a remarkable man. Both my Daadaji and Naanaji (maternal grandfather) had the same name — Budhai. Names in that generation often celebrated the day on which they were born. They were born on budhwaar (Wednesday) and so they were named Budhai. A female born on budhwaar was named Budhia. In the same manner, a male born on shukrawaar (Friday) was named Sukhai and female was named Sukhia; a male born on shaniwaar (Saturday) was named Sanichra and a female named Sanichri. Similarly, other girmitiyas, particularly those from northern India, sometimes had names that reflected the day of their birth.

Both Daadaji and Naanaji came to Fiji on the ship Sangola II in 1908. Daadaji was a man of intellect and wisdom; Naanaji was of a fiery nature and seemed to think that anger and violence were a substitute for reason.

By nature, Daadaji and Naanaji were incompatible and disliked each other.

I remembered Daadaji as a huge rotund man, heavily moustached and greying with age. He was an impressive figure in our village. Clad in white dhoti (loincloth traditionally worn by Hindu males) and white pagdi (turban), he delighted in looking after his prized cow ‘Hafkasia’ (derived from the word half-caste). From her name, I gleaned that Hafkasia was crossbred. Daadaji grazed her every morning and afternoon. When Hafkasia, a big cow with huge horns, was visibly swollen with the best feed, she returned home with Daadaji holding the rope behind her.

As Hafkasia neared home, she displayed anxiety and aggression as she sought her calf. Her calf would know the time of her return in the evening and would often moo for her attention. She would respond to the call and accelerate her pace, showing intensity and extreme volatility, particularly when the calf was young. Hafkasia hated dogs, and many narrowly escaped being gored by her sharp horns. Even we, as children, were warned to keep well clear of her path.

Being of Ahir caste, a caste of cattle herdsmen, Daadaji loved cows more than any other animal. Cows were an integral part of the Ahir family and Hafkasia filled that role in our family. Daadaji milked her in the morning and then in the afternoon. Only he could do it. Hafkasia would not allow anyone else to touch her. They had established a relationship of respect and love for each other that continued for many years.

Hafkasia was like a mother to our family — a family jewel. Her milk sustained the family for more than a decade. Everyone drank milk, from the infants to the aged. Curd, butter and ghee were made from surplus milk. Hafkasia produced many male calves that grew into healthy bulls. They were paired and yoked for work on our farm, or sold to others. None of them could be sold to the Kasaai (butcher); it was a Hindu affirmation of respect and reverence for cattle. At the end of their productive life they were retired into the Black Mountains of Balevuto, in Ba, where my Naanaji and his querulous cowboy sons Ram Nath, Ram Dutt and Ram Prasad lived.

My uncles were cattle herdsmen, exuding arrogance and pride, riding the finest horses and possessing skills like the western cowboys. They leased large tracts of Fijian land upon which they grazed their cattle. They were attuned to violence and, if they were not fighting others, they fought with each other. In time, there was no one to match them in physical combat in the village. Their names aroused awe and reverence even in the adjoining villages. To us they were kind, and they grazed our cattle for free while others paid a fee of twenty cents per head per week.

The day of final farewell to the aged animals that formed part of our life and our family was sad indeed. It was like a funeral. We witnessed many of our cattle leave at the end of their productive life, and each separation gave us pain. However, the arrival of new ones would often fill the vacuum and give rise to a new relationship. Of all the partings, Hafkasia’s was the saddest that I can remember. Early one morning she was readied for exile. Chandrika, my eldest brother, mounted his horse to escort her to her destination. Every family member came out to see her depart. Daadaji was frail by this time. He leaned on his lathi (walking stick), solemn and sombre, for a final salute to his treasured companion.

We stood, sad and silenced at this painful separation. We watched as Hafkasia walked away with the same grace and dignity as she did every morning, unaware that she would never return. She took the road and bellowed as if it was her last sigh. The sound was powerful, as always, and it echoed far and wide in the Ba River valley that had been her home for more than a decade. We watched until she faded into the distance. She left an imprint in my mind that time has failed to obliterate. She has often revisited my memory and I grieve that humanity has rarely acknowledged, let alone valued, how animals have served us, been sacrificed, and enriched our lives.

I spent the best part of my childhood with Daadaji. He made an impact on my life at a tender age. I was closer to him than I was to my father. We slept in the same grass-thatched house (bure). At night, he kept me entranced and enthralled for hours with fables and epic stories. These included stories about ghosts, ghouls, goblins and demons. In ancient times, story-telling took the listener beyond the realm of ordinary thinking. India was a rich fount of ancient, spellbinding tales, and Indians carried these tales wherever they went.

Daadaji was richly endowed with the ability to tell amazing stories. He was always eager to share these stories with me. Each story had a distinct moral behind it and dwelt heavily on love, truth, forgiveness, righteousness, honesty and integrity. He also told me about the experiences of girmit in Fiji, which made a deep impression on my mind. Sometimes these stories appeared in my dreams.

Daadaji also took me on a mental journey to India, to his village Belha Ragho, in Bahraich, Uttar Pradesh. I marvelled at India and the stories about its greatness. When Daadaji told stories of the village, he seemed to be physically present with his family in India. It would move him deeply. Sharing these feelings with me seemed to give him a sense of relief.

I listened to Daadaji’s stories, and made that journey of the imagination to India and his village. I visualised the green fields, farmers eking out their existence tilling the soil, cattle harnessed and domesticated to be part of Nature’s design of interdependence. Cattle were as inseparable from the rural Hindu household of India as the tortoise is from its shell. Dharti Mata (mother earth) and Gau Mata (mother cow) were terms reverentially used by Daadaji. Both terms are sacrosanct to Hindus. Love of land and reverence for cows are pursued with religious fervour.

The stories of Daadaji initially created an intense desire in me to know more about my roots, about girmit and about India. Over the years and with the death of Daadaji, in 1962, the void was filled by my Daadiji, who was as resourceful in storytelling as my Daadaji and, indeed, more open about the horrors of girmit. However, the subject was taboo at social gatherings. This part of Indo-Fijian history had been buried by the passage of time, and the community seemed to make a conscious effort to obliterate it from its memory because of a stigma attached to it.

I did not know that an opportunity would arise to radically change my perception of that period and set me on course to remove the unwarranted shame, which had robbed successive generations of Indo-Fijians of their claim to a rich legacy. In 1974, while I was the Town Clerk at Ba, the Indian Government granted me a scholarship to undertake a series of courses in municipal management at the Indian Institute of Public Administration, in Delhi.

During this time, travel overseas in our community was rare. Anyone going abroad, even for a short period, received considerable attention. Going to India was very special. The ties were strong and emotional. India was special in the hearts and minds of the girmitiyas and we, as their descendants, were not averse to such sentiments. Understandably, my going to India aroused great interest among friends and family members.

My immediate family was thrilled at the thought, and my father mulled over the possibility of me tracing our ancestral roots. My father was a respected man in our village. Everyone called him sardar (sirdar), a title for the supervisor of sugarcane farmers and cane cutters. He was an intelligent man who carefully articulated his views. He was of a meditative disposition, and constantly twirled his handlebar moustache when immersed in thought. When he spoke, he could not be ignored — his views were carefully woven into words.

I loved him, but from a distance. The aura of dignity around him denied me any opportunity to openly share with him the innocence of my childhood or the ignorance of my youth. Tradition required obedience and respect, and I extended these fearfully. By the time I overcame my trepidation, my childhood and youth had passed without the experience of my father’s love, which I very much regret.

As days drew close for my departure to India, I saw my father’s anxiety gradually rise, and for the first time a channel of communication between us became established. He rummaged through piles of papers kept in an old biscuit tin in the hope of locating the whereabouts of our family in India. He found nothing. I was relieved. Taking on this mission frightened me. I retained an outward calm, hearing but not listening to the entreaties of my family.

For weeks before my departure, our village, Vaqia, was astir with the news that Ram Lal sardar’s son was going to India. Family members, friends and neighbours arriving in the evenings mused, speculated and contrived plans for retracing our roots and those of others in the village. Most came from the village known as Basti, in the Bahraich district of northern India. They ruminated until late at night, unaware that I was feeling weak at the knees at the idea, although my overwhelming desire was to earn the distinction of reconnecting with our roots. My anxiety at setting out on this journey was largely due to the political and civil unrest that prevailed in India at that time. Police atrocities and lawlessness, according to the western media, were rampant. I did not want to get caught up in violence.

In addition to this, I had read avidly some of the hair-raising accounts of the exploits of bandits in the badlands known as Chambal Valley, home of some of the most notorious gangsters of India. During the 1970s the valley was alive with dacoits like Mohar Singh and his band of daredevils who became internationally known for robbing the rich and rewarding themselves first and then the poor. I had also heard of trains and buses being looted by armed thugs at night, and had a mental picture of India as unsafe for travellers. I was discouraged, unenthusiastic about such an uncertain journey. The flame of childhood interest in my roots was reduced to embers.

However, I could not pour cold water on the dreams and aspirations of the people around me, who saw me as if I had been ordained by God to restore the broken link of our past. Daadiji was blind but physically and mentally agile. She was ecstatic at the prospect of my reconnecting with our roots. Daadiji had butterflies in her stomach. She caressed my hair, hugged me and recounted as much as her memory would allow about the family she had left behind. Nothing of much substance emerged except the names of a few close family members. Nevertheless, her aging heart pounded with the unusual excitement.

I distinctly remember a Saturday in June 1974, when family and friends packed the bus on a journey to Nadi Airport. Before leaving for the airport, I went to Daadiji and reverentially touched her feet and sought her blessings. Touching the feet of parents or grandparents was a strong Hindu custom. It was a reaffirmation of respect and reverence for the exalted position they held in the family. It was never demanded, yet was a tribute in submission and humility which strengthened the familial cord. It always choked me with emotion and reminded me of their place in my personal life. However, this reverence for our elders has fallen victim to the winds of change and no longer features prominently in the lives of subsequent generations.

Daadiji hugged me and held me in her frail arms. With quivering lips, tears rolling down her cheeks, she gave me a heart-wrenching message:


Bachhwa, tu jaa hamre anganwa ke tu paak kar dena. Hamre bhaiya, Pitai, agar hoihein to hamre taraf se chhama mangna; kahna ki jiyara me aag laga hai ab mout he isse paar payee.

Son go to our home to restore the bonds, the sacredness and sanctity of those grounds by your presence. If my brother, Pitai, is alive, seek his forgiveness for me and tell him that my heart is afire at the separation and only death can now extinguish those flames.



These were magic words and they hit me like a bullet. The desire to seek my roots reawakened and coursed through my veins. The waiting bus was full of anxious faces as I left on the journey to Nadi Airport. Those faces were sad — no different from the faces in a funeral procession. My mother sat beside me and my father in front of me. My mother was always a great performer at emotional moments. She could rise into sobbing or even wailing at real or imagined situations. But when other women joined in, she became the comforter, saying:


Nahin ro bahini, ka kariho upar wale par bharossa rakho.

Do not cry sister; what can we do, it is His will; have faith in God.



This is how she would console the victims of her creation. My father and mother were very different, a fact that I perceived early in life. He was endowed with wisdom and she lived through her emotions. In a storm, he would be a rock amidst despair, whereas my mother could create a storm out of her imagination. Yet she also had the capacity to be strong in delicate moments. For me she was an ocean of love that filled the void I acutely felt from my father’s side.

Nadi Airport has witnessed some very emotional Indo-Fijian1 farewells. As a rule, people came in large numbers to the airport and copious tears would be shed. The crowd of ‘mourners’ would then climb up to the viewing deck to see the plane taxi to the runway and take off. Many remained until the aeroplane had disappeared into the clouds.

On this day, I feared that my mother might create a hysterical scene when I went to board the aircraft. She liked attention, even if getting it was a bit out of the ordinary. I took her hand and encouraged her to maintain her strength and composure and to be an example to others. She promised she would not cry when I left.

Once at the airport and having cleared the ticketing requirements, I made a hasty move to escape. Family members were red-eyed, and the women sobbed silently or blew their noses into their handkerchiefs. Everyone carried handkerchiefs to the Nadi Airport on these occasions. I remembered Charles Dickens’ immortal words that life is made up of many partings and each one is not without sorrow.

My father, as usual, retained a dignified calm. He gave me his parting message with a calmness and sincerity that typified his entire life. He said:


Beta, dekhna agar hoe saki to pariwaar walan ke pata lagana.

Son, if possible, try to locate our families.



I could not respond with words but acceded with a nod. At this moment, my emotional composure was bursting at the seams and I decided to escape before I lost it completely. I hastily bade everyone farewell and proceeded towards the aircraft boarding lounge. My mother looked composed, but when I turned back for the final wave I saw a sea of anxious faces and my mother being helped to her feet by family members! Later, I thought the greatest actress in my personal life had performed successfully once again.

Once aboard the aircraft, I could see the viewing deck crowded with people gazing intently at the plane. I could even see my mother, who had regained her composure as fast as she had lost it. The push of the plane towards the runway drew the crowds to the edge of the viewing deck. Some parents lifted their children onto their shoulders to give them a better view. Planes were a novelty for the people who lived in the outer districts and held great fascination for the children.

As our plane, engines roaring, took to the runway and began to rise, I watched the picturesque greenery of the somnolent sugarcane fields below. The picture offered a remarkable contrast between the privation of the rural and the affluence of the urban areas. The rural areas largely depicted the poverty of the farmers and farm workers. The Nadi urban area was studded with ostentatious buildings mostly owned by the Gujerati business community and those higher on the economic ladder. These were the professional people — teachers, doctors, engineers, and the airport workers. Sadly, seeing only the urban facade, Fijians and the world in general often classed Indo-Fijians as an affluent and prosperous community. However, the truth was that the majority of Indo-Fijians lived in the rural areas, and in debt or in poverty.

It was only a matter of minutes before Nadi and Fiji faded from sight. Vishnu Chand, Town Clerk, Lautoka (later Suva), was travelling with me to attend the same course. It was early in the morning when we reached Delhi. Palam Airport, as it was called then, was sleepy and the customs officers added to the prevailing sleepiness. Some yawned, scratched and crawled into position to view the contents of passenger baggage. I had nothing to show. My bag had been lost en route and was never recovered. However, Air India took responsibility and after weeks of bureaucratic nightmare — typical of India — I was compensated.

Once outside, Delhi looked clean and serene until the taxiwallahs (taxi drivers) descended on us like vultures. It was a commotion of the kind witnessed at fairs and festivals. They lacked any courtesy and almost separated me from Vishnu. But Vishnu had travelled to India before and he knew how to sort them out. He did it with firmness and rebuke, which they respected. India, I came to realise, was not a place for the frail or the feeble. The taxi driver, a sardarji (Punjabi) took a devious route, as we subsequently found out. It took twice the time and twice the fare to reach our destination.

In the summer months, Delhi was unbearably hot. People slept on string beds on the roofs or outside in the open. The streets looked wide, clean and lined with trees. I was amazed at the architecture and the variety and elegance of the residential and commercial buildings. Connaught Place, the commercial hub of Delhi, said to be a rare architectural feat, was indeed unique and very impressive. However, Old Delhi was a remarkable contrast — archaic, antiquated, congested and messy but buzzing with life. The spirit of its history was suffused in landmark buildings, including the infamous Red Fort (the seat of Mogul power in Delhi) and the famous Jama Masjid and its bazaars.

The Indian Institute of Public Administration was located in Indra-prastha Estate, a suburb of Delhi, adjoining the celebrated river Yamuna. It was the centre for administrative studies and was supported by distinguished scholars in management in the public and private sectors. It was within walking distance to Rajghat, on the banks of the Yamuna, where Mahatma Gandhi and other national leaders were cremated.

The courses I attended began in the simmering heat of the Indian summer. Other participants came from different parts of India. Because we were from Fiji, a distant land, they were drawn to us. I took the opportunity to discuss Indian culture, Hindu religion, Indian history and significant landmarks with my classmates, and briefed them on the history of Indian migration to Fiji. They took a keen interest. I tried to befriend those who came from Kanpur and Lucknow cities. I had a vague idea that my grandfather’s village lay somewhere outside these cities. No one had heard of the village Belha Ragho, near Basti.

My days passed easily, attending lectures. Nights, however, were more difficult. My thoughts were influenced by the anxiety I had seen in my father’s eyes when he asked me to retrace our roots. He was a man of few words, adept at hiding his emotions. On this occasion, I had seen those steely eyes fill with tears and I was able to fathom the depth of his feelings. I knew that I had an opportunity to accomplish the unfulfilled dream of my family. If I returned without realising this dream, the opportunity would be lost for ever. My hope lay in prayers, and each night I prayed fervently.

Sleep came late and, sometimes, it was Daadaji who came into my dreams. He took me to his village, exactly as he had done during my childhood when he captivated me with stories about his home and India. When I awoke in the mornings, the pang of anticipated failure drew beads of perspiration from my body. I wrote home saying that, in the anonymity of the masses, searching for my family was like looking for a needle in a haystack. I confessed to my anxious father that I would not be able to fulfil the dream of locating our ancestral roots.

My father responded that if I felt that it was not possible then there was no need for me to venture into the unknown. The spirit of his letter conveyed one message, yet I could also discern the underlying sadness. I knew that my father was only being cautious and like any father he did not want me to be exposed to danger. However, the desire to find my roots did not diminish.

For the third and final course, the Public Relations Officer of Kanpur City Council, Shambhunath Tandon, joined at the Institute. He was of a princely disposition and shared the hostel room next to mine. We spent long hours talking. He was unaware of the circumstances in which Indians had migrated to Fiji. I related to him many aspects of the indenture system and how it was used to trap the innocent and gullible village people.

Tandon was moved by the history of Indian migration to Fiji. I told him about my Daadaji and his family who had lived in the village Belha Ragho, in Bahraich district. We had had little communication from them and the last was a letter written to my father around 1948. I told Tandon that it was my great desire to restore the family links, that I hoped to go on a pilgrimage to my roots. However, I told him that this seemed beyond achievement, as I didn’t have the foggiest idea where my family were or how to reach them.

Tandon sincerely wanted to help me, but he had never heard of Belha Ragho. Casually, I said that it was somewhere near Basti village. When he heard the name his eyes lit up. Tandon had a classmate named Ram Kumar Khare, who was the elected advocate of one of the villages near Basti.

Tandon’s hopes soared, as did mine. My quest became his obsession. He said that he would write to Khare to locate my family. I told him the name of the brother of my grandfather — Munmun — and that of cousin Jangli, brother of Dhelai. I told Tandon that I would not disclose the names of my grandparents, so anyone claiming to be my family would know my Daadaji’s name, my Daadiji’s name, the name of the cousin of my Daadaji who had accompanied him to Fiji and the name of his wife. They would also know my father’s name and names of other family members. I told Tandon that they would also have to adduce other evidence to prove that they were truly my family members.

I felt that this was important, as I feared that if I released family names and details I could end up with many claimants. It was alleged that, in the past, some unscrupulous operators had exploited people seeking their roots. And in some cases, the families in India took cover for fear of having to share their farms, as many who had left were entitled to their shares according to the tradition of inheritance.

Tandon wrote to Khare including a request for proof and seeking an urgent response. Once the letter had been written, I was in a heightened state of anxiety. I found it difficult to concentrate during the lectures. The course was ending and I did not have many weeks to spare. I was racing against time. However, the desire to accomplish the mission had become paramount for me.

It was a Friday. Tandon arrived, smiling from ear to ear. In his hand he held some old tattered letters. The letters were discoloured with age. My heart pounded, and nervousness drew perspiration all over my body. Tandon asked me to follow him to his room, where he spread out the letters on the table and said:


I have got everything you asked for. We have found your family. They even know your name!



He beamed with joy. I could not believe what I was hearing. He began to read the letter from Khare. In it, he disclosed more information than I had requested.

In the letter, Khare wrote that the name of my grandfather was Budhai, the name of his wife was Dulara and the name of his only son was Ram Lal (my father). The name of the cousin that had accompanied Daadaji to Fiji was Dhelai and the name of his wife was Changura (Daadiji), and the name of his only son was Shiu Prasad. They also enclosed letters written by my father in 1928, 1945 and 1948 with our family photographs, and declared that if I was the youngest son of Ram Lal my name was Rajendra Prasad.

The letter written in 1928 by my father was faded and torn at the folds, but the letters written in 1945 and 1948 with the photographs were better preserved although browned with age. I was astounded to see those letters. They carried a heart-wrenching message. To the family, they were a source of comfort and consolation. I realised that these letters must have meant more to them than our minds could comprehend. They were treasured like family jewels, evidence of torn links that symbolised the family’s hope of restoring that connection somehow, sometime.

I was stunned at the revelations. Tandon, proud of his accomplishment, passed the letters to me. With tears streaming down my face, I hugged him as he comforted me. He was astonished at the depth of my feelings. He said that he would like to be part of the pilgrimage I was planning and offered to be my guide on the journey.

I wrote home with the news of the discovery. I visualised being with my family members in India. What would be their reaction? What would they look like? Their language was different to Fiji Hindi — would I understand it? Were those huge peepal trees that Daadaji proudly referred to still there? How would I feel when I trod that sacred ground? I spent a long night buried in my imagination. The news spread among our colleagues attending the course as well as the lecturers, becoming a subject of great interest to everyone.

As the course was nearing its end, my wife Aruna joined me from Fiji. She told me of the family’s excitement and their expectation that we would restore the broken links. I was reluctant to take her with me, as she was pregnant and suffering from prenatal blues. However, she insisted that she wanted to be part of the pilgrimage. The excitement and the rewards would outweigh the discomforts, she thought.

As we did not have many days to spare, we had decided to travel by train at night to have the advantage of daylight for our visit. We had to buy the tickets in advance to ensure that we could travel on the day and time that we had chosen. Even procuring train tickets in India was no small feat. Queues and congestion at the ticket booths were common, but amidst the disorder, India functioned. The end justified the means, and people showed remarkable tenacity in bearing delays and frustrations.

Tandon and I stood in the queue, though it was not a queue in the ordinary sense. People simply converged on to the booth, though there was no deliberate pushing or shoving. Despite the apparent urgency, the betel nutchewing booth attendant was in no hurry. He maintained his equanimity, relishing the betel nut juice, his tongue and lips reddened by its dye.

Having procured the tickets, we readied ourselves for the journey of our lives. Time and tide wait for no man — they were not going to wait for us either. We took a taxi to the Delhi Railway Station to board our train at six p.m. Delhi Railway Station was an ocean of people. With trains coming and going frequently, it maintained a rhythm of vibrant urgency. We alighted from our taxi and uniformed porters swarmed around us, offering to carry our luggage. I felt intimidated, but Tandon knew how to handle them, which he did with firmness.

Our porter’s skill was honed to perfection. He placed one suitcase on his head and carried the other two in his hands. The suitcase rested as if glued to his head and he walked briskly to our waiting train as people moved in every direction. Porters ran in different directions with passengers in hot pursuit. Apparently, it was not uncommon to lose porters — and the belongings of passengers — into the darkness.

Tandon pushed through the crowds, maintaining his pace with the porter, while Aruna and I pursued him, ignoring the sights, sounds and smells of cooked food, burnt charcoal and smoke from the steam engines. Tandon was confident and sure-footed and we clung to him, thanking God that he was our guide. At six p.m. our train signalled its departure with a shriek of its whistle and, as it moved forward, I breathed a sigh of relief. Aruna and I took the lower berth of the private compartment while Tandon took the upper berth.

The train roared off, breaking the stillness of the night and stopping at railway stations to embark or disembark passengers. The sight and sound of the hissing engine and the constant thud of the spinning wheels on the lines, irritating at first, later turned into a lullaby. At the stations, hawkers swarmed in to sell hot tea and snacks. They were a noisy crowd and their marketing skills varied. Some had perfected their vocals to release strident notes, whilst others resorted to loud appeals and a few to entreaties. Some were irritating but others were amusing.

We were cautioned by friends not to open the doors of our compartment when the train stopped at the stations at night. Bandits sometimes boarded the trains and robbed passengers. Fear-stricken, we would wake up at every station and breathed easy only when the train gained mobility. Tandon slept like a log, snoring and unconcerned. We could not sleep easily with all the disturbances and the fear of bandits, so it was in the small hours of the morning before exhaustion overcame us. It was not long before we awoke to see the splendour of dawn in rural India.

The breaking of the dawn drew farmers to their land. Waking early in the morning before sunrise was a strong rural custom, and was rigidly enforced in our family too. Everyone was out of bed before sunrise. I saw the origins of this dictum in operation in India. Farmers working their bullocks dotted the green fields here and there. Some were sowing, some ploughing while others were harvesting. Rural India was on the move; the farms were providing food for its teeming millions.

It was not long before the morning sun lifted itself in the east. The train came to a halt for us to disembark. To reach the bus station we boarded a horse-drawn carriage, then caught a rickety bus which was to take us to Birpur Khairaniya. From there we had to walk to the residence of Ram Kumar Khare, the village advocate. Both the bus and its driver appeared terminally ill. The driver took great pleasure in pressing the suction horn mounted outside his side window. It bellowed like a wild buffalo, frightening the herds of goat and cattle grazing on either side of the road. He looked very amused at his authority as the animals ran helter-skelter and their caretakers frantically tried to regain control.

On either side of the road, the green fields were breathtakingly beautiful. On the way we briefly visited the famous Buddhist shrine where Gautam Budh, father of Buddhism, was born. A beautiful pagoda emphasised the sanctity of the place and its air of supreme serenity, which was all-pervading. The site was busy with Chinese pilgrims. Saffron-clad priests added contrast to the greenery of the enclave as people moved about in silence.

After almost two hours of the unnerving bus ride, we disembarked at Birpur Khairaniya and walked a short distance to the home of Khare. Dressed in traditional Indian attire, Khare looked unassuming but authoritative with an air of superiority that belied his frail physique. His house was palatial. His wife came forward to welcome us. With both hands joined together in supplication, she greeted us with the traditional Hindu greeting,

‘Namaste’, and led us into a huge lounge for sweets and cold drinks. The large concrete building, owned by Khare, in this remote part of rural India, indicated that both modernity and prosperity were making an impact.

I enjoyed the environs, but I was in a tumult internally. However, I retained my composure. After a brief respite, we were invited to perch on a platform fixed on the drawbars of a tractor for the final journey to our ancestral home. Tandon sat on the rear mudguard of the tractor, which was driven by Khare. The tractor cut across lush green fields of wheat, sugarcane and corn.

As we came near to our family home, I could see a huge expectant crowd waiting for us. It was a colourful scene. Women wore deep colours while men were in dhoti. Some had shaven heads with churki (top-knots), reminding me that this tradition was lost to the girmitiya generation in Fiji. Even the young ones had their heads shaved with small tufts of churki flirting with the wind.

I felt strange. There was a touch of eeriness as I came near my ancestral home. I felt a warm spiritual embrace, which was guiding me to the source of my roots. My beloved Daadaji was no longer physically in this world but I felt that he was leading me in spirit into the waiting arms of his anxious family.

Hindus have a strong belief in the spirits of the dead. Every year, they make ritual oblations to the familial spirits to appease them. We, as a family, participated in these rituals with awe and fascination. It had become an annual remembrance and commemoration of the times and lives of those who were threads in the tapestry of our family unit. It was a solemn occasion and a few tears were always shed.

My mother usually recounted their lives with a dramatic display of sobs and tears. She referred to Daadaji as baba (father-in-law), with respect and reverence and always, in front of him, wore the traditional odhni (veil) to cover her head and ears. When she spoke, she always did so in a tone of respect with her head bowed. Daadaji was a mighty patriarch in life and, in death, he continued to retain that power in our lives.

The picture unfolding before me in the village was beyond comprehension. Daadaji remained uppermost in my mind. There was a distinct and familiar scent in the air that reminded me of my childhood days. It was a typical bure smell, which came from the grass-thatched roof and earthen floor periodically coated with cow dung mixed with clay. The past rewound and flashed before me on the screen of my memory.

We alighted from our uncomfortable perch on the tractor. The women were heavily veiled. Some held the corner of their veils to their mouths, as some Indian women did in times of deep emotion. It provided an opportunity to wipe away the tears, to weep or to wail under its cover. The focus of every eye was on us. The elders moved forward to greet us, smiles mellow with grief. The welcome was reminiscent of greetings that follow tragedies. We were led to a chaarpoy, the famous string beds of India, to sit.

Aruna and I walked to it with the solemnity that the occasion demanded. My mind was tuned to the sensitivity of the moment. Emotion welled in us as it did in the people around us. The atmosphere was electric and the dynamite of emotion was set to explode at any moment.

Khare introduced us to Sant Ram, the family spokesperson and son of Munmun, Daadaji’s youngest brother. He was clean-shaven with moustache, bearing some resemblance to my father, including the looks that depicted him as a person of authority and intellect. He led us to the elders. We stood as the elders greeted me with hugs, or shook hands. The matriarch of the family held Aruna’s hands and identified herself as the sister-in-law of Daadaji. Aruna reverentially touched her feet. It was a tender moment. There was a lone wail from an elderly woman, which broke into uncontrolled crying amongst the large group of women. We could not hold back our own tears. We allowed the reservoir of our tears to burst. It raised the tempo of emotions, as some men and young children were overcome by the drama unfolding before them.

We sat outside the mud huts on the chaarpoy, sobbing. I had a lump in my throat. My voice was lost. I looked at them, smiling, and gestured occasionally to the young and the old in a bid to compose myself. Silently, I prayed to God to give me strength and to restore my voice. Aruna appeared more composed and retained her usual glow, although she later told me that she was going through the same kind of ordeal.

I saw a frail old man heading towards me. A young boy held his hand and escorted him to where I was sitting. One of the elders moved forward and introduced him to me, saying:


Beta yee Munmun hain, Budhai bhaiya ke chhota bhaayee. Inke aankh se naheen dekhaat hai.

Son, he is Munmun, Daadaji’s younger brother and he is blind.



I stood up and touched his feet. As I did so, I saw in those feet the feet of my Daadaji. There was an amazing similarity. He hugged me and cried uncontrollably. He felt my hair, caressed my cheek and kissed my forehead. I remembered Daadiji had done the same when I had left Fiji, being blind too. That was not all; he smelt me like a cow identifying a lost calf and cried:


Yee hamaar khoon hai!

This is my blood.



We had to be separated by Sant Ram. It seemed to me that, in me, he had rediscovered his lost brother, my Daadaji. All around me, there was a chorus of unrestrained crying and wailing. Even the young children joined in, unaware why they were crying.

I had not fully recovered from this episode when two women came with basins of warm water. We were asked to immerse our feet in the water. It was a ritual which had faded in Fiji but was alive in rural India. In ancient days people travelled by foot on long journeys and when they reached their destination the hosts always performed this ritual of welcome. It was usually performed by young girls or daughter-in-laws. The warm water had a therapeutic effect on the tired body, but its underlying significance was much more. It was a symbol of deep affection, humility of the host, exaltation of the guest and an expression of appreciation and joy. I had witnessed this in my childhood and it remained in my memory. Aruna could not recall it and I saw her confusion. I whispered that it was a customary welcome for esteemed visitors.

Our protestations that we were unworthy of such honour were ignored. Tandon and Khare, both steeped in the Hindu customs, persuaded us not to disappoint our hosts. We surrendered ourselves to the overwhelming

Hindu spirit of welcome. Several younger female members of the family took turns to wash our feet, which were then wiped with dry towels. We were deeply humbled.

After being subjected to this ritual, we were given the traditional Ahir welcome. Cows’ milk is a treasured drink for the Ahir caste. Warm milk in large bowls was given to us. I drank it with the pride of an Ahir. Those who watched us partake of the milk did so with muted joy. It had a tonic effect on me — the lump in my throat was gone and I regained my voice and composure.

My family members were eager to hear me speak. I had only four hours to be with them and I realised that I could not squander it. I spoke in Hindi as spoken in India. I said:


Pitaji, Mataji, Daadiji aur pariwaar walon ke taraf se aap sabko unke namaskaar aur ashirwaad arpit karta hoon …

I extend to you greetings and blessings from my father, mother, grandmother and the family members.



I told them that grandfather Budhai and cousin Dhelai were both dead. Dhelai died in 1942 and Budhai died in 1962, his wife Dulara in 1919. Dhelai’s wife, Changura, was alive and lived with us. My father Ram Lal and Dhelai’s son Shiu Prasad lived together as one family. We were three brothers and three sisters. My eldest sister died in 1955, and uncle Shiu Prasad had one son and five daughters. The families were engaged in sugarcane farming.

At the end of my speech, I asked them if Pitai, brother of Daadiji, was amongst them. I was told that he was dead, the family had moved, and they were not aware of their whereabouts. Movement of families was common in rural India. If not the vagaries of nature, then the burden of debts led them to lose their farms to the moneylenders. They told me that Pitai was distraught at losing his only sister Changura, and had often come to their home to share his feelings. Yet he had not lost hope and believed that one day both Changura and her husband Dhelai would return. Before dying, he had left a message with his children to tell his sister how miserable his life had become after her sudden disappearance. I told them of the message my grandmother Changura had given me. It had great significance in the light of the pains that her brother Pitai bore for her.

The audience hung on to my words as if they were pearls. I discovered that there was no one in the family who could read or write. There was no school in the vicinity. Whenever letters were received, they travelled to the village advocate’s residence, several kilometres away, to have him or his son read and explain the contents to them. They, or the village scribes, wrote letters for them. However, the family was familiar with traditional teachings on customs, traditions, culture and religion. The family appeared to be strong and close-knit, with authority passing down from the patriarch to the male children. The matriarch was the authority on domestic matters alone, but the overall authority lay in the hands of the patriarch. Respect for seniority by age was the guiding light in family relationships; it had been so for many generations.

Most of the male children with their shaven heads sat cross-legged on the grass. Their faces were lit with confusion, anxiety and excitement. The women wore thick silver metal bangles, nose studs and heavy earrings. In accordance with dress code, some had their entire bodies covered. The elderly women had their heads covered with a section of the face visible in the shade of the veil. The younger women were relatively more exposed, some without the covering over their heads. These generational differences in their attire showed that Belha Ragho, the remote village in Bahraich, was not locked in time, nor averse to change.

The eldest in the family, Munmun, who had earlier hugged me, sat on the chaarpoy and related the events that led to Budhai and Dhelai escaping the clutches of starvation and endemic poverty:


The family, like many other families, was struggling to make ends meet. Many chose to leave their homes for employment or better opportunities in other parts of the country. Mostly individuals hatched these plans themselves. Families rarely consented to separation. Separation broke their hearts.

In this way, many families lost their dear ones. It is now sixty to seventy years and some families are still looking for those who disappeared without trace. Budhai and Dhelai had made their plans without the knowledge of our parents. They were married at the age of eleven or twelve years. We were very young and we respected them as our elder brothers.

One night Budhai and Dhelai told us that they were going to a religious function in the neighborhood with their wives. It was a dark and blustery cold night. They did not want us to go with them. Moreover, Budhai and Dhelai did not want us to let other family members know of their plans for the night. They assured us that they would return with their share of ‘prashad’ (sweets) after the religious function. We accepted what they told us.

In the morning, when we awoke to partake of the promised sweets, they were not there — nor were the people who had promised them.

There was a frantic search for Budhai, Dhelai and their wives. There was no trace of them. The village was alight with their disappearance. Days passed. Weeks and months passed. The search continued. Rumours about their whereabouts were rife. Every suggestion was entertained. Some had seen them boarding the train to Calcutta, but others had seen them boarding the train travelling in the opposite direction.

Years passed but hopes were not extinguished. Twenty years after their disappearance, we received a letter from Budhai. The letter said that they were in Fiji tapu (island) working in the sugarcane fields. They remembered every family member. They enclosed ten pounds with the letter, requesting that it be used for digging the communal well for the family.

We were very happy to know they were well. We thought that we would visit them but we did not know where they lived, which train to catch or how much it would cost. We wrote to them expressing our desire to visit them and sought information on their location and the train that could take us to them.

There was no response. The family was lost. We were afraid that they did not want us to have any contact with them because they were

‘shahri babus’ (urbanites) who were ashamed to associate with us. Years passed, but our hopes did not dissipate. They were part of us and if we could not have them in person, we carried them in our memories. We kept these letters (those that were sent to me) as family treasures and derived some measure of comfort from them. We often shared the letters to console ourselves and to inform the young ones so that the history of our family would not be lost.

In the year 1945, another letter arrived unexpectedly. It was received with great joy, but the contents tore our hearts. We learnt that Dhelai had been killed while working in the sugar mill. We were deeply grieved, and the old wound that we carried began to bleed again.

As a family, we entered a prolonged period of mourning and performed the propitiation ceremonies in accordance with the Hindu tradition following the death of a family member. We wrote to Budhai expressing our deepest sorrow and entreated that regular contact be maintained through letters.

In 1948, another letter followed with family photographs. The photographs became the most precious family possession. Since 1948 we did not receive any communication until we heard from Khare Babu.



I looked around and saw that the crowd had swelled. They were not all family members, but villagers who had heard of our return — like Lord Rama’s return after fourteen years in exile. They were humble peasants, a picture of poverty, struggle, innocence and ignorance. This was all reflected around me. Both men and women had the perfect physique of those engaged in agricultural pursuits in rural India. There was no sign of obesity. Their bodies were sculptured by their rigorous toil. I found myself in a world that was very different to my own life.

I knew that reunions were a great occasion in every family and community, but what I was witnessing was out of the ordinary and the reaction to it was typically and strongly Indian. At reunions, Indian reaction was pious, solemn and often accompanied by tears. Rural India remained the bastion of the ancient Hindu culture and customs. I was reliving what I had heard and seen during my childhood among our family members. Their history and culture had caused Indians to be meditative and emotional. Life was not easy. Historically, separation, struggle and survival were common features of Indian life, caused by waves of foreign attacks and subjection to foreign rule.

These conditions had also created in Indian people the traits of resilience, endurance and an ability to co-exist with others. To allay their suffering, they had not relied totally on the sword, but had sought solace and comfort in God. In their prayers and meditations, Indians found their anchor and the Indian race benefited from the philosophy of its saints, seers and sages over the ages. Many of these holy people had renounced the world and spent their lives as ascetics in meditation. They have left, for India and its people, a rich legacy and culture and a resilient and vibrant tradition.

In India, traditionally, families were close-knit because of external threats and stayed within the confines of their inheritance, sharing and caring for each other. Separation constantly tormented them and reunion was, initially, greeted with tears before it turned into celebration. I was, on this occasion, witness to a depth of pain spanning several decades. The sudden disappearance of the loved ones was a grievous wound. It had been sixty-six years since they had left, but the pain of that severance had not eased. My presence, once again, opened those wounds.

In this sorrowful atmosphere, I was unprepared for any further surprise. Yet suddenly a huge elephant appeared, guided by a mahout and adorned as if for a royal ride. It added a new twist to the scene. On our arrival we had not seen the elephant. It had been deliberately hidden behind one of the houses. Faces that were hitherto a picture of sorrow lit up. There were smiles and cheers from every direction. We were unaware that the elephant, as part of our welcome, was being prepared to give us a ride around the family enclave.

Aruna was amused, but didn’t think that she too was expected to ride. For Indian women, riding a horse or a donkey, let alone an elephant, was against the Hindu tradition. However, she was surprised when the matriarch moved forward and said:


Bitiya, tu bhi jaa, baithle hathiyaa par, hamre jeeyera ke kutchh chain to mile.

Daughter, you also take the ride so that it may give our hearts some consolation.



From this, I understood how anxious they were to make our visit memorable and they expected us to respond accordingly. Seeing the elephant and the adornments, images of the Raj came back to me of a time when sahibs and memsahibs rode the elephant for shikaar (hunting) or for pleasure in the forests of India. Indian mahouts ensured their comfort. On this day, my people gave us that exaltation out of a love that had broken the traditional bounds. I had ridden horses but riding an elephant was beyond comparison.

We were eager but nervous. I had little difficulty, but Aruna showed all the signs of fear and apprehension, which added to the amusement. The children giggled with delight. At the command of the mahout, the elephant sat on the ground. We were helped onto the seats and took a rather precarious ride, remembered not for its discomfort but for its enormous significance.

We again became the centre of an extraordinary focus. Every eye was on us, as if we were going to perform a circus feat. I asked the mahout to take us under the peepal trees. My grandfather had mentioned these trees to me in his evening stories. Under these trees, cows and buffaloes were tethered for the night. To protect them from wolves and tigers, spiked bamboo fences were installed.

With the passage of time, however, the fences had become obsolete. There was no need for them. The wolves and tigers, which had roamed this land freely were gone now. They were killed less in self-defence, than in pursuit of sport, when such killing was lauded. Wildlife in India had suffered near-annihilation during the British Raj. The sahibs loved killing animals for sport and then being photographed with the corpses around them.

The peepal trees had a towering presence in the family enclave. They overshadowed every other tree and their size spoke of their age. In the powerful roots of those trees lay the roots of my family. Who planted them — and when — was lost in time. Nevertheless, they stood as a monument and were part of the unwritten history of my family.

I closed my eyes, and with tears streaming down my face, made a silent prayer:


Daadaji, today I say this prayer under the very peepal trees that you created in my imagination. You planted the seed of this imagination in your stories when I was a child. And today I fulfil your long-cherished dream and the dream of our family. I grieve that you are no longer with us to share this historic moment. My heart is torn between joy and sorrow — joy at being able to walk this hallowed ground, and sorrow that soon I will have to leave. I thank you for the sacrifice you made for us. I pray that we as a family remain worthy and continue to follow the path retaining those strong values of humanity that you ingrained in us. As a mark of my respect and love for you, I make this commitment to send my father, your son, to relive this moment and complete this pilgrimage.



I pictured Daadaji with his toothy grin, below his bushy moustache, welling with pride. After a short ride on the elephant, we alighted among an appreciative crowd. We continued to be the centre of attention for the women of the household, and they sought consent from the family elders to chat with us in privacy. We were escorted behind one of the houses away from the glare of the men. The matriarch of the family took charge, noticing our dry skin and dishevelled hair. She sent for coconut oil and massaged it onto our scalps, arms and legs. The women took turns as if it was a religious ritual that could not be neglected. They laughed and joked. They made us feel that we were part of that great inheritance — an integral part of the same family. Age, time, distance or country could never separate us. Oiled and massaged, we recuperated from our arduous voyage. Suddenly, the matriarch made a profound statement:


Ram aur Sita banwaas se padharin hain.

It is the return of Lord Rama and Sita from exile.



This statement found its mark. Laughter and jokes turned to solemn silence. The story of Lord Rama and his wife Sita in the epic Ramayana was Hinduism’s message of obedience and sacrifice. One of King Dasrath’s wives, Keikei, was anxious for her son Bharat to ascend the throne and this was only possible if the eldest son, Lord Rama, was removed from consideration. In a tender moment, King Dasrath made a promise to Keikei to grant any of her wishes, but was aghast when Keikei requested that Lord Rama be exiled into the wilderness for fourteen years. King Dasrath was distraught, but Keikei held on to his promise. King Dasrath obliged, and Lord Rama submitted to the will of his father. Sita, Lord Rama’s wife, accompanied him into exile, determined to stand by her husband in every situation. They returned home after the fourteen years in exile.

My family seemed to take our return to the ancestral home in the same spirit. The matriarch’s comment was made in all seriousness, and those around her took it in the same spirit. In rural India, with widespread belief in the mystical and mythical, and with rampant illiteracy, such comments could find a receptive audience.

It also contributed to a reaction that shook us. As we sat amongst the women, the young women of the household brought their babies to us and placed them at our feet, seeking our blessings. We were flustered. Did they think that we came from the place where gods resided? Did they think that we were angels among them? We told them that we were not worthy of such exaltation. However, they prevailed as we, however uncomfortably, kept caressing and blessing the babies.

The rituals had finally ended and it was time for a large traditional meal, which the younger women had been preparing. Emotionally drained, I was not feeling hungry and pleaded with the matriarch to be excused. At this, the faces around us, so enlivened by our presence, grew solemn and some even looked sullen. Instantly, I realised that I had made a serious mistake. The matriarch said:


Betwa, bhojan bina kare jaiho, hamre dilwa ke kaise chain milee.

Son, returning without taking food would never give peace to our hearts.



I apologised. Tradition demanded obedience. For me to return, having visited my roots for the first time, without sharing a meal, would be the violation of a sacrosanct Hindu custom.

We were served with vegetarian food and, in accordance with tradition, we were given one hundred and one rupees, as a gesture of appreciation and affection, before partaking of the feast. Although poor, they did not ignore the customs and rituals and endeavoured to fulfil them despite their poverty. The food abounded in fresh vegetables with rice and corn flour roti (unleavened bread). The flavour of the spices in which the vegetables were cooked was hot but tasty. We sat on the floor encircled by curious children who stared at us in fascination. Aruna was not accustomed to such an experience and almost choked trying to swallow in haste. The giggles of the children added to her predicament.

After we had eaten all we could, Sant Ram, the family spokesperson, took me around the farm. I was amazed to see that rural India largely retained the traditional farming practices. Wooden ploughs, bullocks, buffaloes, cows and goats were still crucial to a successful agronomy and remained prized family possessions. The bullocks were paired and harnessed to pull farm implements such as the wooden ploughs and harrows. The animals remained vital units of support for the family. The interdependence was strong and revered, and the domestic animals received the greatest care and attention.

I pondered on the circumstances that had compelled Daadaji to leave his familiar surroundings and step into oblivion. It must have been a decision that had come out of poverty, struggle and frustration. Being young, restless, and also perhaps adventurous, he would have readily walked into the waiting trap of the aarkathis, the deceptive recruiters. Once detached from the family, return and acceptance were sometimes subject to caste rules that were not always easily bent. Women suffered the most, as they would be pronounced impure and their place virtually became untenable in their families. In such cases, most opted not to return but to remain away from the family enclave.

I was shown the communal well, which had been dug with the money sent by Daadaji in 1928. The well not only quenched their thirst, but was also a shrine to the memory of Daadaji and his cousin Dhelai. It would continue to sustain successive generations of my family. After a short tour of the adjoining farm we returned to the house. A group of anxious-looking people drew me aside. The language they spoke was difficult for me to understand, but I realised that they had also lost family members during the dark days of recruitment under the indenture system. Their family members had left them in circumstances reminiscent of my grandparents. Many names were mentioned, but I could not recall any. Besides, ninety-eight per cent of girmitiyas had died by this time.

One of them said their relatives had gone to Cheenidad. I knew he meant Trinidad. Many Indians were lured to Trinidad to work in the sugarcane plantations under the indenture system. I told them that I was from Fiji, and not from Trinidad. I found it impossible to explain to them where Fiji was in relation to Trinidad as they had no concept of the world outside their village. I was deeply saddened to see the hopes of these grief-laden souls dashed. Several decades had passed, but the flame of hope still continued in their hearts.

Tandon looked at his watch, signalling the dreaded moment — time for our return. Tandon spoke on our behalf, thanking my family members for the welcome and their efforts in creating such a memorable event for him and for us. He explained to them that we did not have as much time as we would have liked to spend with them as we were due to return to Fiji in the next few days. The message caused them great pain. Gloom descended upon everyone. They stood up and encircled us. Aruna touched the feet of the family elders and sought their blessings. I did the same. The scene again exploded into uncontrollable weeping and wailing all around us.

Young and old, and even those who were not our family members, sobbed or wept.


Kahan jaat hao hamaar bititya?

‘Where are you going, my daughter?’ cried the matriarch, holding

Aruna in a vice-like grip.

Kab phir miliho hamaar, dulaar?

‘When will you meet me again, my beloved?’ cried the patriarch



The patriarch wept, holding me and sobbing uncontrollably. Both Khare and Tandon were also overcome with emotion.

In the end, Tandon calmly separated us from this embrace and led us to our transport. We perched on the platform with our faces buried in handkerchiefs. As the tractor moved forward, I felt a wrenching separation. We sat facing our ancestral home. The crowds followed us for a considerable distance. I entreated them to turn back, but they continued to walk, wanting to see us for as long as they could. I had the same desire.

When they were lost to sight, I looked at the peepal trees for as long as I could, until they too disappeared. This pang of separation was the most painful I have ever experienced. Even the death of my father in 1984, and my mother in 1996, did not evoke such deep sorrow. This union and separation was so deeply etched that time has failed to diminish the grief that I experienced. These four hours were the best and the worst moments of my life — best when I was among my family, worst when I bade them farewell. Because of this event I have lost my emotional symmetry: tears speak in place of words in moments of reflection.

We spent the night at Khare’s home. Sleep eluded me yet again, as the events of the day replayed in my mind. In the morning, we were told that an old man had been sitting at the door since two a.m., wanting to meet us. He was Jangli, Dhelai’s younger brother who had not been at home to meet us the previous day. On learning of our whereabouts, he had walked several kilometres through the night to ensure that he did not miss the opportunity to meet us in the morning. From inside, I saw him wiping his tears on the loose end of his pagdi, and deeply immersed in thought. Aruna and I went out to meet him as Khare introduced us. He stood, eyes reddened and lips quivering as he attempted to speak, but the words were lost.

We sat alongside him and as he composed himself he asked about his bhabi, (sister-in-law) Changura, Daadiji. I told him the message she had for her brother Pitai and how Daadiji had yearned to hear about them. He said that they had always hoped to reunite one day, but as years sped by this hope had diminished and the pain of sudden separation still remained in their hearts. He asked me to pass on his greetings and extend his blessings to his bhabi and other family members.

Soon we prepared ourselves to leave, and the Khare family escorted us to the bus station. I thought that the drama of our visit had ended, but it was not so. A sea of anxious peasants descended on the bus station to bid us farewell. My family members were there, and many faces we did not recognise. We joined our raised palms together in greeting and supplication in the traditional Hindu way. The response was a chorus of ‘Ram, Ram’ (traditional Hindu greeting).

The bus was filling fast and we took seats at the rear. Jangli came up and rested his hand upon mine on the edge of the bus window. His weatherbeaten face was a picture of profound grief, his lips quivered again and his eyes were a pool of tears. I could not speak. The lump in my throat, which I had felt the previous day, was back. Aruna sobbed into her handkerchief.

The bus was ready to depart, and as the engine roared into life, emotion struck me like an arrow in the heart. Tears rolled down like a mountain stream and the old man released his hold of my hand as he wept into his pagdi like a child. Sant Ram comforted him, and as the bus moved off, I could only raise my hand in final salute to everyone. They all responded with raised hands, bidding us a final farewell.

In this pilgrimage, I had found a new joy and a new identity in my roots. It changed my life completely and I was clear in my mind that I was able to restore that broken family link. I came to accept that, although I was an individual, I was also part of a larger web that I could not ignore as it gave me an identity.

From time to time, I returned to those memories to relish them and to experience again the power and magnetism of my roots. I realised that nothing could separate me. My ancestral roots were like the umbilical cord that tie mother and child together. If the cord was detached, the child died. My visit to India itself gave a new meaning and new dimension to my personal life. I had previously held two views of India — one as told by Daadaji, and the other as I read about India through the eyes of the Western media.

Daadaji had told me that India was the birthplace of Hinduism, Buddhism and Sikhism. It was a land of prophets, saints and seers. It had produced great saints like Swami Vivekananda, Swami Dayananda, Swami Rama-krishna and leaders like Gokhale, Tilak, Vallabhai Patel, Mahatma Gandhi and Nehru. India was the abode of the Hindu gods and the spiritual capital of the world. It was a land of peace and joy where, even amidst poverty, there was hope, expectation and fulfilment. The Western media projected India as a land of poverty and illiteracy; as the backwater of the world, averse to technology and education. It could not feed or even defend its own people and had to rely on international generosity.

This perception registered deeply in my mind when I read books written by the Nobel laureate in literature, Sir Vidiadhar Surajprasad Naipaul. In India he saw squalor, dereliction and layers of wretchedness. Yet India impacted on me differently. India touched me. India impressed me. Despite massive resistance against the Government by the people, fear did not lurk in the shadows nor were the voices of the people stifled. Its news media remained a bulwark of defence for the freedom and rights of Indian people, and they articulated their views without fear.

I saw India from the two extremities and found that walking through the country’s chaos and confusion, one could still find cohesion and coherence. India, to me, was multifaceted: a diversity perhaps unequalled, and beyond the comprehension of the uninitiated or those who saw and perceived India before visiting it, or those who travelled to India with a baggage of bias against it. Both prosperity and poverty lived in close proximity. It was not uncommon to see ‘jhuggi jhopris’ (shacks and shanties) occupied by menial workers, the destitute and the lost, next to palatial homes and industrial or commercial estates.

To me, India was distinctly different to the way it was perceived by Naipaul. We shared a common heritage, being descendants of indentured labourers. His ancestors went to Trinidad from Bihar and mine to Fiji. I had no claim to scholarship or distinction, as Sir Vidiadhar had. Indeed, in his achievement, I felt a sense of unique pride. He had illumined and enriched the lives of the descendants of indentured labourers throughout the world and redeemed, through his scholarship, the stigma that the indentured labourers felt: that they were the rejects of the Indian subcontinent. Indeed, quality of ancestry reflected strongly in subsequent generations and the descendants of the indentured labourers had a proud record of success, wherever they now lived.

To me, India was not a vale of tears. In its diversity, I saw strength. In its ignorance, I saw innocence. In its poverty, I saw anxiety and suffering but not without hope. In its struggle, I saw faith, courage and resilience. In its faith and hope, I saw the joy of life. India was distinctly itself, and showed a fecundity, profundity and diversity not seen in many other countries. I found it to be a country of deep contrasts. It did not lack industry or enterprise. It reflected every aspect of the human endeavour to supplement the needs and desires of life. The rickshawallahs, the horse-drawn carriages and carts, the buses and trains filled to capacity, reflected a nation moving with urgency and intensity. It gave me a sense of dignity and pride and an appreciation that I was indeed the bearer of a proud heritage.

In India, I learned that humanity must not be judged by the ugly face of poverty. The mask of poverty is cruellest when the individual or the family loses respect and recognition, not by choice but through circumstances. A mask often conceals the real dignity of humanity. Indeed, the true value of humanity manifests itself in times of adversity and India and its people have been living proof of that manifestation. Hinduism has, indeed, been the powerhouse generating resilience, fortitude and optimism. Nobel laureate, Rabindranath Tagore, justifiably claimed of the Hindu scriptures that the Vedas would continue to inspire men of thought and the Gita men of action.

I returned to Fiji with renewed pride in my heritage. In the pervading colonial atmosphere of Fiji I had lost my identity and in some respects was happy to have lost it. Colonialism treated us with contempt, keeping us under the shadow of the sahibs; we had lost the dignity to which we had an inherent right. In the presence of the sahibs, I was cowed by their vanity and arrogance. India restored in me the inner strength to see that the sahibs were in no way superior to me.

This pilgrimage to my roots also opened a new opportunity for me to understand the hidden mystery that was girmit. I began to reflect on the girmitiyas with compassion and understanding. The tales of atrocities against them related to me by Daadaji and Daadiji began to haunt me. The whip marks that Daadaji and Daadiji and their compatriots bore during girmit became my personal wound. It created in me the hunger to read, research and write about the enigma surrounding girmit.

Eventually, I concluded that the memories of that generation had been wrongly buried in shame. I became a crusader battling against the stigma of the girmit, which hung ominously over our community. In this process, I decided that the criminals must be identified and the memory of those girmitiyas glorified.

My research took me into the maze of infamy of the indenture. The British had created indenture in Fiji and I came to realise what a harsh and cruel environment it was, characterised by horrific violence against the girmitiyas. The CSR Company and its kulambars (overseers) inflicted terror and acts of terrorism on our people. The conditions were so bad that death was a preferred choice for many.

In this regard, I realised that history was not the preserve of a dominant country, culture or a race. History prejudiced in favour of the dominant power was an aberration, and the voice of the poor and the oppressed could not and must not be silenced in a civilized world. It was time for our people to rise up and reclaim the glory of the sacrifices the pioneer generation made during the indenture period.








CHAPTER TWO

INDIAN CULTURE AND RECRUITMENT


Seeds of Indian culture took root in different lands,

Its resilience and adaptability retained its ambience.




It was early August 1911 when the indentured labourers who left on the ship Sutlej I on 25 June 1911 were mustered for dispersal to the plantations. They were held at the Nukulau Depot, on Nukulau Island near the city of Suva, for six weeks in quarantine. After the arduous sea voyage, six weeks of respite on land had brought some degree of normalcy into their lives. They were unaware that another painful separation awaited them.

Gurumurthi and his younger brother, who came from North Arcot, Andhra Pradesh, stuck together on the ship and at the Nukulau Depot. Gurumurthi took extra care of his younger brother, who was inconsolable, suffering from the separation from his parents. In the mustering and allocation of indentured labourers to the plantations, Gurumurthi, who served his girmit in Lautoka, lost his brother. Subsequent inquiries revealed that his brother had been sent to a plantation in Labasa. Gurumurthi made many inquiries but could not locate him. Until Gurumurthi’s death on 29 September 1979, he suffered from the tragedy of this separation.1

Indenture in Fiji was a miserable period for the indentured Indian labourers. Their ability to withstand the rigours and violence of the five-year term of their indenture was a singular feat of human endurance. How and why they bore the tragic period from recruitment to the end of their term of indenture has not previously been looked at from the girmitiyas’ perspective.

Religion and culture played a vital role in shaping the life and times of the indentured labourers. In India, from womb to tomb, religion, culture and caste play a dominant role in the lives of the individual, the family unit, the community and the country at large. They were equally important in the lives of the girmitiyas.

Caste is a peculiarly Indian phenomenon, going back some 3000 years. Although it is considered an aberration, it has outlived all critics. The endurance and resilience of the caste culture lies in the fact that caste largely reflects occupation.

The origin of the caste system is not clearly known. The religious belief is that from Brahma, the Creator’s mouth came the Brahmin (priestly caste), with duties that included studying, teaching, sacrificing and other priestly functions concerning specific rituals, and the giving and receiving of alms. From Brahma’s arms emerged Kshatriya, the warrior class, with duties of study, sacrifice, giving of alms, and learning skills in warfare. From the thighs of Brahma came Vaishya, assigned the duties of work, study, giving of alms, cultivation, trading and raising cattle. Out of Brahma’s feet came Shudra, bound to serve the trinity of castes and assigned to cover specific areas of human activity.

Most of the girmitiyas were from the Vaishya caste. Some of the castes that had emerged in turn from the Vaishya caste included Ahir, who were engaged as cattle herdsmen and cultivators; Kahar, working as domestic servants and official carriers of the doli (palanquin) in marriage processions; Kori, engaged in weaving; Kumhar, who occupied themselves in pottery-making; and Kurmi, who were the farmers and cultivators.

Rules governed relations between castes, ensuring separate working and eating arrangements. This contributed to the strengthening of the fabric of caste system. It was not the classification of the four principal castes that was of great significance, but the sub-castes that identified occupation. It was in the occupation that the merit and status of castes and sub-castes was established. This would have a significant impact on the girmitiyas when their recruitment under the indenture system totally ignored the societal structures and values to which they ascribed.

Hindu religion — the bedrock of Indian culture — was deeply imbued with its religious texts. The early texts expounded not only on the Hindu religion, but also on the norms of social interactions. People have seen the Hindu religion as the supreme philosophy of living and, Indian culture is

firmly anchored on this premise These texts had their origin in the Vedas

— the first of the four being Rig Veda, composed in the Sanskrit language and consisting of 1028 hymns addressing a pantheon of gods. This text was believed to have been composed between 1300 and 1000 BC.

From time immemorial, learning the scriptures was obligatory in many families. Widespread illiteracy meant that reading of the scriptures was not possible, but this was overcome through the practice of shruti (recitals). The gurus (religious teachers) taught their disciples to memorise their texts. These gurus were people of learning, wisdom and knowledge in Hindu religion and culture. They taught the philosophies of their religion, customs, tradition and culture together as one vital concoction for leading a godly life and obtaining salvation. The gurus, as spiritual teachers, played a pivotal role in sustaining Hindu religion and culture from the start. The majority of the girmitiyas were illiterate, but they had a basic knowledge of their religion and culture.

During the period of recruitment for the indenture system, illiteracy was widespread in rural India. There was no knowledge of the geography of India or the wider world. Even as late as 1974, when I went on my pilgrimage, my family and those in the neighbourhood remained oblivious to this vital knowledge. Bharat (India), as they proudly called it then, was their world. People spoke in dialects peculiar to the region or caste to which they belonged.

In India, the ports of Calcutta, Madras and Bombay were designated for the embarkation of indentured labourers to the colonies. The provincial government appointed a Protector of Emigrants, and each colony wishing to recruit under the indenture system appointed its own Emigration Agent. The Emigration Agents appointed recruiters who were licensed by the Protector of Emigrants. The licensed recruiters in turn mostly used the services of unlicensed locals who infiltrated villages and urban centres to recruit people. The recruiters largely used deception and decoys to trap people, and were known as aarkathi (agents of deception). They enticed innocent and gullible village people into the vicious net of the indenture.

Areas designated for recruitment in the north included Bihar, the United Provinces (now called Uttar Pradesh), and the Central Provinces. Districts which provided more than a thousand recruits included Basti (6415), Gonda (3589), Faizabad (2329), Sultanpur (1747), Azamgarh (1716), Gorakhpur (1683), Allahabad (1218), Jaunpur (1188), Shahabad (1128) and Rai Bareilly (1087).2 In these areas illiteracy, drought, famine, unemployment and poverty were particularly severe problems.

These villagers were poor and unsophisticated people, accustomed to hard work and the struggle to survive. The harsher the environment, the greater their toil. They had inherited this way of life from their ancestors and embraced the age-old belief that there was no substitute for hard work. Under these conditions, recruitment under the indenture system was not difficult.

However, recruitment was not open to just anyone. It was restricted to Vaishya and Shudra castes because they were skilled in farming. Brahmins, Kshatriyas and the Punjabis were excluded. Brahmins, being the priestly caste, were thought to be unsuited for farm work. It was also feared that the Brahmin could emerge as natural leaders and the British agenda was to inhibit leadership among indentured labourers. People from the Kshatriya or warrior caste were feared because of their propensity for violence. Punjabis were also known for their combative spirit, their tendency to settle disputes with mukka (fist), and they were as easily aroused as the Kshatriyas. The British knew that the Punjabis were a fiery race with a volatile temperament. They were excitable, fearless and lethal in physical combat.

Interestingly, Punjabis had always been highly mobile. They were adventurous, hardworking and courageous, setting out on voyages to distant lands. They were not inhibited from travelling abroad by the Hindu fear of crossing the kala paani (black waters), or by language difficulties. Hindus held that those who crossed the sea sinned; that they would lose their caste status and face ostracism.

Despite these restrictions, the aarkathis were motivated by a commission per head for filling the quotas. They were less than scrupulous in following the instructions issued by the Protector of Immigrants. Some Brahmins, Kshatriyas and Punjabis escaped scrutiny and made it to Fiji, registering themselves as members of those castes approved for recruitment.

Tota Ram Sanadhya, a Brahmin girmitiya, who wrote a book called Fiji Dweep Mein Mere Ikkees Warsh (1915),3 registered himself as belonging to the Thakur caste. Similarly, other Brahmins, Kshatriyas and Punjabis, to avoid being rejected for recruitment, registered themselves as belonging to a different caste. Many Punjabis changed their names from the traditional ‘Singh’ to names that identified them with other recruits — for instance, from ‘Singh’ to ‘Chand.’

When this became known, the authorities became more cautious and subjected the recruits to further scrutiny. They would check their palms for roughness of skin to confirm their exposure to agricultural work. Those with soft palms and not having other physical characteristics of a farmer were refused enlistment. However, Punjabis could not be detected as they had all the physical characteristics of farmers. As for the others, the aarkathis remained a step ahead. They required those with delicate palms to dip their hands in lime or engage in certain activities at sub-depots to roughen the skin of their palms before final inspection by the authorities. They prepared the recruits mentally and physically to ensure that they escaped detection.

It was alleged that up to eighty per cent of the recruits were deceived by the aarkathis into registering themselves under the indenture system. They were told of opportunities that awaited them, that work was relatively easy and they would return loaded with riches at the expense of those who had enlisted their services. The ignorant and illiterate were told that Fiji was part of India, and those who looked smarter or were more articulate were told that Fiji was not far from India. The Punjabis, who favoured service in the army or police, were promised recruitment of this kind.

Because the demands for labour in Fiji could not be met from the Northern Provinces, recruitment of immigrants was extended to South India in 1903. Most of the recruits from the south were from North Arcot, Madras, Krishna, Godavari, Vizakhapatnam, Tanjore and Coimbatore. The majority from the south spoke Tamil4 and a significant number Telegu, with a sprinkling of speakers of Malayalam, Kannada, Marathi and Hindustani. The first ship, Elbe, carried 1830 recruits; 1234 were from Northern India and 596 were from Southern India. The complement of recruits comprised 150 different castes.5 The Southern immigrants were mostly cultivators from the middle class, identified as Kappus, Vannias, Parayans, Balijas and Kammas.6

The recruiters were paid forty-five rupees for every male and fifty-five rupees for every female recruited. The aarkathis infiltrated the villages, melas (festivals), temples and shrines to hunt for their prey. As news of forced recruitment, confinement in the depots and kidnappings spread, village folksongs — with themes of extreme anguish and sorrow — were composed and sung with passion to arouse public denunciation of the aarkathis. The situation reached explosive levels in 1913, following the publication of a certain letter in India.

A woman named Kunti, who worked in Rewa district, wrote a moving account of an attempt by a kulambar and a sardar to violate her, resulting in her jumping in the river to protect her chastity. The letter was published in India on 10 April 1913, headed, The Cry of an Indian Woman from Fiji.7

This letter created deep anger and anguish amongst the Indian masses. The tears of Kunti became the tears of the Indian nation. The letter drew a fierce reaction against the indenture system. Emotional songs were composed about this incident, and sung in areas designated for recruitment to arouse public passions against the indenture system. One such song captured the anguish of the Indian people:


Satiyon ka dharam digaane ko jab, anaayion ne kamar kasi;

jal agam me Kunti kood padi.

is patan ka kuchh to yatan karo;

paar bahi majhdhaar nahin.

har Kunti ka jiwan safal rahe;

bin dharam dhaaran kiye;

sukh shanti ka sanchaar nahin.8



The lyricist derides the villains bent on defiling the chastity of women. Kunti jumps into the river to protect her honour, and the song appeals to people to rise against the tide of dishonour against their women so that every woman like Kunti is safe. The lyrics were a reminder that protecting the honour of women is a religious pursuit, and without it joy and peace cannot be sustained.

This strong message impacted on the hearts and minds of the ordinary people. Family units and villagers, at this time, were very protective of each other. Kinship was fiercely guarded, and grief was shared spontaneously. Loss of a loved one, under any circumstances, brought grief not only to the family, but also to the village. The village became an extended family. At such times, the village became a fort, protected by vigilante units delivering rough justice to anyone infiltrating its environs. Those caught enticing anyone or acting suspiciously bore the full brunt of the village fury. Some aarkathis suffered this wrath, escaped if they could and thereafter maintained a respectable distance from the villages.

Gradually, aarkathis moved into the urban centres, fairs, festivals, railway stations, temples and places of pilgrimage away from the risk of reprisal from the villagers. At the chosen centres, the concentration and mobility of people were high and individuals were not always under the protection of family or friends. People from the rural areas were particularly vulnerable and easily identified by the aarkathis. At these centres, they usually placed themselves at vantage points, from which they were able to select their quarry.

The aarkathis dressed themselves to impress their victims. Methods ranged from posing as senior officers of the Government to impersonating sadhus, with the demeanour of saints, overflowing with kindness and generosity. They looked for people who were lost, anxious or desperate. They also took clothing, demeanour, mannerisms and physique into consideration. In this way they ascertained if the person came from the peasantry, was poor, lost or seeking a job. Once the background of the person was assessed, the aarkathis used the sagacity of wolves in isolating the victims and engaging them.

The malicious smile of the aarkathi, his hypnotic eyes and the warmth of his language seduced his quarry. Skilfully the background and the gullibility of the victim were ascertained and baiting for recruitment began with promises of employment and the riches that awaited in the land of milk and honey. The aarkathi were emboldened by the police and government officials, who could be bribed to look the other way. With such collusion, aarkathis became more aggressive in their recruitment.

Tales of abduction of women on pilgrimages to shrines and temples circulated widely, but knowledge was not always enough to save them. Hugh Tinker, in A New System of Slavery, quoted a story that was told by Rev. Thomas Evans of Allahabad to the Lieutenant Governor of the North West Provinces on 18 February 1871. Gunga, who worked as a mochi (shoemaker) for Rev. Evans, told him of his chaachi (aunt) being waylaid by a promise of work and kept at Khooradabad along with other women. They were given food and told that their names would be enlisted by order of the Government to go to Mirich Desh (Mauritius) as coolies, where they would be well rewarded. Their pleas for release were ignored, and Gunga, with his uncle, approached the captor to seek release of his chaachi. The captor demanded five rupees for her release. They did not have five rupees and Gunga begged Rev. Evans to seek his chaachi’s release.

Rev. Evans was taken to the place, and there he found ten women held in captivity. He spoke to Buldeo Jemadar, their captor, and asked him if the women could be released, to which he agreed. Rev. Evans asked the women if they were willing to stay, to which they replied:


No Sahib … we are kept here by force against our will and we beg you in the name of God to let us go.



Hearing this, Rev. Evans advised them that the man holding them had agreed to let them go. They all bolted out, some to the point of even leaving a few articles of clothing behind. One woman actually forgot her child in the hurry and had to be recalled.

Buldeo Jamedar was not pleased. He fumed at his loss and told Rev. Evans that he would go and report to the ‘Burra Sahib’, a term commonly used for officers who held senior positions. Rev. Evans established that Buldeo Jamedar worked for Bird and Company, who were presumed to be licensed recruiters. Buldeo had established his own network of eight men who ambushed those on pilgrimage, and were paid one rupee for each person delivered to him.

Boys as young as fourteen or fifteen were recruited, but their ages were recorded as eighteen or over. Rev. Charles Freer Andrews, an emissary of Mahatma Gandhi, who was sent to Fiji in 1915 to investigate the allegations of violence, and the atrocious living and working conditions of the girmitiyas, wrote:


A Brahman boy, aged about 15, came out in 1915. He had been deceived by the recruiting agent as to the nature of the work which he would be required to do. He was told in India that he would have garden work given to him in Fiji. His hands were quite unhardened, and he was miserable, and seemed quite a child still in every way. He begged very pitiably to be allowed to go home to India.9



In the villages, sub-depots were established as holding paddocks for the recruits. They were strongly regimented. Once inside, the victims realised that their liberty and freedom of movement were lost. Recruits included men and women of upper, middle and lower castes. It was here that the rules of commensality and caste structures clashed. This provided all the ingredients for a revolt, as the upper castes, which sometimes included Brahmins, objected to sitting or eating with people from lower castes. These situations were handled by their captors by manipulation, domination or repression.

Women fared particularly badly in these sub-depots. This was the first step towards estrangement from their families, particularly for those who had been manipulated, abducted or kidnapped. Many lost their husbands, parents and even children. Women, being in short supply, were prized and the aarkathis earned a higher commission for recruiting women. Once these women found themselves within the confines of the sub-depot, they wept and begged their captors for release. Women, detached from the families into which they were wedded, usually forfeited their right of return to the family fold. They faced ostracism upon returning to their homes. Indian culture condemned such women as impure and, as such, they were rejected.

In their network, the aarkathis also had women who assisted them in enticing and subduing the trapped women. These other women, who had accepted their fate, consoled the new arrivals and reminded them of the stark reality: the possibility of being banished from the family home. They were advised to pursue a new life in a new place. Within days, the women succumbed to what seemed the inevitable and submitted to the dictates of their captors.

In the sub-depot, the stringent rules of commensality began to erode. The edifice of superiority and exclusivity of the higher castes began to crumble as they cooked, ate, drank and slept with lower castes. In order to facilitate integration and relieve drudgery the recruits were encouraged to relax by singing, dancing, wrestling or playing games e.g. gathka (singlestick play). Gathka was a powerful weapon of attack and defense and widely practised in Northern India. These activities encouraged integration of castes and the breaking down of traditional barriers.

The sub-depots became a melting pot of the castes and merging place of cultures. Indian culture comprised a central structure with sub-cultures that differed in rituals and practices. These were tributaries that fed into the main river of Indian culture. Caste observances and the practices around them created a myriad of caste rules. These had to be adhered to if exclusivity of the castes was not to be compromised. These structures, which nourished Hindu life, were forced to adapt to these new conditions.

Recruits who gathered enough courage to demand to be released were asked for money for the food they had eaten during their time in the subdepot. Few had enough money to regain their freedom, and their will to fight for their release ended in submission.

While the reaction of upper castes was one of revulsion at being polluted by the company of lower castes, that of the lower castes was one of total disbelief. They could not comprehend that the age-old rules guarding the relationship between castes could be so brazenly defied. They were initially apprehensive of the new order unfolding before their eyes, although for them it was an elevation in status to live and eat with the upper castes. Some from the lower castes considered it to be a sin and against the will of God to break the caste rules. They were conditioned to observances passed down from one generation to another for thousands of years. They had believed that serving the upper castes was a divine duty. Many believed that it was the only way to gain mukti (salvation).

After a few days of captivity, and once enough numbers had been gathered, the recruits were taken to the nearest maamledaar (magistrate). By the time they appeared before the magistrate the aarkathis had them completely confused and subdued. They were told that they should say ‘yes’ to every question and warned that anything to the contrary could incur punishment.

By the time the recruits paraded before the magistrate, their will to resist had largely been broken. It was no more than a formality for the magistrate to witness the indenture agreement. Few, if any, of the recruits understood the terms and conditions of the agreement, its consequences, implications or even their destination. The majority, being illiterate, pressed their thumb mark to the agreement when told to. This sustained the pretence that the signatories understood the terms and conditions of the indenture agreement and had wilfully endorsed it.

The short appearance before the magistrate was significant for two reasons. First, it gave a veneer of respectability to the system of recruitment, and secondly, it had a strong psychological effect on the recruits who accepted they had surrendered themselves to the authorities. They believed it was almost impossible to seek release. Having surrendered themselves, the recruits became people of a class that was broken, conditioned and subsequently condemned to servitude. The impact of this was understood only gradually through experience. Once the formalities were over, the recruits were transported by train to the port of Calcutta and accommodated at 15 Garden Reach Road before they embarked on the ships for their final journey to the colonies.

Calcutta, a city renowned for its beauty, was India’s most active port, serving large cargo and passenger ships. The British love of Calcutta had found expression in the gardens, architecture and industries that had mushroomed as its population had grown. The colonial sahibs had established an aura of authority in the exclusive enclaves of Calcutta, where they lived a life of great luxury. The towering Howrah Bridge, considered an outstanding feat of British engineering, rose above the Hooghly River as a symbol of British pride and dominance over the Indian subcontinent. Its size and grotesque shadow loomed large over Calcutta, instilling awe and reverence in the hearts of the indigenous people.

The central depot was the final corral for the recruits, from which they were herded into coolie ships. The atmosphere of the central depot was one of confusion, as people of different areas, religions, languages, castes and cultures assembled in confinement. New recruits kept arriving and they brought their own fears and anxieties.

Those who administered the recruits were anxious to ensure that they were contained until they embarked on the ship. Congregation in large numbers was discouraged for fear of rebellion. The central depot at Calcutta was a complex unit in comparison to the sub-depots that operated in the interior of the country. It became the sangam (merger) of castes and cultures from different parts of the country. The objections of the upper castes to carrying out the traditional duties of the lower castes was cleverly resolved. They were given duties which did not offend them. Some were made bhandaris (cooks) in the depot and on the ship. Lower castes and those ill-disposed towards the upper castes considered it a privilege and an honour to eat food cooked by the upper castes.

The recruits spent their time at the depot under regimented conditions. They were inspected to ensure they had the physique and attributes for work in the colonies. People with leadership qualities were watched, or manipulated by appointing them as sardars (headmen) over designated groups of twenty-five people.

At the depot, it was not uncommon to see tense situations develop. Issues amongst the recruits were individually handled. Those who were defiant or aggressive were isolated until they submitted. Those who had been abducted from fairs, festivals or religious shrines still lived in fear and trauma. Indian women, traditionally meek, gentle and submissive, were heavily dependent on their male counterparts. It was terrifying for them to lead a life on their own. Some of these women had been trapped and separated from husbands, children or other loved ones and were often overcome with emotion. Some sobbed and wailed, affecting others who cried with them. Those offering a frenzied response to their captivity were dealt with in isolation and cautioned and counselled to accept their fate.

It would, however, be wrong to suggest that every recruit was overcome with grief. Some were escaping from police, family or the village for various reasons. Those with reason to escape their familiar surrounds fared better and responded more positively towards their masters. These were not in the majority but they had a calming influence upon others. The authorities used them to their advantage.

Once the required number of recruits had been registered, arrangements were made for embarkation on the coolie ships. Each ship was under the charge of a Surgeon-Superintendent, who was responsible for the safe passage of the indentured migrants to their appointed destinations.

James M. Liang, who served as Surgeon-General on the coolie ships, wrote a manual titled, Handbook for Surgeon-Superintendents of the Coolie Emigration Service,10 that gave valuable guidelines for dealing with the various issues and situations that might arise on board during the voyage. It covered areas like embarkation, duties of cooks, hospital attendants and nurses, diet, sirdars, medical treatment, compounders, discipline and daily chores.

The coolie ships were specially fitted for the transport of indentured migrants in accordance with plans approved by the British authorities. They were designed for expediency and did not require the elaborate provision of comfort.

It was the responsibility of the Surgeon-General to review the manual prior to the ship’s journey and ensure that everything was prepared for the embarkation of passengers. He was paid a commission for every recruit safely delivered to the ultimate destination. On the day of boarding, recruits were issued with clothing and basic necessities. Their clothes were the same as those worn by prisoners in British India. This did not help to allay the anxieties of the recruits. Apprehensively, they were herded onto the waiting ship. Many had never seen a ship, or even the ocean, before, and embarked with much sobbing and wailing.

As the ship set sail, the gradual disappearance of their motherland was heart-wrenching for the recruits. In the second ship, Berar, and the third ship, Poonah 1, bound for Fiji in 1882, fifteen people were reported to have committed suicide by jumping overboard. After these incidents, boats accompanied the ships for some distance on the Hooghly River as they headed towards the ocean, as a protective measure to save those who might decide to end their lives.

The first few weeks were traumatic for the passengers, the Surgeon-General and even the staff. Seasickness and depression quickly set in among the recruits, and it was to the credit of the Surgeon-General and the crew that they kept their passengers mobile and engaged in an attempt to fend off despair.

Life on board the ship was tightly scheduled. Migrants rose at 6 a.m., tidied their bedding and had breakfast between eight and eight-thirty. Those assigned to cleaning the decks, working in the kitchens or carrying out sundry duties did so under strict direction. Others were encouraged to participate in games and activities. Singing, playing drums, wrestling, telling stories, displaying traditional arts or acrobatic skills featured prominently. This was the best antidote to melancholy and depression.

Liang, in his long experience as Surgeon-General, revealed the impact of depression upon some of the recruits:


Many die from nostalgia … with caste prejudices, their leaving their native land, perhaps never to see it again, and being thrown among people with strange habits, language and even colour. The excitement of the newness of everything keeps them up for a time, but soon dies away, and is followed by depression when they realise what they have done.11



Dr R. Whitelam confirmed Liang’s views in his account of shipboard life written for the Crown Agents:


As soon as they got on board, the journey began with problems. During the first two or three days, and when proceeding down river, it requires great deal of energy and exertion to get the dinner meal cooked, the Bhandarries being unused to the ways of the ship and the confusion and the excitement so great. For the week following, sea-sickness usually prevails; very frequently many cases of depression, which taken together prevent any strict rule as to dietary …12



Defiance of authority, or any attempt to cause friction or incite rebellion on board the ship, were dealt with severely. Punishment was carried out in full view of other recruits to discourage others. Bizarre methods of discipline were used. Liang wrote that, when he found two men fighting, he tied them together back to back with a dhoti until they tired. When a recruit used abusive language, he punished the offender by making him stand in front of the ship dispensary holding his tongue out. People caught stealing, or committing other offences, were sometimes frog-marched with faces painted black, accompanied by people of low caste yelling and ridiculing them while others laughed.

These forms of punishment left a legacy of shame which destroyed the spirit of many. They were subsequently often taunted and teased by others and suffered rejection and isolation. In the Indian culture, to paint a face black as punishment was demeaning and led to that person being declared an outcast. Some who suffered such indignities never recovered from the shame and became objects of ridicule, often succumbing to sickness, and some even committed suicide.

The journey to Fiji took seventy-three days for a sailing ship, and thirty days by steamship. Eighty-seven ships transported the indentured labourers

to Fiji.13 The ship Syria, however, with 497 passengers — including infants and a crew of forty-three — was wrecked on the Nasilai reef, in Fiji waters, on 11 May 1884. It resulted in the deaths of fifty-six indentured labourers and three lascars (Indian sailors). Frantic rescue efforts were mounted under the leadership of Dr William Macgregor, Chief Medical Officer and the Acting Colonial Secretary. He disclosed his feelings in a letter, a month later, to Sir Arthur Gordon, the first Governor of Fiji:


The scene was simply indescribable, and the pictures of it haunt me still like a horrid dream … People falling, fainting, drowning all around; the cries of instant help, uttered in an unknown tongue, but emphasised by looks of horror of impending death, depicted on dark faces rendered ash grey by terror …14



While other ships escaped tragedy, the journey was, nevertheless, fraught with despair. Dr J Perkins, Surgeon General on S.S. Fazilka, bound for Fiji in 1907, wrote in his diary:


19 January: The weather being bad, the ship pitching and rolling very heavily, the coolies being sea-sick and cooking impracticable, a dry meal of biscuits with salt and raw onions had to be given for dinner tonight.

20 January: Evening wind freshening to gale with high, heavy seas, ship pitching and rolling heavily. Very bad! A great many of the coolies very sea-sick.

23 January: From midnight, the weather getting worse … Cooking impossible.

24 January: Hurricane raging … Two dry meals of biscuits had to be given today.15



While this was not representative of every journey, the conditions for nonseafaring people were not always easy. Most of the girmitiyas recalled being fed with hard, stony biscuits, which they referred to as ‘dog biscuits’. Passage through the perilous Pacific waters in winter, and rough seas with no end in sight for days and weeks, weakened the recruits mentally and physically.

It was only the ingenuity of the Surgeon-General and ship’s crew that the situation prevented descending into complete chaos.

By the latter part of the journey, most had accepted their fate and began to mix and mingle with others. The ship’s environment gave rise to a new relationship amongst the passengers, which took root, strengthened and endured. People of different castes, cultures and languages found common ground in their new identity. The male passengers called themselves jahajibhai (shipmates) and the female migrants called themselves jahajin.

The jahajibhai and the jahajin became the identities of those who travelled together on the coolie ships. This identity was personal and fraternal and the bond of love and affection was like a blood tie. In some respects these ties were stronger, as they were seeded in suffering and matured in endurance. Jahajihai thus became a word symbolising brotherhood and jahajin sisterhood. There was great power and emotion in these relationships. The sacredness of this relationship found deep expression whenever they subsequently met.

The journey brought the recruits to the Nukulau Island, where the passengers disembarked and were held in quarantine for a period of six weeks before being allocated to planters. They remained in isolation, as if marooned on the island. The trauma of the journey continued to dog them. It was said that a few recruits from South India, who saw the Viti Levu mainland from Nukulau, thought it was part of India and decided to cross the water at night. Two of them drowned.16 However, being on land was a respite from the tumult of the sea journey. They settled at Nukulau, adjusting to the new surroundings.

Within weeks, another separation occurred. Recruits were assembled into units and were handed over to pith-helmeted sahibs who would transport them to their plantations. The CSR Company took the largest number of recruits.

During this separation, none had the opportunity to break the muster to bid farewell to others. At a distance, some made their farewell greetings with raised arms to each other and so parted to unknown destinations. The mustering was so rigid and so heartless that it was not uncommon for husbands and wives to be separated from each other, never to meet again. Recruits were transported by boat to Suva or to the western or northern districts of Fiji.

Once on the mainland, the girmitiyas were herded like animals to the plantations. They were given kennel-like living accommodation — referred to as coolie lines — for their terms of servitude comprising a room eight feet by six feet. Each room was shared by three persons or a family, and the units were joined together with fifteen such rooms. The interior wall that separated the adjoining room was only partially walled and the upper section was closed off with chicken wire. It was not only the bedroom but also used for cooking. In 1908, detached kitchens were added to these inhumane structures and the size of rooms increased to ten feet by twelve feet. Even the provision of a separate kitchen was objected to by the CSR Company, as its manager at Nausori submitted to the Agent-General of Immigration,17 responsible for the welfare of indentured labourers, that the fires (for cooking) inside the rooms kept the mosquitoes out.18 K.L.Gillion wrote:


With three bunks and firewood, field tools, cooking utensils cluttered about, smoke, soot, spilt food, flies and mosquitoes, perhaps fowls, or a dog as precaution against theft, and until separate kitchens were required in 1908, a fire place as well, living conditions were neither comfortable nor sanitary.19



In this environment, community values were corrupted and this led to actions and reactions that were alien to the occupants of the coolie lines.

During the first few weeks, the recruits would experience low wages, inadequate food rations, back-breaking tasks and physical violence. Those who mentally and physically conditioned themselves did so in the hope that it would all end after five years. Others struggled between despair and hope. These five years of servitude were filled with violence and violations against the girmitiyas by kulambars and sardars.








CHAPTER THREE

VIOLENCE IN THE FIELDS


Blood gushed as the whips fell, 

Plantation life was a living hell.

Victims’ cries echoed far and wide,

From beatings no one could hide.




On 22 August 1910 the hospital at Nagaga in Nadroga admitted a female patient. She was carried to the hospital unconscious and covered in blood, suffering from severe injuries. The hospital attendant, Albert Whittaker, was aghast to see the severity of her injuries and thought that her life was in danger. The patient lived, remaining hospitalised for a long time. No one was interested in the woman’s injuries until Dr John Halley, the Divisional Medical Officer, on a routine inspection of the hospital, became suspicious when the hospital attendant showed ‘manifest reluctance’ at him seeing the patient. He was horrified to see ‘large raw open wounds,’1 on her body, and reported the matter to the police.

Cases of grievous physical assault, torture and torment by the employers against the girmitiyas abounded during the period of girmit. These contributed to a general air of anxiety, anger, anguish and fear. They sometimes led to extreme retaliatory measures. These occurred when the kulambars and sardars breached the limits of tolerance. Victims resorted to summary justice with the aid of the cane knife. Many of the kulambars and sardars were decapitated in these circumstances and the culprits, unrepentant, marched to the gallows.

The cane knife, to the Indo-Fijians (descendants of the girmitiyas), is an agricultural implement, a shield of defence and a weapon of offence. As its name implies, its common use in Fiji is for harvesting sugarcane. However, it also serves other purposes. At night, when there is a threat, real or perceived, around a farmer’s home, he probes the darkness drawing courage from this weapon. Even in the absence of threat, the farmer sleeps easier, aware that his cane knife is at hand. The cane knife is part of the family jewels among the rural Indo-Fijian community.

The kulambars of the CSR Company gained notoriety for inflicting heinous acts of cruelty against the girmitiyas. A few writers have captured the essence of that era. In order to set the scene for this chapter, a few of these examples are quoted here to give a broad picture of the nature and gravity of violence in the fields.

Walter Gill, one of the last kulambars of the CSR Company during the girmit, noted an incident in his book:


… white Overseer on Rarawai estate saw a mongrel dog sniffing about the coolie kitchen. Dogs were forbidden in the ‘lines’, so when he saw a cane knife leaning against the wall of a room, he picked it up and used it. The severed halves of the dog he threw inside the door. Unfortunately, the occupant was a Muslim, to whom dogs are anathema, and he let the system catch up with him. Picking up the knife from where it had been dropped, he stepped behind the Overseer and decapitated him.2



Rev. John Weir Burton, a Methodist missionary, who worked closely with the girmitiyas in the Rewa district, exposed the indiscretions of the kulambars in his book, Fiji of Today (1910). He wrote:


The young and brutal overseers on the sugar estates (of Australian and New Zealand origin) take all sorts of liberties with good looking Indian women and torture them and their husbands in cases of refusal.



Rev. Burton also revealed that women were known to have been fastened in rows to trees and then flogged in the presence of their children.

The girmitiyas, with low wages, hard tasks, scant food and appalling conditions, called their term of indenture ‘narak’ (hell). Referring to the CSR Company, Burton said that it had no soul, its prime motive being the exploitation of labour to increase its profits. In this respect, even children were robbed, as they were not provided with educational facilities, and as soon as they reached the age of twelve years they had to work in the fields. Burton held the view that the system was barbaric, that nothing could assuage its dehumanising and degrading influences and that it was good neither for the coolies nor for those who operated the system.

Rev. Burton captured another incident in his book that reflects on the barbaric conditions that the girmitiyas had to bear:


It is mid-day. A woman went to work in the morning, and her infant, according to the rules of the estate, was left at the plantation creche. The little one had been ill during the night, and the mother had become anxious about it. She stole from her work to see it, and found that it still had fever. She determined to bring the child back to the field — which is contrary to the rules. She is doing this when her Overseer, a big, burly Britisher, rides along on his chestnut horse. He sees her carrying the child on her hip, and immediately hurls off English and Hindustani oaths at her.

‘Back you go! Take back your kid to the creche, you  .’

The woman turns in fear, and puts her hands together in entreaty. The whip comes down upon her half-naked back and legs. The child is struck also. Both are crying and screaming, and the mounted brute almost puts his horse’s hoof upon her. A European happens to be passing.

‘You coward! Call yourself an Englishman to strike a woman like that?’

He laughs uneasily.

‘These d____d coolies — especially the women — must taste the whip. There is no keeping them under else.’



On the girmitiya response Rev. Burton wrote —


It is not surprising, therefore, that under such conditions it frequently happens that the coolie takes the law into his own hands and tries the edge of his cane knife upon the skull of the English overseer.



Hugh Tinker, noted writer on the indenture system, also blamed the CSR Company for violence in the fields. He wrote —


An industry which provided almost nothing for the workers by way of incentives succeeded in keeping them hard at work by a system of penalties and punishments. The role of the task-masters was grim; and their capacity to exploit the coolies included the sexual exploitation of women.3



Hausildar, a girmitiya, of the violence said:


We were whipped for small mistakes. If you woke up late, i.e., later than 3 a.m., you got whipped. No matter what happened, whether there was rain or thunder, you had to work — we were here to work and work we had to do, otherwise we were abused or beaten up. No one can say that he or she was not beaten. The overseer would spy on us from his house on the hill through his binoculars. At the slightest excuse he would come riding on his horse and proceed to whip (the whip, he hid behind his back) those concerned. I too was beaten this way.4



On the CSR Company’s prosperity, K.L. Gillion wrote:


The prosperity of the company and the colony rested on a basis of cheap Indian labour.5



During girmit, the Agent-General of Immigration had inspectors posted in various districts to protect girmitiyas from exploitation and violence. The irony was that some of the appointees were ex-CSR Company employees. Burton confirmed this:


The Inspector of Indian coolies only pays two visits a year to their miserable barracks, where men and women are penned together like cattle, and even these inspectors are for the most part not very keen about the grievances of Indians, as some of them are ex-employees of the CSR Co, which is the real king of the colony.



The predatory instincts of certain inspectors went against the girmitiyas and further aggravated their condition. It would be wrong, however, to conclude that the Agent-General of Immigration or all of his inspectors were ineffectual and corrupt. As would be seen, some of them were conscientious and showed courage and conviction in the execution of their duties. But those duties were carried out against a background of misrule that included manipulation of the justice system.

The presiding magistrates, who invariably sided with the perpetrators responsible for criminal acts against the girmitiyas, frustrated some of the best efforts of the Agent-General of Immigration and his inspectors. Another difficulty the inspectors faced was in getting witnesses to come forward. The majority of girmitiyas feared retribution from the kulambars and the sardars in the event of reporting or giving evidence against them.

In addition, girmitiyas did not have the liberty to leave plantations without the consent of the kulambars, and this effectively prevented many from reaching the Inspector of Immigrants to lodge complaints or going to the courts to give evidence. On some plantations, victims resorted to reporting incidents of violence to the police in the nocturnal hours to escape the prowling eyes of sardars and kulambars.6

Physical assault and mental torment were used blatantly. In the pursuit of productivity and profits, nothing mattered to the CSR Company — the girmitiyas were perceived to be workhorses. In the early days, virgin land was cleared and hand-ploughed by them. Later, draught animals were introduced and, evidently, received better care and treatment than the girmitiyas.

One writer to whom Totaram Sanadhya, a girmitiya, alluded in his book, wrote caustically about the girmitiyas:


This is the coolie from India — you punch him with a fist, kick him, you don’t give him wages, send him to prison, and no one hears about it at all.7



Physical punishment included whipping, punching, kicking, bashing with sticks or cane stalks and over-tasking. Other forms of punishment might be to stand on one leg for a long period, or forcing a girmitiya man to wear women’s clothing and assigning him work with the women’s gang to humiliate him. Forms of punishment varied both in content and in intensity. It was alleged that the girmitiyas who were sick could not go to the hospitals without the permission of the kulambar. In most cases, permission was only granted when the victim was showing extreme signs of illness.

Hospitals were ill-equipped in both staff and medicines. This contributed to a high rate of mortality in the hospitals. Because of this, hospitals were perceived by the girmitiyas as places not for healing but for dying. This perception was so strong in Fiji that even the Fijians called the hospitals Vale ni Maate (house of death). In its centennial publication, the CSR Company confirmed that:


In the old days there were three medicines — quinine, purgative, and a peppermint cough mixture.8



Indeed, these hospitals were largely an adornment created to show compliance with the legislative requirement for medical care. As a purgative, castor oil was extensively used to treat hookworm infection. Gillion, referring to the high incidence of hookworm infection among the girmitiyas, wrote:


To it can be attributed more real misery than anything else in the indenture system.9



Hookworm flourished in the hot, wet conditions and girmitiyas became its victims through working barefoot in mud and slush for ten to twelve hours per day.

Inadequacies in the medical, judicial and administrative systems were prevalent. On this, Sanadhya shed some light:


There are few magistrates in Fiji who have studied law. They are white and they know how to read and write a little. That is enough to be a magistrate, and commonly in many places the magistrates do the doctor’s work too. In a place called Tavinni [Taveuni?], a single man is magistrate, District Medical Officer, local doctor, police inspector, jail superintendent, wharf master, road supervisor and captain of his small ship.10



In the life of the girmitiyas, the dominant people were the kulambars of the CSR Company and the sardars. The kulambars looked after large plantations and, to assist them, they appointed sardars, who were chosen from the girmitiyas. The sardars were pampered, manipulated or intimidated into working with the kulambars. They operated hand-in-hand with their masters, and collaborated or even assisted them in their abuses.

Being a sardar was a high honour for a girmitiya, and those appointed had the advantage of escaping the violence, rigours and drudgery of girmit life. The sardars had a stranglehold over the girmitiyas and established a network of informants to keep themselves and the kulambars informed of discussions among the group under their charge. They became the eyes and the ears of the kulambars, and inhibited organised resistance or rebellion against their employers.

It would be wrong, however, to suggest that every sardar was an agent of the kulambar or the CSR Company. A few were people of courage and integrity, and able to cushion the suffering of their compatriots. Sometimes they had the benefit of a kulambar who was humane. Some sardars who repudiated the kulambars for their tyranny lost their positions. The culture of plantation work established by the CSR Company required the kulambars and the sardars to exact productivity, and coercion and violence against the girmitiyas were the essential tools.

Sexual assault against the girmitiya women by the kulambars brought swift and sometimes extreme response. In Hinduism, chastity in women has been a requisite virtue from time immemorial. The relationship of marriage was a journey into eternity. In recognition of this, it gave rise to sati, a custom where women in India immolated themselves on the funeral pyres of their husbands. The sanctity of marriage was lauded in the scriptures and recited at marriages and devotions, and the husband was commended with the responsibility to provide, protect and defend his wife against any attempt on her izzat (honour).

During the girmit, the sanctity of marriage was grievously violated as the kulambars took advantage of the girmitiya women. The scarcity of women, which was in the proportion of thirty females to a hundred males, put stress on relationships. Collectively, the conditions contributed to a high rate of murder, suicide and violence during the girmit era in Fiji.

The level of violence resonated around the Pacific, and it was raised in the Australian House of Representatives on 15 September 1911, by Poynton, Member for Grey, who referred to the revelations of atrocities against the indentured labourers in Fiji and asked for an inquiry into it by the officers of the Commonwealth. He informed the Parliament about tasking and violence against the indentured labourers, saying that:


If they do not complete the task that is set them they are brought before a Court and heavily fined or imprisoned. In the year 1907 there were 1460 cases of imprisonments and other penalties for non-completion of tasks.



Questioned on the nature of the task, he responded:


I could not give the details, but I know it is fairly stiff task. The Hindoos [sic] are treated with utmost severity. The overseers even flog women and children.11



The gravity of this revelation did not move the Australian parliamentarians. No inquiry was requested or instituted, perhaps because any such inquiry would have implicated the Australia-based CSR Company and its Australian and New Zealand employees. The CSR Company, thus given a free hand in its operations without fear of being subjected to public inquiry, litigation or criminal charges, became even more blatant and aggressive. This contributed to an aggravation of violence against the girmitiyas.

Some incidents in Ba district, situated on the main island of Viti Levu, and a few incidents in other districts, are recounted here as indicative of the widespread violence during the girmit.

In Ba district, Navoli, Veisaru, Koronubu and Rarawai, the plantations were hotbeds of violence against girmitiyas.

In 1900, kulambar Gore-Jones, who had already been twice convicted of violence against girmitiyas, continued his bloody approach at the Koronubu plantation.12 The Inspector of Immigrants at Ba, M.E. Russell, reported to the Agent-General of Immigration nine cases of violence against the girmitiyas between January and August 1900. Those implicated were Gore-Jones, his assistant Wotton and sardars Ramgarib and Nand Kishor. Fear amidst the girmitiyas became widespread, and Koronubu plantation recorded the highest incidence of desertion in the district.

In his report, Russell submitted that Gore-Jones severely wounded girmitiya Autar with the metal end of his riding crop. Autar received a deep gash to his head and was hospitalised for nine days. Russell raised the matter with M. Farquhar, Acting Manager of the CSR Company’s Rarawai Mill at Ba. Farquhar confirmed seeing Autar in hospital and informed Russell that he had severely reprimanded the accused, and cautioned the junior kulambar (Wotton) and the sardars that such violence against the indentured labourers would not be tolerated.

Russell also reported that Gore-Jones had wounded girmitiyas Bakshi and Rajastali with the metal end of the riding crop. In his report, Bakshi told Sergeant Shanks that Gore-Jones assaulted him. He sustained a wound almost two inches long and a bruised left eye. It was also revealed that Gore-Jones threatened to murder Bakshi if he reported the matter to the police. No inquiries were made with a view to prosecuting Gore-Jones, as both the victim and the witnesses were too afraid to come forward.

In this prevailing climate of violence, fear and frustration, girmitiya Sewanandan, a Brahmin, committed suicide. The District Medical Officer referred to him as a:


… big well developed and well nourished man.



Records revealed that he had served as sardar on the last ship, Elbe II, which had arrived in Fiji on 26 July 1900, and also at the Nukulau Island Depot. Witnesses confirmed that Gore-Jones had assaulted Sewanandan on the previous day, and that no other reason could be found for his committing suicide. Farquhar referred to Sewanandan as being:


… a high caste man and generally a smart coolie.12



He said that Sewanandan would have been made the sardar if he had deferred his ‘deed’ by eighteen hours, as Gore-Jones had already issued such instructions.

A man named Snelling, together with a Mr and Mrs Merritt, who managed the Morgan and Smiths shop in Koronubu, were sickened by the physical violence against the girmitiyas. They volunteered information to the police to the effect that they had witnessed Gore-Jones consistently attacking the girmitiyas with his riding crop. Police reports quoted them as saying:


… on one occasion we saw Gore-Jones give an indentured worker a most unmerciful hiding with his riding crop.13



However, their evidence was not sufficient to prosecute Gore-Jones as the victims, for fear of reprisal by the kulambar and the sardars, opted not to report the incidents either to the Inspector of Immigrants or to the police. Farquhar and Gore-Jones later visited the Merritts at their shop where they admonished them for interfering with plantation affairs.

In the case of girmitiya Autar, however, the police prosecuted Gore-Jones for causing grievous injury as they had sufficient medical evidence to support their case. The stipendiary magistrate at Ba, H. Monckton, found Gore-Jones guilty, but imposed the paltry fine of three pounds. The Agent-General of Immigration, A.R. Coates, submitted his report to Governor Sir George O’Brien (1897–1902) requesting that the indentures of Autar, Rajasatali and Bakshi be commuted and that the manager of the CSR Company be asked not to employ Gore-Jones in any position of authority over the girmitiyas.

The Governor perused the report and was clearly disturbed by the inadequacy of the punishment meted out to Gore-Jones. He directed the Colonial Secretary to write to the magistrate at Ba, saying:


… that I have noted with surprise that he considered a fine of three pounds a sufficient punishment for an assault of a very serious character committed by an Overseer, who had twice previously been convicted of assaulting coolies under him.



The simmering heat of the violence at Koronubu plantation had not receded when the adjoining Navoli and Veisaru plantations also erupted. In 1901, the level of violence against the girmitiyas by kulambar J.V. Stevenson was so excessive that he barely escaped being summarily executed. Girmitiyas Labawal, Golam, Mohammed Shair and Sultan Mohammed were charged with conspiring to kill Stevenson.

In 1906 and 1907, kulambar C.M. Southey at Navoli plantation and kulambar H.E. Forrest at Veisaru plantation mounted a reign of terror against the girmitiyas. They seemed to have inherited the climate of violence from their predecessors and maintained it with the same vigour.

The Inspector of Immigrants, J.W. Irwin, vigorously pursued complaints made by the girmitiyas, as had his predecessor, M.E. Russell. In 1906 and

1907 Irwin prosecuted kulambars named Southey and Forrest. Despite convincing evidence, the magistrate acquitted the accused, holding that Southey was provoked and was not to be blamed for the assault. Forrest escaped prosecution, as other girmitiyas volunteered witnesses in his favour, covering his tracks.

The Inspector of Immigrants wrote to the Rarawai Mill manager drawing his attention to the high incidence of violence at the Navoli and Veisaru plantations. The response of the Rarawai Mill manager surprised the Inspector of Immigrants. Defending Southey, the manager wrote:


… Mr Southey lays hands on his labour less than almost any Overseer at Ba.14



Subsequently, the Agent-General of Immigration, A.R. Coates, frustrated by the inadequacy of the punishment, vented his feelings against Southey and Forrest to the General Manager of the CSR Company in Fiji to the following effect:


On the 19th September 1906 Indian immigrant Girdhari complained to the Resident Inspector of Immigrants, Ba, of assault by Mr Southey, and was given a note to the Overseer. On the following day Girdhari returned to the Inspector with his hands tied, and stated that the Overseer had again assaulted him and tied his hands. A charge of assault was laid against Mr Southey and the defendant admitted to tying the man’s hands ‘to prevent him deserting’. Witnesses proved hostile, and the defendant was fined five shillings for a technical assault.

On 13th January 1906 Oochi, Indian immigrant complained to the Inspector that four shillings wages had been taken from him, by order of the ploughman, to pay for reins; he was given a note to the Overseer.

On the next day, he came to the Inspector bearing marks of severe thrashing, which he said he received from the Overseer. The Inspector wrote to the Manager at Rarawai, claiming protection for the immigrants coming to lay complaints.

A complaint against Mr Southey, by the Inspector, for assault was dismissed by the Magistrate with caution apparently on the grounds that provocation had been given by Oochi.

… In view of this and previous convictions recorded against Mr Southey, I am of the opinion that it is not advisable that the Indian Immigrants should be allotted to the plantation on which he has control of labourers and am prepared to recommend this course of action to His Excellency the Governor.

… I regret to notice that Mr Barry (the Rarawai Mill Manager) apparently fails to recognise the importance of the Inspector’s representations, and that his remark ‘that Mr Southey lays hands on his labour less than almost any Overseer at Ba’ seems to throw a light on the habitual attitude of those in authority towards immigrants, which has serious significance, and which I am confident cannot meet with your countenance and approval.

A number of complaints of assault by Mr Forrest, Overseer at Veisaru, have also been made to the Immigrant Inspector by the indentured labourers.15



The CSR Company defended Southey in a letter to the Agent-General of Immigration, saying that the presiding magistrate had held that Southey had been guilty of technical assault, meaning that there had not been any intention of ill-usage. It also held that Southey was provoked into, and was not to be blamed for, the assault.

On beatings administered to girmitiya Oochi, the CSR Company expressed doubt as to whether there was excessive brutality in the beating at all. The Manager of Rarawai Mill suggested that:


… the man must have been capable of arranging the marks to suit his complaint.’



On 3 May 1907 the General Manager of the CSR Company (Fiji), reiterated that


… Oochi, seeing that he had gained the Resident Inspector’s sympathy, had the stripes voluntarily administered on himself, or old ones re-opened by someone else for his own purpose …16



The letter rebuked the Agent-General of Immigration for threatening to withhold allotment of labour from plantations where Southey was in charge.

Distraught at the reaction and arrogance of the CSR Company and the failure of the judiciary to administer justice, the Agent-General of Immigration wrote to the Colonial Secretary. In his letter, he highlighted the incidents and expressed his unhappiness with the situation. In his report, he also restated the case against Southey, including the severe flogging of girmitiya Harbhajan by Forrest at the Veisaru plantation.

In his affidavit, Irwin had noted that Harbhajan, who worked under Forrest at Veisaru plantation, came handcuffed to his house and had black eyes. He also had marks of a whipping on his back and right arm. However, in court, Forrest was exonerated as he successfully built a defence using other girmitiyas to provide him with cover against the allegations.

The Colonial Secretary referred the report to the Governor, Sir Everard im Thurn (1904–1908), who was irate to note the brutality inflicted upon the indentured labourers by the CSR Company overseers. The Governor wrote:


… these papers almost prove once more that this habitual attitude of many Overseers towards the immigrants under them is, to put it plainly, brutal; and I regret extremely to note Mr Barry’s remark that to his knowledge Mr C.M. Southey lays hands on his labour less than almost any Overseer at Ba.

The S.M. attention should be called (by you) to the futility (I can find no other word) of his reason for merely cautioning Mr Southey.17



The ire of the Governor was not enough to put the judiciary back on the rails of justice, or to bring about a dramatic change in the attitude of the kulambars towards the girmitiyas. Violence against the girmitiyas continued unabated. The judiciary continued to favour the authorities against the girmitiyas. Other incidents, some of them recorded here, confirm that there was no respite from the violence for the girmitiyas until the end of girmit.

The Rarawai plantation, located near the Rarawai Mill, was boiling with discontent. Being close to the mill, workers were constantly under the surveillance of mill officers. As a result the girmitiyas were continually on edge. A group of girmitiya women, tired of ill-treatment by the kulambar, retaliated. A response of this kind from Indian women raised under the purdah (veil) in their homeland was out of the ordinary. They were known for their submissiveness. Obedience to, and respect for, authority was ingrained into them from early childhood. However, finding themselves caught up in a vicious system and driven to the limit, they retaliated.

One kulambar, supervising thirty girmitiya women on the Rarawai plantation, was caught in a trap of his own making. When he rode to the field he verbally abused one of the women, using the term randi. The other women attacked him from behind, pulling him down from his horse. The women kept him pressed to the ground and beat him, and before he was able to escape he was heavily soaked in urine. The kulambar was overwhelmed with shame and was hastily shipped back to Australia. After this incident, the CSR Company issued instructions to its kulambars that, for their safety, they should not dismount when supervising girmitiya women.18

Randi was a derogatory Hindi term not commonly used to address women. Kulambars, according to Walter Gill, who had supervised girmitiya women, were called randiwallah. This was another insulting term. The girmitiyas never used it; the kulambars used it to mock their colleagues who supervised girmitiya women.

On 18 February 1912, William Fort Porteous wrote to the Resident Inspector of Immigrants at Ba. He reported that a hospital attendant called Barnicoat at Rarawai inflicted torture and brutality on Poligardu, a worker at the plantation hospital. He wrote:


I would be less than human if I did not report the case of fiendish torture and brutality that occurred this morning. It concerns Mr Barnicoat’s treatment of a Hospital boy called Poligardu. After Mr Hunter had ridden away this morning, we all heard frightful screams from the dispensary and again half an hour later we heard the sound of blows and falls. On the first occasion Mrs Hunter sent for the Sardar to know the reason. He said that Mr Barnicoat was cutting a patient’s arm. The second time was so bad that everyone went over to call out to Mr Barnicoat to stop at once — they were unable to see anything or get in as the place was all closed and locked. When the boy was brought over he was in no state to tell me what happened and I have only just learnt what he said was done to him …19



Barnicoat had evidently poured boiling water over Poligardu’s genitals, causing severe blistering. As if this was not enough, Poligardu was severely beaten by Barnicoat for screaming. Following this incident, a warrant for Barnicoat’s arrest was issued. However, he went underground—presumably with the collusion of the CSR Company—and four days later, on 22 February 1912, he hastily left for New Zealand on the SS Hauroto from the port of Lautoka.

Edward Knox, Sydney-based General Manager of the CSR Company, in a letter dated 3 July 1912, attempted to mitigate the crime, alleging:


… owing to the interference with a nurse by one of the Indian staff of Rarawai Hospital, Barnicoat thought to frighten the latter (Poligardu) by blindfolding him and pretending to perform the act of circumcision, meanwhile pouring hot water over the part. The statement that he intended to frighten the man is supported by the fact that this was done in the presence of the hospital sardar and another servant. The local Manager immediately suspended Barnicoat, and on the District Medical Officer reporting that there were ‘several scald blisters and a few scratches’, Barnicoat was promptly dismissed for misconduct …



The uproar had not settled down in Rarawai when, a month later, another horrific incident took place. In March 1912, Sewagram, a girmitiya on Rarawai estate, was alleged to have stolen a small sum of money. Kulambar Rolfe searched his house and twisted Sewagram’s arm to obtain a confession. Later he was handed to a junior kulambar, Bursill, who was hell-bent on getting a confession. Unable to do so, he forced Sewagram to drink kerosene, this having the effect of making Sewagram vomit excessively.21

Later Sewagram was tied to a tree. Two Indian police constables who spotted him asked Rolfe to release him into their charge. Rolfe admonished the constables, saying that he would not and he would do what pleased him in his own area. Rolfe was charged and fined for this offence. However, Bursill avoided being charged, but was removed from the control of girmitiyas at the request of the Resident Inspector of Immigrants.

The pattern of violence against the girmitiyas varied. The perpetrators invented their own forms of punishment. The two incidents recorded above are indicative of the range. Interestingly, both incidents happened within the precincts of the Rarawai Mill. Other areas also recorded horrendous cases of violence.

In Nasavusavu plantation, situated in Nadroga, a chilling account of brutality against Naraini, a girmitiya woman, was revealed to the Supreme Court trial when kulambar Harold Blomfield was prosecuted.22

It was revealed to the court that Naraini gave birth to a child on 16 August

1910. The child died four days later on 20 August. On 22 August, Naraini, already in a frail condition, was given the task of breaking stones with a hammer on the Sigatoka tramline. She tired after a few hours and was resting when sardar Muniram alerted her that kulambar Blomfield had seen her resting. Naraini responded with a feeble attempt to resume work.

Blomfield approached Naraini and questioned why she was not working. Sardar Muniram explained to Blomfield that the woman was bleeding and was very sick. Blomfield fumed and kicked Naraini. She wept and entreated Blomfield to give her some other work as she was unable to do the work assigned to her. Blomfield thereupon picked up Naraini by the hair and bashed her head on the stones several times. He also kicked her, and beat her with a stick. Allman, the junior kulambar, stood by watching but did not do or say anything.

When the beating stopped, Naraini’s face was covered in blood and Blomfield ordered her to go to Nagaga Hospital, five miles away, with girmitiya Kaliram. Naraini, weak from her post-natal condition and still bleeding from fresh wounds, could not walk the distance. She collapsed on the road and was carried unconscious to the Nagaga Hospital by Kaliram.

Albert Whittaker, the hospital attendant, said in his evidence that Naraini had arrived at the hospital in a collapsed state. He confirmed seeing Naraini:


… suffering from contusion and injuries to back, shoulder and buttocks — puncture wounds and clean cut wounds on back. She was severely wounded. I thought there was danger to her life on admission.



Later, when Dr John Halley, the Divisional Medical Officer, saw Naraini at the Nagaga hospital with ‘large raw open wounds on her body’ he concluded that the nature of injuries pointed:


… to a degree of brutality that can hardly be conceived by any man in his right senses.



He reported the matter to the police, and investigations began.

Sensing danger, Blomfield made an elaborate plan to cover his tracks. Muniram, the sardar, was given two pounds to assume the blame and also an assurance from Blomfield that any fine imposed would be paid by him. All witnesses were silenced, and Blomfield threatened to shoot Kaliram if he said anything that implicated him. Blaming the girmitiyas was a tactic commonly employed by the kulambars and many escaped prosecution. Indeed, Blomfield’s plan was as good as any, and the police and the Inspector of the Immigrants were unable to pursue the case in the absence of witnesses.

Later, the Inspector of Immigrants, on a routine inspection, was puzzled to find that sardar Muniram was still supervising the girmitiyas, despite his implication in the grievous assault on Naraini. Muniram was arrested and subjected to rigorous questioning by the police. He buckled under pressure and admitted to the police that Blomfield had beaten Naraini and that he had been used to take the blame. This revelation led to Blomfield’s prosecution.

On 24 April 1911 Blomfield was tried in the Supreme Court. He was charged with wounding with intent to do grievous bodily harm. At the trial, Albert Whittaker, Dr John Halley — the Divisional Medical Officer — and five of the girmitiyas who had worked with Naraini gave evidence against Blomfield. Eight months after being brutalised, Naraini also gave evidence. She was carried on a stretcher into the courtroom.23 Despite strong evidence given at the hearing, the jury found Blomfield not guilty. However, the jury reprimanded Blomfield, stating that:


… the conduct of the Overseer in putting a woman in her condition at such a heavy task was callous in the extreme.



Yet the Chief Justice took exception and exonerated the accused from the stigma of ‘callousness’, taking note of the circumstances. Blomfield emerged unscathed, but life for Naraini was never the same. She recovered from her wounds, but later lapsed into insanity and was repatriated to India.24

In his report to the Colonial Secretary, the Agent-General of Immigration on 7 May 1911 sought the approval of the Governor to inform the CSR Company that Blomfield:


… is not a person considered by the Government to be fit to be placed in charge of indentured labourers, and that immigrants will not be allocated to any plantation on which he may be known to be employed.



In building his case against Blomfield, the Agent-General of Immigration related the above and two other cases against Blomfield. In one incident, the report said that Blomfield was charged with giving excessive tasks to nine girmitiyas, but the magistrate dismissed the case. In another incident, girmitiya Paanchu suffered severe scalding when, on 2 August 1910, Blomfield kicked a pot of boiling dhal over him while he was squatting on his heels in front of an earth oven. Again, the magistrate at Nadi dismissed the case, holding that no criminal intent was proved.25

After recovering from the burns, Paanchu suffered severe muscle contractions in the scalded areas and walked with great difficulty. On 22 December 1910 the Inspector of Immigrants took pity on Paanchu and wrote to the Agent-General of Immigration seeking some form of assistance until the victim recovered fully. In his entreaty to the Agent-General of Immigration, he wrote that Paanchu ‘presents a most pitiable object.’26 There was no compensation for girmitiyas who were injured in the course of their work on plantations or through the actions of their employer. In 1886 the Attorney General of Fiji had said — to the delight of planters — when Bootan, a girmitiya, lost his hand in a mill accident at Nausori:


The bare fact that a servant is injured whilst working for the master’s benefit does not impose any obligation on the master.27



Violence against the girmitiyas knew no bounds. Even an act of entreaty made to a kulambar could lead to a violent response. This was clearly shown in an incident at the Esivo Estate. A mule driver, in the act of making a request, was viciously kicked by the kulambar. The victim died before reaching the hospital. His liver was ruptured and his ribs were fractured. The kulambar was charged but acquitted; he denied the allegation and told the court that the mule had kicked the victim. The court accepted the kulambar’s version. However, one of the girmitiyas later attempted to avenge the injustice and viciously attacked the kulambar with an axe, seriously wounding him. For his crime, the girmitiya received ten years’ penal servitude and twenty-four lashes.28

Abuse by kulambars of girmitiya women sometimes sparked gruesome acts of violence. One such case involved a kulambar named Hall, from Esivo Estate, Lautoka. His liking for a girmitiya woman, Piyari, became a cause of fear and anxiety for her. One day Hall staked Piyari’s task in an isolated place. Hall arrived and began to molest her. She escaped to the coolie lines and attempted to commit suicide. However, neighbours came and rescued her. Girmitiyas Indarpal, Taan Singh and Gulab were incensed. They planned to avenge Piyari’s honour by killing Hall. They attacked him in his bungalow at night, cutting him to pieces. Seven girmitiyas were hanged for this crime but the real culprits escaped. At the trial, not one of the seven mentioned the name of those who actually murdered Hall. Such was the depth of contempt for the kulambars who defiled girmitiya women.29

Pundit Gurdayal Sharma in his book, Memories of Fiji, 1887–1987, recounted a similar incident at the Namanu Estate in Nadi.

Madrey, a sardar on the Namanu Estate, had taken a fancy to Parvati, wife of Som Naidu, one of the estate workers. Madrey attempted to take advantage of her after sending Som Naidu away on an errand. His plan failed when Parvati vigorously resisted his attempts. She told Som Naidu about the incident, and he went to Madrey’s house one night and beheaded him. No one was caught and Som Naidu could not be implicated. He removed every suspicion by weeping and wailing with others mourning Madrey’s death.

Brown, the estate kulambar, appointed Som Naidu as the estate sardar and, on leaving, whispered in his ear to send his wife Parvati to work at his bungalow, saying that the farm work was too arduous for her. Som Naidu was not pleased and did not oblige. Brown later removed Parvati from the farm and allocated her work at his bungalow. He sent a message to Som Naidu to seek another wife for himself. Som Naidu was incensed and his anger boiled over when Brown came to the plantation the following day. Brown questioned Som Naidu about the low productivity of the workers. Som Naidu defended them, which resulted in Brown terminating his appointment and replacing him with Shameem Khan. Brown also whipped Som Naidu. Som Naidu responded by using his cane knife. With one slash, he separated Brown’s leg from his body. He told other workers that he was taking the injured kulambar to the hospital. Instead, Som Naidu carried the wounded Brown on his horse to the bungalow where he searched for Parvati. He found her hanging from her sari in one of the rooms. Som Naidu cut Brown to pieces and then committed suicide.

Reverend Charles Freer Andrews, in his report on the plight of the indentured labourers in Fiji entitled Moral Conditions, warned the authorities:


The Indian people, as a whole, are one of the most patient and longsuffering among the races of mankind. They will endure poverty and want and outward oppression. But there is one thing that they will never endure. They will not allow any slight or insult to be offered to the chastity of their women.30



While the main centres in Viti Levu, the main island, were seething with discontent, Labasa, in Vanua Levu, the second largest island, was also a place of extreme violence against the girmitiyas. Gillion wrote:


… for a time Labasa was the worst centre and until 1903 there was almost a state of civil war there. Immigrants were often beaten, and in turn many Overseers and sirdars were assaulted, some Overseers even carrying revolvers for their protection.



Gillion held that the high incidence of violence was due to bad local management on the part of the CSR Company, and to the light sentences handed down to the overseers by the magistrates.31

In 1900, Governor Sir George O’Brien, sickened by the high incidence of violence against girmitiyas, admonished the CSR Company and asked magistrates to impose more severe sentences on offenders. In 1902, one kulambar was convicted and heavily fined, but this was an exception and it did not dampen the violence against the girmitiyas.

In 1905, at Wailevu plantation, kulambar Hill’s actions and those of his sardar contributed to the suicide of girmitiya Bassunath. The Colonial Secretary wrote to the CSR Company in response to the notes of evidence held by the magistrate at Macuata, into the death of Bassunath. He wrote:


You will observe that there appear to be strong grounds for presuming that there has been ill treatment of the new immigrants on Wailevu for which the Government must hold the Overseer in charge responsible.



In response, the General Manager of the CSR Company, on 2 August 1905 wrote to the Colonial Secretary, quoting verbatim the contents of the letter written by the manager of Labasa Mill. He stressed that in the absence of a proficient interpreter, the witnesses at the inquiry had had the advantage in the case referred to, and that the magistrate had admitted to this possibility. He wrote:


The coolies really have not been ill-treated … Before the Madrassis arrived, I warned the Overseers about their inevitable home-sickness and they were almost certain to desert in bodies, and try and find their way back to Madras … Sure enough, a lot of nineteen deserted from Wailevu one Sunday night or Monday morning.



In the same letter, the manager of Labasa Mill admitted:


… That some of the people have been slapped with the open hand, I would not deny, but that could never be looked upon as causing a man to commit suicide, or be classed as maltreatment.32



While physical violence took its toll on the girmitiyas, there were forms of mental torture that defied imagination. Victims bore atrocities and indignities, although they were left deeply scarred. Walter Gill reported the humiliation of girmitiya Baili Khan by the kulambar:


But whatever the reason, there was ample evidence that within a few weeks of Baili Khan’s arriving he was being subjected to every punishment and indignity that the mind of an angry, frustrated man could contrive …

The Bengali’s final degradation came when he was forced to dress in women’s clothes, then sent to work in the field with the women’s gang. It was a monstrous order, but the big, quiet coolie obeyed.33



The girmitiyas’ response as they sought vengeance on those who violated them, sent shock waves among the planters. On 11 September 1908 the Planters’ Association convened a meeting and asked the Government to appoint a commission to inquire into the reasons for the increasing number of attacks by indentured labourers. In their request they stated that:


Indians have so little fear of death by hanging that for injury real or fancied, the white man inflicts, the coolies’ first thought is — kill.



This call by the Planters’ Association was made some thirty years after the indenture system was introduced in Fiji. It clearly showed that violence against girmitiyas had not decreased. Agent-General of Immigration John Forster pondered on the violent reaction of the girmitiyas against the people who were in charge of them. He wrote:


I have no doubt that rightly or wrongly the offenders in the majority of cases do act under a ‘sense of injustice’ and I think it worthy of note that such offences are almost invariably I think committed under circumstances which preclude the possibility of the perpetrators escaping the legal consequences. There is no firing through windows or shooting from behind the hedge or blowing up, and they are committed in broad daylight with generally available witnesses to them. Under any ordinary rules as to human conduct or motives these circumstances would be held to indicate a sense of injustice as the probable moving impulse — whether such feelings were logically based on facts or utterly unreasonable.34



The CSR Company, in most cases, vigorously defended the right of its kulambars to inflict violence on girmitiyas. Through violence, it achieved more productivity at less cost. This was its ultimate objective. To the CSR Company, the end justified the means. In these circumstances, a culture of violence and over-tasking in the fields became entrenched. Failure to complete the task led to loss of wages and prosecution. The courts imposed fines or prison terms. Loss of wages, imposition of fines and prison sentences compounded the suffering and poverty of girmitiyas.

At the weekends, girmitiyas roamed the forests searching for food. The tropical jungle abounded with root crops and fruits. They also collected firewood for their cooking needs. Children in the coolie lines were malnourished, did not have adequate clothing and most, up to the age of eight, played naked or with scant clothing and open sores, around the daighar (house of the midwife) or near the fields where their parents toiled. The innocence of their childhood was stolen as they witnessed the brutal beatings of their parents or other girmitiyas. They were left with a legacy of psychological scars.

As Daadiji had told me, the fields were witness to habitual violence against the girmitiyas. Beatings generally brought entreaties from the victims. Their cries could not always be subdued. The more the victims wailed, the more the whips fell on them and lacerated their skins. It was not uncommon for those victims to return home with their clothes soaked in blood. In spite of their wounds, the victims had to return to the fields the following day and continue their daily tasks. Some, unable to bear the pain or the ritualistic over-tasking, escaped into the jungle and committed suicide. They used their pagdi to hang themselves, or they jumped into rivers.

The victims of whiplashes bore their pain in silence. They were not granted leave for these injuries, and staying home meant further persecution or prosecution, which ended in the imposition of a fine or imprisonment. With raw wounds on their bodies, they bore both the pain and the rigours of their backbreaking daily tasks. There was no medication issued for application to wounds. Workers identified plants which had healing properties and squeezed juice from leaves onto their wounds to aid healing. Most of the wounds were on their backs, and the girmitiyas assisted each other in applying herbal medicine. Even this had to be done in the absence of the kulambar. Any girmitiya who came to the aid of another girmitiya being beaten was also brutalised. As a result, others continued their toil in fear, hearing the cries of their colleagues but unable to rescue them.

There was no guarantee that physical wounds would heal, as subsequent whiplashes could cause further laceration. It was claimed that the beating of girmitiyas with whips was markedly higher from Thursday to Saturday, as the day off allowed the wounds to heal sufficiently for the victim to return to work by Monday. However, wounds did not heal quickly or easily in the tropical climate. They required tender care and attention, and the girmitiyas got neither. Desertion was a common occurrence and some who made it into the forest were never found. No one cared about them.

Another problem the girmitiyas faced was that those who had served their girmit, but whose wives were still serving the indenture, were not allowed visits to the coolie lines.35 This meant not only the separation of husband and wife — children were also affected. Women, estranged from their husbands, were vulnerable in a hostile and immoral environment. This situation exacerbated the moral and social degradation and contributed to the chaotic conditions that prevailed.

During girmit, children as young as twelve years were also indentured under the provisions of the Fiji Indian Indenture Ordinance No. 1 of 1891. Clause 58 under the title, Indentures and status of children, specified:


Every child of an indentured immigrant who on arrival shall be over seven years of age shall be indentured to serve on the plantation to which his parent is indentured. Such service shall commence when he reaches the age of twelve years and shall terminate not later than five years after his arrival in the colony.



Yet until 1892 children as young as ten years of age were committed to work in the plantations. Later they were indentured at the age of twelve years. From 1908 to the end of the indenture, they were indentured at the age of fifteen years. Of this, Rev. Andrews wrote:


But, by the laws of indenture, as soon as the child reached the age of fifteen, he would be forced back to go into the coolie ‘lines’, to live in a small compartment with two grown-up men (probably steeped in vice) and go out as an indentured ‘coolie’ in the field gangs — and all this would take place, though he had never in all his life signed an indenture agreement.36



Obviously Andrews was writing about the later period 1908–1919, and there are no written records of those children who were indentured when aged ten or twelve years.

Regarding the plight of their children, the parents had absolutely no choice. The indenture of their children was a revelation to them. They had not the faintest idea that, when they affixed their thumb mark to the indenture agreement, they were also agreeing to the virtual enslavement of their children. Children served as domestic servants and were assigned lighter duties such as weeding. Some parents, driven by a life of poverty, had little choice. The cost of food and low wages compelled parents to seek ways to supplement their household income.

Children were not spared the violence of the kulambars or sardars. Daadiji related to me the story of one unfortunate child and her mother, both indentured in the Rarawai plantation. She told how the thirteen-year-old daughter shared the misfortune of her parents. The child was tasked with pulling weeds growing around the stems of sugarcane plants. She was unable to cope with the task in the heat of the midday sun. The kulambar found her resting under a tree and started beating her. The mother leapt to the defence of her child like a leopard defending her cub. She took most of the blows as the child cowered under the shield of her mother’s body. The kulambar, having exhausted his anger, left the mother sobbing and the child crying hysterically. Under these conditions, the children of girmitiyas lived and grew up in mortal fear of the white man.

The authorities, the CSR Company in particular, were opposed to the education of the children of girmitiyas. Education, they feared, would render them useless as labourers, and they did not want to create a babu (educated) class among those who were born to serve their interests. However, the Christian missionaries did their best to educate the children, but with limited success. Both Hindus and Muslims were suspicious of the Christian missionaries and shunned them.

The plight of infants in the coolie lines was pathetic. Parents were unable to provide adequate care, milk or food for their children. This resulted in severe malnutrition and a high rate of infant mortality. In 1914, the Colonial Office noted that the rate of infant mortality was higher in Fiji than for indentured labourers serving in other colonies. Gillion attributed high child mortality to:


… congenital syphilis, improper feeding and poor sanitation, the ignorance of the mothers, and the fact they were too busy to care for their children properly.37



Indeed, illiteracy and ignorance of the mothers were compounded by the fact that they were relatively young, some in their teens and without the advice and guidance of elderly women they had ready access to in a traditional setup in India. The majority of expecting mothers did not know their due dates. Their employers were least interested in their welfare and required them to toil in the fields even in an advanced stage of pregnancy. Some mothers delivered their babies in the fields. The death of mothers and babies under such conditions could not always be avoided. Mothers were herded into the fields within a few days after giving birth, as in the case of Naraini (page 71) whose child died four days after birth; in no state to work, she was nevertheless on the sixth day given the task of breaking stones on the Sigatoka tramline. Also mothers were not allowed adequate time to suckle their infants.

Dr Hirsche, Chief Medical Officer, wrote:


An employer often complains that the women suckle their infants too long and that they could be left in the lines much sooner than is usually done. These gentlemen forget that these people have no other means of providing suitable nourishment for their children.38



Critics of the indenture system claimed that, from the employers’ point of view, the children were an impediment to productivity and infanticide was part of their sinister design, as it released parents from the responsibility of looking after children.

It was claimed that most mothers were unable to breastfeed their children at appropriate times, as they could not return to the coolie lines until the completion of their tasks in the evening. These children were looked after by a Dai (midwife), who was allocated a room at the end of the coolie lines — a wretched attachment at one end or both. The Dai was selected from the older girmitiya women. Her attributes in child-rearing were of no significance. Her duty was to keep the children mustered, amidst chaotic conditions, until their parents returned to the coolie lines.

Daadiji recounted that sometimes the cries of the children would reach their mothers working in the fields nearby. They would try to decipher the cries. Their hearts would melt hearing the desperate cries of their children, but they were unable to respond. Those who took courage and went to see their children in the absence of the kulambar or the sardar, bore the brunt of their wrath if they were later caught. Some mothers took their children to the farms and left them on the edge of the fields or in the shade of trees while they worked. They left the coolie lines between four and five a.m. in the morning for the fields, carrying their drowsy children in their arms, with their working implements (knife, hoe or shovel) and a sack which was spread on the ground for the child to rest, play or cry on during the day.

Children bore the discomforts of the merciless tropical sun or torrential rain and were exposed to the ravages of flies and mosquitoes while their mothers continued to work. Older children played guli danda (a game played with sticks), or with clumps of soil, making imaginative figures. Sometimes, unable to complete their tasks, parents remained in the fields until late in the evenings while children waited nearby. This was not unusual as over-tasking of the girmitiyas was the norm and often parents continued to toil from dawn to dusk. Some children, exposed to the tropical weather, malnutrition and sickness, died on the fringes of the fields. They were buried on land adjoining the fields, as were the adult girmitiyas. A few stones would be placed on the grave to mark the site.

Sanadhya claimed that not one girmitiya could claim that he or she was able to complete all the tasks in the period of their girmit. Those who finished their tasks early would sometimes have them increased the following day. This environment steeled some perhaps, but broke those who could not adjust to the culture of exploitation and violence. In these circumstances, desertions and suicide became a common feature of the girmit era. Most of the suicides or attempted suicides occurred in the first year as the shock and horror of girmit began to impact on the girmitiyas. These suicides were the result of an environment of violence, fear, frustration and depression, which destroyed the will of the victims to live. They chose death over life.








CHAPTER FOUR

PLANTATION LIFE AND NEW CULTURE


Rigours of plantation changed their lives,

Indo-Fijian culture emerged, reflecting their strives.



I shall never forget the first time I saw ‘indentured’ women. They were returning from their day’s work. The look on those women’s faces haunts me …



Miss Hannah Dudley, a Methodist missionary in Fiji, who did sterling work among the girmitiyas for fifteen years, wrote this in a moving letter (see Appendix Four) which was published in a newspaper in India on 4 November 1912.

Rev. Andrews echoed similar sentiments when he met a group of desperate girmitiyas. He wrote:


I shall never in all my life forget the look of misery and servitude on the faces of a large group of indentured labourers in the south of the Island as they came up to me in a body and threw themselves flat on the ground abjectly weeping and imploring my protection. In all the fifteen years I have spent in India, I have never seen a group of men and women sunk so low in abject fear. Again and again I have noticed this look of fear in labour gangs and on plantations.1



The rigours of plantation life and its mental torment was evident in the physical appearance of the girmitiyas. Deep-seated eyes, furrowed brows, haunted looks of anxiety and despair were common features of the victims of girmit.

Miss Dudley was a beacon of hope for the girmitiyas. Before coming to Fiji she had done a period of mission work in India and she was conversant with Indian culture and the Hindi language. She worked amongst the girmitiyas in the Suva and Rewa areas, adopting orphans and providing education for children and adults.

In her letter,2 directed at the Indian leaders, she drew their attention to the vile conditions in Fiji under the indenture system. She implored Indian leaders to have the indenture system abolished. Critics of the system agreed that it was iniquitous. It was beyond redemption, as even the so-called justice system was heavily weighted against girmitiyas.

In 1886, 6566 girmitiyas were registered in Fiji and 8835 charges were laid against them. In the Legislative Council Report for 1905, charges of assault laid by girmitiyas against European employers and sardars led to few convictions. For instance, in Ba twenty-two charges were laid and five convicted; in Lautoka seventeen charges were laid and four convicted; in Rewa five charges were laid and three convicted; in Macuata five charges were laid and one convicted; in Navua five charges were laid and one convicted; in Suva two charges were laid and none convicted.

In comparison, the district success rate of convictions against the girmitiyas were as follows:

Ba — 95.39%; Macuata — 93.14%; Rewa — 93.75%; Ra — 67.74%; Navua — 90.38%; and Lautoka — 73.73%.

Indians have always been a litigious race, seeking justice not with the sword but through the courts. Yet when they found that the judiciary was no longer the instrument of justice and, in fact, was an agent of torment, their faith in it vanished. Unable to seek redress by lawful means, the girmitiyas suffered. The majority bowed to the system but some retaliated. In their view, everyone had failed them, including the hallowed British justice system.

Sanadhya wrote that lawyers who took money from the girmitiyas to represent their interests failed them. They sided with those who belonged to their own community.3 In addition to this, the problem of translation and the difficulties in getting people to give evidence against the kulambars made it hard for girmitiyas to seek redress in court. It was hard for them to testify eloquently in the courts, and when they saw their tormentors, the kulambars, they often froze with fear. During the term of their girmit, the girmitiyas had three destinations — work, hospital or jail.4 If many lives were lost to suicide, equally high number of girmitiyas lost their lives to capital punishment. For example, after the murder of kulambar Hall at Lautoka, seven girmitiyas were sent to the gallows.

Robert Crompton, a member of the Legislative Council, and others were aghast at the demeanour of those who had committed murder and went to the gallows without fear or remorse. One girmitiya who was sentenced to death and reprieved by the Governor, subsequently appealed the Governor’s right to commute the sentence. Crompton told the Legislative Council on 1 July 1919:


I have heard dozens of death sentences passed on Indians, and I can safely say that, in nine cases out of ten, they are only good-humoured optimists in court after the death sentence has been passed. I have known of an instance where a man has been reprieved, and then has petitioned the Government and pointed out that they had no right to keep him alive because the judge had said he should be hanged. Those of us who have had to do with Indians know that a fair proportion of them would hang themselves …5



The violence of indenture found expression in many ways, among them the motivation of those who chose to march to the gallows defiantly. However, for some death was the ultimate escape from the violence and trauma of plantation life.

Rev. Andrews was perplexed by the severity of the violence and the reason for the high rate of suicide among the girmitiyas. He asked some of the kulambars why there was so much violence against the girmitiyas. They confided to him that violence was the method established by the CSR Company to exact maximum productivity. Andrews was told of the system called ‘speeding up’, which set one kulambar against another in measuring productivity.

In essence, one kulambar was ‘speeded up’ against the others to get his area of work done at the lowest cost. The lowest cost became the norm for measuring the productivity of other kulambars. In this race towards productivity for the employers and rewards for the kulambars, the burden of fulfilling the demands of both fell upon the girmitiyas. They endured the demands of plantation life and submitted to its mental and physical pressures. Of the ‘speeded up’ process, Andrews wrote:


… the very last ounce was taken out of the Indian labourer by bullying, threatening and flogging.6



and Gillion added:


often the only way to reduce costs was to economise on labour, and the immigrants suffered through the resulting ‘speed up’.7



Thus hours of work began very early in the morning. At three o’clock every morning (except for Sundays), the paniwallah (water carrier) struck the painful drumbeat or clanging of the gong that woke everyone in the coolie lines. This was one of the worst moments of each day in the life of the girmitiyas. The sound of the gong struck the heart of the victim like a bullet. At this time, the tired body had not recovered from the previous day’s toil. Eyes were heavy with sleep, the pulse of life was at its lowest ebb, muscles were sore and the body unresponsive to the call. The victim’s mind suffered sudden shock, followed by extreme despondency.

The girmitiyas’ response to this shock must have been to visualise the misery of their existence and the years of toil ahead. Some opted for death, hanging themselves from the rafters of their miserable homes. Those who could not find rope used their dhoti or pagdi to hang themselves. The rafters were low and in most cases the victim’s feet touched the ground. However, the will to die was so overpowering that they lifted their feet to facilitate death. Rev. Andrews learned that most of the suicides were committed between the hours of three and four a.m.

South Indians, according to the Agent-General of Immigration, had a temperament that was easily depressed and disposed to suicide. Sanadhya also revealed in his book that in Navua a number of girmitiyas from South India committed suicide together. Their problem was compounded because they could not communicate effectively with their North Indian counterparts, as they spoke a different language. In addition, few kulambars could communicate with them, as most knew only the North Indian dialects. They fared even worse in the courts because of these language difficulties. Their isolation and the gravity of their anxiety and trauma was reflected in the words of the CSR Company manager at the Labasa mill, who said that they were of a temperament to desert in groups, with the intention of walking back to Madras.

The depth of their despair was also reflected in the case of Venketawa Reddi, a South Indian from Navakai plantation, Nadi. He was distraught. He was separated from his wife and sought leave from the kulambar on the pretext of going to the hospital. Instead he walked for eighteen miles from Nadi to Lautoka and jumped into the cane shredder at Lautoka sugar mill. His body was collected in pieces.

The harsh conditions impacted in various ways on the culture of the girmitiyas. It underwent rigorous change, and gave rise to a new culture, conditioned by a new environment. When, in 1879, the ship Leonidas berthed at Levuka wharf with 489 indentured labourers, they had arrived with a seed of the Indian culture. In isolation, the culture underwent transformation, having to adjust, modify and mould itself to form a distinct Indo-Fijian culture. In the course of this, the caste distinctions were largely lost and, by the turn of the century, had disappeared completely.

Not only caste, but also race, religion and culture, became casualties for the girmitiyas. Among the largely Hindu recruits were a significant number of Muslims who were also treated as though they and their religion did not exist. In the nemesis of indenture, girmitiyas lost their identity, recognition and respect as human beings. Their masters called them coolie8 with contempt.

The girmitiyas, mostly illiterate but rich in the knowledge of their culture and traditions, perceived that all of humanity operated on a caste system, and that each caste represented an occupational pursuit. The sahibs in Fiji filled the role of governance and authority over others. To the girmitiyas they represented the sahib caste, a fifth caste in the culture of the castes. Illiterate and ignorant, they accepted the sahib caste as being the caste that had supreme authority over their destiny. Some even saw them as created by God to rule over them. Even the Brahmin, the priestly caste in India, became pariahs in Fiji, unable to retain class exclusivity and submerged in the mire of girmit.

During girmit, caste and cultures were immersed into a single identity as the girmitiyas. They saw themselves as subservient. Girmit, to the girmitiyas, was a period of enormous mental, physical and spiritual deprivation. Life without the inherent values that comprised the Indian culture with its religion, customs, traditions and the caste system as its foundation was seen as the dereliction of humanity.

Some writers claimed that the dilution of castes was complete by the time the shiploads of girmitiyas landed in Fiji. This was partly true. However, at the end of girmit there was a frantic search for lost identity and the restoration of old caste and communal values. According to Gillion, those who left from Calcutta included 16.1 per cent high castes, 31.3 per cent middle castes, 31.2 per cent low castes, 14.6 per cent Muslims, 0.1 per

cent Christians and 6.7 per cent artisans.9 The castes — to name a few — that came to Fiji included Brahmin, Kshatriya, Thakur, Ahir, Mali, Kurmi, Gadariya, Murao, Lodha, Chamaar, Dhobi, Kori, Teli, Nawoo, Mallah, Kanhaar, Kewat, Halwai, Kumhar, Badhai, Lohar and Luniya. By the end of the 1900s, except for the Brahmin, the caste distinctions were lost.

In the early period, following the end of the indenture, restoration of caste structures began in earnest and some wore their caste emblem with pride, but the majority had lost their caste due to cross-caste marriages. The principal beneficiaries were those from the lower castes. Naturally they opted to ascend the social ladder and merge with the upper castes. Others reverted to their original caste occupations. Lohar, blacksmiths, established workshops; Nawoo, barbers, set up shops or moved around the villages providing services to the people; and Brahmin, the priests, took up priestly duties.

In our village, there were three families from the Chamaar caste who were engaged in leatherwork. They went about their lives with pride. In the early days, they were despised for eating meat, particularly pork, and for engaging in rituals of animal sacrifice. The majority of the girmitiyas from the upper castes were strict vegetarians. However, with the passing of the older generation, these families from our village no longer held on to their caste identity.

In social intercourse, ‘jaat’ (caste) was extensively adhered to in the postindenture period. Daadaji, and subsequently my father, sought marriage of their progeny into castes that were the same as or higher than the status of our Ahir caste. Low castes such as Chamaar, Dhobi, Barber or Bhangi had no access to the daughters and sons of our family. It was the rule. Whenever a proposal for marriage was exchanged, the jaat issue had to be settled before proceeding any further.

This practice continued as late as the 1950s when it peaked, and thereafter rapidly declined. By the early 1970s caste identity in marriage had lost its relevance, although those from the earlier generation could identify some families by their caste. The third generation vaguely knew about caste, while fourth generation Indo-Fijians did not even know of the intricacies of caste as they affected the earlier generations.

During girmit, castes became dormant largely because conditions integrated the labourers. Victims had a common bond that drew them together. The language of pain and suffering was universal; fear of their common adversary united them, dissolving issues that may have divided them in the past. Indian culture may have lacked external influence, but had, in its fabric, the power of endurance. It had strong roots, an independent existence and unique values. It did not seek to subdue other cultures, but was open to the values of others and yet maintained its own vibrancy.

Indian resilience in adversity was one of their finest traits. Their culture and religion inspired them with that endurance and resilience, sheltered them spiritually and philosophically. Fiji provided a unique environment for the Indian culture to germinate. Yet there were initial adjustments to make between the cultures of two distinct communities, with different languages, customs and traditions — one from the North and the other from the South of India. In time, and with both internal and external influences, the two communities gradually came together in the new environment.

Alongside the Indian culture was the Fijian culture. The culture of the Fijians was unique and strongly imbued with ancient tribal values, each clan retaining its customs and traditions. The clans were protective of their own culture and tribal wars were common. Fijian culture had not been exposed to external influences until the arrival of the Christian missionaries. It underwent rapid change during this period, retaining its basic values but expunging cannibalism and other practices inconsistent with the norms of a civil society.

The Government, for fear of the Fijian culture becoming polluted or submerged by the Indian presence, prohibited social interaction between the two groups. To achieve this, it strictly enforced the traditional tribal codes to preserve the communal life of the Fijians under their tribal chiefs. As a result Fijian culture did not impact strongly on the life of girmitiyas.

Exposed to different practices and values, Indian culture developed a new branch, not by choice but through circumstances. This later developed into a distinct Indo-Fijian culture, tempered by the rigours of plantation life and exposure to the dominant western culture. The seed of a new Indo-Fijian culture began to germinate in captivity. Girmit was a period of hibernation for the new culture, which was unable to affirm its place in national life because of the conditions of servitude.

The struggles and difficulties of the girmitiyas could have adversely affected their religion and culture, but they held on to them as a defensive measure. The growth of a new culture was muted during the girmit era. Old customs and traditions did not disappear, but evolved, conditioned by changing societal norms and practices, into a new subculture that was in most cases anchored to its generic values.

Two issues featured prominently in the lives of the girmitiyas. Firstly, there was no escape and, secondly, the new environment imposed the need for adjustment to maintain and sustain themselves. They came to realise that the colour of their skin was an impediment to obtaining a human response from their masters. The Sydney-based General Manager of the CSR Company, Edward Knox, alluded to this in a letter to the Colonial Secretary dated 3 July 1912, defending kulambar violence against girmitiyas. He wrote:


It is well known that we do all possible to engage the most suitable men for our plantation work in your Colony: but their individual attitude to the coloured labour put under them can never be foretold …10



The highest authority of the CSR Company was admitting that colour played a role in kulambars’ violence towards girmitiyas and using it to mitigate their actions. In essence, girmitiyas suffered a double dose of violence from their masters — first, to push productivity and, second, for being coloured. Girmitiyas were aware of this prejudice. They addressed their masters in fear and submission, occasionally with both hands clasped together in entreaty in the hope of inviting a human response. It did not always work, but sometimes reduced the gravity of the response.

Out of respect they referred to their masters as sahibs. Fear of the sahib was universal among Indians. The word came from India, coined for the Indians to address their white masters with reverence. It was heard wherever Indians served the British Empire, and was suggestive of subjection and fear to the Indians.

Concerning this fear of the British, Jawaharlal Nehru, the first Prime Minister of India, wrote:


But the dominant impulse in India under British rule was that of fear — pervasive, oppressing, strangling fear; fear of the army, the police, the widespread secret service; fear of the official class; fear of the laws meant to suppress and of prison; fear of the landlord’s agent; fear of the moneylender; fear of unemployment and starvation, which were always on the threshold.11



Fear and grief had always been part of Indian life, a testimony to India’s tumultuous past, with its successive waves of foreign invasion. Each invasion and occupation brought new fears with consequent grief and subjection. Girmitiyas, born into an environment of fear and subjection in India, found conditions in Fiji that compounded their fear of the sahib. In Fiji they were an isolated group, so hopelessly trapped that submission was the only response.

In the plantations, the need for productivity outweighed human considerations. Knox admitted to the CSR Company board:


… there can be no question that the ‘tasks’ in Fiji are heavier than the West Indies, and I do not see any prospect of being able to get more work per day out of the labour than at present.12



The tasks were designed for twelve hours of rigorous toil under the watchful eyes of kulambar and sardar. Girmitiyas struggled against the adversities; some succumbed to them and died.

Girmitiyas were perceived as beasts of burden to their employers. Indeed, the girmitiyas were seen as animals, and referred to as ‘units of labour’ by the CSR Company officials. Walter Gill referred to them in his book as ‘hordes of coolies’, ‘swarms of locusts’, ‘yellow fangs’, ‘out-animalising the horde of near-human apes’.13 Sanadhya confirmed this perception:


The white planters treat us as if we were donkeys or dogs.



One of the CSR officials curtly told Rev. Burton that the field mules were better for conversion to Christianity than the Indian coolies.14

On a typical day, girmitiyas awoke for work at three a.m. and by the time they left the plantations it was six p.m. Some, tasked heavily, remained to complete their work in darkness for fear of the whip or of losing their wages for the day. Girmitiyas who toiled for twelve hours or more, but were unable to complete their task, lost their wages for the day. Payment for partial work was not made until the latter part of the girmit. There was no redress. Often they walked long distances to reach the coolie lines. By the time they reached their destination, unless they completed their task earlier, it would be seven or eight o’clock. Cooking and eating dinner took them until ten, leaving no time for relaxation or social interaction.

If the working conditions were atrocious, the living conditions were equally horrendous. Burton wrote:


One of the saddest and most depressing sights, if a man have any soul at all, is a ‘Coolie Line’ in Fiji. Vice, misery and open wickedness abound; dirt, filth and vile stenches greet one at every turn … The accommodation appears to us very wretched. The coolies live in long rows of tarred, wooden buildings, which might well be taken as the very apotheosis of ugliness. These shed are divided into cubicles of about ten feet by seven. In each of these miserable kennels three men (or one family) are consigned to eat and sleep. In this box all their worldly possessions have to be stored, and room must be left for three bunks and a common fireplace. Sometimes a few fowls, a dog or two and a couple of goats share the place also.15



The nature of the work exhausted the girmitiyas; the grotesque tarred shelters of the coolie lines were all they had to recuperate in at night.

The regimented conditions also inhibited the emergence of any leader. The CSR Company discouraged leadership among the girmitiyas. On leadership, Miss Garnham, in her report (1919) entitled ‘Social and Moral Conditions of Indians in Fiji’ and prepared on behalf of forty-six women’s organisations in Australia and New Zealand, noted:


One of the great needs of the Indian community today is that of leadership. The indenture system destroyed communal life and left social chaos. It ignored the fact the Indian people live under an exceedingly complex social system, and it broke down an age-long organisation and gave nothing in its place.… at present the colony is sadly lacking in Indian men competent to lead. All the influences of a sane, healthy public opinion are missing …16



Without leadership, structures to regulate individual and communal endeavours were dormant. Immorality and violence were natural consequences, and their incidence grew in the community. This was aggravated by the lack of women and the breaking down of the traditional Indian communal life. Religious and traditional values foundered: Girmit was in freefall. The community fell from grace, and its detractors labelled girmitiyas as amoral and steeped in vice.

During the latter part of girmit, as the numbers of those girmitiyas that had served their girmit grew, various religious sects and socio-religious groups began to emerge. They began to stake out their territory. Sanadhya recorded several of these sects making their mark during girmit, including Sanatan Dharam, Kabir Panth, Nath, Nanak, Satnami, Dadu Panth, Jagjivandas, Ramanandi, and the Arya Samaj.17 These organisations flickered and flared in a difficult setting. Later, most of them perished except for the Sanatan Dharam, Sikh and the Arya Samaj sects, which established themselves for the long haul in the lives of subsequent generations of Indo-Fijians. Added to these were the Muslim League and the Sangam, which became the umbrella for South Indians.

Few religious books were available during this period. Some of these, recorded by Sanadhya, included Ramayana, Sukhsagar, Ramcharitmanas, Aal Khand, Mahabharat, and texts on performing the religious rituals. Other titles, which reflected on the social aspects of life, included Salinga Sadabrij, a popular love story, and Baital Pachisi, which retold enthralling stories related to Raja Vikrama by the goblin Baital.18

These books were prized possessions. Religious texts and other sociocultural books were an oasis in the forlorn social and cultural wilderness of Fiji. Not every district had access to every text, but people shared whatever text was available with great enthusiasm. Most of these texts had inspirational anecdotes that resuscitated the girmitiyas’ sinking spirits. The majority of the girmitiyas, being illiterate, listened to the scriptures or stories being told or read. This then formed the basis for social interaction and led to the gradual strengthening of their religious and cultural lives in Fiji. Also, the constant arrival of new recruits from the Indian mainland until 1916 ensured that the fabric of Hindu culture and religion was not lost. By the end of the girmit period, the inflow of religious, cultural and social books had greatly increased. This added a new impetus for revival of religious, cultural and social values among those who had gained their freedom.

In the latter part of girmit, the revival of religious and cultural activities was keenly felt. In 1902, Sanadhya organised the first Ram Lila in Navua and girmitiyas travelled for miles to the venue to witness the epic drama based on the Hindu religious text Ramayana. For seven years Sanadhya organised it and later it spread to other districts. In Ba, the first Ram Lila was held at the Wailailai Kuti in 1909 and the interest from the girmitiyas was overwhelming. People from Lautoka, Tavua and Raki Raki came to witness it. In the 1950s, Vatulaulau in Ba became the most famous venue and the Ram Lila the most celebrated religious carnival in Fiji.

The moral behind the drama was victory over evil. The Hindu god Lord Rama’s victory over the ten-headed demon King Ravana and his wicked sena (army) marked the ultimate victory of good over evil. (Interestingly, some of those who took the part of Ravana’s army were initially drawn from among the Fijians.) Understandably, the last day attracted the biggest crowd to see the physical destruction of Ravana and the cremation of his effigy. The girmitiyas found reassurance in this saga that they too would one day overcome the tragedy of their lives. To them the CSR Company was represented by the demon King Ravana and its kulambars by the ruthless sena.

As a pioneer in organising the Ram Lila, Sanadhya left a powerful legacy that continued as an annual feature of the Indo-Fijian community’s religious, cultural and social life until the 1960s. It was organised with greater style and finesse in the later years, and it became a powerful source of fundraising for the building of schools, temples and public roads.

On a similar scale, Muslims organised the Muharram festival, commemorating the death of Hasan and Hussain, who became martyrs in 680 AD, in Karbala. Muslims prepared the Tazia, a replica of the mausoleum dedicated to the two martyrs, made of bamboo sticks and decorated with coloured paper and fabric. At the end of the festival the Tazia was taken in procession and immersed in water. Hindus, in a bid to overcome the pain of girmit, participated in this festival with the same reverence as they had for Ram Lila, despite their dislike for the Muslim religion.

The most anxiously awaited moment in the girmitiyas’ weekly life was twelve noon on Saturdays. The mill whistle shrieked the end of the week and girmitiyas congregated outside the mill Overseer’s office to receive their wages for the week. They had to wait outside, even if it was raining. These were tense moments, as workers were anxious to see that they had not been underpaid. With low wages and the high cost of food, they had reason to be anxious. Those who discovered errors or deductions for any reason reacted angrily, but the might of the master always prevailed.

Wages in hand, girmitiyas headed to the Saturday bazaar that adjoined the mill area. It was a meeting place of cultures and a time to catch up with friends from other plantations. Those free19 from girmit came with produce, which they grew on their own land, to sell at the market, and to purchase the needs of their households. With limited money, buying was controlled and only essentials were purchased to carry them through the week.

Rev. Burton described the market scene as both vigorous and vibrant, exploding in an endless variety of colours. The vendors exhibited their wares within view and within reach. They sold in the open, or some took cover from the ferocity of the tropical sun or rain under trees or little tents made of opened sacks and stretched on sticks. The market represented only confusion and commotion to the ignorant. It offered a dissonance of sounds and noise with sellers vying for the attention of buyers, while the buyers bargained hard to strike a deal. In some places the jahajibhais met and greeted each other with traditional ‘Ram, Ram’ (North Indian greeting) ‘Salaam’ (Muslim greeting) or ‘Daasnam’ (South Indian greeting) and engaged in animated discussions. The sight of dhoti-clad men with turbans over their heads and women in traditional sari, ‘lehnga’ (skirt) and ‘kurta’ (top), all confined to a small space, added intensity and liveliness to the scene.

The occasional sahib in the bazaar, with traditional white pith helmet, was like a cat among pigeons. The girmitiyas reacted with their usual apprehension; some even removed their turbans as a mark of respect and hastily salaamed the sahib with one arm raised. Those in his path stood aside to let the sahib pass. He moved, arrogantly scattering the ‘pigeons’. Traditionally, removal of the turban was not a Hindu custom, as it was a symbol of manliness and represented the crown, authority and dignity of a man.

In another corner of the market live goats bleated in the hot sun and fowls, both legs tied with hessian, were picked up to ascertain their weight. The birds expressed their unhappiness with squawks and fluttering wings, but their cries were ignored as the seller was eager and the buyer obsessed with the delights of curry in the pot. Even fresh goat meat was available in an isolated corner. The butcher, a Muslim, selected his prey from the herd of goats tethered in the vicinity. In accordance with Muslim tradition, with handkerchief over his head, he said his traditional prayers before cutting the bleating animal’s throat. He hastily ripped off its skin and within minutes reduced the carcass to pieces. The meat was not sold by weight but by stacks.

The majority of Hindus were vegetarians who abhorred the killing of animals and the eating of meat. They avoided this corner of the market and moved away chanting ‘Ram Ram’ to maintain the purity of their souls. To Muslims, the slaughter of animals in accordance with their rituals and the eating of meat was part of life and sanctioned by their religion. This corner of the market had a high concentration of Muslims. In other areas, opened bags of rice, lentils, maize and beans were exhibited, bought not by weight but measured in standard cans.

The stalls included a jeweller who sold handmade jewellery, and a barber who squatted on his heels in the shade of a tree, shaving the head or beard of his customer like the butcher skinning the goat nearby. The tailor sat measuring, cutting, sewing and pressing the new-made garment with a charcoal iron spewing smoke like a mill chimney. The largest space in the market was for the food. Edibles of every description, including fruit, oil, ghee, spices and sweets were lavishly displayed. Even religion was avidly dispensed here as the Moulvi (Muslim priest), the Christian priest and the Pundit (Hindu priest) occupied prime spots to capture an audience and a following. Each tried his best to spread his gospel as people milled around the bazaar not only to buy but also to socialise. Eventually preachers abandoned the bazaar, but religious books were still available from the stalls. This was a time when the rigours of the plantation life were temporarily forgotten and the victims reinvigorated themselves. This weekly event helped girmitiyas to hold on to their hopes and continue their toil.

On Saturday evenings, the coolie lines had a different atmosphere as most homes were able to eat better food in a relatively relaxed environment. Some opted to rest at home while others escaped to join in religious discourses, held mostly at the homes of those free from the indenture. Sometimes, the coolie lines erupted to the beat of drums or empty tins accompanying the singing of hymns or folk songs. The rhythmic beat encouraged some to dance to its rhythm in traditional style, to the delight of others. The traditional Ahir dance featured prominently in these moments. It surprised the sahibs that the girmitiyas could retain their cheerfulness in the face of the adversities that saturated their lives.

Sundays saw the coolie lines relapse into recuperative mode as their occupants relaxed. Women engaged in the domestic chores of washing and cleaning, but still a pall of despondency hung over the coolie lines. It was not uncommon to hear weeping and wailing among women, mostly the newly arrived, as Sanadhya found on one of his strolls to the coolie lines on a Sunday. He saw a new recruit sobbing and being consoled by another, while at the river bank a woman had begun to wail. He wrote:


I walked up to her and asked: ‘Sister, why are you crying?’ On regaining her composure, she told me her story. After seven years of marriage, her husband had died (in India) leaving behind his aged mother and three-year-old son. One day she left them at home to go on pilgrimage to Dwarika. On her way back she got separated from her companions at Mathura, and ended up in Fiji. She felt very sad remembering her aged mother-in-law and son, wishing she were dead. I was so moved by this that I wept openly …20



The period of which Sanadhya wrote was probably the early 1900s, as he was in Fiji from 1893 to 1914. By this time, the population of those that had served their indenture had increased and, by choice they lived as far away from the coolie lines as they could. Some feared they would be recaptured and re-indentured. Their freedom and their independence gave hope to those still captive and residing in the coolie lines.

In the latter part of the indenture, when a relatively large population had served their indenture, the demand for Pundits to carry out the religious rites increased. Interestingly, not everyone who emerged as a Pundit was from the Brahmin caste, and identity by caste was partly lost anyway. People of low caste but with wisdom and learning of the Hindu scriptures and rituals, adorned themselves with vermilion on the forehead and took the exalted priestly position in the community. Some were genuine, others opportunists and notorious for plying their trade for personal benefit.

Sanadhya, a Brahmin, confessed his inadequate knowledge of the Hindu scriptures and religious rituals and wrote:


… I brought the books to my hut, and hoping to become a priest, I began to read them with great enthusiasm. First I memorised the Shigrabodh and then all five chapters of Satyanarain ki Katha, gained some knowledge of ‘panchang’, and all sixteen kinds of Hindu rituals for worship. This was not a problem since I already knew how to read. Thus, I acquired enough knowledge to be a priest in Fiji.

… I used to get up at four in the morning, bathe and blow loudly on the conch shell. Woken by the sound of the shell, neighbours would get up, bathe and come to partake of the holy water.21



The dying embers of the Hindu religion were stoked by people like Sanadhya, and began to provide spiritual light to the girmitiyas. The community responded positively, albeit belatedly, and religion and culture began to revive. The Muslim community also rose to the occasion as Moulvis emerged and began to restore their broken community, nourishing it with the teachings of their religion. Their enthusiasm grew when they saw others desperately seeking an identity and a spiritual anchor.

Marriage during the girmit did not, and indeed could not, feature prominently. It only required registration at the government offices, costing fifty cents. Marriage of girmitiyas consecrated in India was not recognised and each couple had to re-register and pay the requisite fees. This added to the financial burden of the girmitiyas, who were already very poor.

Rev. Andrews was distraught to note, on his first trip to Fiji, that a community that found its sustenance in religion, rituals and prayer was deprived of them. He alluded strongly to the place of religion and marriage, noting:


The central fact in the history of Hindu civilisation is religion, and the heart of Hindu religion is the sanctity of marriage.22



Neither of these values could flourish in the depraved environment of indenture. During girmit the customs of marriage, rituals performed during religious functions and funerals were non-existent.

Traditional marriages, among those who had served their indenture, were organised wherever possible, and were distinctly different to those they were accustomed to. Yet generic values were retained. The euphoria of the new community was not dampened when it came to marriage. They engaged in the rituals with the joy that typified Hindu marriages.

A Hindu marriage, without the observance or performance of the established rituals, was farcical and meaningless. Civil marriage had no significance in Hindu life until it was consecrated under its customs and traditions. It was during the moving ceremony that the hearts and minds of those who married were spiritually touched and reconciled to its sanctity. In the absence of traditional marriages, the quality of family life and relationships degenerated. This contributed to immorality, which in turn led to violence in the plantations.

Because there were so few women, young girls were betrothed early in life and were a priceless acquisition. Brides and bridegrooms were often twelve to fourteen years of age. In Hinduism, the groom traditionally attracted a high dowry, but in Fiji it was the other way round because of the scarcity of girls. Parents struggling in poverty were reduced to trafficking in girls and marrying them to those who came along with an attractive betrothal proposition. Marriage at a young age was the norm during the girmit era and until the first decade after indenture. My father married my mother at the age of fourteen; my mother was twelve years old. My auntie also married at twelve years and she distinctly remembered how her young husband had sobbed throughout the marriage ceremony.

Traditionally, bride and bridegroom were carried in a colourfully decorated doli (palanquin) and the bearers were people of the Kanhaar caste whose traditional occupation this was. In Fiji there were not many from this caste. Travel to distant areas was either on foot, horse-back or by boat and because of this constraint, most marriages within the community were largely in the district of their residence.

Whenever possible, matching with the castes, the stars and other attributes came into play. Even the day and time of marriage was attuned to the stars under the guidance of the Pundit. Sometimes, a wedding was held late at night, a time considered by the Pundit, to be auspicious for the future of the bride and groom. The Pundit being the agent of God, was never questioned or doubted. Some, to add credence to their dubious distinction, appointed very odd hours for the marriage ritual to be consecrated.

The procession of the bridegroom to the bride’s home for the formal marriage was always spectacular. With the groom in the palanquin, the procession provided a boisterous and lively accompaniment. En route, carrying the palanquin with the bridegroom, the bearers sang traditional songs. One of the popular songs that came into prominence in the post-indenture period reflected the content of the songs which may have accompanied these processions:


Shiuji, bihane chale paalki sajaai ke bibhuti lagaye ke na …



The bridegroom in this song was referred to as Lord Shiva, wearing a paste of sacred ashes and going in procession with the palanquin to his wedding. When they reached the residence of the bride, the song changed to:


Leke dolia Kanhaar, baaje baaje, baaje shahnai hamaare angnaa



In this song, the bride’s family acknowledged the arrival of the palanquin carried by the Kanhaars, the music of shehnai (Indian pipe music) enlivening the scene.

After the marriage and an overnight stay at the bride’s home, the bridegroom returned with the bride in the palanquin. The procession, as it neared the groom’s residence to the beat of the nagara, majeera and dandtaal, (Indian musical instruments) became more frenzied. Amidst shouting, dancing and cheering, the groom and bride reached their home for the traditional welcome. Those free from indenture were free to engage in these rituals but those living in the coolie lines were not. The carrying of the bride and groom in a palanquin disappeared when the marriageable age was later raised.

Apart from marriage, one of the earliest casualties of girmit was the traditional funeral rites accorded to the dead. Hindus adhered to expansive ceremonies following death. There was no exception; everyone was entitled to a dignified cremation or burial. Hindus followed these rites to the letter to ensure that the soul of the deceased obtained safe passage to the heavenly realms.

However, the rites could not be observed during the girmit era. Hindus could not cremate their dead, as was their custom, because the dominant white community abhorred cremation. Like the CSR Company’s farm animals, corpses were buried without traditional mourning or rituals. This was to ensure that work and productivity were not impeded. In the profit-driven philosophy of the CSR Company, human consideration for the girmitiyas was absent. Those who died during their girmit were buried wherever the kulambar pointed his finger. The girmitiyas were not even allocated cemeteries.

The white community, on the other hand, had cemeteries that were immaculately maintained with tombstones acknowledging in bold letters the names of the occupants. Usually huge baka trees provided shade and tranquillity to the surroundings. High fences with whitewashed gates and posts gave an aura of dignity and reverence. The girmitiyas and their children were forbidden to enter or to be in the vicinity of the hallowed precincts. Walter Gill, a kulambar, sought special permission from the authorities to bury his favourite sardar, John Bailey Khan, in one of the established white cemeteries. He was granted permission — outside the cemetery.23

The unmarked graves of our ancestors are scattered throughout Fiji. Many of the older generation believe that their spirits, without the performance of the propitiatory rites, have not found a resting place and have become part of the environment. The somnolent sugarcane fields have an eeriness that every Indo-Fijian farming family has experienced. It is the abode of the spirits of that generation who made the ultimate sacrifice. Their spirits continue to haunt and maintain a powerful presence in the fields, rivers and mountains that once witnessed their struggles, torments and also their last sigh.

The emotional pains of indenture caused deep psychological scars and led to mental and physical impairment in the victims. Although the incidence of insanity among the girmitiyas was not officially recorded, it was exceptionally high. Every village, in the aftermath of girmit, had its pagla (insane man) or pagli (insane woman), who were left to suffer their plight until their death. No one cared for them as they roamed the villages, living on the charity of the community. Some girmitiyas who were destitute moved around the village with a kotar (jute bag) begging for food or money, while a few begged in the urban centres.

In our village there was a pagla Pundit (mad priest), who was held in awe and fear by the children of the village. He often visited our home and was received with respect and reverence because he was a Brahmin. One day he came to our house and I literally saw him swipe a bottle of Waterbury’s Compound, a cough mixture with high alcohol content. My mother wailed hysterically for assistance from the neighbours, who rushed to our home to find the Pundit anxious and restless.

He attempted to fly, saying, ‘Jai Hanumaanji’, but he failed to take off. Then he ran towards the Ba River, as if seeking a longer runway, with his hands flapping like wings. Our neighbours ran after the Pundit to stop him from harming himself. However, he had accelerated and left them in his dust. He jumped into the deepest part of the river and began swimming frantically. Villagers came to his rescue and by the time he was dragged to the bank he was soaked and shivering like a chicken, the effect of the alcohol having worn off.

Pedaiya, another girmitiya from South India, was an enigma to the village.

He was a loner and never spoke to anyone apart from a few members of our household. Everyone in the village loathed him. He led a reclusive life and no one wanted to provide him with food or shelter. He lived either with us or with a Chinese family, tending their commercial garden, washing bottles or pounding kava for them. He was paid twenty cents a day, which he kept in a small tobacco tin under his pillow. He was very hardworking, but was struck with bouts of insanity. He had only faint memories of his family, as he had been recruited at the age of twelve or thirteen. He used obscene words when he recalled how he was recruited and how he was assaulted by the kulambars of the CSR Company. He knew very little Hindi and had forgotten his own Tamil language, which reflected the shock of girmit.

There were many issues that created shock and hysteria among the girmitiyas. A race known for its spirituality was famished. It could not participate in traditional ceremonies following the birth of a child. It could no longer participate in recitals and rituals to maintain a relationship with the Creator. There were no marriage or funeral ceremonies in accordance with Hindu traditions. Girmit left many casualties in its wake. While the restraints, prohibitions and injustices curtailed and even emasculated part of the Indian culture, particularly the caste system, the Indo-Fijian culture rebuilt itself from its foundations and established its own distinctive identity.

In Fiji, places of pilgrimage were obviously absent. There was no river such as the Ganges, regarded sacred by Hindus, no purifying baths and no places for pilgrimage like Haridwar, Mathura, Rishikesh and the Himalayan mountains, considered to be the abode of the Hindu gods. The Indo-Fijian culture grew out of struggle, survival, endurance, resilience and achievement. However, despite the atrocities inflicted on the girmitiyas, they did not rebel apart from occasional acts of violence against those who abused them. It was a moot point as to why they did not. To understand this, one has to understand the Indian psyche and the values that shape its destiny.








CHAPTER FIVE

TOLERANCE OF VIOLENCE AND VIOLATIONS


Religion and culture were the anchor of my race,

Times were atrocious but they bore it with grace.



Why should everything go against the Indian immigrants?1



In 1896, even Governor Sir John Thurston, at the end of his term and no great advocate of the girmitiyas, grieved. The girmitiyas had entered their term of servitude in robust health and, after five years, most were feeble and frail. Some were mental and physical wrecks. Even the malnourished children, with their spindly legs and frail features, were a visible legacy of an era of privation. Once free, the girmitiyas engaged in subsistence farming, and it took them time to recuperate and restore their broken lives.

Few other races could match the way the Indians bore the indenture system. Prior to their coming, Japanese were brought to work under relatively better conditions but succumbed to the pressure, and the Japanese Government withdrew them. Solomon Islanders capitulated to the demands placed on them; the Chinese rioted when they saw the conditions under which they were expected to live and work, despite being paid twice the rate paid to indentured Indian immigrants.2 One of the managers of the CSR Company told Rev. Andrews about the Chinese reaction:


I thought that they would have murdered the lot of us, they looked so ugly and threatening.3



All but a few returned to their homeland.

There is a village named Chaina Kothi (Chinese settlement) in Ba. This is where some of the Chinese lived. They were mostly engaged in growing vegetables, and maintained a communal exclusivity away from the stench of indenture. The Japanese, Chinese and other Pacific nations turned down subsequent requests for labour from the Fiji Government. India, being part of the British Empire, became the most reliable source of labour for the British colonies. Indian immigrants, under the indenture system, responded to the harsh and hostile conditions of indenture with meekness and submissiveness where others had rebelled.

No one has ever tried to discover the reasons why Indian indentured labourers bore the violence inflicted on them, when others, justifiably, rebelled against it. The answer to this question is as complex as the sophisticated design of the indenture system itself. In defence of the indenture system, apologists held that, unlike slavery, it was a contractual agreement, with terms and conditions specified and voluntarily entered into by the parties. They also held that the Indian Colonial Government agreed to provide the labour needs for Fiji. However, opponents maintained that the decision reflected the will of an alien government and not the will of the Indian people.

The British Imperial Legislative Council was the authority that had the ultimate say in matters that affected India and its people. Advocates for Indian independence held that it was not a government for or of India. It was British governance of India and the interests of the Indian people were not reflected in its decisions. The Government had Indian-nominated members but they formed a token minority. As such, they were able to do little to influence or change the will of the Government until the later years of its rule.

Critics of the indenture system claimed that indenture was not the choice of the Indian people, that it was imposed upon them. The indenture system, as a contractual term of servitude, contained abysmal clauses of exploitation. Most colonies introduced their own legislation to supplement the exploitation of their indentured subjects. For example, Fiji had the Indian Indenture Ordinance of 1891.

In Fiji, those who used indentured labour exploited the victims, and the courts became the stronghold of the employers, who acted with reckless disregard for fairness or justice. They could do almost anything short of killing their indentured subjects. H.E. Snell, a high colonial official, referring to the treatment of girmitiyas by the planters, admitted:


The brutal man became more brutal, once he knew he could flog and kick with little fear of punishment or retaliation.4



Critics on both sides have been scathing in their observations. The authorities — including the British Government, the CSR Company, and the planters — claimed that the girmitiyas were comparatively better off in exchanging a life of extreme poverty and starvation for a life of hope and expectation in Fiji. Opponents of indenture repudiated this claim, holding that there was poverty in India but that it was not grinding poverty, as the apologists claimed. There is no denying that Bihar, the land of sorrow, and parts of Uttar Pradesh, from where most of the girmitiyas came, were often subjected to the ravages of nature with famine, drought and floods contributing to unemployment and consequent poverty. Disaster after disaster had affected the lives of these people. Yet it was cyclical, not persistent.

Apologists for indenture also claimed that it was a contractual obligation voluntarily entered into between two parties. They claimed that people of the white community, accused as villains of the indenture, had also gone to serve the Empire abroad under contracts of service. They had no axe to grind, and they had served their contracts without the uproar that indentured labourers and their leaders created in India. Critics of the indenture system repudiated this, while acknowledging that it was true that sahibs served the Empire, many with great distinction. But none of them who went abroad to serve the Empire, had done so under the indenture contract.

Critics claimed that the British Government would not have subjected its own people to the pernicious clauses of the indenture contract. In addition to this, as literacy was high amongst the sahibs, they understood the terms, conditions and implications of the contract. They had the choice to accept, modify or reject it. Even if they entered into any such contract, they had the right and privilege of seeking redress because they could rely on the justice system. The indenture contract, on the other hand, was for coloureds — to provide the labour needs of colonial outposts — and the legislative provisions were not protective but exploitative.

For example, no British child could be subjected to servility at the age of ten in the interests of the Empire. Girmitiyas children, on reaching that age, were indentured to work in the plantations. It was difficult to draw parallels between those who served the Empire as sahibs and those who served it as indentured labourers, for one enjoyed the comforts and rewards whereas the other toiled under appalling conditions to fulfil the greed of the beneficiaries. One gained recognition in British history, while the other, who had toiled hard for its prosperity, was ignored by the Empire.

Even those who occasionally sympathised with the plight of the girmitiyas could do very little. They were overwhelmed by the powerful CSR Company and the planters. Such voices of sympathy came from some of the Governors, the Agent General of Immigration, some of his staff and some of the police personnel. Two of the governors — Sir George O’Brien and Sir Everard im Thurn — admonished stipendiary magistrates for the imposition of paltry fines on kulambars accused of violence against girmitiyas. Yet this failed to change the prevailing judicial stance and girmitiyas remained its victims.

The conditions in Fiji contributed to the high rate of suicide: one in 950 people per annum, while in India it was one in 20 000. In comparative terms, Fiji was recognised as the country with the highest rate of suicide in the world. Between 1885 and 1919, 229 girmitiyas committed suicide. Many claim that this is grossly understated, as those who deserted the plantations and were not recaptured did not feature in the official figures. For example, in 1913 alone, 623 girmitiyas deserted and 522 were recaptured. There is no record of what happened to the 101 missing girmitiyas in that year alone. Drowning constituted almost half of the deaths. Girmitiyas whose bodies were found floating in the river or creeks were recorded as accidental deaths, and death certificates recorded ‘drowned while crossing Ba River’, ‘drowned whilst fording’, or ‘drowned in creek’.5 Crossing the Ba River during this period was not possible. The river was so deep that it was navigable right up till the 1950s to local cargo ships coming up to the town of Ba, several kilometres upriver, and few girmitiyas could swim.

Indeed, freedom was sought by any means, however irrational. Some groups actually escaped from the plantations thinking they could walk back to India! One group was reported to have decided to cross Viti Levu, the main Island of Fiji, to reach India.6 To the majority of the illiterate girmitiyas India was the world and most believed the aarkathis who told them that Fiji was part of, or near, India. The distressing conditions of the indenture impelled its victims to make bold attempts to set themselves free.

For those who took to the jungles in search of India, the nostalgia for home had a magnetic pull and it was given impetus by the fear of being recaptured. Returning was not an easy choice, for fear of harsh punishment. Those who attempted to cross the mountains in the hope of reaching India would have perished. Fiji has hazardous mountain ranges with impenetrable tropical rainforests, deep gorges, turbulent creeks and rivers.

Desertion was a common feature of plantation life and was a serious offence. It led to fines or imprisonment or both and an extension of the indenture to cover the time spent in jail. In 1887 there were 272 desertions and 7121 girmitiyas were listed as being absent from work without official leave. The Indenture Ordinance No. 1 of 1891 stipulated that where desertion by the indentured immigrant was established the court could impose a fine of two pounds and, in default of payment, the accused was to receive two months’ imprisonment. And in the case of the use of threatening or insulting language against any authority, a fine of two pounds was to be imposed and, in default of payment, the employee was to receive two months’ imprisonment.

Everyone convicted of desertion was fined, but many ended up in prison unable to pay the fines. Sometimes the sentences were more extreme, as in the case of girmitiya Cuppuswamy, who was convicted for desertion in 1907. He was sentenced to two weeks’ hard labour and ten strokes of the cane.7

The British judiciary, many held, was the bastion of the white community, its protector and benefactor. Conviction were rarely entered against them for offences against the girmitiyas and, when they were convicted, sentences against them were light. Even for attempted suicide, girmitiyas received one to six months’ imprisonment. The accused who failed to succeed in ending his or her life, usually had a grim tale to tell the courts. Yet these tales failed to mitigate their ‘offence’ and they were sent to prison to mend their grief in the confines of the prison.

Conditions in the prisons were equally demanding, as every person had to perform hard labour.8 Prison, however, provided the advantage of adequate food, yet there was attendant despair for those inmates with families without income or backup support. The Government even exacted fines from girmitiyas for even the most trivial offences. A fine of two pounds was the norm, being the equivalent to four weeks’ pay. Destitution was widespread because of the low wages earned by the girmitiyas, especially when those earning incomes were sent to prison: their families were plunged into poverty. Both the CSR Company and the Government collaborated in exploiting the girmitiyas — the CSR Company exploiting their labour and the Government exacting the fines.

During girmit, the number of convictions against the girmitiyas was beyond all reason. The system created conditions that made it impossible for them to escape punishment by the courts, sometimes multiple punishments. For example, if they failed to complete their task, they lost the day’s wages,9 and the employer could haul them before the courts on the grounds that the worker did not show ‘ordinary diligence’10 in the performance of his work. The girmitiyas could not eloquently defend themselves and usually ended up paying the fine or being imprisoned, or both.

Obnoxious clauses were camouflaged throughout the legislative provisions to make the girmitiyas capitulate to the system. In the eyes of the world, legislative provisions were seen as generally consistent with the rules of a civil society. It gave the justice system and the employers the freedom to operate with lethal effect against the girmitiyas.

Many important aspects of Indian life were clearly absent in Fiji. In India, girmitiyas did not suffer the extreme deprivation so blatant in Fiji; societal structures were intact and they enjoyed liberty and freedom. Life was not devoid of basic and intrinsic values that gave peace, dignity, joy and meaning to their lives. Those girmitiyas that steeled themselves to the conditions showed remarkable resilience and fortitude in tolerating the violence against them. They were an inspiration to others.

However, others who were unable to get justice would sometimes choose to avenge their suffering. They used the cane knife against the kulambars or the sardars, usually in full view of others. Most attacks were calculated to kill. The girmitiyas felt avenged, though they were aware that the consequence of their action would be the gallows. Many would surrender themselves to the authorities without fear or remorse. Thus they felt redeemed. Their drastic action, the sentence of death, their fearless ‘march to the gallows’11 amounted to a physical repudiation of the system. Muslims called it ‘kurbaan’ (sacrifice) and Hindus labelled it ‘balidaan’, also meaning sacrifice. It was their way of protesting against the system.

Under these circumstances, it is logical to wonder why girmitiyas did not retaliate against the indenture system. Clearly the conditions were atrocious. They could have acted against it by protests, strikes or disobedience. They did not attempt to exercise human or legal rights and there was no evidence of any collective resistance or of legal challenges to the indenture contract, either in India or in Fiji, despite the system being so grossly unfair.

Critics held that a collective response to the atrocities inflicted upon the girmitiyas could not have been organised. Girmitiyas were dissuaded from congregation. More than five could not congregate without the consent of the employer and if they contravened this provision of the law, they could be fined two pounds or sentenced to two months’ imprisonment. This could not, however, be strictly enforced as the girmitiyas did gather together in work groups for tasks, at the Saturday bazaar or at the coolie lines where they resided in large numbers. The legislative provision was purely to discourage the emergence of leadership and congregation for purposes of organised rebellion.

Emergence of any leadership was snuffed out well before it could take root. This was so cleverly managed that for the term of girmit no one leader emerged from the girmitiyas. In fact, none could operate in the regimented environment. The network of informants established under the sardars prevented the emergence of a leader. It also inhibited the girmitiyas from reporting their complaints to the Inspector of Immigrants. Those who attempted to tell the tale, if caught, were subsequently brutally beaten or heavily tasked. The will to defy was broken in the girmitiyas by violence or over-tasking. In these circumstances, they opted to tolerate the violence against them.

So the only hope for the girmitiyas was external help, for which they waited in vain. Their pain and suffering in Fiji largely went unnoticed until Rev. Burton’s book Fiji of Today (1910) reached the Indian mainland, and specifically the hands of Gopal Krishna Gokhale, a freedom fighter and member of the Imperial Legislative Council. It was largely through his efforts in India, supported by active resistance under the leadership of Mahatma Gandhi in Natal, South Africa, that immigration under the indenture system to Natal was stopped in 1910. On reading Fiji of Today, Gokhale was inflamed by the revelations of atrocities against girmitiyas in Fiji. It touched him so deeply that he began a campaign to seek the abolition of indenture system. He considered it to be a blight on Indian dignity and worked tirelessly to abolish it.

Indian response to indenture found no echo in the Imperial Legislative Council. The voices of Indian leaders, namely Gokhale, Pundit Madan Mohan Malviya, Lokmanya Gangadhar Tilak, Mahatma Gandhi and many others, were drowned — until the Indian people were aroused by the tales of atrocities against their brothers and sisters in foreign countries. The anger of opposition under the stewardship of Mahatma Gandhi shook the British Empire.

In Fiji, the CSR Company emulated the British policy of ‘divide and rule.’ It created the position of sardar. The sardar was a chosen ally of the kulambar and a feared adversary of girmitiyas. The majority colluded with the kulambars to maximise productivity for the CSR Company. They were cleverly manipulated and authorised to exercise violence against their compatriots. Many sardars were prosecuted for violence against girmitiyas. Any threat from girmitiyas was ruthlessly eliminated. The CSR Company’s tactics were effective in preventing the emergence of leadership amongst girmitiyas.

Sanadhya, among the girmitiyas, was the most notable leader during the latter part of girmit, but he could not operate to his full potential in such an environment. His efforts to organise the community were frustrated. He was identified by the CSR Company as a potential leader and barred from entering the fields where girmitiyas worked. However, he moved around extensively among them to acquaint himself with their suffering and to render assistance where and when he could. On one occasion when he could not enter the field where girmitiyas were working, he sang bhajan (religious hymns), on the road to attract their attention. Through such endeavours he was able to record their tales, which he later used in his book.12 He was able to provide some solace and comfort to those serving their indenture, yet he could not represent them.

Unable to work from within, Sanadhya sought assistance from outside. He was instrumental in getting Mahatma Gandhi involved in the fight against girmit in Fiji. He wrote to him in 1907, requesting that he send a barrister to Fiji to assist girmitiyas in seeking justice for the atrocities inflicted upon them. He wrote:


We in Fiji are having many problems with white barristers. These white men are committing many outrages against us, and are eating hundreds of our pounds. There is very big need of an Indian barrister here. You sir are a renowned patriot. Therefore, we hope that having pity on us you will make arrangements to send an Indian barrister here …13



Mahatma Gandhi replied —


I received your letter. Hearing the sad story of our Hindustani brothers there I am sorrowful. There is no chance of sending a barrister from here. No one suitable to send is available … If one comes to my mind I will send him. I will wait for your next letter.14



This exchange of correspondence subsequently led to Mahatma Gandhi sending Manilal Maganlal Doctor (Manilal), a barrister and solicitor, to Fiji. He had worked in the environment of indenture, having served in Mauritius with distinction. Manilal came to Fiji on 27 August 1912. It was a day of celebration for those that were free, like Sanadhya, and they travelled from different centres to welcome him. They felt that the Messiah had come to avenge their suffering. Even the Fijian community extended him an elaborate reception.

The presence of Manilal gave some hope to the girmitiyas. He was a tenacious and tireless worker and courageously represented the interests of the girmitiyas. Manilal offered a small but a significant voice, and gave hope to the girmitiyas that they could rely on him for justice against the iniquities that they had suffered.

Through Manilal’s manoeuvrings and with the pressure from India, the British Government agreed to nominate a person of Indian origin to the Legislative Council. In 1916 Badri Maharaj, a girmitiya from Raki Raki, was nominated to the Legislative Council. Badri Maharaj maintained his token presence in the legislature but was not considered a great advocate for his people. He was considered an ally of the Government and a strong adversary of Manilal. Representations to appoint Manilal were rejected because he was not a British citizen, being a citizen of Baroda, an independent state within India.

Despite Manilal’s presence, the girmitiyas continued to suffer atrocities. Their long-suffering subservience was ingrained. The British ruled India with an iron hand. The will to defy the British, after such a long spell under their coercive rule, had been lost to the Indian people. Their power was overwhelming and it left several generations of Indians in submission to the white man. Resistance only gained momentum with any effectiveness after the return of Mahatma Gandhi in January 1915 from South Africa. The extent of violence against Indians varied in scale during the time of the British rule in India. An example is given here to illustrate the conditions which led the girmitiyas to tolerate girmit.

One of the most telling incidents in India under the British rule was the massacre at Jallianwallah Bagh, in Amritsar, executed under the command of General Dyer of the British Army. Before this event, in April 1919, General Dyer had published his infamous ‘crawling order’, requiring every Indian who passed the spot where a Miss Sherwood, the headmistress of a local school, had been viciously attacked by a mob, to crawl on hands and knees. He erected a whipping post on the spot for public flogging of those Indians who defied the order. In addition to this, Indians riding on animals or in vehicles had to alight at the spot on the road and salute as they passed the British officers.

A few days later, General Dyer went on his killing rampage. He ordered his Gurkha and Baluchi troops to fire on unarmed civilians, ten to twenty thousand in number, who had congregated to participate in a public meeting; 379 people were killed and 1137 were wounded. Many claimed that firing only stopped when the soldiers had exhausted their ammunition. Interestingly, despite such a bloody response, General Dyer was applauded by the British as a national hero, designated ‘Defender of the Empire’ and presented with a gilt sword.15 He later admitted to the Hunter Commission, which was appointed to inquire into the massacre, that:


I could have dispersed them perhaps without firing but I was going to punish them. My idea from the military point of view was to make a wide impression.16



The generation of girmitiyas that went to Fiji spent their early adulthood under the influence of British rule. Most were in their teens or early twenties and had not fully matured into their culture and traditions, and therefore were easily manipulated to accept the dictates of the new girmit culture. Obedience, and not resistance, became deep-rooted in their psyche. They were mentally and physically inured to obedience. Their master, the CSR Company, used every weapon in its armoury to bring girmitiyas into submission.

To the Government the financial viability of the colony was of primary importance and freedom, rights and justice for the girmitiyas was of little consequence. The girmitiyas accepted that the conditions would not improve. They struggled to keep some hope alive against the prevailing hopelessness.

Another factor that helped girmitiyas to bear the toil of girmit was their strong faith in their religion. Hinduism comprised religious and social elements, stitched together as dharma. In life, one fulfilled one’s duties, functions and obligations guided by conscience and by observing strong moral and ethical codes, taking due cognisance of the doctrine of karma. The law of karma affirmed that one’s existence was influenced by one’s previous existence, or deeds in a former life.

A basic tenet of Hinduism was fatalism, which rested on the belief that most things were pre-ordained by the Divinity and, therefore, not subject to change. Human beings were only a strand in God’s intricate web and they could do little to change things. However, they could mitigate their pain and suffering through acts of sacrifice. Girmitiyas believed that their predicament was retribution for the sins of their previous lives; they accepted that their suffering could be mitigated by service in obedience to the will of God.

Indians were highly superstitious and emotional, and their respect for, fear and love of God is possibly unsurpassed by anyone else in the world. They seek and acknowledge the manifestation of the spirit of God in the trees, rocks, reptiles, caves, mountains, rivers, streams and the oceans. Even the elephant, the lion and the cow are considered as the abode of the Hindu gods. The girmitiyas found solace in their religious and cultural beliefs.

Girmit, from the perspective of karma, was seen as a form of punishment for past sins. Fiji thus became the karam bhumi, or land of sacrifice, for the girmitiyas. They consoled each other for having to go through the agni pariksha (acid test) to redeem the sins of their previous life as a means of gaining salvation and rewards in the future.

While the law of karma pacified the Hindu, it also reminded them that even Lord Rama had been exiled for fourteen years and had to undergo great suffering before ascending to his throne. Some saw their term of girmit as exile on a tapu, an island. With these thoughts, they encouraged themselves and others to bear their suffering in the hope that rewards would follow. They were torn between the call of their religious and cultural beliefs and the culture of violence in the fields.

The Muslims comprised a significant minority among the girmitiyas. While they were not subject to the law of karma, the Muslims grieved that it was their kismet (fate), and they were caught in it. Both communities, perennially hostile towards each other, spoke with one voice and it was the voice of suffering and pain. In the culture of the girmit, everyone was tied by one cord and held one identity. Identity through race, religion, culture, tradition and customs was lost in the shock of girmit.

The majority suffered in silence, accepting that girmit would be over after five years and they would then join those that were free from its yoke. They saw their compatriots relishing freedom and this vision gave them courage and hope. Those who gained their freedom became the dominating influence in the lives of those who were still serving their girmit.

Whenever possible, and away from the eyes of their masters, the girmitiyas remembered their Creator and paid homage in whatever way they could. They sang religious hymns or traditional songs such as bhajans, bidesia, kahnraua, birha or Aal Khand to raise their flagging spirits. These were the moments that refuelled their failing hope and infused them with resilience and courage.

Most of the songs sung were deep lamentations. Bidesia, a North Indian folk song, was woven from the looms of sorrow, sadness and suffering and echoed the girmitiyas’ longing and their lament. The song was sung with such grief that the singer, usually a female, sang with tears streaming down her face. Her sighs and sobs, which formed part of the tune, were infectious and touched the hearts of the audience. Silenced and awed, the audience became captive to jewels of thought and emotion that were like nectar to them.

At these times, some girmitiyas found the rock of their sorrow melting in a stream of tears. Among the audience there were also girmitiyas with fresh wounds from the whips, or bruises from the sticks, kicking or fists of kulambars and sardars, or someone grieving the loss of a beloved one buried without the propitiating rituals. For these people it was difficult to overcome their sorrow.

In these moments the wounds of girmit would erupt. Tears of the heart could no longer be contained. They poured out in the surge of emotions. Drained of emotion, some were able to recuperate. Their tears acted as a release valve for emotional pressure. These occasions provided an opportunity for regeneration, rejuvenation and restoration of spirits.

The impact of the culture of girmit on the new arrivals was profound. Some, particularly women, wept. Those women matured to the conditions, learned to console the broken-hearted and remind them of the power of prayer, duty and sacrifice. They were encouraged to lay their bharossa or faith in the Divinity. With these thoughts girmitiyas were prompted to take solace and comfort from the immortal composition of the poet Tulsidas:


Tulsi bharose Ramke, Nirbhay hokar soi; Anhoni honi nahin; Honi hoi so hoi.



In these couplets the poet Tulsidas laid forth his faith in God, comforting the distressed and the lost to rest without fear, drawing inspiration from the fact that what cannot happen would not, and that which was to happen, would.

Those suffering in girmit took strength from such compositions, which gave them the spirit to struggle, endure and survive. Others succumbed to sickness and disease. Unable to rise above their afflictions some took the ultimate option and committed suicide — the preferred method of escape.

Girmitiyas also used other ways to fend off the drudgery and dreariness of their lives. Daadaji related to me how they recited verses from ‘Hanumaan Chaalisa’ and ‘Aal Khand’ to lift their spirits. Hanumaan, in the epic Ramayana, was an outstanding lieutenant in the sena of Lord Rama, endowed with indomitable courage and devastating spiritual and physical prowess to subdue or destroy his enemies. Daadaji taught me the verses and asked me to recite them whenever I was gripped with fear or anxiety. It worked miraculously for me, as it did for the girmitiyas, particularly those from Northern India.

At a young age I was attracted by a few of the couplets in particular, from which I was able at times to draw strength, comfort and courage:


bhoot, pisaach nikat nahin awe; mahabir jab naam sunaawe. naase rog hare sab peera;

japat nirantar Hanumat beera.



In these couplets, the poet alludes to the devastating spiritual power that the name of Hanumaan has in resisting the evil spirits, healing the sick, relieving pain and setting free those in difficulties who constantly recited his name.

Aal Khand was a ballad on gallantry in warfare, couched in rhyming language, which infused hope, courage and defiance even in defeat. Not everyone could sing it, as it required appropriate physical actions to impact on the audience. It had the effect of drying the tears of suffering and restoring resilience and endurance, and bringing hope to the dry lips of the girmitiyas. It was sung with great passion during times of adversity, as was bidesia. The difference between the two was that one punctured despair and despondency while the other infused hope, courage and defiance in the face of barbaric conditions.

Jogindar Singh Kanwal, a renowned writer and poet from Ba, published some of the bidesias composed during girmit in his book, Indo-Fijian Poetry. The collection expresses the anger, anguish and anxiety of a community enslaved by the vicissitudes of girmit. The verses reflect their angst and their cries.

A woman cursing the aarkathis composed this bidesia in the fields of Raki Raki:


bhaag aai mein des se peechhe chhoota sabria; marja bharti wale, merisooni kar di sejaria.



She laments leaving the motherland and curses the aarkathis to death, accusing them of the separation of loved ones and destroying her love nest.

In Kavanagasau, Sigatoka, a girmitiya woman named Jhinki was overwhelmed by her conditions and captured her feelings in this bidesia:


bipat Jhinki ki suniye ko daiya, sahiba hai bada pitaiya;

hai apna sardar chungal khor, vairun hai Ramdaiya.



Jhinki cried for an audience to share her predicament with, saying that the kulambar was extremely violent, the sardar was an inside informer and Ram Daiya, her colleague, had become an enemy.

In Ba, a gang of women, victims of violence, confronted the kulambar chanting:


toot marein hum kaam me ho Rama,

fir bhi jhirki lagaye re bidesia; khoon pasine se seeche hum bagia, baithe baithe hukum chalaye re bidesia.



The women sang of their physical exploitation in chorus, declaring that the rigours of labour had physically crushed them and, despite this, they were constantly persecuted. With their sweat and blood they had sustained the plantations, and yet were still subjected to retributive actions by the kulambar.

Other compositions that captured the suffering and sorrow of the girmitiyas are reproduced below. Their authors are not known, but their works demonstrate that there were creative minds within the girmitiyas. Their suppressed voices found utterance in various forms of expression. This bidesia was composed by a girmitiyas on one of ships en route to Fiji:


jeeyara daraaye ghaat kyon nahi aaye ho, beete din kaee bhay maas re bidesia;

ayee ghaat dekha Fijia ke tapua ho, bhaya mun udaas re bidesia.



This bidesia expresses the anxiety of passengers on the journey to Fiji. Their hearts were heavy with apprehension when days became a month with no sight of land. Finally, when they anchored in Suva and saw Fiji, their hearts sank in sorrow.

The bidesia below captured the desperation of the girmitiyas living in the coolie lines:


kali kotharia ma beete nahi ratiya ho, kis ke batai hum peer re bidesia;

din raat beeti hamri dukh me umaria ho, sookha sab nain ke neer re bidesia.



In this bidesia the singer grieves about the hardship of nights spent in the squalid conditions of the coolie lines with no one to share the pain.

The horrendous living conditions evoked deep sentiments, again echoed in the bidesia below:


sab sukh kahan CSR ki kotharia, chhe foot chori aath foot lambi;

usi me dhari hai kamaane ki kudariya. usi mein sil aur usi mein choolha,

usi mein dhari hai jalaane ki lakariya, usi mein mahal usi mein do mehla,

usi mein bani hai sone ki attariya.



The singer laments that there is no comfort in the CSR Company’s kotharia, (living accommodation), for it is only six feet wide and eight feet long and in it were also kept the hoe, the spice-grating stone, the stove, firewood and the ‘attariya’ (sleeping space). It is the palace of their imaginations.

These expressions brought no human response from the masters. When the unbearable became the norm, they directed their energies to fulfilment of their duties. Resistance could not work, but only invited a violent response. They developed a remarkable capacity to sustain their lives, and an enormous ability to restore their spirits with little things.

Later in the girmit era there was a religious and cultural renaissance. It ushered a new era into the lives of girmitiyas. Many of them went to the Ram Lila or Moharram festivals. They enjoyed the activities and the humorous anecdotes, particularly in the case of the Ram Lila. The reaction of kulambars was subdued. Some turned up to forestall organised revolt and the emergence of leadership. The enthusiasm of girmitiyas for such melas or carnivals eventually led to the establishment of an annual agricultural field day by the CSR Company, where competitions in cutting cane, loading cane, pulling ropes, wrestling and other agricultural activities were organised at each of the sugar mill centres.

The girmitiyas called the field day ullu mela (carnival of madness). It was a day of great fun and laughter, providing a rare opportunity to celebrate with those whom they feared. The sahibs attended the field days in great numbers, and a different mood prevailed. Captive and master shared a rare moment of joy. The recuperative powers of the girmitiyas were legendary.

Yet overall girmit was a period of violence and exploitation, and the girmitiyas responded to it variously. A race famed for non-violence, hard work and compassion, trapped in this environment, occasionally expressed its anger through violence, sending shockwaves among the planters in Fiji.

Rev. Burton wrote:


The Indian is a quick-tempered man, and when roused becomes diabolical in his passion. He is also revengeful. When the spirit of badali (vengeance) is once uppermost, no consideration has the slightest weight, save carrying out his designs. Once that is accomplished and his victim is punished, he will tread the plank to the gallows with perfect equanimity.17



Collectively, the girmitiyas’ anchors were their religion and their culture. These gave them hope in despair, and courage and resilience to bear the insufferable. The few girmitiyas who chose violence against the kulambars believed in the adage that ‘only iron cuts iron’. They rightly or wrongly thought that violence could be quenched with violence.

The justice system itself contributed substantially to violence being tolerated. Like the kulambars themselves, the justice system was abhorred and held in awe and fear. The girmitiyas had enough trouble in the fields and they did not dare to oppose the cruelty of the justice system. They generally tolerated the conditions until the end.

On the efficacy of the justice system, Hugh Tinker wrote:


The watch-dogs — Protectors and the Magistrates — supposedly set by the Government to ensure that the harsh laws were not exceeded, were in most cases themselves involved in the system: they identified with the interests of the planters, not with those of a benevolent government, still less those of the coolies.18



Violence against kulambars and sardars (and among themselves), which resulted in murder, was mostly committed when the victims felt that the justice system would fail them. Women were killed when relationships failed or when they remarried and refused to return jewellery that had been betrothed to them.

It would be wrong to claim that all girmitiyas were blameless. Their actions cannot be ignored and they were not always justified. Violent crimes included murder, wounding with intent to cause grievous bodily harm, manslaughter and rape. The girmit period provided both the seed and conditions for a culture of violence to emerge and entrench itself among the girmitiyas.

The entire community, however, did not follow criminal pursuits. The truth was that a minority did, and often in the white heat of vengeance. For this, they were prepared to sacrifice their lives. Such violence had three purposes: first, they felt justified in exacting vengeance; secondly, it planted fear in the perpetrators of violence against them; and thirdly, it was meant to awaken the authorities to their plight.

An essay entitled Fiji Indians and the Law, 1912, offered interesting revelations. Prosecution of girmitiyas grew steadily and peaked during the final years of girmit. Many frivolous prosecutions were instituted against girmitiyas, such as offences against the pernicious labour laws. The writer of this essay, Dr John Dunham Kelly, confirmed:


The number of prosecutions against Indians during the Indenture were enormous. Not only were the Indians in court far beyond their proportion of population, but their cases glutted the legal system in absolute terms.



In the post-indenture era, there was a sudden drop in the number of convictions against ex-girmitiyas. Kelly wrote:


… at the abolition of indenture, the total number of criminal cases before the Supreme Court dropped by more than half, and prosecutions against Indians fell by two-thirds …19



Critics claimed that massive prosecution of the girmitiyas was part of the elaborate campaign of persecution to subdue and exploit them. Girmit was a criminal environment, and once free of it the victims showed that it was the system that was iniquitous. The only people from outside who had shown occasional concern for and empathy with the girmitiyas were the Christian missionaries.

The Methodist missionaries Hannah Dudley and Rev. J.W. Burton did outstanding work among the girmitiyas in the southern districts, mainly in Rewa. Along with his wife, Rev. Burton established a close relationship with the girmitiyas. They counselled and comforted them and often made representations to the authorities on their behalf. They were themselves overwhelmed with the barbarity of girmit.

Sanadhya said of Rev. Burton:


Once Burton and his wife took me to a plantation, where our women were working in the cane fields. Seeing their pathetic condition, both of them wept. Burton said: ‘If I had the power, I would abolish this system of slavery forthwith …’20



Sanadhya wrote about Burton’s wife:


Reverend Burton’s wife was a very kind-hearted person. She would be choked with emotion when she saw the miserable condition of our women. She would weep when she saw the state of the children who were taken to the fields by their mothers. They would be placed on a rag beside the field, and left crying, unattended while the mothers worked. Credit goes to Mrs Burton, whose agitation forced the planters to provide nurseries for the children.21



Despite such benevolent work by the Christian missions in Fiji, conversion to Christianity among the girmitiyas was insignificant. However, the Christian missions had achieved phenomenal success in spreading Christianity amongst the indigenous community. The girmitiyas viewed Christianity as a religion without love, compassion or kindness. To them it was a vile and promiscuous religion of the whites, and Hinduism was for Indians only. Rev. Burton wrote that the planters were also averse to educating the girmitiyas and converting them to Christianity. They held that education would spoil them for labour and that conversion to Christianity would give them absurd ideas about all men being brothers.

Hindus and Muslims bore the storm of girmit, but did not compromise their religion or abandon their culture. Both held devoutly to their heritage. Religion and culture remained an anchor in the rough seas of girmit as they submitted to the dictates of a cruel environment. No other community had served the interests of the British Empire and the CSR Company in the way that the Indians did in Fiji. Their obedience, resilience, tenacity and industry, and their inherent traits of perseverance and persistence against formidable odds, were legendary.

The end of girmit marked the end of a dreadful period in the lives of the girmitiyas. Its economic, mental, physical, social and spiritual scars accompanied them out of servitude and into a new environment. Frail and weak, they embraced the elusive spirit of freedom. The task of rehabilitation and restoration was hard but for them, having borne the worst in girmit, no mountain was too difficult to climb. Even if the body was weak, the spirit was willing and soon both were expected to work in harmony. One of the most grievous wounds the girmitiyas had inherited, and one which would damage several generations to come, was the stigma of shame.








CHAPTER SIX

INDENTURE — RESISTANCE, ABOLITION AND ITS AFTERMATH


The Muslim cried, ‘It’s kismet,’ 

The Hindu cried, ‘It’s karma!’

God-ordained – both thought that sacrifice was their dharma.




It was a Saturday evening in February, 1958. Twenty or thirty people from our village had arrived at our home with their dholak (Indian drum), jhaanj (cymbals) and dandtaal (iron rod beaten with another piece of iron) for traditional singing of faag (Hindu hymns) to mark the colourful Hindu festival of fagua. There was a lead singer who was followed in chorus by others, repeating a line several times. The singing accelerated with the frenzied beat of the dholak, jhaanj and the dandtaal. Except for the dholakia (drum player) and the dandtaal player, others had pairs of jhaanj, which were struck together in high-pitched rhythmic beat as the music rose to a crescendo. The singers were euphoric as they tickled each other and smiled; their lithe bodies were soaked in sweat, swaying in rhythm to the resonant sound of the musical instruments.

The lead singer, Pahalad, then began a song that recounted the horrors of girmit. Daadaji stood up and shouted, ‘Pahalad band karo!’ (Pahalad, stop it!). The singing stopped abruptly and there was silence. Daadaji angrily chastised Pahalad for reviving the memories that continued to haunt him and his generation. No one remonstrated against this unexpected rebuke. Every head in the congregation remained bowed in humility. I have never forgotten this incident. It is as fresh in my mind as if it happened yesterday. I had not understood then the depth of pain concerning girmit that Daadaji carried in his heart.

Pain from the wounds of girmit resided in the hearts and minds of its victims and their families, but it failed to find expression publicly or in history books. I was perplexed as to why the Indo-Fijians, who were a significant part of Fiji and had made an enormous contribution towards its economic, social, cultural and political development, had escaped the history books. The answer to this enigma came to me from Jawaharlal Nehru, the first Prime Minister of India, who wrote:


History is almost always written by victors and conquerors and gives their viewpoint; or, at any rate, the victor’s version is given prominence and holds the field.1



In the case of the Indo-Fijians, their history was deliberately concealed to hide both the British and the CSR Company’s crimes against them. As the colonial rulers of Fiji for almost a century, the British had a distinct advantage in disseminating information. The history books used in schools during the colonial era gave prominence to British and Fijian history. Indo-Fijian children were made to learn from these in primary school, but there was hardly any detail of their own history in the texts. The history of India featured in secondary schools, but it was mostly concerned with the feats of the British Empire in a colonial context and offered very little from the Indian perspective.

India was subjected to almost 200 years of British rule and gained its independence in 1947 following massive resistance by the Indian people. As a captive nation, the Indian people did not have the liberty to write their history as they perceived it. Books and literature were banned during the period of British rule that condemned the British for their excesses. One such book written on Fiji, in 1921, by Banarsidas Chaturvedi, entitled Fiji ki Samasya (Fiji’s Problems), was banned in Fiji and copies of it were destroyed. People who carried this book were threatened and most, if not all, Indo-Fijians who had a copy surrendered it for fear of the consequences.

Historians, mostly British, avoided implicating the British Government for its lapses, which included using slave labour created through the indenture system. These historians, by their neglect, successfully camouflaged a system that, in essence, was no different to slavery. Rev. Burton claimed that the indenture system was worse than slavery. He wrote:


The difference between the state he [the indentured labourer] now finds himself in and absolute slavery is merely in the name and term of years. The chances are that as a slave he would be both better housed and better fed than he is today.2



Indeed, the perception of early historians was a distortion of truth away from the perception of the victims. In between lay a void of no information or misinformation, depending on how such material was manipulated and for what purpose. However, from the 1950s, some light began to be shed on indenture.

The role played by Indian indentured labourers in serving the British Empire has not yet been fully recognised, let alone appreciated or applauded. The manner in which the victims of indenture were treated in inhumane conditions greatly shamed the victims. The stigma of this shame robbed them of their honour and dignity. This was the simple viewpoint of the illiterate girmitiyas. The Indian leaders who brought indenture to an end left to vigorously pursue India’s independence struggle, and so the indenture period became eclipsed. Meanwhile in Fiji, the secret of indenture remained intact as British colonial rule continued for fifty years after its abolition.

In the latter part of the last century, some historians were drawn to the enigma of the indenture system in Fiji and attempted to restore the fading history of a significant period. A majority concluded that it was slavery in another form. Hugh Tinker was so convinced of this that he called his book A New System of Slavery (1974). He detailed the exporting of indentured labourers from India, the slavery background, recruitment and the suffering of indentured labourers on plantations in several countries. Several other books were written on this subject. However, they failed to draw the same parallel with slavery. Yet both, slavery and the indenture system, were identical products with different branding. Both were vicious and immoral.

The British Empire at the time of the indenture system was established in many parts of the world. India was the jewel in the British Crown. The severity of the wound that the British had inflicted upon the Indian people found its deepest expression when India gained its independence on 15 August 1947. Amidst bitterness and acrimony, the British flag was lowered and the Indian flag of independence raised. Jawaharlal Nehru, the Prime Minister of independent India, echoed the sentiments of the nation in his famous ‘At the Stroke of Midnight’ speech. He told the Indian nation:


Long years ago we made a tryst with destiny, and now the time comes when we shall redeem our pledge, not wholly or in small measure, but very substantially. At the stroke of midnight, when the world sleeps, India will awake to life and freedom. A moment comes, which comes rarely in history, when we step out from the old to the new, when an age ends, and when the soul of a nation long suppressed, finds utterance.3



Abolition of indenture was a prerequisite to achieving this destiny. The Indian struggle for abolition of indenture and for independence was a national endeavour. Indenture had a demeaning and demoralising effect on the Indian psyche as Indian honour was submerged. It was an impediment to the ultimate goal of independence with dignity.

These struggles against the indenture system gave birth to Mahatma Gandhi’s philosophy on the use of moral force against physical force. He began a sustained campaign against the indenture system in 1894 in Natal, South Africa. He treated every person as equal. The exploitation of indentured labourers in South Africa, and his own experience of being expelled from a train for occupying a compartment reserved for whites only, instilled in him the commitment to fight for dignity, equality and justice for his people. Of the train incident, Gandhi wrote:


I was pushed out of the train by a police constable at Maritzburg, and the train having left, I was sitting in the waiting room, shivering in the bitter cold. I did not know where my luggage was, nor did I inquire of anybody, lest I might be insulted and assaulted once again. Sleep was out of the question. Doubt took possession of my mind. Late at night, I came to the conclusion that to run back to India would be cowardly.4



This was the defining moment of Gandhi’s life. It changed the course of his personal life and the history of India. A puny man became a moral giant unequalled in the history of humanity, and his first battle was the abolition of the indenture system in South Africa. In this quest, Gandhi suffered abuse and physical violence and was curtly labelled the ‘coolie barrister’. Repressive laws were passed regarding Asiatics, which included banning Indians from using public footpaths. Mahatma Gandhi himself became a victim of this draconian law. One day while walking past President Kruger’s house, the guard, without a word, pushed him and kicked him into the street.5 (Indians were also forbidden to move out of doors after 9 p.m. without a permit.)

In 1896, when Mahatma Gandhi returned to South Africa after a short campaign against the indenture system in India, he was accosted by an angry mob when he left the ship. He wrote:


The crowd began to abuse me and shower stones upon me … They threw down my turban. Meanwhile a burly fellow came up to me, and slapped me in the face and kicked me. I was about to fall down unconscious when I held on to the railings of a house nearby … I had almost given up hope of reaching home alive.



Luckily, for Gandhi, the wife of the Superintendent of Police at Durban spotted the fracas and rescued him.6 Such atrocities and indignities did not deter him but only steeled his resolve to fight the oppression. It was under these conditions that he introduced and perfected his weapon of satyagraha (passive resistance) to fight the injustices suffered by his people in South Africa.

In India, Gokhale and Pundit Madan Mohan Malviya, who served on the British Imperial Council, were arch-critics of the indenture system. The battle against it intensified following the introduction of a motion in the Indian Legislative Assembly by Gokhale in 1912 seeking its abolition. The motion was defeated and, in 1913 to appease its critics, the Government sent the McNeil and Chimanlal Commission to investigate the conditions of Indian immigrants in British colonies, including Fiji.

In 1914 the Government of India received the McNeil and Chimanlal Commission report. Its critics noted that the report concentrated on the economic life of indentured labourers, ignoring social and moral conditions, and was generally to the advantage of the Establishment. In May 1914, Sanadhya returned to India from Fiji and subsequently wrote his book, Fiji Desh Mein Mere Ikkees Warsh, with the help of a fiery journalist, Banarsi Das Chaturvedi. He exposed the atrocious living and working conditions of the girmitiyas, quoting the high incidence of violence against them and the exploitation of their labour. This book was translated into several languages. These revelations had spread like wildfire. Sanadhya had gained the respect of Banarsi Das Chaturvedi, who introduced him to Mahatma Gandhi with whom Sanadhya worked for the rest of his life.

Mahatma Gandhi played a key role in alleviating the suffering of the girmitiyas in Fiji, and ending the indenture system. In order to get firsthand information and to elucidate the truth about the social and moral conditions in Fiji, Mahatma Gandhi sent Rev. Charles Freer Andrews and Rev. William Pearson to Fiji. On 5 November 1915 they arrived in Fiji. The girmitiyas greeted their arrival with a sigh of relief, although some hesitated to accept Rev. Andrews and Rev. Pearson, as they could not believe that white men could come to their rescue. Meanwhile the authorities in Fiji alerted officials and planters of the mission from India, urging them to co-operate and hoping that their report would not derail the indenture system.

In Fiji, Andrews and Pearson were traumatised by what they saw of girmit. On 7 December 1915 Andrews confronted the Planters’ Association and castigated them for their ill-treatment of indentured labourers. He explained to them the web of Hindu life, and how every strand fitted into context to give meaning and sustenance to its existence. He condemned the social and moral evils inherent in the indenture system, drawing their attention to the high rate of suicide, low wages, murder and inhumane working and living conditions. Rev. Andrews also drew the attention of the Planters’ Association to India’s war effort in fighting alongside the British, New Zealand and Australian forces. He alerted them to the Indian struggle for freedom and achievement of self-respect. It was a moving speech, but it failed to soften the hearts of the planters.

On their return to India, Andrews and Pearson prepared a detailed report on various aspects of the lives of the indentured labourers in Fiji. It removed any shadow of doubt from the McNeil and Chimanlal report, and out of its grim revelations arose the Indian resolve to seek the abolition of the indenture system.

The report and its recommendations were not well-received by the CSR Company officials in Sydney, who had earlier rebuked Andrews (when on his way to Fiji), asking for his credentials and labelling him an agitator. They warned him curtly that the Fiji Government, ‘will send you about your business …’7 This was the corporate face of the CSR Company: arrogant, belligerent and cruel.

Collectively, the Andrews and Pearson report, the letters from Hannah Dudley and Kunti, and Sanadhya’s book created the atmosphere for a sustained campaign against the indenture system. It was supplemented by work undertaken by Sanadhya himself, who travelled across India, arousing public awareness, while Rev. Andrews mounted strong representations to the Government of India seeking the abolition of the indenture system.

On 20 March 1916 Lord Hardinge, the Viceroy of India, who was sympathetic to the Indian resistance movement, announced the abolition of the indenture system in response to Malviya’s motion to that effect in the Indian Legislative Assembly. This was greeted with celebrations in India and in Fiji. However, the celebrations were short-lived. Lord Chelmsford, not as sympathetic as Lord Hardinge towards the Indians, took over as the Viceroy of India in 1916 and revived the indenture system, extending its term of operation for five more years. This set in motion a train of events that rocked the Establishment. Mahatma Gandhi defiantly announced:


We shall picket the coolie-ships, if the system is not ended by thirty-first May.8



Rev. Andrews, although sick and frail, began a nationwide campaign against the Government’s decision. Its appeal was based on the honour and dignity of Indian women, alluding to exploitation of their labour and the indignities inflicted upon them by the planters. This evoked a frenzied response. Indian women moved out of their traditional confines and sought an audience with Lord Chelmsford. This was the first occasion in history when Indian women had undertaken a public stand. It aroused Indian passion and its overwhelming might could not be ignored.

Lord Chelmsford gave an audience to the women’s representatives and spoke to Mahatma Gandhi on this issue. Taking note of the scale of resistance, and recognising the Indian war effort, the British relented and on 12 April 1917 cessation of recruitment occurred, as a wartime measure, under the Defence of India Act. In May 1917 the British Prime Minister declared in the House of Commons that the indenture system would not be revived.9

When the indenture system was abolished, those who were serving their indenture in Fiji did not gain immediate freedom. They were expected to complete their terms. With this in view, Rev. Andrews returned to Fiji in 1917, resolute in his desire to improve the conditions and ease the suffering of the girmitiyas. He stayed for four months visiting Sigatoka, Nadi, Lautoka, Ba and Tavua. The conditions of the girmitiyas had further deteriorated during the War years. Food prices had almost doubled but the wages of the girmitiyas had remained the same. Great hardship existed, but there was no one to lift them out of the cycle of poverty. One girmitiya, charged with attempted suicide, pleaded before the court that he could not bear the cries of his children for food.10

Rev. Andrews approached the authorities and with persistence, was able to get a small increase of three pence a day for the girmitiyas. His request for a woman’s term of indenture to end with her husband’s in the event of a husband’s term terminating earlier was approved by the planters on the Northern side but was rejected by the Governor’s Committee, composed of planters and officials and members of the Legislative Council. Instead, it was suggested that the husband and wife stayed together to complete the remainder of indenture. The Northern planters approved his last appeal for cancellation of all indenture on 1 January 1920. However, the Governor’s Committee again rejected it.

On his return to India after his second visit to Fiji in 1917, Andrews completed his report, including a damning medical report published in 1916 as Council Paper No. 54, and laid it before Montagu, the Secretary for State, who was in India in early 1918. He was able to convince Montagu of the depravity of the indenture system which was finally abolished on 1 January 1920.

During the period of girmit, some notable leaders did emerge — though mostly from outside — to fight the indenture system in Fiji. However, there were no recognitions or memorials except for those to Rev. Andrews, Hannah Dudley and Sadhu Bashist Muni — who was noted for his work among the Indo-Fijians immediately after the abolition of the indenture system. All three had had schools named in their honour.

Among those who fought against the indenture system, Tota Ram Sanadhya, a girmitiya, from Firozabaad, Agra, was notable. He came to Fiji on 28 May 1893 and served his five years’ indenture in Nausori. He was unable to exert his influence as a leader on his people while in Fiji. Public meetings were not allowed, and did not take place until the end of the indenture system. In this environment Sanadhya could not operate with much success.

Rev. Burton knew Sanadhya to be a man of intellect, a cool debater, a clever and well-educated Brahmin. Burton reflected on his ability in one of their conversations as Sanadhya defended himself and his religion with astuteness (see Appendix Five). The conversation gives weight to the view that the girmitiyas had people of intellect and learning whom the system had demeaned.

Sanadhya, in organising the first Ram Lila festival in Navua in 1902, earned his place in Indo-Fijian history, and at the same time, instilled courage and hope into the besieged community. Recognising his own position in the community, he sent a telegram of support to Gokhale, who was putting forward a motion in the Indian Legislative Assembly seeking the abolition of the indenture system.

Sanadhya was the personification of Mahatma Gandhi in Fiji. It is possible to draw parallels between the two men. Both fought the indenture system in a foreign land for almost the same period and returned to India at similar times. Mahatma Gandhi fought against indenture in Natal and Sanadhya in Fiji, although their roles differed in intensity and scale. Sanadhya could not succeed in Fiji because of the conditions, which were manipulated by the CSR Company. Sanadhya did not have the education or the panache of Mahatma Gandhi, but in his own way made a tremendous impact on the lives of his people through enlisting outside assistance, involving Mahatma Gandhi in the abolition of the indenture system, bringing the lawyer Manilal Maganlal Doctor to Fiji, and by organising social and religious functions.

Sanadhya returned to India, yet abolishing the indenture system was uppermost in his mind. He and his wife became permanent residents of Mahatma Gandhi’s sanctuary, the Sabarmati Ashram. He began a campaign to stop recruitment under the indenture system, reinforcing the work of Gandhi in this area. He became an ambassador for the girmitiyas in Fiji and addressed the Indian people in his travels across the subcontinent, relating his experiences of girmit. He rose in eminence and was given the singular honour of addressing an esteemed gathering of the Indian National Congress Party in Madras on 30 December 1914 as the Fiji Indian representative.

Others who helped in the abolition of the indenture system included Mahatma Gandhi, Rev. James Weir Burton, Pundit Banarsi Das Chaturvedi, Miss Hannah Dudley, Manilal Maganlal Doctor and Rev. Charles Freer Andrews.

Mahatma Gandhi championed the cause of the indentured workers in South Africa with courage, vision, commitment and sacrifice. He launched his life of public service in South Africa. Indentured labourers were victims of oppression and he became a pillar of hope and strength to them. His work against the indenture system was not restricted to South Africa — he kept a tab on the exploitation of indentured Indian labourers in other countries. In January 1915 he accomplished his mission in South Africa and returned to India. It was through his persistence that the British capitulated and the indenture system was abolished.

Reverend James Weir Burton’s book, Fiji of Today (1910), revealed the vile practices operating under the indenture system that led to murder and mayhem in the sugarcane fields of Fiji. He and his wife worked closely with the girmitiyas and defended their interests wherever they could. The local white community savagely attacked Burton’s book and the Planters’ Association went to the extent of asking the Governor to prosecute Rev. Burton, but failed. The book was a pioneer work against the indenture system in Fiji and the grim revelations in it helped bring about its demise.

Pundit Banarsi Das Chaturvedi, apart from writing Fiji Desh Mein Mere Ikkees Warsh for Sanadhya, also wrote several articles that aroused Indian feeling against the indenture system. In his book, Fiji Ki Samasya (1921), he recounted what had happened in Fiji, what was happening in the present and how he perceived the future. His interest in Fiji became a lifelong passion and his writings stimulated public opinion against the indenture system and contributed to its ultimate termination.

Miss Hannah Dudley was an educator and missionary who worked with the girmitiyas. She made tremendous sacrifices for the community and established an orphanage for children of the girmitiyas. She was adored by the girmitiyas and affectionately called Hamari Maa (Our Mother). She vigorously opposed the indenture system, highlighting its barbarity and its impact on the victims (see Appendix 4).11 Her 1912 letter of denunciation invigorated the Indian call for abolition of recruitment under the indenture system.

Manilal Maganlal Doctor reawakened hope and self-esteem in the girmitiyas. He responded to the call made by Mahatma Gandhi seeking the services of a barrister to represent the interests of the girmitiyas in Fiji. He remained undaunted before a hostile legal fraternity of whites and dispensed his services with courage and conviction. He was always a thorn in the side of the Government as he was influential among the Indians and fearless in pursuit of justice.

Following the workers’ strike in Suva in January 1920, the Government accused Manilal of engaging in seditious activities. He left Fiji in April 1920 when the Government passed an order prohibiting his residence in the islands and areas where Indians lived.

Reverend Charles Freer Andrews became interested in indenture when he heard Gokhale’s powerful plea in the Indian Legislative Assembly seeking the abolition of the indenture system. Before his fact-finding mission to Fiji, Andrews was sent by Gokhale with Pearson to Natal on a fact-finding mission, where he met Mahatma Gandhi for the first time. He saw for himself how the indenture system affected the indentured labourers from India.

He became a powerful advocate against the indenture system and later, following a divine revelation, it became an obsession. He wrote the following while recuperating from Asiatic cholera in Simla, in the Himalayan foothills:


One morning about noonday, while I was thinking of these things, lying on a chair on the verandah, I saw in front of me the face of a man in vision. I was not sleeping; my eyes were quite open. It was the poor run-away coolie I had seen in Natal. As I was looking the face seemed to change in front of me and appeared as the face of Jesus Christ. He seemed to look into my face for a long time and the vision faded away.12



After this vision, it became a divine mission for Rev. Andrews to destroy every vestige of the indenture system. In Natal, he was touched by the resistance movement undertaken by Mahatma Gandhi and was overwhelmed by his philosophy of satyagrah. In it, he saw the spirit of Christ — a moral revolution against every kind of human injustice. In this pursuit, a Christian and a Hindu became inseparable friends. Few could call Mahatma Gandhi by his first name ‘Mohan’, yet Rev. Andrews did so with affection, just as Gandhi called him ‘Charlie’, showing the close ties of the two great men — one white and one coloured; one from the east and the other from the west, and both committed to abolishing the indenture system.

Rev. Andrews lovingly called India his second motherland, and along with Mahatma Gandhi became an ardent supporter of the Indian struggle against the British. In his work, he was driven by strong moral values and held that the indenture system was immoral; it was not good for the Indians, or the British. In Fiji, in 1917 he was given the title of Deenbandhu (friend of the poor) for his work among the poor. Subsequently, to honour his achievements for the Indo-Fijian community, two schools were established with his name. The abolition of the indenture system was his greatest feat. Some redefined his initials C.F.A. as ‘Christ’s Faithful Apostle.’ On 5 April 1940 he died at the age of seventy. In his tribute, Mahatma Gandhi said of Andrews: ‘simple like a child and upright as a die.’13

These were the luminaries of the girmit era. These people, in their struggle, were not subdued by the might of the British Empire as they fought for the higher moral ground in order to destroy an iniquitous and barbaric system. Some became a living sacrifice for a just cause, and they deserve a place of eternal recognition in Indo-Fijian history.

In 1979, to mark the one hundred years’ anniversary of the arrival in Fiji of the first shipload of indentured labourers on the Leonidas, national celebrations were organised by the Fiji Government and resulted in the construction of a national monument, named the Girmit Centre, at Lautoka. The national monument was a remarkable building designed to be a repository of Indo-Fijian culture, tradition, art and history. Sadly, the initial euphoria evaporated and it became a lifeless empty shell. The centre had the potential to truly reflect Indo-Fijian history, commemorating those who made selfless sacrifice in ameliorating or enlightening the lives of Indo-Fijians.

Among those who subsequently shed light on girmit through their writings was K.L. Gillion. He wrote two books on Indo-Fijian history, which formed the basis of further research and work by subsequent writers.14 His scholarly, unbiased and detailed exposé provided a foundation for other writers to build on. Among the Indo-Fijian writers, Dr Brij V. Lal and Dr Ahemad Ali made significant contributions to Indo-Fijian history. However, the most outstanding contribution to the literature on the girmit era and on subsequent Indo-Fijian history came from Dr Brij V. Lal, a descendant of girmitiya grandparents. His work in retrieving and restoring the lost treasure of early Indo-Fijian history is comprehensive. Through his determination, he has given posterity a treasure-trove of history that could otherwise have been lost.

In addition, Jogindar Singh Kanwal, writer and poet, has worked passionately to record, in both Hindi and English, the memories of girmit through his writings and poetry. Yet his persistence with this quest has not earned him the honour he deserves. His determination to continue on the path indicated the depth of his desire to resurrect the memories of a generation robbed of their freedom, rights and human dignity. Indeed, both Dr Brij V. Lal and Jogindar Singh Kanwal deserve to be immortalised in Indo-Fijian history as writers who did most to rekindle and restore appreciation for the early history of Indo-Fijians.

Sadly, Indo-Fijians have not responded to their early history with the same enthusiasm that some other communities have. This early history is the foundation upon which successive generations have built their lives. Their early history must not be seen through the eyes of those who robbed and demeaned them. Indo-Fijian history reflects the vibrancy, tenacity and industry of a community that has defied the odds and retained the glory of succeeding where others may have failed, if not perished.

In the Indo-Fijian community, girmit was spoken of in muted tones. The victims, the girmitiyas, did not encourage open discussion, as it was painful to them. They felt that there was a stigma attached and they did not want successive generations to grow up under its tainted shadow. However, I had the privilege to share this history through the generosity of Daadaji and Daadiji. Admittedly, Daadiji was more open with me than Daadaji. He harboured a deeper psychological wound than did Daadiji. Subsequently my father, who was born while his parents were in the middle of serving their girmit, took their place and shared it with us. He was an avid reader of Indian history and a repository of knowledge on Indian culture and history.

Personally, I was perplexed about our early history. In primary school, we learned Fijian history and the place and role of the British in the governance of Fiji. It appeared to me that others had a history and we, as Indo-Fijians, did not. I noted that ignorance and illiteracy, in the early days, played a large part in the neglect of Indo-Fijian history. This contributed to a culture of dependence on the British who were seen to be the custodians of Indo-Fijian interests during their reign. However, they abrogated this responsibility and manipulated Indo-Fijian history in a way that has left a community wounded.

If the girmitiyas spent their lives in suffering, shock and fear, their children — some of whom were born during the girmit — were a generation stunned and traumatised. Some, as children, had witnessed the beating of their girmitiya parents or other girmitiyas and they had lived in mortal fear of the white man. This fear was experienced by second and third generations, though not with the same intensity. I was of the third generation and I feared the white man from my childhood to early adulthood. He was feared in my village like a lion in the jungle.

I witnessed how villagers, in the 1950s, recoiled when they saw the CSR Company kulambar riding on horseback through the village. People moved indoors and some closed their doors. Children, noisily playing outside, were silenced or moved indoors with their parents. Some peeped through pinholes in the walls of their decrepit homes, built of rusty corrugated iron. The silence was overpowering. It appeared that the village had come to a standstill. Once the ‘lion’ of the village had passed by, a sigh of relief was almost audible as children poured back into the open.

My father was village sardar — chosen by the people and not by kulambar — from 1941 to 1962. We had frequent interaction with the kulambars, who came to discuss the routine sugarcane cultivation or harvesting matters. Daadaji ignored or avoided them. My village mates had the same fear of the white man as I had. My fear and that of those around me greatly impacted on my life. I was subject to a welter of thoughts that sometimes haunted my mind. Stories commonly known in the community about the treatment of girmitiyas upset me. The sight of the kulambar and the CSR Company’s steam engines passing through our village constantly brought back memories of a painful past. They seemed to carry the spirit of the CSR Company wherever they went, planting fear and subjection in Indo-Fijians.

Occasionally, in my imagination, I pictured Daadaji (and Daadiji) escaping from his village, Belha Ragho in India, falling into the trap of the aarkathis, confined in the depot and shipped to Fiji. I visualised him serving his girmit in fear and submission. I pictured him receiving those whippings on his back from the kulambar. His face, a mask of fear, his eyes streaming with tears, his hands joined, imploring ‘Naahin maaro sahib!’ (Do not beat me, sahib!). I pictured his torn and tattered shirt soaked in blood, continuing to toil to escape further beatings. I saw in his tears, the tears of his compatriots. In these lonely moments, my own tears welled up and I allowed them to flow as a tribute to that generation.

I have constantly been drawn into this sorrow and to this solitude. I have grieved in the stillness of night and, in the deep peal of thunder, I have heard the muffled cries of our ancestors, imploring us, their descendants, to ensure that their pain and suffering during the indenture period (1879–1920) in Fiji, was not lost in the mist of time and that those who destroyed their lives were made to realize and accept their iniquities and to express their remorse. Whenever sleep eluded me at night, I escaped into the girmit era to connect with my ancestors in spirit. In those moments, I was a world away from reality — a world where the master had used the colour of the skin, ignorance and illiteracy to violate the rights of our people. With my eyes filled with tears, I returned to reality filled with guilt that we, their descendants and beneficiaries of their struggle, had wrongfully abandoned them and did not even commemorate their sacrifices.

The mystery of girmitiyas not wanting to remember girmit later became clear to me. It was a period of history that tore their hearts. My Daadaji had whip marks on his back and painful memories that accompanied him to his grave. He bore those stripes, as did his compatriots, in the hope that the succeeding generations would not suffer the tragedy that had wrecked their own lives. It was a sacrifice that he made in the same way that Jesus had sacrificed himself on the Cross of Calvary to redeem our sins. Daadaji, upon completion of his girmit, decided to lay anchor in Fiji. It was a momentous decision that changed the course of history for my family. The tragedy of girmit finally brought triumph, and he looked forward to the future with high hopes.

Was girmit a period of shame for the girmitiyas? Unquestionably, girmit was not a period of shame for the girmitiyas. It was a period of one of the greatest sacrifices made in the history of humanity, made on the premise of their inherent traits and conditioned by the call of their religion and culture. Certainly, innocence, ignorance and illiteracy played a significant part and assisted those who exploited their gullibility. The colonial masters valued these traits. Wherever they were taken, Indians excelled in performance, to the delight of their masters. They became one of the finest British tools for the sustaining and promoting of colonial interests.

In Fiji, girmitiyas laid down their lives and sought neither acclaim nor recognition. When girmit ended, they were abandoned. Their masters’ designs were so elaborate and sophisticated that the victims worked their way out of indenture without any will to right the wrongs that had been inflicted upon them. Moreover, the system also effectively disabled later generations of Indo-Fijians from seeking redress. Its psychological effect continued to manifest as each generation passed on the legacy of its purported shame. However, the effects of girmit have waned with the passage of time, not through knowledge but largely through ignorance. But ignorance has not redeemed the sacrifice nor the purported shame. Girmit was so effectively managed by its beneficiaries that they not only escaped with their loot, but also silenced the victims. Girmit was a crime against humanity.

I have often reflected on the tragedy of girmit as it affected my grandparents, and its subsequent impact on me. Was I ashamed that my grandparents had served the indenture? I was not. However, I seethed with anger at the violence and exploitation of the innocent by those who had a legal and moral duty to protect them. The guilt of the crime belonged to the persecutors and not to the persecuted. I was unaware that the time would come when I would be caught in the whirlpool of my conviction to unfold the tyranny of girmit, and to seek redemption for the wrongful stigma that had hung over our people. My anger led to anguish, and anguish into passion, and the passion into an obsession to restate the history of our people in a different light.

The pilgrimage to my roots set me on this mission. It was a mammoth task, but I found encouragement in the expression of a famous Hindi song:

Nirbal ki ladayee balwaan ki, e kahani hai diye ki aur toofaan ki.

The battle was between the weak and the powerful, like the fight of a flickering candle against the wind. The mission became the lone struggle of a frail man with no claim to power, fame or fortune, against the giants, who had escaped with crimes against humanity because they had all those advantages.

The girmitiyas had left this world having sacrificed their lives, driven by obedience to duty and an overriding desire to secure a future for their children away from the entrapments of girmit. I noted that both the British Government and the CSR Company did not even pay tribute to them for having served their interests with unequalled sacrifice. They did not repent of having robbed a people and a generation of their freedom and their rights. They escaped, and the world allowed them to, as if the girmitiyas had deserved the atrocities and the beneficiaries the loot.

Until the 1960s, the influence of the pioneer generation had somehow inhibited public discussion, research or rediscovery of this important period of Indo-Fijian history. The children of girmitiyas, largely illiterate, were born or grew up under the turbulence of girmit and, subsequently, were ambivalent towards their history. This was attributed to the lack of vision in the leadership of the community and the overpowering influence of their girmitiya parents’ unwillingness to discuss that painful era. The code of silence remained intact until the emergence of a younger generation of educated Indo-Fijians. They gained the confidence of their illiterate parents and a part of that early history began to be discussed and revealed. This generated considerable interest and, as writers began to delve into the mystery of what girmit was, a light began to be shed over that dark period.

Most of the writings on girmit took the traditional line of recording the known and restoring the unknown. These writers had put their minds but not their hearts into their writings, resulting in a distorted image of Indo-Fijian history. It did not bring either a reasoned or passionate response from humanitarians or the descendants of the girmitiyas. Their attachment and acknowledgement to it had been muted, subdued and at best withdrawn.

By the 1970s, the majority of the girmitiyas had passed away, and those few who moved about in the villages leaned on their lathi, some with broken bodies, bent backs, bowed legs and mental degeneration. The glint of fear remained in their eyes, their foreheads were creased and the stony palms and the lacerated soles of their feet had hardened over the years. The physical scars reflected the rigours of girmit and with these emblems of girmit, the girmitiyas departed from the world without praise or recognition.

It is clear that to the British, Indians were no more than coolies or porters born to serve their interests in India and abroad. By their treatment of the girmitiyas it was obvious that they saw Indians as bereft of the values of humanity, having the human body but not the human soul or the human spirit. They failed to honour or acknowledge the fact that, being British subjects, Indians were children of the Empire, and that the British Government had a duty and a responsibility to protect, promote and secure their interests and their rights. Sadly, in the pursuit of prosperity, the British abrogated that duty and responsibility, conspiring with the CSR Company, which robbed the girmitiyas to sustain its voracious appetite for profits.

Collectively, the British and the CSR Company bore the blame and the shame of the indenture in Fiji. The CSR Company had its head office in Sydney and was viewed in Fiji as the power behind the throne. J. B. Thurston, the Colonial Secretary in 1880 (later Governor 1888–1897), labelled it as ‘The most selfish Company in the Australasias’.15 He disliked the Colonial Office model of land ownership and curtly told Sir Arthur Gordon, the first Governor of Fiji:


With all our ‘highfalutin’ to the contrary, the wrongs we have committed in the name of Christianity, civilisation, progress are manifold. We are, as a race, a race of robbers and spoilers.16



The Australian Government, as the beneficiary of the ill-gotten gains of the CSR Company in Fiji, was in a position to exert influence upon it and ameliorate the suffering of the girmitiyas, but economic considerations outweighed human ones. In addition to this, the victims were coloured and those responsible for the atrocities in Fiji were their own people. The girmitiyas bore the brunt of practices so violent that the wounds are unhealed 125 years later. The cloud of shame that has hung over our people because of their early history must dissipate and allow the light of appreciation, understanding, respect and dignity to shine as a tribute to the robbed generation.

Sadly, the Indo-Fijian leaders who emerged in politics since the end of the girmit era have never reviewed or even revisited this issue. The Indo-Fijian leadership perhaps considered it too ignominious a path. It never fitted their agenda, which avoided the past as they looked intently to the present and the future. They showed, by their silence, that they accepted the status quo; that Indo-Fijian history was an anathema to the community and was best buried. This was a mistake and, because of it, the community was wrongly stigmatised.

In the case of the Afro-Americans, the descendants of the slaves in America took their stand on the platform of justice and morality and emerged, although belatedly, victorious. They resisted the discrimination, compounded by naked racism, that was a residue of the slave era. Their response was passionate and vociferous and it produced leaders like Martin Luther King, who not only defeated the oppressors but also enlightened the world and raised the dignity of humanity on the world stage. America relented and adjusted, accepting the inevitable. The descendants of the slaves began their journey on a more level playing field in America, earning laurels and rewards and adding lustre and colour to American life. However, there has been nothing comparable for the victims of girmit or their descendants. The passage of time has somehow dimmed the vision, but it will never obliterate the history, of our people.

Was the CSR Company the greatest predator during girmit, and one that had subsequently expunged from memory the guilt for having committed these crimes against humanity? I wondered about this and I had a remarkable revelation. I sought the CSR Company’s permission to reproduce some of the photographs in its centenary publication in 1956 entitled, The Colonial Sugar Refining Company Limited — A South Pacific Enterprise. It agreed, subject to the material not being used in any way injurious to its reputation and, if it was, it wanted to review my work for fairness and asked for a copy of any such material.

This response confirmed that the stigma of that period retained a ghostly presence in the conscience of the CSR Company. It also confirmed that the CSR Company had a conscience, yet its greed for profits had prevented it from acting humanely or even judiciously. In its response, I discerned that it had retained its belligerence, and wondered if it had also retained its domineering traits in its operations in Australia. If not, perhaps then it still felt that it could intimidate and dominate the lives of the descendants of the girmitiyas. For who would otherwise ask an author to submit their work for review for fairness before publication? By its response, the CSR Company reconfirmed the notion that leopards do not change their spots.

Another revelation in the CSR Company response was its claim to ‘fairness’, a word that did not exist in its vocabulary in dealing with our people either during the girmit or, as will be revealed, in the post-indenture era. Revelations in this book may tarnish its reputation, but the reputations of individuals or multinationals should be built on transparency, honesty and integrity. Sadly, the CSR Company cannot lay claim to these attributes, in as far as its relationship with the Indo-Fijian community was concerned. Reputation is not measured by wealth but by deeds. Wealth earned by the oppression of innocent and ignorant people hardly qualifies the CSR Company to lay claim to a reputation for fairness.

The violence described in these chapters still cries out for redemption a century later. Because justice has been denied or delayed, the perpetrators of crimes committed during the indenture period should not be exonerated.

A community carries the burden of earlier generations that were robbed of freedom, rights and justice. The passage of time does not bring immunity from the crimes. What the pioneer generation lost cannot be restored, but those who robbed them must come forward and own up to their iniquities, admit their crime and express their sorrow. The effect of this would be that the history of a race of people would be restored and rebuilt on honest foundations. This generation, and those to come, would be enabled to view their history from a true perspective.

Indeed, the most painful period for the Indo-Fijians was the girmit era. Yet, from the pioneer generation, we inherited a willingness to toil and to earn our rewards with our labour, not leaning or depending on others. We inherited from them the spirit of struggle, endurance, sacrifice and achievement. The end of girmit marked the end of an era in captivity and the beginning of a new era of freedom, which augured new hopes and high expectations.








PART TWO: POST-INDENTURE PERIOD 1920–2004

An Uncertain Future
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CHAPTER SEVEN

CULTURAL AND POLITICAL RENAISSANCE


Girmit ended, the curtain fell on a despicable era, 

Girmitiyas rejoiced and burnt the effigy of the kulambara.


The bridge at Samabula was guarded by a detachment of soldiers, armed as if they were still in the trenches of France … On the Rewa side, two to three hundred Indians gathered. They said they wanted to come to Suva. They were told they couldn’t.

It was Friday the 13th, an ‘unlucky’ day …

It was also the worst day, the bloodiest day, and the last day of the 1920 strike, a day which would change the Colony’s outlook towards its Indian community.1




On 1 January 1920 the gates of the indenture finally closed and everyone was declared a freeman.2 The girmitiyas rejoiced and celebrated. They burnt effigies of the CSR Company and the kulambars, as well as the effigy of a coolie to obliterate their bitter memories. It was an act of baptism by fire to mark the renewal of their spirit. They felt the fresh air of freedom. The cloud of girmit was finally behind them. The girmitiyas embraced each other in a carnival atmosphere. They considered themselves as martyrs, having borne the unbearable and gained their freedom.

Yet, behind the celebrations was an underlying sorrow. The period of girmit had caused many wounds to the bodies and minds of the girmitiyas. Even being released from indenture did not necessarily mean that they were truly free. The shadow of girmit loomed large over their lives and it never left them. In the sunset years of girmit, a tragedy of gigantic proportion hit the Indo-Fijians. Almost three thousand succumbed to the worldwide epidemic of influenza in 1918. They died in the fields, walking on the road or at home. Throughout the world 30 million people died within a period of twelve months. I also lost my Daadiji, Dulara, in this epidemic. In Fiji the dead were buried in mass graves. The Girmit Centre at Lautoka was one of the sites. The tears of that tragedy had barely dried when they walked into the dawn of freedom.

For those in the Southern Division, their joy was short-lived. Within a fortnight, tragedy again came their way. On 15 January 1920 the employees of the Public Works Department went on strike in protest against low wages and the high price of basic food items. Workers at the Suva Municipal Council and employees of the CSR Company in Rewa, as well as two to three thousand employees of the Vancouver-Fiji Sugar Company in Navua, later joined them. Navua, without a road link, was isolated and the centre of action gravitated between Suva and Rewa.

The Government claimed that it was a racial and political agitation while the strikers held that it was for economic reasons. The workers claimed that the cost of living had almost doubled after the war and two shillings and sixpence (25 cents) per day was an inadequate wage to sustain their families. Indeed, during the war years and in its aftermath, food prices had soared yet the wages had remained largely the same. The rise in cost of food without any corresponding rise in wages created untold hardships.

On 30 January, a deputation headed by Mrs Manilal, wife of Manilal Maganlal Doctor, presented their demands to the Governor Sir Cecil Rodwell asking for a minimum wage rate of five shillings (50 cents) per day and the appointment of a commission to inquire into the high prices of essential goods. The Governor, to appease the strikers, agreed to the appointment of a commission headed by the Chief Justice, but insisted on the strikers returning to work before the wage claim was considered.

On 31 January, the Governor appointed a commission to inquire into the grievances of the strikers. The strikers, however, remained firm in their resolve and defied the Governor’s call to return to work. On 5 February, anger spilled into violence in Toorak. There were various versions of the events, one being that when Special Constable Ray and a Fijian constable passed an Indo-Fijian home, a group of women abused them. Constable Ray approached the women and attempted to physically arrest a woman named Rahiman, considered an instigator in the group. In the fracas, others from the neighbourhood joined in and a riot ensued. Police reinforcements could not subdue the violence until the arrival of armed soldiers. In this riot, 175 men and fourteen women were arrested.

This incident at Toorak gave rise to anger among the strikers, as intimidation of non-strikers and reports of sporadic violence were reported. Rumours ran rife of an imminent army attack on the Nausori Indo-Fijians. They became panic-stricken and some planned preventive action to stop communication and road access to the army to reach Nausori. Telephone wires between Nausori and Suva were cut and bridges were sabotaged.

The aggravation created panic in the Government and led to desperate calls for assistance from New Zealand and Australia to combat what was termed as an Indian uprising. On 12 February 1920, a warship from New Zealand arrived and sixty armed soldiers gave support to the police in Suva and Nausori. The Australian contingent in the sloop Marguerite, in a show of force, patrolled the north-western coast.

In a confrontation between the police and the strikers at the Samabula Bridge on 13 February, the police opened fire. The strikers were armed with sticks and stones and were no match for live ammunition. They fled in panic but the firing continued, bringing down many. According to the official report, one person was killed and three were injured. However, unofficial reports claimed that several people died and many were injured in this confrontation.3 One, Gopal Sadhu, who sustained bullet injuries, claimed that twenty people died and scores were injured. Their groans and cries could be heard a considerable distance away and help from the police arrived only after a long delay. In this incident 151 men and twelve women received prison sentences with hard labour. The incident was equated with the Jallianwallah Bagh massacre in 1919, in Amritsar, India.

On 16 February the strike ended, but it claimed other victims. Manilal, the great advocate of Indo-Fijian rights, Mrs Manilal, Harpal Maharaj, a priest and Fazal Ahemad Khan, a wrestler, were alleged to be the ringleaders. The Government accused them of engaging in seditious activities. However, it had no evidence to support its claim. At the time of the strike Manilal was in Ba, in the west, and denied any involvement in the strike.

For its part, the Government was bent on removing the accused from Fiji. On 27 March, under the Peace and Good Order Ordinance 1875, the Government banned Manilal, Mrs Manilal, Harpal Maharaj and Fazal Ahemad Khan for two years from residing on Viti Levu, the main island of Fiji, and Ovalau and Macuata provinces on Vanua Levu. Later they were banished to Nukulau Island. They left Fiji on 15 April 1920, bound for New Zealand.4

Without leadership the Indo-Fijian community was adrift on a sea of uncertainty and no leaders of any great significance emerged in the first decade after the end of the indenture system. The task before them of restoration and rehabilitation remained onerous. However, the spirit of enterprise and industry in the Indo-Fijians, unshackled from girmit, could not be restrained. Indo-Fijian parents’ greatest desire was the education of their children. The dominant white community had resisted this successfully during the girmit. Some were bitterly opposed to the teaching of English to Indo-Fijians. The European dislike of educated Indo-Fijians stemmed from their instinctive fear of the challenge posed by them. The noted writer on Indo-Fijian history, K.L. Gillion, felt so strongly about it that he entitled his second book The Fiji Indians Challenge to European Dominance, 1920–1946 (1977).

Without leadership, the community was thrown into a vortex of confusion. Out of confusion emerges direction, for this forms the cycle of events which governs human life. The girmitiyas had freedom and time to reflect on their identity — an identity that had been lost in the girmit — and the Indo-Fijian search for identity began in earnest. The evolving Indo-Fijian community began to assess its turf. The unity, which had been strengthened by adversity during the girmit was broken. Divisions of race, religion, sect, culture and even caste came to the forefront during this crucial period.

Race, religion and culture became the dominant factors and generated inter-communal feud, rancour and bitterness. Hindus and Muslims resurrected their ancient religion-based acrimony. A few pundits and the moulvis (Muslim priests), who held sway on religious and cultural pursuits, emerged with vigour and venom in promoting their faith. Social interaction between the two communities waned.

In the intra-communal mêlée, the biggest division occurred within the Hindu community as the many sects that had been subdued during the girmit came back into prominence. These included the Sanatan Dharam, Arya Samaj, Kabir Panth, Nath, Nanak, Satnami, Dadu Panth, Jagjivandas and Ramanandi. Many of these had lost their influence or identity by the turn of the century, but Sanatan Dharam, Arya Samaj and the Sikh remained prominent and overwhelmed the other sects. Initially, the bitterness between the Sanatanis and the Arya Samajis was rancorous. It degenerated to a point where on 6 June 1931 a public debate between the two sects was arranged, which later ended up in the Supreme Court.

Muslims, on the other hand, took their natural place in the cultural milieu and emerged as a strong and coherent group. The sectarian commotion and turmoil provided the impetus for the Muslims to unite, establish, defend and promote their faith. As Muslims gained unity and strength they began to pursue their religious, cultural and educational needs under the aegis of the Fiji Muslim League, which was formed in 1926. They were spared the divisions initially.

In the 1930s hostility between Hindus and Muslims intensified with scurrilous literature being circulated, each group wanting to portray the immorality and the depravity of the other. This was stimulated largely by events in India, particularly in the latter part of the 1930s when the struggle for Indian independence created deep and bitter division between Hindus and Muslims. The chasm between them, in Fiji, also deepened initially but later decreased in acrimony after the independence and partition of India and the creation of Pakistan. These events in India deeply influenced the actions and reactions of Indo-Fijians during this period.

The South Indians, predominantly Hindus, were noted for their distinctiveness of race, language and origins. They created the Sangam umbrella under the auspices of Then India Ikya Sanmarga Sangam, which was formed in 1926. It became a strong and robust institution protecting and promoting its culture, language and traditions. Punjabis also took shelter under the Sikh Gurdwara Committee, and the Gujeratis, who came on their own as traders from the first decade of the 20th century, retained their exclusivity and formed the Gujerat Mandal.

The aggravation of inter-communal and intra-communal rivalries was also attributed largely to the preachers, teachers and missionaries who had arrived from India, not only to educate but also to denigrate other sects. The Indo-Fijian community, largely uneducated and illiterate, was highly susceptible to such influences.

What was the impact of these divisions? A variety of views have been expressed on the subject. The bitterness was unhealthy and by the end of the century, these divisions had strengthened and matured into distinct groups. This had political implications, which worked to the detriment of the community so that it was never able to project itself as a unified coherent group. Nevertheless, each of these organisations played a commendable role in meeting the religious, social, cultural and educational needs of their community, Indo-Fijians collectively, and Fiji generally.

The building of schools, temples, shrines and roads in the villages became an intense communal pursuit for these organisations. Sometimes it became a local responsibility, transcending the barriers of religion or culture, when a designated need was collectively satisfied. Schools were established under the Arya Samaj, the Muslim League, the Then India Ikya Sangam, the Sanatan Dharam, the Sikh Society and later the Gujerat Education Trust, which included primary and secondary schools.

Bhakti (devotion) and gyana (knowledge) formed the central pursuit in Hindu life. Devotion to God and a search for knowledge remained vibrant in Indo-Fijians. They thanked God for setting them free from five years of banwaas (exile) in the wilderness of girmit. They had indomitable faith that, having redeemed their sins through their sacrifice during their girmit, the days ahead were the days of harvest. It was never easy, yet they kept their resilience and persistence in adversity. Indo-Fijians made successful inroads into commerce, agriculture, education and other areas that had been the preserve of the whites.

By 1926 twenty-six schools had been established by Indo-Fijians, providing education for 1896 pupils. By 1938 this number rose to seventy-one schools with 7968 pupils enrolled. Initial teaching was in Hindi for Hindu schools, Urdu for Muslim schools and Tamil or Telegu in schools built by the South Indian community. Later, English became the dominant language. Indo-Fijians saw English as a way to move out from manual to more intellectual pursuits. Parents made enormous sacrifices to ensure the education of their children and the provision of their requirements as well as the fulfilment of family, communal, local, religious, social and cultural needs. Education bereft of culture, in their view, produced robotic instincts without the inherent human values. In this regard, children learnt the English language but they could not escape the values and disciplines of their own culture.

Despite the school origins being largely sectarian, the doors were later opened to any child without discrimination. Even some Fijian parents, seeing the success of Indo-Fijian children, began sending their children to these schools. Collectively, the Indo-Fijian contribution towards education in Fiji was inestimable. If it were not for the singular communal effort by Indo-Fijians in education, they would have remained a working class labouring for the sahibs, the CSR Company and Fiji for a very long time.

The family environment geared itself to move with the times. If struggle and survival were the main characteristics of the girmit era, then the early part of the post-indenture era differed only marginally. Indo-Fijians continued to rely on their resilience, fortitude, frugality and thrift. Cash was scarce and life had to be sustained through prudent and ingenious means. The environment of struggle engendered the emergence of strong family units that worked together to succeed. As Scarr wrote:


Success was the great offence of the Indians, once free of their indentures.5



The patriarch of the family spared no effort as he infused in the family the collective spirit of toil and, through his endeavours, the family was unified in its commitment to succeed. The matriarch, on the other hand, not only took over the domestic chores but also provided support to the family farm, as did the children. The Indo-Fijians worked the land with the tenacity of bees in their hives. Even the heat of the midday tropical sun did not defeat their resolve to eke out a living. A child born into these environs became a warrior of toil. Children drew inspiration from hard work and it became the prescription for success in their chosen occupations.

Spurred by parents’ attitudes children walked to and from school along bushy tracks, through slushy and swampy land, up hills, down valleys and across creeks, some for eight to twelve kilometres each morning and afternoon. When they returned home they joined their parents on the farm to render whatever assistance they could. At night they burnt the midnight oil, studying in the flickering flame of a hurricane lamp, doing homework under the watchful eyes of their parents.

This spirit of achieving success was not peculiar to any one family unit, but common to almost every family. Success also created a healthy competitive spirit between neighbours, families and children. It was intense, sometimes pursued even with envy and jealousy. Indulgence in luxuries did not even enter their imagination. In the 1950s, our family could not afford shoes or sandals and we envied those few who could. Farmers worked barefoot, the soles of their feet lacerated and roughened while the palms of their hands were hardened with incessant work. However, by the late 1950s mechanisation had begun to creep into the farming community on a small scale. This reduced the traditional reliance on bullocks and horses for farm work.

In the desire for success, social pursuits were not sacrificed, although financial restraints curtailed the fulfilment of most dreams and aspirations. Purchase of beer and liquor by Indo-Fijians was prohibited unless a certificate of exemption was obtained from the Chairman of the District Liquor Committee. Each person had to carry this permit and the licensed vendor had to make entries in the permit every time a purchase was made. The first entry in my father’s book was 19 September 1940 and the last on 22 December 1962. From the entries, it appeared that he was able to buy liquor and beer twice a year. These were the times when he received payment for the sugarcane from the CSR Company. This was the trend among those who could stretch their earnings to engage in biannual indulgence.

On the political front, the nominee for the Indo-Fijian community on the Legislative Council, Badri Maharaj, served for 10 years from 1916. He resigned in 1923 in protest against the imposition of a Residential Tax of one pound per person per year on non-Fijians, but was later reappointed. In 1929, the Government increased political representation of Indo-Fijians to three elected members on the Legislative Council. However, many Indo-Fijian voters were disqualified as they were required, among other things, to own freehold or leasehold land with an annual value of fifty pounds, or have a net cash income of seventy pounds per annum. In practice, land was owned or leased in the name of one person and this effectively disqualified others in the family from voting. Few had an income which exceeded seventy pounds, and therefore, many did not qualify to vote under this requirement. However, it was a significant achievement for the community to gain recognition and representation in the Legislative Council.

The year 1929 was also significant for another reason. It marked the 50th anniversary of the arrival of Indian indentured labourers in Fiji. No major celebrations were held. Indo-Fijian opinion was divided with a majority holding the view that it was not worthy of celebration. Some even held the view that mourning was more appropriate to mark the occasion. However, the Government marked the day with a public holiday with muted celebrations at Suva’s Albert Park on 15 May 1929. This was preceded by an evening at the Suva Town Hall where some girmitiyas recounted the travails of indenture, some even claiming that they had friends who were eaten by Fijians in the early days.

The first elected representatives to the Council were Pundit Vishnu Deo for the Southern Constituency, Parmanand Singh for the Northwest Constituency and James Ram Chander for the Eastern constituency. On 25 October 1929 they took their seats in the Council. They entered with a preset agenda demanding common franchise for all communities. Accordingly, they moved a motion to such effect, which was rejected. Subsequently, on 5 November they staged a walkout in protest. During their short sojourn in the Council, they had asked many questions that reflected the anguish and anxiety of the Indo-Fijian community.

In the subsequent election in 1932, K. B. Singh (Southern) and Munswamy Mudaliar (Western), reintroduced the motion on common roll.6 The motion was withdrawn when the Governor gave an assurance that he would raise the matter with the Secretary of State. In 1933, the Secretary of State rejected the proposal and K. B. Singh resigned, but Mudaliar refused. Subsequently, K. B. Singh was re-elected to the Council. In 1934 the motion seeking common franchise was introduced again and suffered another defeat, but no one resigned.

In 1937, the Legislative Council was reconstituted, giving Indo-Fijians three elected members and two nominated members on the Council. This was in parity with the European community’s allocation, though many claimed that it was gross disparity, noting that the European population about this time was 3090 while the Indo-Fijian population was approximately 80 000. Fijians were also allocated five seats. In the case of Fijians, the Great Council of Chiefs made the recommendation to the Governor, who made the appointment of Fijian members at his discretion.

In this electoral reinvigoration, the Government took the opportunity to make the Suva Municipal Council a wholly nominated body. This was to allay the fear of a gradual Indo-Fijian influence in the elected Council. Earlier, it had disenfranchised most Indo-Fijians by insisting on a knowledge of the English language as a prerequisite for the right to vote. However, the nomination system effectively snuffed out any Indo-Fijian desire, if it existed, to have an influence on the newly-reconstituted Suva Municipal Council as electors. The new Council comprised seven official and six unofficial nominated members — two from each of the three dominant communities.

With hindsight, critics claim that the Indo-Fijian leaders’ desire to seek common roll was foolish and an ideal that was too early to achieve. Common roll remained an elusive dream even into the 21st century. It was viewed by opponents, both European and Fijian, as an Indo-Fijian desire to gain political power and create a ‘little India’ in the Pacific. The idea was untenable, insufferable even, to both Europeans and Fijians. Under common roll, the ruler risked being ruled. Its repercussions were freighted with the worst scenarios to inflame Fijian opinion. The seed of suspicion of Indo-Fijian ambitions gradually took root, which bore and continued to bear bitter fruits in the relationship between the two races.

The desire to seek common roll gradually lost its force until the mid 1960s. Other issues such as livelihood, land, shelter and education took priority. The Indo-Fijian community, in its desire to get ahead, prioritised family and communal endeavours, although they still retained a flexible stance on national and local issues, which included the continued iniquities on the part of the Government and the CSR Company. Gillion defined the Indo-Fijian position:


Generally the Europeans wanted to keep them in their assigned place as labourers and menials, and did little for their educational advancement and knowledge of European culture beyond the requirements of law and order … They excluded them from their clubs and schools, did not invite them to their homes, and reminded them in various ways that they were the sons of indentured labourers and fortunate to be in Fiji at all.7



The professed European desire to inhibit Indo-Fijian advancement failed. The parents, mostly illiterate, engaged principally in agricultural pursuits. This gave them a considerable degree of independence in a place that was the family home, and a farm that offered both income and the production of subsistence food crops. By early 1939, ninety-seven per cent of the CSR Company land was leased to Indo-Fijian farmers. The farmers were granted ten-year ‘tenancy at will’ leases with stringent conditions on farm husbandry and utility. These conditions gave the kulambars uninhibited power to wreak havoc on the lives of its Indo-Fijian tenants, and many did.

Under these conditions, the Indo-Fijian community began to seriously assert its place and make a mark on the social, political and economic life of Fiji. In the settlements, as they grew, caste distinctions also re-emerged as people tried to restore their identity. The upper and middle castes, such as Brahmins, Kshatriyas, Ahirs, Kurmis and many others, wherever possible, re-established their caste distinctions. Even the lower castes that had had a great opportunity to remove their stigma and merge with the middle and upper castes, boldly asserted their place in the evolving culture. The Brahmins, retained their identity but the priesthood was not their exclusive preserve. Those from other castes, with the necessary scholarship in the Hindu scriptures and rituals, could also take on that mantle.

Language became another major issue for the Indo-Fijian community. The North Indians spoke various dialects, which had Hindi as their foundation, although generally they were able to understand each other. Muslims, being mostly from the northern parts of India, spoke Hindi fluently, some with a strong Urdu accent. Communication between North Indians and Muslims was therefore not a major problem. The major difficulty, however, was between the North and South Indians. Most of the South Indians spoke Tamil, Telegu or Malyalam. These bore no relation to Hindi and could not be understood by the North Indians. This led to great difficulties, but because living in the same village or as neighbours made it necessary to be able to communicate, each group endeavoured to understand each other.

The North Indians, being the majority, were influential in making Hindi the medium of communication. Even the kulambars extensively used Hindi in communicating with Indo-Fijians. However, the Muslim greeting ‘salaam’ was used to greet kulambars and others from the white community. ‘Salaam, sahib,’ with raised arm, almost touching the forehead, was a common Indo-Fijian greeting exclusively for the kulambar.

Despite the gradual integration of language and culture in the 1930s, further division continued. The Indo-Fijian community became divisive and fractious on various fronts. With freedom the element of leadership, dormant during the girmit era, began to emerge strongly in the social and political areas.

The Government attitude towards Indo-Fijians was one of discreet hostility, suspicious of demands for common roll and the possible threat posed to white dominance. The struggle for independence from British rule in India also contributed to strained relations between Europeans and Indo-Fijians. To subdue Indo-Fijian demands, the Government covertly used Fijian opinion, through the chiefs, and this propaganda prejudiced ordinary Fijians against Indo-Fijians.

On the Indo-Fijian political front, influential leaders, mostly from India, also showed a lack of concern for racial integration. Until the independence of India in 1947, Indo-Fijian leaders had gravitated towards events in India. During the Second World War, Indo-Fijian reluctance to join the army brought severe criticism and condemnation from Europeans and Fijians. Out of 22 100 eligible men, only 331 Indo-Fijians enlisted under the Indian Labour Corps. However, most were unsuitable and were discharged, leaving only thirty-six available for service.

Indo-Fijian reluctance to join the war was multifaceted. There was no back-up support for the maintenance of individual families. Fijians who lived within a communal lifestyle could leave their families in the care of the extended clan, but Indo-Fijians could not. In addition to this the sugar industry was already declared an essential operation for the war effort and farmers could not abandon their farms.

There was also a fear of Indo-Fijian farmers losing their farms, which were leased from the CSR Company, as an absence of two months in any one-year period nullified the lease. The Indo-Fijians also maintained that their wages and other conditions in comparison to others were lower and therefore, discriminatory. Besides this, the Government was not overly keen on recruiting Indo-Fijians, accepting that agricultural production constituted a vital role in supporting the war effort. This was, however, never disclosed to Fijians, whose minds were poisoned with Government propaganda implying that Indo-Fijians were unpatriotic.

Europeans and Fijians denigrated Indo-Fijians for their lack of patriotism. At this point Indo-Fijians were still a community in flux. They lived in Fiji, but the conditions of their residence in Fiji did not make them feel that they were citizens of Fiji. The girmitiyas who came to Fiji considered themselves as sojourners, with one thing in mind — that they would return to the motherland after the indenture. In fact, out of 60 553 who came to Fiji under indenture, 25 645 returned to India. A majority opted to settle in Fiji. However, they always felt estranged from others and had to clamour for their rights and privileges. Indo-Fijians always felt unappreciated, alienated and exploited.

In their own defence, some Indo-Fijian leaders claimed that patriotism was the fruit of citizenship based on freedom, respect, dignity and equality. None of these applied fully to Indo-Fijians. They had opted to live in Fiji, yet the Government did not create the conditions for them to feel sufficiently patriotic to rise in its defence. In fact, the Indo-Fijian mind was influenced by the bitter memory of the girmit era, with its discriminatory Government policies, and the predatory attitude of the CSR Company. They were aware of the struggle of their countrymen engrossed in fighting for independence from British rule in India. Some of the Indian leaders were vocal in their opposition to India joining the Allied forces, and this had some degree of influence on Indo-Fijians.

Another event, which happened during the War — in 1943 — drew the ire of the Government. Sugarcane farmers sought an increase in the price of sugarcane, citing the rising prices of essential goods. This was declined, and a strike followed. No sugarcane was harvested in 1943. Public meetings were prohibited and the leaders of Maha Sangh (one of the two unions representing the farmers) A.D. Patel and Swami Rudrananda, were kept under house arrest. An inquiry in the following year accepted that the cost of essential goods had risen by eighty-six per cent. Both the Government and the CSR Company accepted the report, yet they denied any increase in the price of sugarcane to Indo-Fijian farmers.

By the 1950s, as worldwide demand for sugar grew, most of the leased Fijian land which was under subsistence farming was converted to sugarcane cultivation. This brought a new vigour and vibrancy to the villages as farmers moved into commercial farming. Indo-Fijians had earlier acquired the skill from Fijians of constructing bures. These were houses thatched with dry grass or sugarcane leaves. They required minimum capital outlay as the timber posts and frames of the house were procured from the nearby bush.

Bures initially dotted the rural landscape, but they had disappeared by the 1970s and were replaced by more permanent wooden or concrete houses with corrugated iron roofs. As families grew, houses were clustered together to retain as much land as possible for farming. This became the family enclave, with a grove of trees, gardens and hedges. For Hindu families, an altar for worship was dedicated under a mango, or other tree, with red flags fluttering prominently amid the pervading greenery.

In the villages, as the Indo-Fijian population increased, social order began to establish and later consolidate. Villagers began to interact with each other and local leadership gradually emerged from among them. Small disputes and disagreements were dealt with at a village level. The mantle of this leadership, in the sugarcane areas, fell on the sardar. Until 1940, he was the appointee of the CSR Company and worked under the authority of its kulambars. As such, he had to dance to the master’s tune, and the sardar was a respected and a feared man. He was literate enough to record the names of the sugarcane cutters and carry out related duties.

On the national front, from the late 1920s to independence in 1970, Indo-Fijians were guided by a leader who shunned the limelight yet had enormous clout in their political life. He was Shiwabhai Bhailalbhai Patel (S.B. Patel), a lawyer, who was sent to Fiji in 1927 by Mahatma Gandhi to guide the destiny of Indo-Fijians. S.B. Patel dispensed his services with consummate skill, maintaining his ground while remaining cordial with people of other races. He did not display the firebrand traits for which Manilal was disliked by the Europeans. S.B. Patel was based in Lautoka and was widely respected, not only by Indo-Fijian leaders but also by European and Fijian leaders.

Other leaders who made a tremendous impact on Fiji’s political landscape during the post-indenture and pre-independence era were Pundit Vishnu Deo and A.D.Patel. Vishnu Deo was the anchor of Indo-Fijians in the Legislative Council, and served his community and Fiji with mature wisdom. From taking a firm stand in the Council seeking a common roll system of voting in 1929, he later mellowed and matured to the reality of Fiji’s multicultural and multiracial politics. A.D. Patel was an outstanding barrister, an eloquent speaker and a feared adversary of the Government. He played a significant role in the sugar industry and following his recognition and success he gained a permanent position in the Parliament, representing the Indo-Fijian community until his death in 1969. One of Patel’s greatest accomplishments, while Member for Social Services, was the establishment of the Fiji National Provident Fund. His demise just before independence changed the course of Fiji’s politics.

The Indo-Fijian community, in the post-indenture period, continued to gain ground in social, economic and political areas. Fijians, on the other hand, remained isolated, having a separate administration. The community was effectively cut off, content to live without a cash economy. It was locked into a system of exclusivity, which insulated it from ‘pollution’ by other cultures. Interaction between Fijians and Indo-Fijians was discouraged by the Government. During the colonial rule the relationship between Fijians and Indo-Fijians was distant. There was no attempt by the Government to bring the two races together. Chiefly rule was dominant, and the entire community was discouraged from pursuing the attributes of free enterprise, industry and activity either on an individual basis or for broader communal advancement.

Comparatively speaking, Indo-Fijians were the product of free enterprise, unrestrained by communal structures. Their success under difficult circumstances had begun to bear fruit, for which they were disliked. However, they were not overly affected by this attitude as other issues had begun to dominate their lives. Cultural values, dormant during the girmit era, emerged — notably the wellspring of Hindu life, their religion and culture, which erupted in joyous celebration. The Indo-Fijian culture had resilience unawed by adversity. In scarcity, Indo-Fijians practised thrift; in injustice, they sought the courts or found solace in relying on divine justice; in the rigours of their toil, they relied on elusive hope amidst prevailing hopelessness.

In their march towards the equally elusive goal of prosperity, Indo-Fijians maintained individuality, vision and persistence and did not abrogate their immediate family obligations and broader responsibilities to the community or the nation. The Indo-Fijian community, despised and demeaned, bore their hurt with equanimity and dignity. These conditions began to impact on the Indo-Fijian culture as it continued to be flexible, retaining its response to internal demands and not resisting external influences. Together, religion and culture began to play a vital part in shaping the Indo-Fijian future, having a visual impact in the villages and settlements where they lived.

Indo-Fijian settlements began to establish nearer to the CSR Company sugar mills or the emerging urban centres. The growth of these settlements was always outwards towards the hills and the mountains. As settlements consolidated, each village identified itself with certain sugarcane harvesting units. These were linked to the base of power in the village, the ‘kothi’, or the official residence of the CSR Company’s kulambar. These were palatial and imposing houses usually sited on top of a hill to gain sweeping views of the plantation around it. Stables, and the immaculate surrounds, gave such properties an aura of power and dignity. Many sugarcane-harvesting units came under the authority of the kulambar.

My grandparents lived in Maururu, in Ba, from 1913 to 1932 and moved to Vaqia, having purchased a fifteen-acre sugarcane farm from a jahajibhai called Bhindi. He had, in a moment of indiscretion, stolen his neighbour’s plough, and admitted to it. He was jailed and upon his release found the villagers unforgiving and resentful towards him. Overwhelmed with shame he sold the land to Dadaaji and moved closer to the bush and away from the accusing eyes of his old village mates.

During indenture, marriages could not be sustained on caste considerations and even those of high caste considered themselves lucky to marry a woman from a lower caste. However, during the post-indenture period, Nature harmonised the balance between the sexes. Up to the 1950s, marriage proposals were introduced by the people of the Nawoo caste who acted as intermediaries between the parties. They carried the credentials of each family, including information on the person intended for marriage. The Nawoo travelled widely and extensively and were living encyclopaedias on match-making. Once an agreement was reached between the parties, the Nawoo, and sometimes his wife, the Nawoonia, played a key role in organising the rituals of the marriage, which was later consecrated by the Pundit.

Marriages in the village were far and few between. Whenever the Nawoo was spotted on his horse, the village was astir to find out whose marriage was involved. Whole families came out to gossip and joke with the Nawoo, who were usually great conversationalists, endowed with impish village humour. This tradition faded with time. Successive generations emerging from the Nawoo caste did not see a great future or dignity in this profession and moved away from it.

Up to the 1960s, the root culture from India retained its influence. Subsequently, changes came into being with little regard for what was relevant or operative in India. The third and fourth generations were educated in isolation from the Indian mainland. The majority of the second generation of Indo-Fijians were illiterate and grew up under the shadow of their girmitiya parents. They were not as discerning as the later educated generations, who allowed their Indo-Fijian culture to be imbued with the values of the times.

On reflection, the 1920s seems to have been the founding period and time of introspection when the immigrant community began to search for and assert its identity. Out of the wilderness of indenture, which had sapped their mental, physical and spiritual energies, the Indo-Fijians began a new journey to restore the pillars of their culture and their religion. Hindus, Muslims and South Indians, key identities in the girmit era, asserted their differences with a certain degree of animosity towards each other. However, their aims in the fields of education, culture and religion ran parallel and enriched the communities.

The Muslim community began a massive restoration of their religious and cultural inheritance. Milaad was their medium of participation in their religious dissertations. The discourses were shared with reverence and great enthusiasm. Education of their children in their own culture and religion was always given a high priority. However, the predominant Urdu language lost ground against English and Hindi. Children, trained in the basic teachings of Islam, helped to sustain these values through subsequent generations.

The South Indians, mostly Hindus, continued to maintain their identity, working arduously at retaining their culture and language. They were very successful, yet by the end of the century their languages — Tamil, Telegu and Malyalam — had faded in importance with new generations being more attuned to pursuing studies in English.

Collectively, the various dialects spoken by Indo-Fijians gave birth to Fiji Hindi, a localised distortion of the official Hindi language, largely retaining its Northern influence. By the late 1960s, the English language had become paramount in education with English being the medium of instruction in schools. English was also the official language of Fiji and its importance in the local and worldwide context could not be ignored.

Even Hindi had become a casualty of the English language, although Hindi radio programmes, songs, films and the Hindi print media not only sustained the language but also attracted non-Hindi speaking Indo-Fijian communities. Hindi films played a significant role in the virtual demise of other sectarian languages. Popular films and hit songs from India produced in the Hindi language drew Indo-Fijians in droves to the cinemas and later to watching television. Its influence became so strong that descendants of South Indian girmitiyas, by the end of the century, sang songs and religious hymns in Hindi.

In effect, Fiji Hindi reached a sustained position of eminence in Fiji, with no risk of it being submerged by other languages. Even the indigenous community, wherever there was significant interaction between the two races, acquired a workable knowledge of Fiji Hindi and their pronunciation at times added a new twist and flavour to an evolving language. This gave further credence to the distinctiveness of Indo-Fijian culture, with its unique lingua franca. With the release of the first book in Fiji Hindi, Dawuka Puran by Dr Subramani, a Professor at the University of the South Pacific, the place of Fiji Hindi appeared to strengthen and entrench itself in the lives of Indo-Fijians.

From the 1930s, the new generation of Indo-Fijians began to influence the social fabric in Fiji. Indo-Fijian culture began to be fed from the fount of its traditions and by those who had the benefit of education. As the social infrastructure of the Indo-Fijian community stabilised, interaction within the community intensified. The new generation who had grown up under the shadow of their parents during the girmit was nourished by an inclusive culture and saw a rapid integration within the Indo-Fijian community. The dominant culture of the North Indians manifested strongly, while other sub-cultures maintained sufficient broadness of vision to retain an identity of their own.

Overall, the 1930s saw the emergence of a greater political awareness and a keen desire for the assertion of Indo-Fijian political rights. The world depression affected living standards, yet Indo-Fijians did not waver from their toil. The greater the adversity, the greater was their struggle to sustain themselves. Because of the desire for fair consideration from the CSR Company, the first Indo-Fijian farmers’ union, the Kisan Sangh, came into being in 1937. The pursuit of the common roll system of voting was abandoned. Inter-communal relationships between Hindus and Muslims, Sanatanis and the Arya Samajis, remained on the boil. The advent of World War II in 1939 shifted the focus to international issues, although the dispute between the CSR Company and the farmers continued.

The 1940s was still shadowed by the War, which contributed to an increase in food prices and great hardship among the Indo-Fijian farmers. Fiji responded to the War effort with its own contingent of soldiers joining the Allied forces. Indo-Fijians did not respond with the same zeal as others, and were criticised. The increased demand for lease over native land by Indo-Fijians led to the creation of the Native Land Trust Board in 1940. The sugarcane strike of 1943 by Indo-Fijian farmers drew further repudiation and ridicule from their adversaries. The Indo-Fijian population exceeded the Fijian population in this decade, and alarmists among the European community began to beat the drum of hate, fearing Indo-Fijian domination.

The 1950s saw a greater initiative and drive among Indo-Fijians in pursuit of their political, economic, educational and social goals. The cloud of illiteracy was gradually fading as the sunlight of education reached most families. With an increased market for Fiji sugar, Indo-Fijian farmers who had lived on subsistence farming turned to the cultivation of sugarcane. Living conditions improved, with bure houses or tin shacks being replaced with more permanent wood and iron structures. Religious and cultural pursuits retained their strong influence in the lives of Indo-Fijians. The CSR Company, however, continued the exploitative and repressive policies that impacted on Indo-Fijians. Gillion wrote:


… it was the company, more than the Government or other employers, that determined the Indian standard of living in Fiji.8



The Indo-Fijian spirit, once trapped in the shackles of girmit, finally found freedom—albeit restrained—in the post-indenture period, and soared above the tempest like an eagle. The spirit of sacrifice was the same, though the circumstances had altered. During the girmit, the Indo-Fijians had sacrificed their lives for the sugar millers under duress, but in the post-indenture period they sacrificed themselves to restore their future. In essence, their lives became a testimony of sacrifice. Farmers continued to work with the same vigour, inspired by freedom, but now the destiny of their families was in their own hands. However, despite their freedom, the CSR Company continued to exploit the sugarcane farmers for as long as it could.








CHAPTER EIGHT

CSR COMPANY AND THE INDO-FIJIAN FARMERS


Through the village sears the tramline,

Steam engines pass through daily at hour nine. 

Cane trucks run behind it with vigour,

Sound of its wheels echo down the river.

Colonial rule, but the CSR Company ruled the roost, 

From farmers’ sugarcane earnings CSR stole the most.




At five p.m., the farmers in Nanuku village in Raki Raki were returning home. The village was quiet apart from the occasional bellow from the cattle ambling home for the night. The glow of the tropical sun had lessened and the rays of the setting sun caressed the mountain tops. Nothing seemed out of the ordinary, until the villagers noticed raging flames and rising smoke. The commotion soon caught the attention of those living in the adjoining village of Wailevu. They knew it was farmer Perimal’s bure house that was on fire. They came out of their homes to watch, and those in the vicinity saw the sector kulambar Ewen standing by as the flames from Perimal’s decrepit home raged. From the road, Perimal and his family watched as their house was reduced to ashes.

In 1933 Raki Raki farmer Perimal, who leased CSR Company land, drew the ire of kulambar Ewen for reasons best known to Ewen himself. He went to Perimal’s house and ordered him to vacate the land, then returned to his own bungalow. Perimal was confused. He remained unsure of what he should do, but soon Ewen clarified his intentions. At midday Ewen returned to find Perimal still resident. He alighted from his horse, entered Perimal’s house and began throwing his belongings outside. Perimal, with hands joined together, obtained permission to collect his belongings. Perimal picked up his meagre possessions and the family was frog-marched to the public road followed by Ewen on his mount.

Possessed by his anger, and unsure if Perimal had left, Ewen returned at five in the afternoon to see the family still sitting by the roadside. In those days, the public transport between Raki Raki and Tavua was infrequent. Ewen, thinking that Perimal would return home that night, set fire to the house. That night the family did not get any transport to go to Tavua and spent the night under a mango tree.1 None of the neighbours dared to save Perimal’s burning house or provide his family with food or shelter for fear of offending the kulambar and losing their land.

The end of the indenture system brought rapid changes to the structure of sugarcane farming in Fiji. Until 1909, the CSR Company had managed the plantations itself, and subsequently leased blocks of 450 to 1000 acres of farmland to white planters. Most were former kulambars who used girmitiya labour on their plantations. However, following the cessation of recruitment of labour under the indenture system, neither the CSR Company nor the white planters could continue to sustain their large estates. The CSR Company, in a bid to maintain the sugar industry, began leasing smaller plots of land, averaging ten to twelve acres, to Indo-Fijians and issued them with individual contracts to supply sugarcane to its mills.

To lure Indo-Fijian tenants, the CSR Company assisted them with farm implements and also gave loans to purchase basic necessities such as farming implements and draught bullocks and horses. By the end of the indenture, many Indo-Fijians had leased the CSR Company land and their numbers were growing steadily. The white planters fumed at the intrusion of the Indo-Fijians in their domain. The CSR Company, however, relished the opportunity as it could buy sugarcane at arbitrary prices from illiterate and ignorant Indo-Fijian farmers. This was not always possible with the white planters, who were educated, and demanded — and usually obtained — their fair share of income from the CSR Company.

Following the strike in the Southern district that began on 15 January 1920, the Western and the Northern districts were blissfully calm, unaware of what was happening on the other side of the island. By the time news reached them, the strike had ended. However, the effect of spiralling costs for essential commodities had also reached them and the workers, under the newly-formed Fiji Indian Labour Federation, asked the Government, in November 1920, for recognition and for higher wages. They also asked, among other claims, for abrogation of the Masters and Servants Ordinance, a hangover from the indenture, which continued to stain their image. The Federation, in its anxiety, had earlier communicated these demands to the CSR Company Head Office in Sydney, warning that a strike was imminent if the demands were not met.

The CSR Company was asked by the Federation to respond by I February 1921. It did not. The stalemate continued until the strike began on 11 February 1921 at Ba. The Government remained negative in its response, pursuing a policy of non-intervention between employer and employees. Indeed, having burnt its fingers in the Southern district, it was cautious not to engage itself in another showdown. Also, the Government had enormous faith in CSR Company muscle to subdue the demands of the strikers.

The struggle later passed into the hands of a mystic, Sadhu Bashist Muni. Under his direction, the workers presented a sixteen-point claim, largely reflecting the conditions and benefit entitlements in the Queensland sugar industry. The Company and the planters decried the claim and insisted that it was not submitted for economic but for racial and political reasons, and that the workers’ demands were not only excessive, but ludicrous. In this, Sadhu Bashist Muni and his close associates played into the hands of the CSR Company and their critics. He was arrested while on his way to Nausori on 23 March 1921 and was later deported.

Indeed, Sadhu Bashist Muni was an enigma, a leader who mesmerised his followers. He came like a whirlwind into the lives of the Indo-Fijians. Some claimed that he could be in two places at the same time. Even after his deportation people had faith in his return and it was claimed that an empty chair was left at a public meeting in the hope of his physical emergence out of thin air. The mystic Sadhu gained further adulation from his followers when, about the time of his capture, Government House was struck by lightning and destroyed.

Sadhu Bashist Muni was a follower of the Sanatan Dharam sect and claimed to be a disciple of Gandhi. He inspired the Indo-Fijians to practise their faith, and was instrumental in the establishment of several schools. He reawakened in the Indo-Fijians a spirit of pride and self-respect and lifted them morally, socially and spiritually. Navua was his stronghold and a school was established there in his honour. People of Bilolo, in Ba, also named a school after him as a tribute to his exemplary services to the community.

With Sadhu banished, and the Indo-Fijians without leadership, the Government hoped for a quick dissolution of the strike. However, the strikers’ resolve strengthened and the strike dragged into the second week of August, by which time the impact on the workers began to take its toll. The strikers could no longer endure the hunger that stalked their families and they buckled. Gradually they began trickling back to work, to the delight of the CSR Company. This policy of manipulating the poverty of the Indo-Fijian sugarcane farmers would become the CSR Company’s strongest weapon in breaking subsequent strikes.

Following this strike, some concessions were made by the CSR Company but it stood firm in not allowing any wage increase to the workers despite convincing evidence of the rising costs of basic food items during and after the war years. It doggedly held on to its philosophy of low wages, increased productivity and high profitability. On CSR Company profits, Scarr wrote:


The Sydney giant remained the sole miller. Its profits swelled during World War I and immediately afterwards: from 1915 to 1923 shareholders received 4 million pounds from Fiji, an average of 14.25 per cent on investment.2



At this time, the benchmark for return on safe investments in Australia was around eight per cent. The CSR Company shareholders harvested their riches at the expense of the Indo-Fijian community.

Undoubtedly, the CSR Company had the financial capacity to ameliorate the poverty of its victims. Yet it chose instead to enrich itself on their poverty, and did it with heartless resolve. H.E. Snell, a senior Government official, pleaded with the CSR Company for more sympathetic treatment of the Indo-Fijians. He wrote:


The Colonial Sugar Refining Company has stood for low wage and low price of sugarcane on the ground that high wages and high sugarcane prices are demoralising and that the value of sugar will shortly fall to pre-war levels. Of course the other employers of the Colony have followed the example of the local Colossus.3



Even the planters emulated the CSR Company policy, contributing to widespread exploitation of the Indo-Fijian community.

Girmit and the strikes in the Southern and Western districts set the Indo-Fijians on a confrontational course with the Government and the CSR Company. The strike also had an important impact on the relationship between the Fijians and the Indo-Fijians. The use of Fijian constables against Indo-Fijians during the strikes in Suva and also in the West was a political ploy, and soured the relationship between the two races. Gillion wrote:


It was for political reasons mainly, rather than any need for their services, that the Government deployed Fijian police in the area affected by the strike.4



Gillion commented on the position of the Indo-Fijian community following the collapse of the strikes and deportation of Manilal:


They were left bewildered and insecure by the collapse of the strike, the deportation of the only Indian public figure they respected … They had no one to turn to, no leaders of their own whom they could trust, and not even a government which would act as ‘protector of the poor’.



In this vacuum, the CSR Company and the Government were able to manipulate the gullibility of a community without leadership.

The heat and dust of the strikes settled and Indo-Fijians began a journey of resurrection, rehabilitation and restoration. With girmit behind them, the community nevertheless faced many other difficulties. On this journey, poverty and struggle became their inseparable companions. The majority of Indo-Fijians had settled on land leased from the CSR Company for sugarcane cultivation, or from the Fijians, on which they cultivated sugarcane, rice, maize, leguminous crops, or raised cattle. Many found employment in the sugar mills and lived close to the mills.

Here and there, among the hills and the valleys, or adjoining the creeks or rivers, a small clearing surrounded by forested vegetation marked the residence of a family. Gradually the clearing would be expanded as trees were felled, bush was cleared, boulders and stones were removed by hand and cultivation began. Subsistence farming had initially mushroomed in areas not under sugarcane plantation. It provided sustenance for the family and any surplus was bartered with neighbours or traded in the markets.

Gradually, the wilderness gave way to the emergence of settlements and villages and the cultivation of sugarcane. These settlements differed in style from native villages in India. Each family became an individual unit, with little of the societal structures and values which were an integral part of their life in rural India.

During the day they spent most of their time on their farms, returning home late in the evenings. At night the pall of darkness was intense because of the dense forest that encircled the villages. The only movement was of those who were heading to another home in the village, where people might be congregating for the recital of religious scriptures or to sing religious hymns. The chorus of hymns or the rhythmic beat of drums ricocheted across the sleepy villages. Those with torn muscles and aching bodies slept in order to recuperate for their struggles on the following day.

Each family sanctuary provided enough space for a fowl run, backyard garden and at the extreme edges, space for tethering goats, a cow, horses and bullocks. Not every household kept goats, horses or bullocks but the cow was a necessity and a symbol to every family. To Hindus, the cow was sacred and revered. In addition the cow provided milk for the family and sustained many through difficult times when the family income was inadequate to buy all the food items. Cows’ milk became the mainstay of the Indo-Fijian diet. Every household had a mathni or cream separator made of split bamboo at one end and tied around a circular ring of wire. It was immersed into a drum of curd and churned by the farmer’s wife until cream was extracted for making ghee. Ghee was used as cooking oil or as an additive to food.

While Hindus revered cows, Muslims consumed their meat. This led to occasional conflicts, sometimes divisive and sometimes vicious, between them. Killing a cow for meat by Muslims sometimes contributed to verbal and physical violence between Hindus and Muslims. However, because of the high population of Hindus in the villages the Muslims were, generally, sensitive to the feelings of the Hindus. The butchery was the safest place for them to procure their meat, but wherever their population was high, the killing of cows within the privacy of their surrounds was clandestinely carried out.

In the villages, the Indo-Fijians worked very hard on the land. Those leasing the CSR Company land had to be on the farm by six a.m., or risk losing it if caught sleeping by the kulambar. Indo-Fijians who could not lease the CSR Company land, turned to the Fijians. This was never easy, and was fraught at times with frustrating negotiations, as consent of the chiefs and the traditional landowners required offerings of cash and gifts before the final lease over the land could be obtained.

Leasing land from the CSR Company meant the tenants reliving the anxiety and fear of the past under the kulambars. The farms were subject to frequent inspections by the kulambars, who traversed their allocated sector on their well-groomed chestnut horses. The villagers held them in awe and fear. Many lost their leases, as will be seen later, for bizarre reasons. A majority, in the sugar districts, could not avoid the CSR Company because of the scarcity of arable land and other opportunities to sustain their lives. Because of this they became its reluctant tenants.

The CSR Company, in the post-indenture era, retained a haughty and belligerent attitude towards Indo-Fijian farmers. In the new environment though, it lacked the physical cruelty that had been inflicted upon the girmitiyas. Nevertheless, for two decades, following the end of girmit, the CSR Company had a free reign over the Indo-Fijian farmers and was able to manipulate, dominate, intimidate and exploit them at will. Such a reign of tyranny and terror in the new environment of freedom could not continue forever. Pundit Ajodhya Prasad took up the cudgels to tame the wayward CSR Company. It was a historic moment, but not without trepidation. In November 1937 he launched the Kisan Sangh (Farmers’ Association) to combat the CSR Company’s exploitation of the Indo-Fijian farmers.

Pundit Ajodhya Prasad recorded many instances of injustice by the kulambars and the CSR Company against the farmers in his book, Fiji Mein Kisan Aandolan (1962) (Farmers Revolution in Fiji). Some of these were before and some after the formation of the Kisan Sangh. A few examples are restated here to illustrate the inhumane policies and practices of the CSR Company and its kulambars:

	 Vunisamaloa, Ba — farmer Ram Samujh was evicted from his land.

	His son, Bechu, in the process of ditching a drain, was needlessly chided by the kulambar who had asked him to do it properly. Ram Ramujh’s son was confused and remonstrated that he was doing it properly. This drew the anger of the kulambar and Ram Samujh was asked to vacate his land. Ram Samujh begged for forgiveness from the kulambar but to no avail.

	 Navatu, Ba — farmer Nageshwar Prasad lost his land for failing to salaam the kulambar. He was in the company of other farmers when the kulambar came. Everyone salaamed with the usual respect and humility. Nageshwar Prasad for some reason failed to do so. Nageshwar Prasad was given notice to vacate the land.

	 Sabeto, Nadi — farmer Ram Dhani was sick and unable to cut sugarcane. The kulambar came for his routine inspection and was informed by the sardar that Ram Dhani was absent and sleeping at home. The kulambar descended on Ram Dhani’s home, dragged him out of his bed, slapped him and evicted him from his land.

	 Drasa, Lautoka — farmer Ladu Ram cultivated sugarcane on his freehold land. During this time the planting of rice or other crops without the consent of the CSR Company on its leased land was prohibited. However, Ladu Ram had thought that he was not subject to the direction of the CSR Company as he did not occupy the CSR Company leased land and had planted rice on his own freehold land. The sector kulambar was annoyed. He waited until the crop had ripened for harvest, then asked Ladu Ram to plough the crop. He threatened Ladu Ram that the CSR Company would not purchase his sugarcane if he failed to comply. Distraught at the consequences Ladu Ram ploughed his rice crop.


Independent sugarcane farmers who did not lease the CSR Company land were still threatened by the kulambars that their sugarcane would not be purchased if they failed to fall into line. This was a most effective threat.

    	 Sabeto, Nadi — Bechu Prasad JP MBE, who was born in 1901, related to the author the terror of kulambar Grahame Knox in Natova sector, Sabeto. He recalled that in the 1920s Knox held the farmers in awe with his heavy-handed tactics, which included physical assault. For fear of losing their land or losing payment for their sugarcane, farmers bore the brutalities and no one dared to retaliate.

	 Vaqia, Ba — In our village, Anjaiya (our next-door neighbour) early one morning was not seen on his farm by the kulambar. Anjaiya was sick and in bed, but when alerted that the kulambar was heading towards his home he hid himself under the bed. The kulambar entered the dilapidated bure house and found Anjaiya under the bed. He pulled him out and assaulted him in the presence of other family members and warned him that if he failed to be at the farm next time he would lose his land. Head down in fear and shame, Anjaiya only said, ‘Ji (yes) sahib’ — grateful that he had not lost his land.

	 Korovuto, Ba — farmer Somai lost his land in 1930 for failing to salaam the kulambar and Guptar, another farmer in Korovuto, Ba, lost his land for turning up late at work.5


Such acts of intimidation and exploitation by kulambars were widespread. Neither the policies nor the philosophy of the CSR Company had changed from the girmit days. In the pursuance of profits, it felt justified in trampling on the rights of Indo-Fijian farmers and inflicting appalling injustices. These acts of intimidation and exploitation by the CSR Company had been so obvious and blatant that it was obliged to make a confession, however cursory, in its 1956 centennial publication:


The Company was, perhaps, slow in changing its dominating attitude towards the Indians as they developed from indentured labourers to relatively prosperous farmers and mill workers.6



In the past, the might of the CSR Company had often triumphed over the Government and for the farmers to organise themselves against the CSR Company was a singular achievement. For sixty years it had had a free reign and the will of its despotic Sydney-based General Manager, Edward Knox, prevailed in most circumstances. He was the power behind the CSR Company throne, and in his desire to take profits for the shareholders he left no stone unturned. This was the legacy he left for his successors to emulate. For him, everything was fair as long as the profits were maintained. The culture of the organisation became detached from any human values. On this, Gillion quoted J. M. Green, the CSR Company’s principal expert on Fiji, who described Knox as:


an irascible autocrat of 75, notorious for his methods of dealing with strikers and business opponents.7



Pundit Ajodhya Prasad led a gallant fight against the CSR Company, pitching his tent in sugarcane growing areas and moving from district to district from Kavanagasau, in Sigatoka, to Raki Raki, to enlist membership. Initially, the CSR Company tenants hesitated to join the Kisan Sangh for fear of losing their land or refusal by the CSR Company to buy their sugarcane crop. The kulambars and the sardars also intimidated and dissuaded farmers from joining the new union. A tug of war continued between the two parties as farmers became deeply embroiled.

The CSR Company did succeed in some measure in dissuading farmers from joining the new union. Some farmers came to the tents, pitched by Prasad in their villages, under the cover of darkness to enrol themselves as members. It was an onerous task but Prasad was a courageous leader and an inspirational orator. Where there was fear, he planted courage; where there was despair he infused hope and where there was confusion he gave direction. Under his leadership the formation of the first farmers’ union of Kisan Sangh achieved success. It was truly a fight between David and Goliath. In 1941, following pressure from the Government, the CSR Company recognised the Kisan Sangh as the farmers’ representative.

Boosted by official recognition, the Kisan Sangh pursued many of its grievances with the CSR Company, gaining many notable concessions:

    	 The appointment of sardars came under the ambit of Kisan Sangh.

	 Farmers were no longer required to provide free labour in the mills.

	 Farmers were no longer required to provide free labour for cutting sugarcane on estates owned by the CSR Company.

	 Farmers were no longer required to provide free labour in cutting grass on the CSR Company tramlines. In the past each farmer had been required to provide a free service based on the formula that a farmer who leased twenty acres of CSR land had to work on the tramline for twenty days per year without pay.

	 Farmers began receiving dockets detailing the weight of sugarcane received, income derived and deductions.

	 Kulambars were instructed by the CSR Company not to use abusive language against the farmers.8


The leases issued by the CSR Company, being tenancies at will, ensured that it reigned supreme — until the Kisan Sangh began to exert its influence.

There had been no security and no recourse to seek redress through the justice system as tenants were intimidated by the CSR Company. Furthermore, the victims could not afford court costs and victory in the courts could lead to defeat on the farms, as they could not subsequently escape the retributive action of the CSR Company or its kulambars. For example, the Company could refuse to purchase the sugarcane, or refuse to pay for any reason.

The right of renewal of the leases also lay with the kulambar, thus contributing to uncertainty and constant anxiety. The prevailing anarchy gave the kulambar the power to rule the village, and most did it with a vengeance. Year after year the farming community paid their obeisance to the kulambar to ensure that they were recipients of his grace and mercy.

It was not only eviction which the farmers faced. They were also exploited in the payment for the sugarcane they produced for the CSR Company. Payment was assessed on the sugar content analysed by the sugar chemist at the mills and the weight of the sugarcane. Prasad wrote that at times farmers were not paid at all, or payment was reduced for the reason that there was inadequate sugar content in the sugarcane, or that it had a high molasses content. According to Prasad, in one incident a farmer was asked to pay five pounds to the CSR Company as it was claimed by the kulambar that the high molasses content of his sugarcane necessitated cleaning of the processing plant.9

In addition to this, it was alleged that the tonnage of the sugarcane supplied to the mills by the farmers was manipulated. Farmers were not given any account of tonnage of sugarcane received, the value of the sugarcane or the deductions. Many farmers who toiled hard throughout the year went to the mills on the appointed day with their hearts in their mouths, not knowing whether they would receive payment or not. They had to be content with whatever was doled out to them on this fateful day. It was not unusual for some to return home empty-handed. Because of this, the majority of the farmers in the village were heavily in debt to the shopkeepers, lawyers or the village lalas (money-lenders), who charged thirty to forty per cent interest. Under these conditions, desertion of farms was common and destitution among farmers was widespread.

In later years, farmers were paid the negotiated contractual rate on weight of the sugarcane and not on the sugar content. Farmers were paid in cash for their sugarcane crop at the mills twice a year up to the 1950s. These two days were momentous for the farmer and his family. I remember how as youngsters we would wait for this day with excitement. On the day of receiving payment, the mood and character of the village was different. The air of joy and exuberance transformed a usually subdued environment. Every farmer of the village headed for the mills early in the morning and returned home to the expectant family with their rewards. Some unfortunate ones who had been unpaid or inadequately paid for their year-long struggle returned home laden with grief, while the joy of their waiting children turned to sorrow.

It was also a day when some farmers went to the pub to buy their traditional ‘dozen-one’: one bottle of liquor and one dozen beer under the official permits. Some farmers went to the pubs and returned home in an inebriated state. Then some family or neighbourly disputes erupted into fisticuffs or an exchange of coarse language, which stretched their imaginations to the full! Those with black eyes, bleeding noses, stretched muscles, grazed skin or a dented pride had plenty of time to recuperate — until the next pay-day six months away.

Despite wilful exploitation by the CSR Company, the farmers’ will to continue their toil did not weaken and they continued with hope and expectation. Under the prevailing conditions of anarchy, the Kisan Sangh began a sustained campaign against the CSR Company. Prasad’s pioneer work among the sugarcane farmers is a heart-rending story and he was largely responsible for restraining the CSR Company, for the first time, from continuing to feed itself on the gullibility of the Indo-Fijian farmers.

In 1941, Kisan Sangh took the CSR Company to court, challenging its right to evict seven sugarcane farmers from land in Raki Raki. The actions of the CSR Company had provoked a massive resistance from tenants, who sounded a national warning that if the seven were evicted, all tenants would vacate their land. The Kisan Sangh through its lawyer, Nathaniel Chalmers of Ba, submitted that the farmers had no lease but that they could not be summarily evicted. He submitted that as lessees on annual rental, the CSR Company had to give them two years’ notice to vacate the land. However, the court held that the leases issued by the CSR Company constituted valid leases and that the seven tenants must vacate the land.

Prasad stated in his book that the Government, concerned with the implications of the evictions, covertly told him that none of the farmers would be evicted by the CSR Company. He was further assured that the seven farmers would be granted three-year leases and, subject to satisfactory performance, their leases would be extended for a further ten years.10 This message calmed the stirred nerves of the farmers who were elated at the consequent success following the court action.

The outcome of the case confirmed that the CSR Company lease constituted a valid lease to the farmers, but they had the power to collectively subdue the CSR Company exploitation. It was inferred from subsequent events that the Governor Sir Harry Luke (1939–1941) and other senior functionaries of the Government were sympathetic to the farmers’ plight, but were unable to intervene directly to protect them from their predicament. The Government had been brow beaten by the CSR Company.

The economic sustenance of Fiji rested on the success of the sugar industry and without the CSR Company’s capital and expertise the economy could grind to a halt. Knowing its position of strength, the CSR Company often threatened to pull out of Fiji and the Government often submitted to its demands at the expense of the farmers. Indeed, every newly-appointed Governor of Fiji had to call in on the CSR Company at its Sydney offices before taking up his duties in Fiji. The CSR Company even admonished one who did not. The Governor Sir Harry Luke commented that the CSR Company:


… is notoriously autocratic in all its dealings …11



With the resounding success of the farmers against the CSR Company, the activity among the sugarcane farmers gained momentum. The CSR Company was only marginally subdued, yet the farmers were buoyant in their victory. In this fracas, some dissent among the farmers occurred which led to the formation of another farmers’ union in June 1941. This was formed under the leadership of Ambalal Dayabhai Patel (A. D.Patel), a Gujerati and an eminent lawyer. The name of the organisation was Akhil Fiji Krishak Maha Sangh, commonly referred to as Maha Sangh (Great Association). The majority of its support came from the South Indians, Punjabis and those who would not align themselves with the policies of the Kisan Sangh.

Through Maha Sangh, A.D. Patel played a key role in Fiji’s sugar industry, representing the farmers in disputes and before commissions and arbitration. The Kisan Sangh and Maha Sangh, however, were bitterly antagonistic towards each other. When one supported harvest, the other opposed it or held a different position. The CSR Company benefited from this division. Justice and victory eluded the farmers as the CSR Company usually gained the upper hand in the sharing of the sugar dollar. It was always the victor, able to hide or manipulate its accounts and obtain the higher share of sugar proceeds. Gillion wrote about the CSR Company’s notoriety in practising financial secrecy:


… it operated in three countries and more than one Australian state, and had been the target of political attack in Australia, it had an interest in obfuscation, and had acquired a reputation for financial secrecy …12



Divisions within the Indo-Fijian community firmed and, subsequently, it was never able to unite. In the process intra-communal bitterness and rivalry also surfaced. For example, the Gujerati community, a community of traders who came to Fiji after the indenture, had no direct stake in the sugar industry but they actively supported the new body and held considerable sway in the farming community. They provided credit facilities to farmers who bought all their household needs from them. The farmers assigned the sugarcane crop earnings under the authority of a crop lien in favour of the shopkeepers, thus the farmers’ money went directly to their creditors.

The farmers, for reasons of illiteracy or distrust, and being perennially in debt, did not use commercial banks until the emergence of an educated generation. So farmers were obligated to the mahajan (rich man), the shopkeeper, who was their creditor for a very long time. Our mahajan was the nationally-acclaimed and internationally-recognised Motibhai and Co. Ltd, who originated from Ba. They provided us with credit facilities. Even for miscellaneous needs such as bus and taxi fares, school fees, donations or expenses for marriages, farmers almost always borrowed. The Indo-Fijian farmers remained burdened with debt largely because of the predatory policies of the CSR Company. This created conditions for usury to flourish, and farmers became its greatest victims.

When the Indo-Fijians turned from being the CSR Company labourers to sugarcane farmers in the post-indenture period, the CSR Company denied them just dividend.

On the CSR Company treatment of Indo-Fijian farmers, Governor Sir Harry Luke commented that the CSR Company still regarded:


[The] Indian, as in the days of indenture, as a person who is not expected to think for himself.14



On the need to retain the ‘discipline’ of indenture over Indo-Fijian farmers, the Labasa mill manager of the CSR Company wrote in 1928:


Thus it is essential that after leasing, our officers must retain that personal influence over the people, which is the outcome of discipline under the indenture system and may be looked upon as Capital asset not to be dissipated.



Moynagh in his book curtly added:


It was the ‘Capital asset’ that the company preserved very well … Indians were expected to obey decisions taken by CSR.15



Following the 1943 farmers’ strike seeking increase in the price of sugarcane, the British Government sent Professor C.Y. Shepherd of the Imperial College of Tropical Agriculture, Trinidad, to report on the sugar industry and to establish price-fixing policy for the future. The farmers, who had lost badly through the failed strike, were elated by the appointment but in the end the Shepherd report was a whitewash as the CSR Company was able to manipulate the outcome.

Moynagh clarified that:


… CSR compiled figures to show that it had made negligible profits in Fiji. The period taken was 1930 to 1943 … the worst years of the depression, which were exceptionally bad. It excluded the rather better years of the late 1920s.16



In addition to this, the CSR Company profits were reduced because of the high valuation of its fixed assets that were over twenty-five years old. In 1939, the values stated were on replacement cost, and this resulted in high depreciation entitlement including ongoing provision for capital expenditure, which substantially reduced the CSR Company profit.

Although Shepherd accepted that the assets were over-valued and the depreciation charged was too high, he held that the CSR Company was receiving an unfavourable return on its capital and recommended the retention of the existing method of assessing the price of sugarcane. However, he also agreed to the value of molasses being added in assessing the price of sugarcane and recommended the establishment of a sugar board.17

Up to the 1950s, when sugar prices were three times above the 1930 prices, Indo-Fijian farmers were paid under the 1940 contract based on 1939 sugar prices plus the nominal value for molasses. However, the 1950s witnessed a phenomenal expansion of the sugar industry. Export of sugar increased with the guarantee of a sugar market under the Commonwealth Sugar Agreement and the introduction of new varieties of sugarcane that grew well in marginal land. The inland areas that were hitherto covered by bush and fallow land, or used for grazing or subsistence farming by the Indo-Fijian families, came under sugarcane cultivation. The number of growers increased from 7742 in 1950 to 14 200 in 1959.

In 1960, following a dispute between farmers and millers, the Government appointed the Eve Commission18 to head an inquiry to report on the organisation of the sugar industry, and to recommend how relations between the parties could be improved and how proceeds could be distributed in a fair and equitable way. It was a rare opportunity for the farmers to expose the CSR Company iniquities and injustices, and their advocates took full advantage of it.

In one of its submissions to the Eve Commission, farmers’ advocate A.D. Patel revealed that from 1934 to 1960 the CSR Company had cheated farmers to the extent of 300 000 pounds a year from molasses. He told the Commission that the CSR Company was selling molasses at one pound per ton to itself, when the prevailing price in Jamaica was seven pounds and ten shillings per ton.19 Interestingly, the illiterate farmers were given to understand that molasses was a waste product with little commercial value.

Molasses turned out to be a valuable by-product of the sugarcane, which the CSR Company exported to its subsidiary in Australia to produce industrial alcohol. It produced phenomenal profits for the CSR Company. In its centennial publication, the CSR Company boasted:


Tonnages of molasses carried by company’s vessels increased from 31 240 in 1945 to 71 021 in 1954. Molasses has become the basis of one of the company’s most significant new ventures. It has long been one of the important raw materials used in the production of alcohol, both industrial alcohol and potable spirit (rum).

… The acute shortage of motor spirit from 1940 onwards brought a request from the Commonwealth Government for the maximum output of absolute alcohol and both distilleries operated seven days a week, day and night, from December 1940 to October 1943. So necessary was this extra fuel that raw sugar was used to supplement molasses as raw material.20



Critics of the CSR Company often said that it operated without conscience or consideration for others. Moynagh noted:


In 1952 CSR had estimated that the value of 3000 tons of molasses from Nausori was worth (F) 21 735 pounds at the distillery, but the growers received only (F) 2000 pounds.21



It was not clear if the CSR Company increased the price or felt obliged to pay a reasonable price for molasses from Fiji. If it did not, the CSR Company in 35 years (1934–1969) stole several million pounds on the value of molasses alone and, if its theft from the sugar dollar was combined, then the CSR Company robbed the Indo-Fijian farmers of billions of dollars in the period 1920 to 1969.

The Eve Commission made its award on sharing from the sugar proceeds, which gave the miller the right to deduct 30 per cent towards the milling costs before final distribution of the dividends. The balance was shared between the miller and the growers with the miller receiving 17.5 per cent and the grower 82.5 per cent. The miller was further protected in the event of milling costs exceeding 30 per cent, in which case it was entitled to deduct half of such costs from the growers’ share.

The CSR Company was neither obligated nor was it conscientiously driven to disclose the accuracy of its costs to the growers. The Eve contract that emerged following Eve Commission deliberations was labelled as the ‘killer contract’ by the farmers.

Even the employees of the CSR Company were ruthlessly fleeced, as J.W. Coulter wrote in his book, Fiji: Little India of the Pacific (1941):


One cause of indebtedness is the very low wages paid by the Colonial Sugar Refining Company to its employees. Sixty cents a day, the maximum wage, does not leave much margin for a man with a family. It is estimated that 90 per cent of the company’s employees are insolvent.



The Eve contract contributed to unprecedented bankruptcy and resultant hardship among sugarcane farmers. Scarr wrote of Sir Malcolm Trustam Eve as:


an impeccable establishment figure and directors’ man.22



Moynagh wrote:


However impartial they tried to be, then, the natural inclination of Eve and Bennett would be to favour CSR. And this they did.23



In every dispute with the farmers, the CSR Company had the upper hand with those who sat to adjudicate. The Shepherd report of 1944 and the Eve contract of 1961 gave the CSR Company the licence to further exploit and rob the Indo-Fijian farmers.

The Eve Commission did however make some significant recommendations, which came into effect later, such as the creation of the Sugar Advisory Board and the Sugar Advisory Council and the establishment of the South Pacific Sugar Mills (SPSM), a subsidiary of the CSR Company for its Fiji operations. The SPSM officially came into effect in 1962. It did not bring any significant change in policies or practices as the CSR Company retained a strong influence over its operations.

In 1969, the sugar contract came up for renewal again and it was adjudicated by Lord Denning, Master of the Rolls, from England. He was a man of great intellect and the CSR Company could not escape his intense scrutiny. He agreed with the growers’ concerns that they were not given adequate information and were expected to accept the ‘certified costs’ and ‘certified proceeds’ from the CSR Company in the ultimate sharing of the sugar dollar. In this, the CSR Company had the advantage of deducting its costs at source, with growers having no right to question the miller but being obliged to accept the certification of costs and proceeds, ultimately receiving the reduced sugar dollar.

Lord Denning agreed that under the Eve contract there was no incentive to the miller to reduce costs and costs deducted were higher than they should have been. Concerning molasses, Lord Denning confirmed that molasses had always been a valuable product from sugarcane and its value should form part of the proceeds from the sugar. He also chided the CSR Company for the manner in which it recovered its depreciation on its capital assets.

In the Denning Award of 1969, growers were given the authority to appoint an independent accountant to examine the books and accounts of the miller and the proceeds from sugar were to be shared sixty-five per cent to the farmers and thirty-five per cent to the millers. This included proceeds from sugar, molasses and other by-products.

The Denning Award was considered unfavourable by the millers and in 1973 the CSR Company exited from Fiji. This marked the end of an intense but turbulent relationship between the CSR Company and Indo-Fijians as indentured labourers and subsequently as sugarcane farmers. It was a reign of terror during the girmit and, subsequently, it was a reign of domination and exploitation. It also marked the end of the CSR Company hegemony of almost 100 years over the sugar industry. Tales of the arrogance, pomposity and insolence of the kulambars towards the farmers were still told in the villages, long after the CSR Company had left Fiji. Its legacy and its imprints are so strong that they remain indelible in the history of the villages where it reigned supreme.

The departure of the CSR Company removed the veil of fear that had hung over the sugarcane farmers. Lord Denning had sealed the company’s fate in his 1969 award, which finally gave the farmers a fair share of the sugar proceeds. The CSR Company realised that it could no longer exploit farmers as it had done in the past with the collusion of the Government. Indeed, following independence, the new Government which took office related better to people than the colonial Government ever had. It was more responsive to the voices and views of the people it served and through whose votes it had earned its place in Parliament. The days of the CSR Company’s manipulation and domination could not continue in the new environment.

In hindsight, some critics maintained that the CSR Company played its cards with its usual shrewdness, having pre-planned its exit from Fiji. This was the reason why the CSR Company had readily agreed to the appointment of Lord Denning to adjudicate in the dispute, aware that his award would not be in its favour, which would then provide them the opportunity to leave Fiji. In doing so, the CSR Company had read the pulse of the emerging independent nation, aware that it would not be able to continue stealing, as it had done under the protective umbrella of the colonial regime. Its reading of the situation was correct and, having milked phenomenal wealth from Fiji, it was not going to squander it, knowing that the new political climate would no longer tolerate the earning of profit through deception.

However, there was another side to the sugar industry in Fiji. As tenants of the CSR Company, Indo-Fijians had the advantage of being guided in appropriate farming methods, to which the farmers adjusted quickly. The CSR Company was astute in using research to develop new varieties of sugarcane and had introduced better methods of farming to gain optimum returns from the sugarcane crop. In this, both Fiji and the Indo-Fijian farmers were advantaged.

The phenomenal success of the sugar industry in Fiji reflected the courage and vision of the CSR Company, which established itself there at a time of great uncertainty in the 1880s. It ran the industry efficiently and profitably, albeit unfairly to the farmers. It was able to establish strong marketing strategies and find lucrative markets for Fiji sugar. The CSR Company kept itself informed and moved with the changing times and changing technology, gaining accolades for its enterprise and industry. Fiji gained a position of eminence among the South Pacific nations, and world recognition, largely through the success of its sugar industry. The sugar that sweetened the palates of Britons, New Zealanders and other European countries reminded them of Fiji.

Upon its departure the CSR Company left behind a robust sugar industry with a genuine wish for its continued prosperity. Since the 1960s, in the process of localisation, many locals had been promoted or appointed to supervisory and managerial positions in the mills. Also, the skilled and the unskilled workers, backed by powerful unions, were able to negotiate reasonable wage rates for their members. Undoubtedly, the CSR Company left a legacy of management skills that other corporate bodies attempted to emulate. With a secure contract and the CSR Company gone, the politics of the sugar industry, which had suffused the lives of Indo-Fijian farmers in the past, reduced in importance.








CHAPTER NINE

VILLAGE LIFE 1940s–1960s


Village life symbolised humility, honesty and simplicity,

Poverty had influence but Nature and people lived happily. 

Farmers toil began at dawn at the crow of the village cock,

Mid-day sun called for respite, and sun was the village clock.




The crowing of the village murga (rooster) heralded the arrival of dawn, slowly but surely tearing the curtain of darkness. It stirred the entire village and first up among them was the farmer’s wife. Rising to the 5 a.m. wake-up call of the rooster was a ritual for her. The cock was the alarm clock of the village. Soon other birds, throughout the village, joined in. The village echoed with the chorus for a few minutes until silence once more returned. With the call of the rooster, the farmer’s wife made a small movement in her bed, sending a message to her husband that she would soon be out in the kitchen. Her body had not recovered from the rigours of yesterday and her desire was to extend her sleep a few more minutes. However, the passage of time dictated obedience and could not be ignored, so the farmer’s wife reluctantly dragged herself out of bed. She reached for matches to light the hurricane lamp. The sudden flare of light from the matchstick penetrated her sleepy eyes and she awoke to the reality of her life and the burden of the tasks that lay ahead.

With hurricane lamp in hand she headed for the detached kitchen some yards away from the main dwelling. Its location was significant for two reasons. First it was a precautionary measure against accidental fire. Many a family had lost their entire possessions to the kitchen fires. Secondly, it was to avoid pollution from the intense smoke of the sometimes rainsoaked timber.

Reaching the kitchen, the farmer’s wife prodded the earthen stove and stacked the firewood in preparation for lighting the fire. The firewood did not easily ignite and she poured on kerosene from the hurricane lamp. There was a sudden flare and the firewood burnt with fury. Periodically, she blew the fukni (pipe) to maintain the intensity of the flame.

The old and heavy metal kettle, filled with water, was placed on the stove for boiling tea. While the kettle heated, she brushed her teeth with the chewed brushy end of a thin guava twig. Sometimes, to achieve a glistening effect salt or burnt charcoal was used. Then the twig was split and used as a tongue cleaner. The wonder of the toothbrush with toothpaste reached the village in the mid-fifties, but few could afford the luxury.

Having completed her ablutions, she ritually sprinkled water over herself. It was an act of spiritual purity. She lit incense and bowed before several deities occupying a dedicated corner of her house. They represented a pantheon of Hindu gods. Humbly and dutifully she sought their blessings and solace for herself and her family. The smell of incense pervaded the house. Its fragrance was uplifting and reassuring. Other tasks would follow in succession over the next fifteen to eighteen hours.

The tea was ready and she prepared her roti and curry before her husband was out of bed. He followed the standard ritual: had a quick breakfast, milked his cows and headed for the field. The work in the field varied. It could be ploughing, hoeing, weeding, digging ditches, fertilising, or simply grazing the domestic animals. If it was tilling, the farmer harnessed his bullocks or horses and reached the field as dawn broke and there was sufficient light for him to see. The work began in haste and the farmer maintained a constant rhythm for as long as he could before the heat of the tropical sun became unbearable for him and his draught animals.

The occasional bark of dogs between five and six a.m. registered the movement of the farmers who headed for their farms, or the cane-cutters hurrying towards the land designated for the day’s harvesting. Their voices and the clatter of their razor-sharp knives stirred the village dogs and there was a commotion as they passed the homes of their masters. There was a sense of urgency, tinged with soldierly tenacity, as they briskly walked or rode their horses, as if heading to the battlefield. Each worker had one thing in mind — to work as much as they could, in the early hours, before the heat of the midday sun became overwhelming.

The most spectacular part of the day in the village was the morning. Nature emerged like a bride from the shroud of darkness and her arrival was heralded with a burst of music. The music reverberated and resonated without cohesion as the musicians each asserted their place amidst the cacophony of sounds: the bark of the dogs, the chirp of the birds, the crow of the cock, the cackle of the hen, the quack of the duck, the bellow of the cow, the moo of the calf and the cry of the baby all gave life to the village.

Around the village, just as the sun emerged, there was movement and spirited conversation over the fence between neighbours or the village kids heading off to school. Occasionally, there was a commotion and exchange of bitter words between neighbours, which could be for any reason. Damage to a sugarcane crop by cattle or an eye cast over a neighbour’s wife or daughter could ignite a fracas in which the entire village took undue interest. Village gossip always abounded, and what happened at one end of the village was quickly communicated to the other.

Besides, every village had the services of ‘village idiots’ who moved around adding salt or spice to every tale to stir the feelings and emotions of others. They were people who delighted in their profession, dispensing their services to the village as they deemed fit. They were not sought after, but they were everywhere they thought they needed to be.

In portraying a typical village setting during the 1940s to 1960s, I have chosen my village of Vaqia in Ba. Every village in sugarcane-growing districts, where the majority of Indo-Fijians lived, shared common characteristics. In describing the village life it is appropriate to stress, at the outset, the role of the CSR Company and its impact on our village. The kulambar was the uncrowned king of our village and his place of residence, the Vunisamaloa kothi, was the citadel of power, authority and influence. The farmer, his wife and children held the kulambar in mortal fear. He had the right of passage on any road or track. Seeing the kulambar coming, Indo-Fijian farmers and their wives and children stepped aside and waited anxiously until the master had passed.

Every farmer in our village was engaged in sugarcane farming on land leased from the CSR Company. This was the CSR Company’s freehold land, acquired by the colonists from the colonial Government. The CSR Company, as the landlord and the miller, had a stranglehold on its tenants. It made sure through the medium of its kulambars that the land was used and maintained strictly in accordance with its dictates, even specifying the variety of sugarcane to be grown. The farm was divided into four sections. One held the crop ready for harvest, one held the ratoon crop, another area was ready for planting the new crop and the fourth was planted with leguminous crops, which the farmers ploughed, after picking the seed pods, to enrich the soil.

Farmers who fell foul of the kulambar for any failure, real or imagined, were evicted with scant regard for the consequences of the victims. As a young child, I became accustomed to the kulambar’s visit to our small poverty-stricken village. I remember how women alerted their husbands in hushed tones of the approaching kulambar and how people moved indoors to escape rebuke or reprimand. Even we as children looked at the kulambar with fear. Sometimes we gathered courage to salaam the kulambar and when acknowledged, we were as ecstatic as if God Himself had acknowledged our greetings!

As a child, I did not understand the reason for the fear which gripped the village. Later, I understood that it was the legacy of the girmit and the haughtiness of the kulumbars that had planted fear in the village. Fear of white men was ingrained into the psyche of the villagers. The venom of racism permeated the relationship, and the CSR Company, the monster of the Fiji sugar industry, breathed racism to the end. However, it would be wrong to lay blame on the CSR Company alone. The Government also practised racism. Yet there was a difference in that the colonial Government did it according to the discreet norms of the Empire, whereas the CSR Company acted blatantly.

The social, cultural and recreational institutions of the white men were out of bounds to Indo-Fijians. The clubs, halls, offices, golf courses and swimming pools were exclusive preserves. In Lautoka, the Northern Club, the watering hole for Europeans, was out of bounds to Indo-Fijians as the sign hung on the door warned — ‘No Indians Allowed.’ In 1957 Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara (Prime Minister and later President of Fiji), while the District Officer at Ba, had to exercise his authority and threatened to close the Rarawai Golf Course, if it failed to change its discriminatory membership rules. Even crossing these hallowed grounds by Indo-Fijians was taken as an insult, and any who did so were threatened and abused.

The free passenger train run by the CSR Company had ‘whites only’ compartments enforced by law. Up to the 1950s, Indo-Fijians were not normally allowed on the verandah of the CSR Company offices, as this was the exclusive perch of whites. In the sun or rain farmers or mill employees had to stand outside to receive their wages or the cane payments. Under these circumstances, every village observed the rituals of apartheid.

Even Indo-Fijian members of the Legislative Council were no exception. Once, Allen, the manager of Rarawai Mill at Ba, invited Munswamy Mudaliar, a member of the Legislative Council, along with other prominent members of the Indo-Fijian community to his office, but made them sit on the floor. Even Rev. Andrews, on his third trip to Fiji in 1936, was made an object of ridicule by Allen who invited him for breakfast but was not himself present to receive his guest, while his wife tended the garden nearby. Rev. Andrews politely partook of the food but returned red-faced at the insolence of his host.1

Until 1942, our village did not have the benefit of any primary school and parents became increasingly concerned at the lack of this basic facility for their children. Under the leadership of my father, village elders approached the Methodist Church, which allowed the use of their local church building in Vaqia for a school as a temporary measure. In 1949, through the fundraising efforts of the Parents and Friends Committee, a new school was erected at a central location and registered as the Vaqia Indian School (later Shastri Memorial School).2 The school became an important landmark in the history of the village and provided valuable primary education for several villages located around it. Schools in other villages were also established through the efforts of Indo-Fijians.

The Vaqia-Koronubu tramline seared through the heart of our peaceful Vaqia village, carrying heavy cane traffic. The charcoal black steam engines, hissing and puffing, coursed through at different times of the day and night. They always seemed to bear the spirit of arrogance of their master, the CSR Company. At night, there was something suggestive in the struggle of the steam engine pulling the cane-laden trucks. It played a more ominous note as it towed the trucks to the Rarawai Mill. The serenity of the night was often lost to the violence of its angry hissing. However, to the tired village residents it was of little consequence. They had grown used to this violation. The passage of the steam engine through the village also reminded the villagers that the CSR Company was still the authority, day and night, to be salaamed, respected and revered.

During the day, the steam engines provided a great spectacle for the village children who came out to gaze as if at some ritual. Sometimes, the engine driver would pull the whistle cord, which screamed a shrill note, sending the children into hysterics. However, to those who served or had grown up under the shadows of the girmit, the note chilled their hearts with bitterness. Daadaji often muttered obscenities against the CSR Company at the sight of the steam engines or the kulambar. The familiar sight and sounds constantly brought bitter memories and raked the embers of hatred.

My father was the Kisan Sangh appointed sardar of the Vaqia cane harvesting gang, covering an area embracing Vaqia, Vunisamaloa, Korovuto and part of Koronubu. He served in this capacity for twenty-two years and at about mid-term, part of Koronubu and Korovuto were detached but Vaqia and Vunisamloa remained his patch until his retirement. Interestingly, my family had a long relationship with the kulambars and the steam engines. My father, as sardar, had to deliver the list of the cane-laden trucks to the engine driver every day and if it was not given during the day, it had to be delivered late at night. We were often sent on this errand. We stood at the tramline waving the white paper to attract the attention of the engine driver. The speed was never reduced and the essential paper never missed. The engine driver would often lean out holding the pipe brace with one hand and grabbing the paper with the other.

As sardar, my father was held in very high esteem. He was a tall thin man, handsome and with an aura of dignity. He disarmed his critics with his wisdom and humility, which was typical of his life. His luxuriant moustache had distinct pride of place. Buried in thought, he twirled it incessantly. He spoke softly; words were carefully selected, speaking less but meaning more, and his silence was unnerving to those who lacked depth.

I never heard him engage in verbal or physical violence. Besides, he had neither the physique nor an affinity for violence. I wanted to be close to him, and envied other children in the neighbourhood who enjoyed the company of their fathers. However, my father, being a sardar, was different. He was less of a father and more of a respected head of the village. It was in his interest that I maintained a respectable distance lest his dignity be dented by any indiscretion on my part, for which I always grieved.

However, one incident remains distinct in my memory when I did more than dent his pride. At primary school, I had perfected the art of pulling the bench out before someone sat down. The result was disastrous, and the reaction of my classmates rapturous. One day I decided to do the same with my father. What’s more, I did it successfully. His reaction is left to the reader’s imagination! Why I did it eludes reason to this day. If it was child-like innocence then, in the aftermath of this incident, I quickly matured into reasoning things out before taking action.

Nevertheless, denied the affection that I was entitled to, I adored my father from a distance. He was my father and I was proud to be his son. Apart from this we were the typical village family distinguished only by humility, simplicity, honesty and integrity. As the sardar chosen by the people his influence in the village was exceptional. Village disagreements and disputes were brought to him for adjudication. He did it with wisdom and grace, which often led to the parties burying the hatchet and restoring their relationships.

I grew up in a village environment that was not bereft of variety. Almost every family lived below the poverty line, and indeed, some had to skip meals to make ends meet. I knew of several families who had to substitute their meals, from time to time, with fruits in season or root crops that grew in the bush around the village. Guavas, mangoes, mandarins, paw paws, bananas, breadfruit and root crops like cassava and yam were available when families could not afford normal meals. Poverty was the ugly face of our village life. It was always there, but it failed to snatch the joy of living from an atmosphere of benign contentment.

The village had a unique character that was personal, fraternal and enjoyable. If we had no ball to play with, we would use a discarded item of clothing tied into a ball with string, and we played spirited games of soccer within the tiny confines of our homes. Injuries, cuts and bruises, unless severe, were left to heal on their own. Herbal medicine, obtained from known plants, eased pain or accelerated healing.

Night brought an eerie silence to the village. This was occassionally punctuated by the village dogs barking, at real or perceived disturbances. These horrid barks as well as the crowing of the roosters, the creak of crickets, the mating call of frogs, the incessant flow of the raging waters from the creeks combined in a lullaby of sound to which the weary farmers, their wives and children had become accustomed. Their toil from dawn to dusk, in the tropical sun or rain, had its regrets and its rewards. The reward of their sleep was well-earned. For many it was the best part of the day, when they could relapse into slumber and escape from the struggles of their lives.

The beds in those days were the same as the chaarpoys in India — woven from thin rope and lashed to four wooden pieces in a rectangular shape and supported with four wooden legs. Many farmers had constructed ‘machaan’ — raised platforms nailed to corner posts of the house, and cushioned with dry hay or dry sugarcane leaves. For some this constituted their bed. The most common hay came from thrashed paddy, which provided better cushioning and comfort than the dry sugarcane leaves. These were encased in jute bags filled, folded and woven together at the seams. These inventions had faded by the 1950s, by which time wooden beds with slats graced farmers’ homes. The mattresses on these were made from coconut husks.

Many farmers did not have the benefit of a clock in their homes. However, they had the crowing of the roosters at the break of dawn. During the day, they could judge the time by the position of the sun and the farmer was able to decide for himself whether to continue his toil or break for lunch. In the evenings it was the setting sun that signalled the cessation of work in the farms.

Every household had a fowl run with ten or twelve chickens to supply the family with eggs and meat. Consumption of meat was low for economic reasons. The only time our family slaughtered a chicken was when relatives came to stay a night or two with us. These were heightened moments of our life as we chased the chickens through the grounds, bush and sugarcane fields, avidly supported by our dogs, hoping to catch them for the pot. Sometimes relatives abandoned modesty and also joined in to ensure that the ‘murga’ was not lost, lest they miss the traditional curry at night. The chickens were organically grown and called junglee murgi (wild chicken). They were prized possessions and added a distinct colour to a farmer’s homestead.

By the end of the century, chicken runs had become rare, with the farmer and his modern-day wife relying on frozen chicken bought from supermarkets. The crowing of roosters and the cackling of hens gradually faded from the village, although not altogether. The nostalgia for eating junglee murgi was not gone from the palates of successive generations. Wherever Indo-Fijians lived, junglee murgi was spoken of with relish.

During the 1950s every village had a shop or two. It was the village icon and an oasis for those who wanted to be up with village news and gossip. People gravitated towards it at odd hours to buy household goods or yarn on the spacious verandah. In our village, Harkesi, a girmitiya, and his sons owned the shop and sold the goods, largely on credit, to the farmers. He was an astute man with a silver tongue that endeared the villagers to him. In the late 1960s the village shops lost their pre-eminence with the advent of public transport, and it became fashionable for the farmer and his family to shop in town.

Before the advent of radio, village folk were always anxious and eager to hear news. News from India or about India mattered most to the people and was listened to with rapt attention. My father always bought the weekly Hindi newspaper Shanti Dut and was abreast of local and international news. Sometimes, people congregated at our home on Saturday evenings to hear my father read or share the news. Local news did not stir them, but listening to news from India made their eyes almost pop out of their heads. All good news about India was received with silent acclamation or nods, while unhappy news brought tears to the eyes of the audience.

Yet this all changed when, in 1954, Radio Fiji began its broadcasts from Suva, which reached the remote villages. In our village Dhani Ram, the headman of the sugar cane-cutting gang, was the first to buy a radio set. The aerials were mounted high on two bamboo posts several metres tall. Dhani Ram’s huge Echo radio was proudly placed in the centre of the lounge and connected to a car battery.

The purchase of a radio by Dhani Ram was the hot news of the village as people came to see and admire the new invention. How could it be that words spoken from Suva be heard in Ba simultaneously hundreds of kilometres away? Some scratched their heads or looked outside at the aerials while others sat impassively looking at the huge set. Dhani Ram twirled his moustache with a mischievous grin, as if it was his own personal invention. People converged on his home to hear the radio broadcasts, which were only in the evenings.

The technology being raw, reception was poor, particularly on cloudy nights, and there was constant interference. At other times sound exploded like dynamite, making the audience cringe with fear. Dhani Ram relished it. To add to their fear, he would deliberately turn the switch away from the designated station, which brought a noise more like rolling thunder followed by an explosion. He advised everyone to sit at a safe distance from the radio set to avoid being electrocuted. A few from the audience moved closer to the door and disappeared into the darkness. The author was one of them. Gradually, Dhani Ram’s acquisition became well-known in the village, and the excitement and anxiety of the village folk faded with time.

Three years later, in 1957, it was our turn to excite the villagers. My father bought a Fordson Major tractor. The village was rife with the news that sardar Ram Lal had bought a tractor and was bringing it to the village. There was no vehicular access to the village. The tractor could not be driven on the CSR Company tramlines as this was prohibited, and the only way to get it home was through narrow bush tracks. Villagers came with spades, hoes, crowbars and knives to make a temporary access route. It took them three-quarters of a day, but they all looked happy and proud when the tractor finally reached our home. Villagers came out in droves to see it. The following day it was taken on a trial run, tilling the fallow land adjoining our home. Almost the entire village sat around the periphery of the field to witness this. It was another proud village acquisition.

Every village had its own character. Our village was richly blessed by Nature. It had the most fertile and productive soil, the river swarmed with fish and delicious nakai (mussels) and the banks were laden with fruit trees. Root crops grew in the hills. In these circumstances, hunger could not stalk the village for any length of time for there was always a way to avoid or overcome it.

The residents were a mix of North Indians and South Indians, with both communities maintaining their identity and living in relative harmony. The South Indians were a distinct majority and spoke broken Hindi until the 1960s, by which time the younger generation had perfected the use of Fiji Hindi. This further strengthened the village community. Both communities celebrated their own religious festivals, and that brought buoyancy to the life of our village.

As North Indians we participated in the annual Mandir Puja (temple ceremony), which was organised by the South Indians. We sat through the whole night watching the Tirnaal (South Indian drama). We did not understand the Tirnaal as it was presented in one of the South Indian dialects, yet that was no impediment to us enjoying the drama. We loved the Mantri, the clown, and his antics. We wanted a good laugh and he never disappointed us.

Other festivals and religious functions that began to be collectively celebrated were the festivals of Diwali, Holi, Ram Janam Ashtmi and Krishna Janam Ashtmi. Surprisingly, the most popular day of celebration was Christmas Day. Our village was the preserve of the Hindus, with two Sikh families, two Muslim families and one Christian family, but celebration of Christmas day brought all other activities to a standstill. We called it Bada Din (big day) and it was indeed the big day for the village. It was celebrated with unusual gaiety, goat curry was an essential accompaniment, and for those who could afford it, beer, whisky or rum were consumed until someone dropped with ‘cut’ (intoxication), or a fight ensued among the neighbours.

The village abhorred Christianity, and the only Methodist Christian in the village was no credit to his faith. He and his wife were quarrelsome, and champions in the use of obscene language. They often contributed to disputes and dissents in our village. On the day of sugarcane payment, he came intoxicated and as if possessed, which spilled into vile obscenities lavishly heaped on his adversaries. This kind of thing was never one-sided, as both sides fired stinging verbal darts. It ended when the firepower was exhausted.

Sometimes police intervened, but as there was no vehicular access their appearances in our village were few and far between. If they did arrive, the village fell into an anxious silence until they had gone. Doors and windows were shut and occupants waited expectantly until they left. Their departure fuelled the village tantrums and gossip as the rumour mills moved into high gear. Often, reality lost out to speculation.

The Vaqia-Koronubu tramline was extensively used as a pedestrian access to Ba Town eight kilometres away. Until the mid-1950s many of the villagers rode into town on horseback and Ba Town had exclusive areas designated for the tethering of horses. People with classy horses made a show of themselves, to the delight of the shoppers. As was the case during the indenture, Saturday retained a special significance in the lives of the Indo-Fijians. They called it the day of ‘bajaar’ (bazaar), when most families converged on the markets to buy or sell produce or do other shopping. The few cars or buses drew unusual attention from the village folk, who marvelled at these creations as they did at Dhani Ram’s Echo radio.

The Namosau Racecourse at Ba was a popular venue for horse racing in Fiji, and meets were organised with great fanfare by the European community. Horses from Sigatoka, Nadi, Lautoka and Tavua participated, and owners of horses from these areas crossed the black mountain ranges along bush tracks, creeks and rivers to reach the Namosau Racecourse. Some horse owners from Sigatoka and Nadi left home two or three days before the races so as not to strain their horses. Pundit Lachmi Narayan from Togo, Nadi, was a veteran of these races, his famous gelding Moll Cross and mare Lady Cross constantly earning laurels for him and Nadi.

Saturdays were also days of exuberance in the village. The sleepiness that hung over the village during the week was banished as families received visitors, or there was a marriage or some other function at which most congregated. Those who could, shared a few drinks at home. In this social intercourse, kava, the ceremonial drink of the Fijians, derived from the powdered roots of kava plants, did not feature prominently as a social drink among the Indo-Fijians until the 1970s.

In our village, there was no public water supply. People in the village either dug wells to draw water for their domestic needs, or relied on the creeks, tributaries or the river. Before digging a well, a spring below the ground had to be located with the help of the village ‘consultant’, and each village had one or two who could locate underground springs. The consultant used a strong Y-shaped guava branch and held the two protruding branches tightly in each hand, a few inches away from his chest. He moved around the proposed site with great concentration. At the point where there was water, the branch gravitated strongly towards the ground and the consultant pronounced the exact location of the spring. Some could also state, with considerable accuracy, the volume of water and the depth at which the spring was located. Wells were scattered all over the village. Some could be as deep as twenty metres. In domestic disputes, it was not uncommon for women to jump into a well to commit suicide. Every village had tales to tell.

Communal or public water supply gradually replaced the wells and the wisdom of water divination was lost. The public water supply, electricity and telephones had reached well into the most remote areas by the end of the century. The frail light of hurricane lamps, which had dutifully shed light in the homes of Indo-Fijian farmers, also disappeared. Those few who could, in the early days, afford Tilley or Coleman pressure lamps were considered rich by village standards.

Until the early 1960s many in our village, including our family, used river water for their everyday needs. The river was the village spring and sustained both human and animal life. The animals swam, urinated and defecated in the water, yet everyone drank river water and to my knowledge, no one fell sick or died from drinking it. It was a sight to see: farmers’ wives washing their clothes in the river, while their children swam safely nearby! Their excited cries reverberated on either bank of the river, as did the splash and thud of wet clothes on flat stones.

For domestic use, water was taken in 44-gallon drums and drawn by draught horses or bullocks. However, among those who did not have draught animals, the farmer’s wife would cart the water on her head. She used a four-gallon kerosene drum, which was filled to capacity. Our family always had horses and bullocks to draw water from the river but occasionally the women from our household would have to respond to an urgent need from the family.

By village standards our family was considered rich, yet we were always in debt. The only time we had any opportunity to go to town was for a haircut, to see the doctor when we were sick, to get a school uniform from the tailor or have shoes measured and made by the mochi (shoemaker). These were great opportunities to indulge in ice cream, sweets and soft drinks. On these occasions, we would accompany our parents. Some of the children gathered money selling empty bottles, fruit or vegetables to support their trip to town. Sometimes even this money had to be surrendered to the parents to buy kerosene for the hurricane lamp, tea, sugar or other basic necessities.

In my village, like most villages, life was a struggle, yet it was not seen in that light. It was considered a challenge. Men, women and children combined their energies to fight poverty instead of waiting for handouts or worrying about the mountain of despair that had fallen on them. The will to strive, struggle and survive retained its influence and was in full display in our village. This was the spirit of my Vaqia village and the spirit of every village where Indo-Fijians had settled. Their survival was largely supported by subsistence farming, the natural resources available from the forests and rivers, and for those in coastal areas, from the sea.

The Ba River up until the late 1960s was teeming with fish of every description. It was deep and could only be traversed by boat or bilibili (banana stems roped together). It was not uncommon to have shark attacks upriver and indeed, as young children, we loved watching the schools of sharks swimming freely. However, with the subsequent farming activity, and without proper drainage and soil conservation, the river has become heavily silted and lost its depth.

By the end of the century, the increased silting had necessitated the dredging of the river at the lower reaches. In the upper reaches, the river could be forded on foot where a boat or bilibili had once been used. In the 1970s, the river became a watery grave for fish as farmers began extensive use of chemicals for controlling weeds and pests on their farms. The Rarawai sugar mill also released extensive volumes of factory waste into the river and this made the famous Ba River almost barren of fish life. The chemical balance of the water was unable to sustain marine life as it once had.

I always had a great fascination for the Ba River. Since immigrating to New Zealand every time I have gone back to visit my family I have been on a pilgrimage to the river where I spent the best part of my childhood. We bathed in the river, played soccer on its banks and threw stones across to the other bank — all in childlike fascination. I also escaped drowning twice, which left a scar in my mind and a fear of deep water in my heart.

Every time I have visited the river, memories have come flooding back to me as I watch its changeable moods. I have been entranced and captivated by what has gone through my mind, and saddened at the barren river life before me. The farmer’s wife was not there washing her clothes, the beasts of burden were not there drinking the water, and the young village lads were not there swimming or catching natli (schools of small fish). Those popular draught animals, horses and bullocks, with which the farmer used to plough his field or cart water from the river, have diminished substantially in number.

People no longer drink the river water, as they have become aware of its chemical properties. Extensive use of chemicals on the farms has taken its toll. The riverbanks were once laden with fruit trees and plants. Mangoes, guavas, breadfruit, oranges, lemons, pawpaw and bananas were there for anyone to pick. It was a sanctuary: awake, alive and glowing with Nature’s varied creation, but now it was not the same.

Gone were the crickets that had provided music on either bank of the Ba River; gone were the butterflies of many hues; gone were the water birds, ducks, seagulls and the bulbuls. The river had lost the melody that accompanied its majestic descent to the sea. What was once a hive of activity was now silent and eerie. The azure waters flowed disconsolately towards the ocean, exuding a sadness that man had destroyed its vital properties and rendered it almost barren of life. Animated life, which once enriched the Ba River and its banks, has faded into its fascinating history.

Every time I have walked the banks of the Ba River, the words of the great American Indian, Chief Seattle, have rung in my ears. In 1854, when he agreed to part with large tracts of Indian land, he poured forth the sentiments of his heart on the sacredness of planet earth. A cherished portion of that famous speech is reproduced here in the hope that it may, even at this late stage, reawaken in the heart of humanity a realisation and acceptance that the Creator’s intrinsic balance of life on earth needs to be sustained. Chief Seattle said:


Every part of this earth is sacred to my people.

Every shining pine needle, every sandy shore, every mist in the dark woods, every clearing and humming insect is holy in the memory and experience of my people. The sap which courses through the trees carries the memories of the red man … We are part of the earth and it is part of us.

The perfumed flowers are our sisters; the deer, the horse, the great eagle, these are our brothers. The rocky crests, the juices in the meadows, the body heat of the pony, and man — all belong to the same family

… This shining water that moves in the streams and the rivers is not just water but the blood of our ancestors … each ghostly reflection in the clear water of the lakes tells of events and memories in the life of my people.

The water’s murmur is the voice of my father’s father. The rivers are our brothers, they quench our thirst. The rivers carry our canoes, and feed our children. If we sell you our land, you must remember, and teach your children, that the rivers are our brothers, and yours, and you must henceforth give the rivers the kindness you would give any brother …

The air is precious to the red man, for all things share the same breath — the beast, the tree, the man, they all share the same breath

… remember that the air is precious to us, that the air shares its spirit with all the life it supports. The wind that gave our grandfather his first breath also receives his last sigh …

What is man without the beasts? If all the beasts were gone, man would die from loneliness of spirit. For whatever happens to the beasts, soon happens to man. All things are connected …

Teach your children what we have taught our children, that the earth is our mother. Whatever befalls the earth befalls the sons of earth. Man did not weave the web of life: he is merely a strand in it. Whatever he does to the web, he does it to himself … This earth is precious to Him, and to harm the earth is to heap contempt on its Creator … Contaminate your bed, and you will one night suffocate in your own waste.



He grieved in the end at the destruction of Nature:


Where is the thicket? Gone. Where is the eagle? Gone. The end of living and the beginning of survival.



These poetic words were spoken when humanity still largely harmonised with Nature, and yet this visionary had already seen the danger that lurked in the future. The words were outpourings from a heart at a time when the heart — the seat of human emotions — still understood rhythm and balance. The human heart, in the rat race of this materialistic world, has become mired in predatory instincts dangerously driven by the fuel of greed. If Chief Seattle had expressed these jewels of thought today he would have concluded with the words:


The struggle for survival and the beginning of the end.



The ominous signs emerged some centuries ago, but the march of so-called civilisation and progress has not ceased. The depletion of Nature is the result of rapid industrialisation, urbanisation and uncontrolled growth and concentration of human population. Widespread use of chemicals and other polluting agents in agriculture and industry has grievously wounded Nature, both directly and indirectly. Every city, town and village in the world bear the scars.

Our village was an oasis of life, with some of God’s finest creations adding beauty and colour. Butterflies were one of the greatest fascinations of my childhood. I saw them in a variety of colours fluttering in the purity of the village environment. We chased them, caught them, caged them and admired them. But by the end of the century there were no butterflies in the village. The chemical onslaught took its toll. Plastic butterflies or stickers entertained and fascinated the young village children but sadly, they will never experience the joy of chasing or catching butterflies, in a variety of hues, as we did.

My heart grieves with sorrow at the barren legacy that humanity is determined to leave for posterity. Technology fulfils many human desires, but it has robbed us of those plants and animals that enriched our lives. These creatures were an adornment to the village and without them, by the end of the century, the villages seemed lifeless.

The river, however, remained a constant, imposing and majestic. It cannot be ignored as it has a history. It has been the spring of life to this village and final resting-place for those who were caught in its swirling waters. Some, who decided to end it all, found solace in its waiting arms. Its waters bore the spirit of our ancestors who, to escape the depravity of the girmit, found release in its final embrace. Stories abounded of people who jumped into the river to escape the tragedy of their lives. Every time I saw the tranquil waters of the river, I was entranced by its spiritual magnetism. In the nocturnal hours, the presence of those spirits was more profound, and many ghastly and ghostly tales circulated in our village.

In the summer months, the season of the tropical rains, the river swelled its banks precariously and threatened the village. This was an annual event. Every farmer had built his house on higher ground away from the raging floods. The fury of the river as it rushed towards the vast Pacific Ocean was spectacular and frightening. In its deadly path, many farmers lost their domestic animals and crops. But I always had memories of those times as ones of great fun.

The surge of river waters during a cyclone or hurricane was a different matter, bringing fear, anxiety and apprehension to the village. Until the mid-1950s weather forecasts were not publicly available, so people were often caught unawares by the might of these forces. People had to rely on their own instincts and wisdom. Interestingly, the village wisdom and protocol was firmly established and widely practised: signs of approaching hurricanes or cyclones were monitored through the movement of seabirds. Whenever there was intense low pressure at sea, leading to the formation of a cyclone, seabirds flew inland to take refuge.

During the summer months everyone kept an eye on this, and whenever a flight of seabirds inland was sighted in our village, my father was told. At his discretion, he would dispatch a responsible person on horseback to inform every villager and to caution them of an approaching hurricane or cyclone. This would stir the village into an enormous commotion as people fetched ropes to tie down their roofs or supplemented food supplies by buying tins of Cabin Cracker biscuits.

We weathered many cyclones and hurricanes. In Ba, the floods of 1932 claimed many lives of people living in the CSR Company lines. During the persistent rains of 1956, farmers lost many domestic animals. In 1972, Hurricane Bebe brought disaster. The village looked devastated, as it did after each onslaught of hurricane or cyclone, but within weeks, it was green again. The power of recovery and restoration is a rare gift of God to Fiji.

Life in the village changed considerably with changing circumstances and times. Not only the river, but many other things also changed. Even the village children were different. They could afford what we as children could not. They were abreast of the latest technologies. Electricity, telephone, television, video, audio systems, computers and other electronic inventions did not excite them. By comparison, our generation was excited, curious and even apprehensive about such things. Even an electricity bulb drew unusual appreciation and attention.

In those days, familial ties were strong, and from cradle to grave life for the majority of Indo-Fijian farmers and their families did not differ markedly. They harnessed physical, and meagre financial, resources collectively to share in the drudgery and privation which was so much a part of their lives.

Despite this, we rarely heard of people being depressed or committing suicide. Depression was not diagnosed in those days and the young people who showed signs of being depressive were honestly considered ‘kaamchor’ (lazy) and received the standard strap on their backside. This medicine was administered generously to our generation, and what mattered most is that it worked effectively, if not miraculously!

However, there was a humorous side to depression. It was not depression really, but more like sinking into ‘soch’, which was the equivalent of being downhearted. This was, in some cases, used as a signal by male teenagers, particularly those reaching adulthood, to their parents of their desire to enter matrimony. Arranged marriage was the norm and, as such, the responsibility rested solely with the parents to fulfil this obligation. Respect and modesty towards parents was overwhelming, and none could front up to the parents to demand marriage.

If there was undue delay in obtaining a partner, some faked ‘soch’ to relay the message to their parents. This would take many forms, like being meditative and removed from the world, sitting with chin cupped in hands, hair dishevelled, face unshaven and visibly withdrawn. Sometimes parents diagnosed it early, or the elders alerted the parents. Following this, the search for a bride began in earnest and the marriage was concluded, allowing swift recovery of the victims from soch!

Love matches were extremely rare, as was elopement. It was called ‘bhagao’ (running away with a female), a crude village word which expressed the abhorrence of elopement with someone’s daughter or wife. Those few who did so became pariahs in the community but did not suffer prolonged ostracism as the practice gradually began to gain acceptance.

Bhagao tales were shared among contemporaries in the village, and shared with salacious glee. They would normally begin with ‘kuch suna,’ (have you heard?) and eyes would light up. The story would be disclosed on condition ‘koike batana nahin’ (don’t tell anyone) and yet it would be an open secret! Village gossip was a favourite pastime and women in the village excelled at this hobby. They sat under the trees, washed clothes on the riverbanks or met at village functions where hearty exchanges took place.

In those days, when there was a wedding, the village people were always at hand to assist in the erection of a shed and helping in everything that needed doing. As electricity was not available many would come with their Coleman or Tilley lamps to supplement the lighting needs. Marriage in Hindu life always retained a place of eminence and was celebrated in our village with elaborate ceremonies and rituals and with great devotion.

It was very common among the North Indians to consent to marriage only after the Pundit had confirmed the matching of the stars of the bridegroom and the bride. The actual marriage was consecrated over a three-day period with each day having a significance of its own. In the post-indenture period Hindu marriage, with its glow and glitter, regained its place of prominence in the lives of Indo-Fijians. Muslims also restored their rituals of marriage, as did the South Indians, and all celebrated this occasion with gusto. A Hindu marriage was like a carnival, drawing the entire village together. Our village, as a bastion of Hinduism, saw marriage ceremonies performed with an elegance and panache that lingered in the memories of those who had witnessed them.

The first day — telwaan — was a preparatory ritual when the bodies of the groom and bride were rubbed with oil mixed in turmeric powder to give them a glow. The mandap (marriage shed), was ceremoniously established under the direction of the Pundit. At night, women performed preparatory rituals several metres away from the home, with dancing and fun that bordered on the raunchy. Following this, to the accompaniment of the dholak and other musical instruments, women sang and danced — joyous and lewd songs dedicated to married life. The songs included the relationships of Hindu gods and demigods, devtas like Shiva and his consort Parvati, Krishna and his consort Radha. It was a night of feasting and merrymaking where the groom and the bride were kept in an environment of purity.

The second day — bhatwaan — was an extension of the first day’s rituals but with greater intensity. Preparations for the marriage on the following day were planned and programmed in detail. At the groom’s home it was the last day for feasting by the invitees as on the following day — the day of the marriage — the procession of the groom left for the home of the bride for the formal ceremony.

At the bride’s house, it was a day of anxiety and expectation as all resources were mobilised and geared towards the reception of the groom’s party (60–100 people) and the marriage ceremony on the following day. However, everything was done with a light-heartedness that at times broke the established social taboos, with women chasing men to colour their clothes with turmeric powder mixed in water. Even the respected Pundit sometimes was not spared on such occasions.

On the day of the marriage, the groom’s party excitedly prepared itself to leave for the bride’s home in the evening. Tradition required that only male members accompany the groom. However, in this age of high mobility and daytime marriage, women joining the procession did not raise the eyebrows of conservatives. For this very special occasion, everyone was fashionably dressed.

The bride’s home was a beehive of activity. The senior male and female members engaged in preparatory work that required precision in planning. This included identifying the functionaries, from the Pundit and the bhandaris (cooks) to those young boys serving food, kava and tea to the guests. The bhandaris worked throughout the day to ensure that the menu had both variety and quality and the right quantity.

The mandap — up to the 1950s — was festooned with flowers and colourful leaves, but later such things as crepe paper, balloons, colourful lights and commercially produced decorations adorned the sacred site. Young girls under the guidance of the matriarch decorated the mandap, maintaining the tenacity and the vibrancy of the environment.

As the groom’s procession reached the precincts of the bride, tooting of horns and explosions of firecrackers heralded its arrival. In accordance with tradition, the bride’s father and the males among the invitees moved forward to the rhythm of the shehnai to receive the groom’s party at the gate. The sweet melody of shehnai was silenced by the 1960s, as few could play it and the new generation had gradually moved away from it. Its shrill sound was sonorous, and lent sanctity and solemnity to the occasion.

The Pundit hastily recited the mantras in sanskrit and invited the two parties to exchange greetings. Tradition required the bride’s party to acknowledge the exalted position of the groom and they did this with humility. Once the pleasantries were exchanged, the groom, focus of every eye, was escorted by the bride’s mother and her aides for a ritual welcome while the other members of the groom’s party took their seats in the special shelter erected for them. The seats were usually made of wooden planks and surrounded the mandap, where the actual marriage was performed in full view of the participants.

The marriage ceremony was the highlight of the day and it was conducted with great seriousness and sobriety. The groom and bride took their extended vows and participated in rituals under the direction of the Pundit who recited the mantras and explained the significance and place of marriage in their lives.

It was a poignant moment and speeches by community elders from both sides extolled the virtues of marriage. The groom and the members of his procession spent the night at the bride’s home, watching the nautch dances or listening to the quawaali.

Nautch dances, once performed largely by eunuchs dressed in sensual female attire, were a great attraction in the past. The eunuchs danced until the early hours of the morning, with feline grace, twirling, heaving and tossing their supple bodies to the rhythm of seductive music. They swung their hips, swerved in circles at speeds that raised dust from the ground, their dresses lifting to their thighs suggestively as the spectators cringed in lecherous delight. The audience, mostly male, was left agape under its magical spell. Some husbands, caught in a trance by their wives, later had to account for their lapses. Qauwaali was a form of debate between two adversaries, who sang their compositions on religion and culture or simply demeaned or denigrated each other, with a skill that left the audience staggered.

Further rituals were performed in the morning before the bride stepped out of her home to enter this new period of her life. This was a heartbreaking moment, when she took leave of her parents, brothers and sisters. In reverence and obeisance, she touched the feet of her parents and family elders seeking their blessings for the unknown journey ahead. It was a moment not for words but for tears. Some wept and a few wailed until the bridal procession was out of sight.

Village people had some remarkable characteristics. The majority were known for their simplicity and honesty. Participation in religious meetings, sharing the word of God from Ramayana or Gita, always drew a large audience. Everyone shared in the scriptures and at the end, nourished by the nectar of life, left for their homes around the midnight hour.

It would, however, be naïve to suggest that everyone in our village was a saint. Like every community, we had people who breached the boundaries of reason and fairness. For example, there were ‘murgi chors’ who stole chickens, while some went on to serious crimes like burning cane, stealing cattle or even committing murder. There were a few people in our village who regularly consumed illicit liquor or homebrew, particularly on Saturday nights, and who disturbed the peace and tranquillity of the village.

Often male aggression ended with wife-beating. Wife-beating in our village was ritualistic and considered an assertion of rightful authority through the act of machismo. It was very sad to hear the sobbing and wailing of a woman running for her life with an inebriated husband in hot pursuit. It was not uncommon for the fracas to spread and embroil innocent neighbours or families. Sometimes a few heads were cracked before the heat of the moment was extinguished.

Death in the village brought great shock and sorrow. Death at home was a common occurrence. The Indo-Fijian perception of hospitals as places for dying, not healing, continued until the 1950s. But I cannot remember any of the girmitiyas from our village dying in the hospital. They could not overcome the fear and the stigma, and at this late stage in life it was difficult for them to accept that the house of death was in fact a house of healing. With hindsight, it would be appropriate to conclude that anyone admitted to the hospital from our village received undue concern and attention. My mother always stretched her imagination and, with a sob or a tear, described the fate of sick family members in hospital as being terminal.

As far as funerals were concerned, the different cultures had their own rituals. Hindus from North India cremated their dead while South Indians favoured burial. The body was usually transported on a bier made of bamboo stems. The funeral was followed by thirteen days of mourning and the performance of several rituals including the shaving of heads and moustaches of male blood relations. The funeral procession was on foot and, in the case of South Indians, accompanied by musicians playing shehnai and drums, but this tradition disappeared in the 1960s. In the case of South Indians, a live chicken was hung from the bier and was ritually released at the cemetery as an offering to Gods, although it might become one of the mourners’ ill-gotten gains.

North Indian funerals were more sombre and silent. The rituals, moving tributes and chanting of mantras, with the body covered in tinder-dry logs, gave the occasion an appropriate air of mourning and grief. In the early days there were Kabir Panthis who buried the dead. They poured bags of salt around the dead body before it was covered with soil. Muslims, on the other hand, buried their dead facing Mecca, and created a second chamber to enable the departed to sit and pray. Every family was supported, in times of mourning, by villagers who congregated in the evenings to read and recite religious scriptures and help in the healing process.

In times of adversity, the village became the manifestation of an extended family caring for one another. In our village, the children emulated the struggles of their parents. With such commitment, success came to many families. To go to primary school, in the 1950s, I walked twelve kilometres each day through bush tracks. These tracks, if they could have been seen from above, would have looked like pencil marks cutting across the heartland of the bush.

In those days the frequency and persistence of rain flooded the creeks and rivers within hours. The tropical rain would sometimes drench us completely. The tracks were narrow, soggy and swampy; sometimes bush soaked in rain would cave in over the tracks and we would have to crawl under it to avoid getting our uniforms wet. It rained every afternoon during the rainy season. We took it in our stride, returning home to play in pools of water, walking through slush and mud with joy which knew no bounds. At night, the ferocity of the downpour drowned our voices as the rain sang and danced on the roof. Rain pelting on the corrugated iron roof produced the sweetest music. It was the best lullaby to our ears. We relaxed and slept in the comforting arms of Nature on our string beds.

As our parents could not buy toys for us, we used our own ingenuity to invent them from whatever material came into our hands. If we could not buy marbles, we collected round stones as a substitute, and if we could not afford spinning tops, we made them from dried guava tree cuttings thick enough to chisel into shape. We made our own wooden toys, kites, swings; pushcarts were fashioned from discarded tobacco tins.

Poverty may have inhibited us in the attainment of our dreams and aspirations yet it also impelled us to action, invention and achievement, thus raising our manual skills and intellectual faculties. Given the opportunity, despite the attendant poverty, I would return to this life of my childhood, as it pulsated with an inner peace, joy and satisfaction.

Over time the entire village ethic was gradually transformed. The guiding lights of the village withdrew, exerting their influence largely within their own family circles. The code of conduct for the younger ones was considerably relaxed, resulting in a waning of respect for the elders. The village sardar was no longer a symbol of authority, power or respect as in the earlier period. Education had penetrated most homes, and with it respect for the younger generation increased. They became bold and assertive, though not necessarily rebellious. The influence of those few who had served during the girmit disappeared.

By the end of the 1960s the rhythm, harmony and unity of a once vigorous and vibrant culture was undergoing rapid change. The politics of the sugar industry, which had created severe divisions within the Indo-Fijian community, and several confrontations with and strikes against the CSR Company, kept the community divided. The leaders — Pundit Ajodhya Prasad of Kisan Sangh and A.D. Patel of Maha Sangh — retained their animosity and perennial dislike for each other. In their fight for supremacy, farmers’ loyalties were divided. Our village was the bastion of the Kisan Sangh and my father was its strongest advocate.

The period from the 1960s to the independence of Fiji in 1970 saw the advent of party politics, intensified by the formation of the Federation Party in 1963 under A.D. Patel, and the Alliance Party in 1966 under Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara. The politics of sugar, which had sweetened — or soured — the lives of Indo-Fijians, gave way to a national politics that would encroach on the lives of farmers. The mood of bitterness and acrimony, which varied with racial and political allegiance, changed the face of the village. The prevailing attitude of apathy towards politics changed as villagers responded to the new environment. Unity of the village became a thing of the past. Politics, politicians and political parties transformed the traditional life of the village.

By the end of the 1960s the good old village bore a new face. The power of the educated generation, the advent of politics, the subservience of an earlier generation to educated opinion, radio, news media, a widespread lust for western lifestyles, exposure to external opportunities and a repudiation of the old order all combined to give a new impetus and direction to the Indo-Fijian community and its emerging culture. The community responded to the call of the times and by the end of the 1960s a massive transformation could be seen in the lives of the Indo-Fijians. Even the village landscape changed considerably. The household income increased as educated children sought employment in offices or in the commercial and industrial sectors. Fiji gained its independence on 10 October 1970. It was the dawn of a new era.








CHAPTER TEN

THE POST-INDEPENDENCE ERA


In independence, expectations of the Indo-Fijians rose, 

Soon they realised politics and racism as their foes. 

Fijians found solace and refuge under their chiefs,

Indo-Fijian hopes soured; it turned against their beliefs.




That this House agrees that the time has arrived when Indians or people of Indian origin in this country be repatriated back to India and that their travelling expenses back home and compensation for their properties in this country be met by the British Government.



Sakiasi Butadroka, the leader of the Fijian Nationalist Party (FNP), moved this motion in the Parliament in 1975. The motion dropped like a boulder into the murky waters of Fijian politics. A fear that had lurked in the minds of Indo-Fijians, following independence, had now found expression in the public domain.

Before independence in 1970, Fiji had become a nation embroiled in intense and bitter politics. The Federation Party, representing Indo-Fijian interests, and the Alliance Party representing Fijian and European interests, each took their communal stand in preparation for Fiji’s independence. Fijians were reluctant; but the Indo-Fijian leaders were keen to see the end of British rule in Fiji. The indigenous wish could not prevail. In other parts of the world, countries under foreign rule had begun to clamour for independence. The British, under pressure from the United Nations to end its colonial rule, realised that the sun was setting on the remains of its Empire. The beat of drums heralding Fiji’s independence gradually gained momentum. In the process of negotiation for a new constitution, political feathers were ruffled and the political temperature of the nation rose.

The British concept for Fiji was of a dual society working on the premise that the two distinct ethnic groups would remain separate and pursue their different roles. This effectively inhibited integration and accelerated racial polarisation, and worked in Britain’s favour as it effectively prevented united resistance to its rule. Discreetly, Fijians were used against the Indo-Fijians during major strikes to quell disturbances, in a bid to set one group against the other, maintaining or widening the gulf between them. A vigorous campaign against Indo-Fijians was also maintained, projecting a view, particularly in the Fijian mind, that they were a threat to indigenous rights in Fiji. The Indo-Fijians were demeaned for seeking common roll, for not supporting the war effort and for engaging in the 1943 strike.

As a prelude to Fiji’s independence, the Constitution was revamped in 1963 and each of the three races was given four members to be elected by communal franchise, with the Governor nominating two more members from each of the communities. The members representing their communities then selected two among them to serve on the Executive Council. In the election that followed, the exposure of Fijians to open-ended politics was a test of their allegiance to their chiefs and the hierarchical society. Many predicted that the edifice of chiefly rule would disintegrate. However, the results strengthened and entrenched the chiefly system and the racial divisions in Fiji’s political system widened.

Within a year, following elections, the Government introduced the membership system, allocating a portfolio to each of the leaders of the three dominant communities as a prelude to introducing the cabinet and ministerial system of Government. Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, a paramount Fijian chief, was appointed Member for Natural Resources with responsibility for agriculture, co-operatives, crop processing, fisheries, forestry, geology, lands, livestock, marketing, mining and social conservation. John Falvey, a European, was appointed Member for Communications and Works responsible for civil aviation, electricity, hotels, marine, meteorology, postal services, telecommunications, transport, tourism and public works. A.D. Patel, an Indo-Fijian, was appointed the Member for Social Services, responsible for cultural activities, education, health, prisons, social welfare and charitable societies. Each of the appointees also served on the Executive Council. A year later, a move was made towards the formulation of an acceptable Constitution for an independent Fiji.

The first rumblings of confrontational politics began as a lead-up to the London Constitutional Conference in 1965. Fijian leaders had imposed a pre-condition to these talks that land issues would not feature in any discussions. No prior consultation or discussion, as a precursor to the conference, occurred in Fiji between the parties. Each party held on to its own strategies. The Federation Party hoped to achieve both independence and a common roll system of voting.

During the Constitutional Conference, each party stood firm on its demands, with Fijians seeking a guarantee on the paramountcy of their interests, Europeans seeking security for their position and privileges, and the Indo-Fijians seeking the end of colonial rule and an electoral system for the equal sharing of power. The position of the interested parties was considered and its practicalities evaluated. In the end a constitutional formula emerged, which observers viewed as a victory for the Fijian and the European interests.

The parties returned with a new Constitution, which guaranteed fourteen communal seats to the Fijians, two nominated by the Great Council of Chiefs (population 228 000), twelve communal seats to the Indo-Fijians (population 256 000) and ten seats to the Europeans (population 28 000). Twenty-five seats were to be contested by communal voting while nine seats, three to each of the three dominant communities, were to be elected by cross-voting. The Indo-Fijian dream of a common roll system of voting was quashed and the delegates returned home bitterly, damning the new Constitution as inequitable and untenable.

The rapid political change gave momentum to party politics to gain ground. The Federation Party and the Alliance Party became the mainstream parties, dominating Fiji’s political scene at this critical time. In the August 1966 elections the Alliance Party and the Federation Party (later National Federation Party) entered the crucial elections based on the new Constitution. The Alliance Party, led by the high chiefs, won twenty-three of the thirty-six seats and also received support from two independents, with two members nominated by the Great Council of Chiefs. In all it had twenty-seven seats in the new parliament. The National Federation Party (NFP) won all nine Indo-Fijian communal seats. The results confirmed a strong polarisation of the races and the Fijians reaffirmed their faith in their chiefs.

Encouraged by its position of power following the elections, the Alliance Party wanted to introduce the ministerial system in 1967 and a motion was introduced in the Council to this effect and debated with acrimony. The NFP walked out, damning the proposed Constitution as being undemocratic. They later resigned, necessitating a by-election. In the 1968 byelection the NFP was returned in victory with increased Indo-Fijian support. The Fijian reaction was bitter and violent. Calls were made to deport the Indo-Fijian leaders who were not Fiji-born, which were aimed at the leader of the NFP, A.D. Patel, who was born in India. Public meetings and marches in selected urban centres by Fijians, under the banner of the Fijian Association (an affiliate of the Alliance Party) denouncing independence and common roll, caused anxiety and instability among the Indo-Fijians.

The lid on racism was blown off. Indo-Fijians came to realise, for the first time, the depth of indigenous feeling against them. It created fear and insecurity, which would continue to unravel in various ways in the following decades. There were those, fearing a racial time bomb about to erupt, who began packing and leaving for foreign shores. The heat of the 1968 by-election made the NFP realise that they had to be more malleable and conciliatory in their approach to dealing with their adversary, the Alliance Party. The parties also realised that as the colonial influence was waning, greater interaction among the dominant races and the two parties could not be avoided.

In August 1969, further constitutional talks were held. The chosen representatives met behind closed doors to hammer out an acceptable constitutional framework. This was followed by other events that impacted on the talks. The NFP lost its leader and a powerful voice with the death of A.D. Patel on 1 October 1969. Patel’s death stunned the nation, especially the Indo-Fijian community who had held him in adoration. His efforts in the submissions before the Denning arbitration on behalf of the sugarcane farmers had been exemplary, and even his opponents respected his scholarship. Lord Denning had said of Patel:


Of all the lawyers who appeared before me, A.D.Patel was outstanding

… He was master of all the facts and problems of the sugar industry in Fiji. He presented them with skill and understanding. It was his persuasive advocacy that led me to my report, which was in favour of the growers against the millers.1



A.D. Patel’s funeral at the Wailoaloa Crematorium, in Nadi, was one of the largest in Fiji, attended by people from all over the country. The Indo-Fijian community was plunged into prolonged mourning for their leader. The pall of sorrow over the unexpected death of A.D. Patel had barely lifted when, in 1969, the Alliance Party made the crucial decision that it was ready for independence, accepting dominion status for an independent Fiji.

The Alliance realised that independence for Fiji was inevitable, that the climate for change was congenial and with the death of A.D. Patel, the NFP was in disarray. The NFP was left with no choice but to applaud the announcement. Noting the aversion of the Fijians to common roll they offered not to pursue it. This facilitated a cooling of the racial temperature and a collective desire among the peoples of Fiji to enter the crucial phase of becoming independent without bitterness, violence or bloodshed. The final Constitution was hammered into place in April–May 1970 in London. It among other things established the Upper and Lower Houses of Parliament. The House of Representatives was to comprise of fifty-two seats — Fijians and Indo-Fijians each with twenty-two elected members (twelve communal seats and ten cross-voting); Europeans with eight elected members (three communal seats and five cross-voting).

The Senate to comprise of twenty-two seats:

Nominees of the Great Council of Chiefs — eight members; Nominees of the Prime Minister — seven members; Nominees of the Leader of the Opposition — six members; Nominee of the Council of Rotuma — one member.

Fijian customs and land were secured under the entrenched provisions of the Constitution, which made it impossible for any legislation to pass without the approval of six of the eight nominees of the Great Council of Chiefs on the Senate.

On 10 October 1970, after 96 years of colonial rule, Fiji attained its independence amid unprecedented celebrations. The British were happy to have returned Fiji to the Fijians and considerably fulfilled their obligation to them. European interests were secured with a proportionately higher representation, while Indo-Fijians were largely content with a Constitution that gave them the rights of citizenship in parity with others. Indo-Fijians hoped that what they had not achieved during the colonial rule might eventually find fulfilment in the independent Fiji. The leaders accepted and recognised the need for greater dialogue and discussion among the various communities. Independence had removed the colonial fetters and it was hoped that the dominant races could work together in harmony for the mutual benefit of each other and the nation.

The new Prime Minister, Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, assumed the mantle of leadership. He stood tall above pettiness and trivialities, showing a sense of maturity and gaining the esteem of the people. The Leader of the Opposition, S.M. Koya, extended his co-operation and together they began a journey to resurrect and restore the dreams and aspirations of building a united Fiji. The vehicle of multiracialism, non-existent during the colonial rule, took a new direction in an independent Fiji. It infused a hope and expectation that the jewel of the Pacific, Fiji, would be the torchbearer not only for the Pacific nations but also for all those newly-independent countries with multiracial populations. Together the two leaders abandoned confrontational politics, which gave way to the politics of reconciliation, reconstruction and redirection.

Thus the first few years of independence saw remarkable amity and goodwill prevail. The dream of creating one nation, one vote, one value and one people became a realisable goal. Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara even felt that inclusion of the Opposition members in cabinet could add impetus to building a truly multiracial Fiji. However, the NFP viewed this as being counterproductive in a Westminster system of democracy and declined to pursue it further. Fiji, in the lead-up to the next elections, was receiving applause and accolades from the international community for its success in achieving independence without bitterness or violence. Racial amity prevailed and added to the euphoria as the leaders revelled in their success.

In the May 1972 elections, the result showed a re-emergence of strong racial allegiances. Fijians relied on the pursuit of their ideals through the Alliance Party headed by their chiefs, and the Indo-Fijians through the NFP. European, part-Europeans and others aligned themselves with the Alliance Party. Both parties talked of multiracialism but found that to retain political tenure they had to espouse communal passions. Thus expression of racial issues could not be avoided and ethnic segregation became the natural consequence.

In fact, the hunky-dory perception of racial amity had been largely cosmetic. The embers of racism were still smouldering and were subsequently raked periodically, even more so during the elections. Their ugly glow constantly threatened the nation. The leaders tried to reduce the heat but never genuinely attempted to extinguish the fire. In the prevailing climate the mood of the public sometimes erupted, finding expression through the print media. Both external events and internal turmoil allowed racism to take root in Fiji’s politics.

In 1972, dictator Idi Amin banished 50 000 Indians from Uganda. The Indian diaspora was shaken by this event. Mutterings in Fiji increased. Letters to the editor columns and newspaper editorials expressed a variety of views and, not uncommonly, Fijian writers from the extremist fringe applauded Idi Amin. The event sent shock waves through the Indo-Fijian community. Success of Idi Amin’s campaign created a deep apprehension amongst Indo-Fijians. Extremist Fijians began to fan racial passions and, in 1975, this found expression in the Parliament through the motion moved by Sakiasi Butadroka, a former member of the Alliance Party, asking for repatriation of Indo-Fijians to India.

Though the motion moved by Sakiasi Butadroka was overwhelmingly defeated, that was not sufficient to allay Indo-Fijian fears. He aroused deep anti-Indo-Fijian feeling among the Fijians with his fiery rhetoric. The relationship between the Alliance and the NFP soured. Racial segregation began to impinge on the lives of the different races. Europeans coalesced strongly with Fijians, seeking the protection of their privileges and promoting their interests. The Europeans were small in number but held a powerful post-independence influence within Government.

Some Europeans held powerful ministerial positions and remained strong props within the Alliance Government. They retained their aversion and dislike for Indo-Fijians and their leaders, feeding Fijian communal passions. Observers claimed that the Europeans were hypocritical, posing as champions of the Fijian cause when in fact they were only securing their own economic, political and social interests.

In 1975, the Alliance rejected the Royal Commission report suggesting a change in the voting system. The report advocated twenty-five seats to be contested on common franchise with single transferable voting. The common roll system of voting remained an anathema to the Fijians. In rejecting it, the Alliance leadership made it clear that the common roll system of voting was unacceptable to them. The Prime Minister, Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, reacting to the report, said that Fijians had nothing to fear because he would oppose common roll for the rest of his political life.2

Naked rhetoric from time to time deepened racial feeling as each of the two dominant communities withdrew increasingly under the shelter of their ethnic leaders. The Europeans also held fears of Indo-Fijian domination under the common roll system of voting. Even if its intent was good, its implications were portrayed to Fijians as a surrendering of political power to Indo-Fijians, who comprised over fifty per cent of the population. Fijian reaction to such propaganda was vociferous, if not explosive.

Another issue of great importance to the Indo-Fijians was land. The majority were sugarcane farmers and they sought long-term secure leases from the Fijian landowners. Fijians however, perceived the Indo-Fijians as wanting to snatch their most valuable possession. Some reserved the leased land upon expiry of the leases to assert their right and a few to replicate Indo-Fijian success in the sugar industry. Large tracts of land were reserved and Indo-Fijian tenants evicted. In Koronubu, the sugar valley of Ba, many farmers were evicted during the 1960s.

Fijian landowners, who reclaimed land for sugarcane farming, began their new venture with generous support from the Government. In order to facilitate the Fijian advent into sugarcane farming, low interest loans were advanced to the farmers to enable them to build their homes, purchase draught animals and farm implements. New farmers began their work with gusto but soon ran aground. Loans were largely squandered by imprudent spending. For example, fertiliser for the farms bought by Fijians from the CSR Company was sold on to Indo-Fijian farmers thirty to forty per cent below the purchase price, while bullocks purchased for farm work were either sold at giveaway prices or slaughtered for traditional feasts. In a few years most farms had reverted to bush while some were re-leased to the Indo-Fijian farmers. The experiment in emulating Indo-Fijian farmers became the Fijian dilemma and the Government’s nightmare.

The Indo-Fijian evictees were resettled in mountainous virgin forestland to begin their toil anew. They began with a small clearing for establishing the family home and gradually by hand and with bullocks and bulldozers cleared the land. Bush, boulders and thickets gave way to sugarcane cultivation. They built roads, contoured, drained and fertilised the land and once again began the toil of restoration. Indo-Fijian homes began to sprout in areas where once angels had feared to tread.

In 1976, the Agricultural Landlord and Tenant Ordinance of 1969 was reviewed with a view to avoiding mass eviction of Indo-Fijian tenants leasing native land. It provided for renewal of leases for thirty years without right of renewal. It caused widespread concern among Fijians and anxiety in Indo-Fijians.

As proposed revision of the legislative provisions affected land, it needed the support of the thirty-nine members of the House of Representatives and six of the eight nominees of the Great Council of Chiefs in the Senate. The NFP could not reach a consensus, some holding that it was a bandaid solution to a national problem and needed to be solved with a long-term view in mind. The Government, noting the NFP quandary and the anxiety of Indo-Fijian farmers for a resolution, tabled the proposal in Parliament. With the support of some of the members of the NFP, the Bill was approved both by the Parliament and the Senate.

The Alliance rejoiced at the smooth passage of its Bill and looked forward to the subsequent disintegration of the NFP. It was a stroke that caused bitter internal strife in the NFP and the conflict could not be contained. Divided, they went to the polls on 4 April 1977 and, unexpectedly, won twenty-six of the fifty-two seats in Parliament. The Alliance Party won twenty-four seats with the FNP winning one seat and an independent one seat. The Alliance hoped for a rich harvest of votes from Indo-Fijian voters following the extension of land leases to the farmers. However, the NFP maintained its high-pressure campaign castigating the Alliance and making wild promises to the voters, resigned to the belief that their fate was to be glued to the opposition benches.

The scale, tilted in NFP’s favour, would later be shown to have been an inauspicious victory. Collectively, it created a stunning result. The Alliance had grossly underestimated the strength of the FNP and misread its Indo-Fijian support. In essence, the result was a victory to the one who was not prepared for it and defeat for the one who did not expect it. The victory was marked by quiet celebration initially, but later with despair. The NFP was unsure of its position, as the rift within had not eased between those that supported and those who opposed the ALTA legislation. An attempt was made by the NFP to form a coalition Government with the Alliance but this was rejected. An air of uncertainty hung ominously over Fiji.

The leaders of the NFP bickered among themselves and their leader S.M. Koya felt unsure of support within his own party. Indeed, the leader could not even harness comprehensive majority support sufficient to feel comfortable in the Prime Minister’s seat. The victory became a millstone around his neck as the people of Fiji waited anxiously for the unfolding of the political drama. Finally, the Governor-General, Ratu Sir George Cakobau, stepped in and used his constitutional powers in appointing a Prime Minister; a person whom he considered, in his deliberate judgment, best able to command support from the majority of the members of the House of Representatives. The Governor-General reappointed Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara as the Prime Minister.

As expected, the action of the Governor-General brought repudiation from the NFP and all those who opposed the Alliance. The political battle intensified and Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, as Prime Minister and a seasoned politician, could not wear such an uneasy crown for too long. The Alliance on 28 May 1977 sought a vote of confidence from the new Parliament and introduced a motion to this effect. In a tactical move, the NFP moved an amendment to it, stating that the will of the people, through the ballot, should be respected and that if advice for the dissolution of Parliament was tendered the Leader of the Opposition would be invited to form the Government.3 The amendment was carried in favour of the NFP by twenty-six votes to twenty-three. This paved the way for Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara to ask the Governor-General to dissolve the Parliament. Acting on the advice of the Prime Minister, the Governor-General dissolved the Parliament and the new elections were scheduled for 17–24 September 1977.

Effectively, the Alliance became a caretaker Government until the elections. In this period the Alliance recuperated but the NFP became deeply fractious. It divided into two factions, the Dove faction led by S.M. Koya and the Flower faction led by the Ramrakha–Narayan group. The division firmed within a short time as each group tried to outdo the other with flaming rhetoric. The Indo-Fijian voters shifted their allegiances to either the Dove faction or the Flower faction, while some chose the Alliance. An aggressive campaign was mounted by the Dove and Flower factions and it was labelled the bitterest political campaign in the history of the Indo-Fijian community.

The intra-communal fight was a gift to the Alliance Party. It received a double dose of support – one from a divided NFP and the other from Fijians. The Alliance campaign reminded the Fijians of the consequences of supporting the FNP. They were reminded that supporting the FNP could again erode Fijian political power as had been demonstrated in the previous election. Many Fijians who had supported the FNP returned to the Alliance fold. They were not prepared to see another defeat, noting that the FNP did not have the capacity to hold the reins of governance on its own.

In the election that followed, the Alliance won thirty-six seats, the NFP fifteen seats (Flower faction twelve and Dove faction three), and one independent seat was won by Ratu Osea Gavidi, a chief from Sigatoka in the west. The FNP did not win any seats. Collectively, the NFP again took up the role of the opposition. The Alliance rode high on popularity while the NFP made a concerted effort, belatedly, to reunite.

In 1979, Fiji commemorated 100 years since the arrival of Indians in Fiji. It was marked by national celebrations. The few girmitiyas still alive were honoured at the celebrations in each of the major centers. Tributes were paid to their sacrifices and to the contribution of the succeeding generations of Indo-Fijians. Political hostilities mellowed and in 1981, Mrs Indira Gandhi, the Prime Minister of India, came to Fiji as a guest of the Government. It was a momentous occasion for the Indo-Fijian community and she drew a huge response from the people of Fiji.

These events naturally brought buoyancy to Prime Minister Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara and his party as they prepared for the elections in 1982, aware from past political events that victory remained elusive but timing was of the essence. The NFP regrouped under a new leader, Jai Ram Reddy, but the underlying current of discontent was obvious. The NFP entered into coalition with the Western United Front (WUF) formed by Ratu Osea Gavidi, who had been an independent member in the previous parliament. Indo-Fijian response to a fractured NFP was not as enthusiastic, as their supporters were dismayed by the infighting and did not show their usual support.

The campaign between the Alliance and the NFP was virulent. Indeed, it mimicked the earlier elections. The Alliance appealed to its traditional support, espousing the importance of Fijian unity in retaining political power and thereby protecting their land, culture, customs and traditions. Without it, the Fijians were told, their land and other interests would be under threat by an alien race in their own country.

Emotions were whipped to fever pitch during the campaign period and racial antagonism between the two dominant races soared to a dangerous level. The NFP/WUF coalition poured scorn upon Alliance rule, accusing it of using the infamous Carroll Report to retain its hold on power as well as using CIA and big business backing during the elections. The Alliance accused the NFP of receiving one million dollars from Russian sources for their campaign effort. A letter purported to be signed by S.M. Koya, the former Leader of the Opposition, which implicated him in having facilitated the Russian deal with the NFP, also surfaced.

The tenor of the campaign and the bitterness it created was compared to the 1968 by-elections. The result of the elections was a comfortable victory for the Alliance. The NFP/WUF coalition did not go down well with the Fijians and WUF, espousing western Fijian solidarity, failed to win any seats. After the elections, a Royal Commission, appointed to adjudicate on the allegations made against the Alliance Party and the NFP during the campaign, dismissed the claims. Once again, race relations took a nosedive.

In its aftermath, the Great Council of Chiefs, the most powerful body in the Fijian hierarchy, passed a resolution demanding that Fiji’s Parliament be comprised of two-third Fijians, and that only Fijians hold the positions of Prime Minister and Governor-General. At this meeting, it was claimed that Prime Minister Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara and other chiefs had attempted to dissuade the chiefs from passing such a resolution, but despite this intervention it was passed.

The NFP claimed Alliance collusion with the chiefs but the Alliance denied it. If the FNP had caused anxiety among the Indo-Fijians, this resolution by the Great Council of Chiefs stunned them. It had become clear that the currents of racism ran deeper than they had initially thought. An earlier attempt by the Prime Minister Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara to float the idea of forming a government of national unity came to nothing as the NFP questioned its practicality without the necessary framework to facilitate its operation.

Tensions remained high following the elections. The relationship between the Speaker of the House, Tomasi Vakatora, and the NFP also soured. In December 1983 the Leader of Opposition, Jai Ram Reddy, clashed with the Speaker and it led to a walkout by the NFP members. Reddy claimed he would not return as long as the Speaker, Tomasi Vakatora, presided over the meetings. This comment virtually closed the door on Reddy’s return to Parliament as the Alliance tightened the noose and showed no sign of relenting.

In June 1984 the NFP members returned to Parliament but without Jai Ram Reddy. The NFP leadership was once again returned to the former leader S.M. Koya, who began his term with a vengeance, rewarding those who supported him and persecuting or restraining those who had opposed him. The bitter division resurfaced but it did not spill over as it had after the April 1977 elections. However, the shadow of the Dove/Flower faction loomed large over the NFP. The by-election for the Lautoka seat, following the resignation of Jai Ram Reddy, was bitterly contested between Dr Balwant Singh Rakka, a Koya supporter, and Devendra Singh, supported by the recalcitrant NFP youth wing, which was opposed to S.M. Koya. The by-election was won by Devendra Singh against all predictions and to the dismay and disappointment of S.M. Koya and his ardent supporters. Internal turmoil within the NFP intensified once again.

The division within the NFP, and the Alliance’s preaching of multiracialism while pursuing policies which inhibited racial integration, including its policies against the workers, gave birth to the Fiji Labour Party (FLP) on 6 July 1985. It was backed by the trade unions. With its widespread trade union support, it was destined to make a dent in the fickle political landscape of Fiji. It was projected and perceived to be the party cutting across the racial barriers and a real alternative to the arrogant Alliance and the fractious NFP. Many thought that appealing to voters on racial lines was a thing of the past.

The advent of the FLP infused a new hope and an option for people to move away from the race-based political parties. The FLP chose Dr Timoci Bavadra, a Fijian, as its leader and espoused a dream of creating a new Fiji and pursuing the principles of democratic socialism, being non-aligned, banning nuclear warships from using Fiji ports and fighting corruption and crime. It projected itself as the party for the ordinary people seeking goodwill, honesty and peace. Later it joined in coalition with the NFP and entered the 1987 elections.

For the first time a new scenario emerged in the elections on the national scene. The traditional battles of the past between the Alliance and the NFP reconfigured. The Alliance was shaken and waged an intensive campaign labelling the coalition partners incompatible with NFP, advocating capitalism and FLP socialism. The Alliance battle cry with its racial overtones, which had brought it home in the past, echoed across Fiji once again, suggesting to Fijians that they risked losing their political power, their culture and their land if the NFP/FLP Coalition came into power. In this respect, Fijians were cautioned that the proposed establishment of the Native Land and Resources Commission by the Coalition was a move that could result in Fijian landowners losing their land. The Alliance appealed to the people to judge it by its past record, which had given respect, dignity and stability to the nation.

However, the broad appeal of the Coalition manifesto appealed to some Fijians and their allegiance showed signs of moving away from their traditional support for the Alliance Party. Eastern and western Fijian feeling was stirred. The eastern Fijians were depicted as holding disproportionate sway in representation and authority in the government in comparison to the western Fijians. Anti-Lauan feelings were also stirred, implicating that Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, a high chief of Lau, had advantaged himself and his people. In effect, every missile was thrown by the parties to gain an advantage.

In the elections, the NFP/FLP Coalition won twenty-eight seats and the Alliance won twenty-four seats in the fifty-two seat parliament. In defeat, Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara displayed maturity and respect for democracy as he appealed to the nation to accept the verdict, saying:


… There can be no room for rancour or bitterness and I would urge that you display goodwill to each other in the interest of our nation. We must ensure a smooth transition to enable the new government to settle in quickly and get on with the important task of further developing our beloved country … Fiji was recently described by Pope John Paul as a symbol of hope for the world. Long may we so remain. God bless Fiji.4



These words marked the end of a spectacular era in the life of Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, who had served Fiji with distinction for seventeen years as Prime Minister. It also marked the dawn of a new age, although not without some apprehension. The new Government under the new Prime Minister, Dr Timoci Bavadra, moved swiftly to allay the anxieties of the people concerning its readiness to take over the reigns of Government. It began with the usual enthusiasm, pronouncing its policies and plans, which were meant to infuse the public with confidence.

The success of the NFP/FLP (Bavadra Government) at the polls had also created many victims in the Alliance camp. Unexpectedly, many had lost their seats, and those that were Ministers in the Alliance Government had to vacate their ministerial houses and survive without those benefits and values to which they had become accustomed. It was a bitter experience and few, if any, were prepared for it.

The vigour of the Bavadra Government in establishing itself as a credible and a stable Government was matched by its adversaries, comprised mostly of Alliance politicians and supporters, who began a campaign to denigrate the Bavadra Government in a bid to destabilise it. They projected the Bavadra Government as being an Indian Government and told the Fijians that they had lost the reins of government in their own country. They were told that their land, the role of the chiefs in their communal and national life, the future of Fijian civil servants, their customs and traditions, were all under threat. The promised witch-hunt against corruption during the Alliance reign was a ploy, by the Bavadra Government, to delude them and to embarrass their chiefs and the previous Alliance government.

Issues raised by the Fijian extremists evoked revulsion in the minds of ordinary Fijians, and this gave birth to the Taukei Movement to carry the message to the Fijian people through petitions, marches and civil disobedience. The flaming rhetoric and marches motivated the Fijians, and those who had strayed into the Bavadra Government camp responded to the appeal and returned to the fold. The powder keg was packed with incendiary racial bombs waiting to explode, while the nation relapsed into a nervous calm.

Reflecting on this era (1970–1987) and the impact of politics on the lives of the Indo-Fijians, the majority of whom lived in the villages, it would not be naïve to suggest that it brought the greatest change to their lives that they had ever experienced. Independent Fiji was different to colonial Fiji. Indo-Fijians adjusted to the new environment: independence gave them greater freedom and a collective voice in shaping the destiny of Fiji. The colonial masters, however, had left relics of the old regime who had chosen to remain in Fiji, and had retained their influence even though they were receding into insignificance, as their population had declined considerably by 1987.

Indeed, it was the 1970s decade that witnessed the greatest social and cultural change within the Indo-Fijian community. Women who had been dedicated to raising the family and assisting on the farm now began to enter the labour market. The traditional veil, which covered the face, slipped from their heads and they began to savour exposure and the opportunities in the new environment. Education of girls, which had been culturally unimportant in the past, now became as important as the education of boys. The 1970s was a period of cultural meltdown. Customs and traditions began to be redefined in relation to communal changes and external influences. Radio and Hindi films gave an added thrust to these changes.

Hindu marriages, traditionally consecrated at night, began to be consecrated during the day, while pundits began to conduct religious rituals ignoring the conventions and without necessarily being guided by the horoscopes. Even arranged marriages came to an end and match-making on caste considerations became a thing of the past. In this process of change, the place of religion lost some importance. The religious texts were no longer read as avidly in homes as in the past. However, the fear and love of God remained the solid spiritual anchor for the Indo-Fijians.

In the villages many Ramayan Mandlis ritually recited the Ramayan, Gita and other religious texts at public gatherings, although people participated with less enthusiasm than in the past. Even the children were not encouraged or given tuition in religion as was evident in the earlier period. This led to a process of degeneration in the quality of relationships both familial and within the community. Discipline and respect for elders and to the authorities began to gradually erode. The glitter of western culture attracted the younger generation and, in this pursuit, the cultural norms and the values that had carried the Indo-Fijian community thus far took a new direction.

However, there was a positive side to the changes. Indo-Fijian pursuit of education began to manifest strongly. Children were encouraged to learn English and teaching in Hindi and other vernacular languages faded in importance. Poverty, however, was not a reason for children to miss school, even though it retained its perennial presence. According to a 1968 Government survey ninety per cent of the farmers were in debt to money-lenders, shopkeepers and others.5 This made a heavy impact on their lives in the post-independence era.

In the post-independence period Indo-Fijian parents’ sacrifices began to bear fruit as their educated children began to assume public and private positions which had once been the domain of Europeans. Indo-Fijian lawyers, doctors, teachers, engineers and accountants began to make their mark and this further enthused the Indo-Fijian community to persevere in their determination to invest heavily in the education of their children. The new educated generation guided their parents, largely illiterate, through the changes brought about by national or global events.

Following Fiji’s independence, politicians of every stripe began to descend on the villages reaching out to rural people. The villagers were drawn into the web of power play. The peace and tranquillity of the village was somewhat lost as the battle to woo their support intensified. People who were hitherto coy and submissive began to be assertive. The Indo-Fijians relished the power of the ballot and its magnetism, which drew the politicians to their feet. It rejuvenated their spirits and they gained enormous political consciousness.

Scathing attacks by politicians against their adversaries brought response and reaction, which effectively divided the unity of the villagers. Each family began to be identified for its political association. This contributed to animosity and even affected the election of public positions in the village. The election of sardars, the office-bearers of local schools, and the rural advisory councillors who represented the village in the District Councils, also drew a political response.

Importantly, it raised political awareness among the people. It gave them an opportunity to interact with people outside the village and gain a greater insight into the workings of democracy. People enjoyed the new window of opportunity before them and the common perception of villagers as naïve and ignorant was no longer relevant.

Yet there was also a negative social response, which manifested strongly in the post-independence era. In the past, Indo-Fijians had congregated to participate in religious, cultural and social functions. Subsequently, they congregated to talk and gossip about politics and other mundane matters. The fuel to drive these animated discussions came from kava. Taken in excess it had an intoxicating influence, retarded mental and physical agility and was very addictive. People who consumed it regularly, in large quantities, developed cracked, bleeding skin, loss of appetite and other ailments.

In the Indo-Fijian community, people talked about the harm caused by kava. However, no one succeeded in turning off its tap – it flowed freely. The Indo-Fijians drank for cut (to get intoxicated) and left the bilo (drinking cup) and the bowl late at night. Kava became the social drink for most occasions. No function in an Indo-Fijian home was complete without it being consumed in copious quantities. Kava also contributed to social dislocation in homes, families and loss of productivity in the workplace.

The post-independence era saw a rapid shift within the Indo-Fijian community to a kava culture, which considerably harmed it in all respects. Previously, the consumption of kava had been discouraged by the elders and community leaders. There was also a cultural restraint. Young people, as a mark of respect, could not consume intoxicating substances in the presence of elders. However, this restraint lost its relevance as community leaders began to drink in public and, by their actions, invited others to emulate them. This spread like a virus through the Indo-Fijian community and many homes became an oasis for kava-thirsty souls.

Every evening, the villages echoed with the pounding of roots to reduce the kava to a powdered form. The powder was then placed in a soft cloth, water poured into it and a muddy extract squeezed out into a basin. This became the potent social nectar. Drinkers congregated under its powerful influence and engaged in conversation, which neither nourished their minds nor enriched their souls.

Comparatively, in the past, such gatherings had involved stimulating discussion, which explored the depths of Indo-Fijian religious and cultural philosophy. Such values were submerged in the dominant kava culture of the 1970s, which gave rise to a generation with different values. Village leadership lost its influence, the quality of leadership weakened, respect for authority declined and the kava culture emaciated the Indo-Fijian community.

It would be wrong though to assert that every Indo-Fijian was a ‘nagonchi’ (kava addict) although many families somehow became a victim of its influence and it had a negative impact on religion, cultural and social life, education and the economy. By the end of the century, the die was cast and Indo-Fijian leadership would make no attempt to save the Indo-Fijian community from kava’s unhealthy influence.

In the post-independence period, most observers believed that the Indo-Fijian leadership had failed its people. Its efforts were impeded by internal squabbles; most were keen to hold on to power and showed only limited vision. Those elected to Parliament wanted to secure their re-election, and those that had suffered defeat aspired to regain their place. These preoccupations dominated and the vision was usually lost to the expediency of holding on to power.

Besides this, critics held that the Indo-Fijians had another disadvantage in politics. They carried a large pool of professionals, mostly lawyers, who were part-time politicians, unable to fulfil or commit themselves as full-time leaders. This was the prime reason for Indo-Fijian leadership failing to produce people with commitment or vision to guide the destiny of Indo-Fijians. Politics never failed to attract leaders, but in some cases their prime interest was egotistic. They lacked the spirit of sacrifice and, indeed, many who entered the Parliament were merely birds of passage — highly conceited and self-seeking.

Indo-Fijian leadership influenced Indo-Fijian opinion considerably. The voters were attracted by the promise of riches and the fulfilment of their dreams and aspirations, aside from reason or reality. The new leaders took the stage by storm and kept their subjects entertained and enthralled. When the crunch came, the leaders evaporated, as they had after the first coup of 1987, regrouping when conditions improved.

Yet it would be naïve to categorise every Indo-Fijian leader as an opportunist. There were a few dedicated leaders who tried their best to chart a course to secure the Indo-Fijian future in Fiji. Their efforts were somehow frustrated by opportunists who were able to manipulate the minds of voters, and silence or sideline those who took the long-term view.

In the post-independence era, the politics of confrontation and provocation emerged in the leaders representing the individual ethnic interests. By their deliberate actions, they impeded racial integration. The racial divide in Fiji remained a gaping wound in the heart of a great nation. The result was catastrophic for Fiji and, in particular, for the Indo-Fijian community. The pervading climate of apprehension, fear and distrust between the two races intensified and was the prelude for the successive coups.








CHAPTER ELEVEN

THE COUP ERA


Coups ravaged Fiji and Indo-Fijians bore the violence,

In fear they recoiled, as Fijians showed malevolence. 

Fijians wore the glint of their hollow victory, 

Indo-Fijians grieved and many left the country.


Sit down everybody, sit down. This is a takeover. We apologise for any inconvenience caused. You are requested to stay cool, stay down, sit down and listen to what we are going to tell you. Please stay calm, ladies and gentlemen. Mr Prime Minister, please lead your team down to the right. Policemen, keep the passage clear, stay down and remain calm. Mr Prime Minister, Sir, will you lead your team now.




These words echoed through walls of the chamber of the Legislative Council as Colonel Sitiveni Rabuka entered the Parliament in session, with his hooded soldiers from the Fiji Military Forces, on 14 May 1987 at 10.15 a.m. and nullified the power of the ballot through the power of the bullet. Government members reacted with disbelief, but soon enough realised their predicament and submitted to the demands of the army. They were loaded into army trucks and transported to the Queen Elizabeth Barracks.

It was an auspicious day in the history of Indo-Fijians, for it marked the 108th anniversary of the arrival of Indians in Fiji. This had not been a day of celebration but a day of commemoration. If it had not always been remembered, this coup was certain to make it a more memorable day for them, although for the wrong reasons. However, one thing was certain about these events — these were days of sorrow and sadness for Indo-Fijians.

From the end of the girmit until this military coup the Indo-Fijian community had been beset with hurdles, yet it had kept itself focused and had adjusted to the changing political landscape of Fiji. Only one thing was certain: the uncertainty. Was Fiji going to take the road espoused by the extremist elements among the Fijians? Would there be a coup in Fiji? Did the Indo-Fijians have a secure future in Fiji? These were questions that preoccupied Indo-Fijian minds.

The majority of Indo-Fijians hoped that the message and demands of the Taukei Movement — comprising Fijian extremist elements bitterly opposed to the Bavadra Government and commonly labelled as the voice of a few misguided Fijians — would be subdued by the graciousness of the majority. Indo-Fijians continued their toil, retaining their symmetry and maintaining traits of good citizenship. Fiji had become the most dominant and successful nation among the Pacific islands and prided itself on its achievement, but the Indo-Fijian contribution was largely eclipsed. The colonial masters reacted to the Indo-Fijian work ethic and success with envy — the Fijians reacted with resentment. The ire of the leaders from both sides rose and sometimes anger boiled over and led to acrimonious debates in Parliament. By the time these issues — exacerbated by the media — were aired in public, racial feelings were stirred.

General elections were always volatile and ignited the use of the coarsest political language, intended to cause pain in the hearts and the minds of adversaries. It was usually no holds barred and peaked only when the votes were counted and the results declared. The 1987 election was truly a watershed in the history of Fiji. It culminated in the crucifixion of democracy. Racism, which had threatened it so ominously from time to time, finally devoured it.

The NFP/FLP Coalition Government (Bavadra Government) continued to be beset by a bitter campaign against it by the Taukei Movement, fanning the Fijian fears of losing their land, culture, customary and traditional rights. The irony of repeated lies is that eventually they attain the apparent status of truth, and thereafter any search for truth largely becomes irrelevant. As the Taukei Movement sensed a rising response to its propaganda among the Fijians, it organised a march through the city of Suva. The march on 24 April 1987 attracted over 3,000 Fijians carrying placards, some of which proclaimed:


Fiji belongs to the Fijians

We Fijians have no confidence in the Government

Stop this Indian government

Fiji not little India, say no

Change the Constitution immediately.1



This march was the precursor to what culminated in a military coup. The size of the march and the tenor of the leaders’ speeches whipped emotions and those Fijians who had been sitting on the fence were emotionally aroused and gravitated towards the Taukei Movement. Road blocks, attacks on Indo-Fijian leaders, fire-bombing of businesses owned by Indo-Fijians and fire-bombing of the offices of Jai Ram Reddy, the Attorney-General in the Bavadra Government, were features of the protests. The Government, to contain the protests and the attacks, had earlier charged Apisai Tora, a former member of the NFP and a leading member of the Taukei Movement, with sedition and inciting racial hatred.

Meanwhile, the Alliance Party, except those few in the forefront of the Taukei Movement, and its leader Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, maintained a deathly silence. Many had hoped that Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, as a national icon and an avid defender of democracy, would step in to ease the rising racial tension. However, there was no such response, and on this count Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara had to defend himself from allegations of being in cahoots with the ringleaders in the planning and execution of the coup.

Indeed, many were amazed at the swiftness with which Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara agreed to serve on the interim administration set up by Rabuka and his relative ease in adjusting to an authoritarian regime hell-bent on the persecution of Indo-Fijians. Those who questioned Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara’s commitment to multiracialism were in disbelief as he presided over, with apparent indifference, a regime which advocated naked racism towards the Indo-Fijian community.

On joining the interim administration Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara defended himself, claiming that if his house was on fire and his family inside there was no reason for him to wait.2 Critics claimed that by doing so, Mara had no qualms about joining Rabuka and aiding and abetting his illegitimate cause. It brought untold suffering and misery to its victims — mainly Indo-Fijians. David Lange, the Prime Minister of New Zealand, fumed and accused Mara of treachery and fomenting rebellion against the Queen. Simione Durutalo, a Fijian academic, castigated Mara saying that he had lied to the world about his commitment to multiracialism and democracy in Fiji.3

By its vociferous opposition to corruption and its declared intent to investigate those who had benefited in the previous government, the Bavadra Government invited the wrath of its opponents in the Alliance Party. Deposed Prime Minister Dr Bavadra had openly criticised the Alliance leader Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara for his policies, which he claimed had contributed to both Fijian poverty and the prosperity of those who had amassed wealth using their public position and traditional authority. Indeed, criticism was rife of the rapid rise of the Mara empire in real estate, agriculture, the tourist industry and other ventures.

As the Taukei Movement gained ground, the Government began a campaign to counter it by working swiftly towards fulfilling its election promises. It strongly asserted a non-aligned policy, banning all nuclear ships from Fiji ports, reducing diplomatic missions to cut costs and promising to probe allegations of corruption in high circles, fighting crime, unemployment and poverty. It reassured Fijians that it would not interfere with the Fijian Administration, which sourced its powers from the Fijian Affairs Ordinance. However, it proposed the establishment of a Lands Commission, which was interpreted by Fijian extremists as an attempt to encroach on the indigenous rights to their land with the ultimate goal of dissolution of the Native Land Trust Board and the Fiji Military Forces. Both were powerful Fijian institutions, already edgy towards the new Government. In hindsight, observers said that the intentions of Dr Bavadra’s Government were noble but the tactics were amateurish.

By acting in this manner the Government created a more avid response from its opponents. They feared that the longer the Government reigned the more danger there was of it strengthening its stranglehold on power. This set the two opposing parties in a bitter race and time was of the essence. However, in its foreign policy, the Government made a cardinal error of judgment in declaring a ban on nuclear ships in Fiji ports. This policy effectively incurred the wrath of America, the world’s leading nuclear power. Later, CIA complicity in the coup was alleged by the deposed Government. It was even suggested that some of the hooded soldiers who had carried out the coup included foreign soldiers, although this could not be substantiated.

During its short reign, the Government attempted to project an image of normalcy, but an uneasy calm rested over Fiji. The covert operations of the Taukei Movement had intensified and its attendant threat attracted public attention. Indo-Fijian apprehension increased and Fijian support for the anti-Government stance espoused by the Taukei Movement remained strong. The Fijians were bombarded with propaganda, which drew them closer and further alienated the Government. The architects of the coup had established a clandestine network comprising those of importance, and when the groundwork was done the final assault on Parliament was executed with military precision.

On the fateful day of the coup, Rabuka sat in the gallery like a leopard sitting in decoy and swiftly moved in with the balaclava-clad soldiers to end democratic rule in Fiji. At this significant moment Taniela Veitata, an Alliance Member of Parliament and a strong advocate of the Taukei Movement, was on his feet. He was delivering broadsides on Fijian conversion to Christianity, the peace and harmony which had resulted from it and the role of the chiefs, and was reminding the house of the philosophy of Mao Tse Tung that political power came from the barrel of the gun. He reassured the house, ‘In Fiji there is no gun, but our chiefs are here …’4

This sentence, though incomplete, marked the first entry of guns into Fiji politics. Those who had lost power called the coup destruction, while those who regained power called it restoration.

Following the coup, Government members were herded to the Queen Elizabeth Barracks, and later to the Prime Minister’s residence at Veiuto. They spent some excruciating moments together and found that engaging in prayer seemed to subdue the soldiers’ hostility towards them. Prayer became the healing balm for the prisoners and lifted their spirits. In this process, a unique bond took place between the Fijian and the Indo-Fijian members, which became evident when the soldiers tried to separate the Fijian members. Some thought that the Indo-Fijian members were going to be executed. Both the Fijian and the Indo-Fijian members tearfully held onto each other’s hands, some assuming that it was their last time together. The Indo-Fijian members were later kept at the Borron House.

Around Fiji, rumours fuelled the public’s heightened state of anxiety. Crowds of Indo-Fijians supporters waited at the gates of Borron House. Some claimed seeing coffin boxes being taken inside while others claimed to have seen bodies being loaded into vehicles. The truth remained elusive and credence was given to speculation. In weaving tales from the looms of fantasy one had only to congregate around the proverbial kava bowl. Truth and reason were lost in the smoke of conjecture. Six days later on 19 May the Government members were released, although the nation continued to simmer.

Violence by Fijians was unleashed against the person and property of the Indo-Fijians with the connivance of the police and the military. Indo-Fijians bore the brunt of the Fijian wrath without retaliation. Dr Balwant Singh Rakka, the President of the National Federation Party, claimed that it was to the distinct advantage of Fiji that in the Indo-Fijians they did not have a race that resorted to violence. Communal violence and bloodshed in Fiji had been avoided, not by Fijian kindness, but by Indo-Fijian magnanimity. He said the credit truly belonged to Indo-Fijians who never ascribed to violence to seek justice. Fijians could mobilise themselves into groups, rampage without fear, knowing that Indo-Fijians would not retaliate and, at worst, they had the army and the police behind them.

Following the coup, Rabuka appointed his Council of Advisors from the Alliance and the Taukei Movement, the most prominent being Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara. Rabuka rode high on popularity, and was hailed as the Messiah by the Fijians. He beamed even when a smile was inappropriate and kept the nation and the Indo-Fijians on the edge. Observers claimed that his rapid rise to power caused irreparable damage to the traditional structure of Fijian hierarchical society. He, and not the chiefs, consequently came to the forefront to lead the Fijians. The traditional authority of the chiefs plummeted and Rabuka comfortably forgot that one of the key reasons for the coup was to restore power back into the hands of the traditional chiefs.

As Rabuka strengthened his position, the deposed Government members, including Dr Bavadra, travelled the globe seeking foreign assistance in the restoration of their Government. What Bavadra discovered was the typical foreign bark without the bite. Most leaders — except for Prime Minister David Lange of New Zealand — avoided giving audience to Dr Bavadra. However, during the crucial days of the coup the same leaders had responded with sanctimonious maxims lauding democracy and decrying Rabuka.

The South Pacific Forum also gave a cold response to the deposed Government delegates at its meeting, almost acquiescing, if not quietly rejoicing, at what had happened in Fiji. The United Nations roared but later recoiled into predictable silence. The United States bubbled with joy. The Sydney Morning Herald quoted an unofficial Pentagon response on 16 May:


We are kind of delighted. All of a sudden our ships could not go to Fiji and now all of a sudden they can. We got a little chuckle about the news. But it’s a touchy situation. We believe in free elections. Overthrowing governments is not the way to do business.5



The British response was interesting. At the Commonwealth Conference held in Vancouver, Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher refused to act on economic sanctions against South Africa and spoke in favour of retaining Fiji in the Commonwealth despite the annihilation of democracy through a military coup. However, the will of the ‘iron lady’ could not prevail and Fiji’s membership lapsed. Later, in March 1988, she opened her doors at Downing Street to Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, the military-installed Prime Minister, and had an hour of ‘very friendly’ talks.6 Ironically, she had refused to see the deposed Prime Minister Dr Bavadra when he was in London immediately after the coup.

Realising that globe-trotting for help was an exercise in futility, some of the deposed Government members returned to Fiji and endeavoured to resurrect a Fiji where the freedom and rights of people were not subjugated in the name of indigenous rights. The leaders realised that it was not possible to regain power and took a conciliatory stance opting for a bipartisan approach to the governance of the nation. This led to an agreement between the parties called the Deuba Accord, which facilitated the formation of a caretaker government under the Governor-General, Ratu Sir Penaia Ganilau, with members drawn from the deposed Government, the Alliance Party and other sources. The plan was widely lauded, but not by those who were behind the coup.

The Taukei Movement rejected the Deuba Accord as Rabuka sensed his gradual demise, with assignment to the barracks or, at worst, being charged with treason. He responded to the threat with a second coup on 25 September 1987 in defiance of the wishes of the paramount chiefs, the Governor-General, Ratu Sir Penaia Ganilau and Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, who were party to the discussions and the agreement. It was against Fijian protocol to defy the chiefs and, indeed, Rabuka had lauded them as the wise men in Fijian society. He told journalists in one of his earlier interviews:


The chiefs are the wise men in Fijian society, the guardians of tradition. Take the power and give it to commoners and you are asking for trouble.7



However, when it did not suit him, Rabuka repudiated this claim. He blatantly defied the chiefs, exposing his hidden agenda. With the authorities silenced and the army mobilised, a vicious response followed, with the arrest of Indo-Fijian politicians, civil servants, journalists and others, who were an impediment — real or imagined — to Rabuka’s designs. Some Indo-Fijian leaders and Fijian members of the Coalition were rounded up, detained, questioned, harassed, abused or assaulted.

In one incident at Ba, Vinod Patel, the Managing Director of Vinod Patel and Co. Ltd — a prominent NFP member, the former Ba Mayor and Indo-Fijian leader — was rudely awoken at six a.m. and dragged outside by his hair, while his distraught family and the neighbours looked on. In the process of arrest, a shot was fired into the kitchen floor, which ricocheted dangerously. Patel was thrown onto the floor of an army van and driven to FSC Hall at Rarawai, where other distressed Indo-Fijians, including the former Mayor of Ba, Dijendra Singh, were sprawled face down on the floor. Later, they were transferred to Lautoka and detained at Natabua jail.8 Elsewhere a state of anarchy prevailed. Hindu temples, a Sikh shrine and a Mosque at Lautoka were set on fire. Gangs of Fijian youths, aided and abetted by the army and the police, moved menacingly against Indo-Fijians. Indo-Fijians took cover, avoiding the hot spots and the mobs.

The Governor-General, Ratu Sir Penaia Ganilau, sensing an impasse, abdicated his position. On 6 October 1987 Rabuka declared Fiji a Republic. He appointed his own council of advisors, many with dubious distinction. The judiciary, including the Chief Justice Sir Timoci Tuivaga, refused to serve under the new regime and the military government appointed new judges and magistrates replacing those who refused to serve under it.

In November, Rabuka rose to the rank of Colonel and in December 1987, imperilled and caught in his own web, he mustered the support of the chiefs and, following negotiations with Ratu Sir Penaia Ganilau and Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, he abdicated his position as Head of State. He dissolved his council of advisors and appointed Ratu Sir Penaia Ganilau as President of the Republic of Fiji and Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara as the new Prime Minister. Following this appointment, Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara appointed a twenty-one member interim administration, which included four military officers. This brought a sigh of relief to the besieged nation as the ordinary people felt more secure under Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara than Rabuka with his gun-toting soldiers. With this arrangement, the Chief Justice and some of the other judges returned to the bench.

In the aftermath of the coup, Fiji was grievously wounded on many fronts. It had contributed to economic decline, unemployment and devaluation of the dollar with a consequent rise in consumer goods, an adverse impact on tourism, closure of schools and an exodus of doctors, teachers and other professionals. Restoration of Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara to the position of Prime Minister gave little respite to Indo-Fijian anxiety as the military and Taukei Movement continued to influence the decisions of the Government. Governance of the nation was by decree.

While the nation was still reeling from the effects of the coup, a shipment of arms surfaced in Fiji. The discovery of the arms, which were subsequently confiscated by the army, brought race relations in Fiji to an explosive level. The Indo-Fijians were implicated in the import of arms and the Fijian response was acerbic. Those Indo-Fijians suspected in the import of the arms bore the wrath of the army and the police. Fiji was in a heightened state of internal security, as the source and the reasons for the importation of arms remained a mystery. This gave the Government an opportunity to promulgate draconian decrees giving wide-ranging powers to the army.

During Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara’s term the Internal Security Decree was introduced in June 1988, which gave the army authority to shoot to kill anyone resisting arrest or in possession of arms. Under its powers, raids on Indo-Fijian homes and the harassment of Indo-Fijian leaders suspected of complicity in the importation of illegal arms became rampant. The military stalked the Indo-Fijian community as if the entire community had rebelled against the Fijian people and the nation. However, the Indo-Fijian response remained muted. Despite harassment and provocation they refused to be drawn into the dragnet of Fijian violence.

Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara’s term, under a military-backed regime, also marked the introduction of the controversial 1990 Constitution which advocated positive discrimination against Indo-Fijians. This invited world-wide condemnation. It effectively entrenched the British model of pluralism, which inhibited racial integration; Christianity was declared the official religion of Fiji and a bicameral legislature was established with sixty-nine seats: thirty-seven for Fijians, twenty-seven for Indo-Fijians, one for Rotuma, four for General electors and a thirty-four member Senate appointed by the President with twenty-four chiefs, one Rotuman and nine non-Fijians.

The appointment of the President (a Fijian) became the prerogative of the Great Council of Chiefs, who then appointed the Prime Minister, also a Fijian. Voting was communal and rested on exclusionary characteristics. The only respite it gave the nation was the lifting of the Sunday ban, which had caused widespread disruption of transport, weekend sport, trade, industry and tourism. Strong advocates of Sunday ban — the Methodist Church and other churches — found, to their dismay, empty pews, as people could not get transport to attend Sunday church. Besides, its impact on Fiji’s economy could not be ignored and Sunday ban had to be lifted. Religious fanaticism could not continue to ignore reason.

However, it was not long before the reality dawned. The impact of isolation and external pressure began to impinge strongly on the Government and it could not ignore the international voice or internal resistance of those who were its victims. The pipe dream of the nationalists for overnight prosperity for Fijians remained elusive. It led to the interim Government relenting in the application of their extremist policies while the Taukei Movement seethed in the background. In 1992, the Government decided to go to the polls, under the 1990 Constitution, to give a semblance of democracy and legitimacy to the Government.

Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara retired from politics and became the Vice President of the Republic of Fiji. This made way for Rabuka to seek the position of Prime Minister, which he thought was within easy reach because of the constitutional provisions and his popularity with Fijians. To secure his place, the chiefs launched the Soqosoqo Ni Vakabulewa ni Taukei (SVT) party appealing to Fijians to unite and support Rabuka en masse to give him the political leverage to guide their destiny. Rabuka led the SVT party, which won thirty seats in the House of Representatives. It did not have a clear majority as the Fijian National United Front won five seats and the independents won two of the Fijian seats. The NFP and the FLP, which had formed the deposed Government, became bitter enemies and fought the elections with NFP winning fourteen Indian communal seats and FLP winning thirteen of a total of twenty-seven seats.

Rabuka’s desire to be elected Prime Minister was precariously poised. It only became a reality with FLP’s conditional support seeking review of the constitution, revocation of labour decrees, the scrapping of value-added tax and discussions on land leased to Indo-Fijians under the ALTA legislation. Rabuka readily agreed to these conditions and gained his position.

Leader of the NFP, Jai Ram Reddy, became the Leader of the Opposition and a new journey began in the governance of Fiji, under the shadow of democracy. In 1994 Fiji again went to the polls following the defeat of the Government’s 1993 budget. This time Prime Minister Rabuka strengthened his position by one seat, winning thirty-one of the thirty-seven Fijian seats, the NFP won twenty seats while the FLP — having paid a heavy price for lending its support to Rabuka in becoming the Prime Minister — won only seven seats. Not having an absolute majority again, Prime Minister Rabuka’s position remained precarious and he had to rely on credible support from other parties.

Soon after the accession of Rabuka to the office of Prime Minister, the juggernaut of racism began to stall as its adverse impact began to manifest in rampant unemployment, spiralling costs of basic food items, low sugar production, the tourism industry taking a plunge and a genuine sense of regret and frustration revealing itself in Fijians and Indo-Fijians. Prime Minister Rabuka soon realised that he could neither ignore the ominous signs locally, nor remain a pariah in the international community. Foreign pressure remained constant upon his government to change the 1990 Constitution and to bring it into harmony with the international norms and conventions.

Gradually but surely, many felt that lessons had been learnt — though belatedly — and Fiji edged closer towards a restoration of democracy. Prime Minister Rabuka began to mellow, realising that the utopia of Fijian prosperity could not be attained by restraining or robbing the Indo-Fijians. He realised that the unity of Fiji was vital for its growth and stability. He made a U-turn, abandoning racism and taking the road of multiracialism, to the astonishment of most. He did it with heart, and some claimed that he eclipsed Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara’s pursuit of multiracialism from 1970 to 1987. The tone and tenor of his speeches changed considerably. Prime Minister Rabuka, the racist, became a pacifist and a realist in the latter part of his term.

Spurred by foreign pressure and Indo-Fijian appeals, Prime Minister Rabuka appointed the Fiji Constitution Review Committee headed by Sir Paul Reeves, the former Governor-General of New Zealand, Professor Brij Lal, (Indo-Fijian) of the Australian National University and Tomasi Vakatora (Fijian), a former parliamentarian and the Speaker of the House, to review the Fiji constitution. The Committee worked strenuously at formulating a Constitution, which was founded on precepts that would accelerate racial integration. The Constitution rested on a multiparty power sharing the voting system, away from a communal focus to open voting to reduce the ethnic orientation of Fiji’s politics. It advocated forty-five open seats and twenty-five seats contested on ethnicity.

The Joint Parliamentary Select Committee, however, appointed to instil the political desires and aspirations of the leaders into the new Constitution, later reversed this to forty-six communal seats and twenty-five cross-voting parliamentary seats. Prime Minister Rabuka’s achievement in getting the Constitution approved with unanimity by the Great Council of Chiefs, the House of Representatives and the Senate became legendary. It went against the prediction of political pundits who prophesied that it would fail, taking note of the past antagonistic Fijian response to Indo-Fijian political equality. However, Prime Minister Rabuka played his cards with skill and delivered a Constitution which brought him international applause.

In this difficult journey he gained the faith, trust and understanding of the Leader of the Opposition, Jai Ram Reddy, and both began working towards making Fiji truly a multiracial nation established on the foundations of a noble constitution. The FLP retained a cautious response, being generally opposed to most things the NFP pursued, with or without Prime Minister Rabuka. The Constitution was the NFP’s greatest achievement as its contribution towards its formulation was powerful, if not passionate. Both parties, NFP and Labour, remained bitter towards each other and this intensified in the build-up to the 1999 general elections, conducted under the auspices of the new 1997 Constitution.

The NFP, SVT and the United General Party (UGP) joined hands to fight the elections under one platform. The NFP went to the polls carrying the laurels of its achievement of working in harmony with Rabuka, with the new Constitution as evidence of a momentous feat. But this worked against its expectations as the FLP reminded voters that the NFP had aligned with Prime Minister Rabuka, the very person who had executed the coup against the Indo-Fijian dominated Government in 1987. This worked in the same way that it had against the FLP in the 1994 elections, when the NFP alleged that the FLP supported Rabuka to become Prime Minister. The Indo-Fijian voter response routed the NFP from the Parliament.

The FLP won the election decisively with thirty-seven seats for itself and its allies, the Fijian Association Party ten seats and the Party of National Unity (PANU) four seats; Prime Minister Rabuka’s SVT Party won only eight seats and its allies five seats. The FLP was able to form a Government and Mahendra Pal Chaudhary became the first Indo-Fijian Prime Minister of Fiji. It was a significant verdict, which surprised former Prime Minister Rabuka and he exited from Parliament and became Chairman of the Great Council of Chiefs, the most powerful Fijian institution. Prime Minister Rabuka’s term had marked the extremes of Fiji politics. He had won his office by persecuting the Indo-Fijians and lost it when he tried to even the playing field through the medium of the 1997 Constitution. He became a national and an international icon, but a pariah within his own community.

Following the elections, the choice of its leader, Mahendra Chaudhary, by the FLP as Prime Minister was not without controversy as the members from the allied camps including the Fijian members from the FLP itself had aspired for the office. However, with support from the President Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, Mahendra Chaudhary was sworn into office as Prime Minister. He began his programme by fulfilling the popular election policies. The FLP had effectively broken the monopoly of communal politics in Fiji, choosing policies that advocated social and economic development, strongly alluding to equality and justice, over the politics of race. To prove his sincerity and credibility Prime Minister Chaudhary appointed the majority of his cabinet members from the Fijian members of his party and those allied to it.

Government popularity rose in the public opinion polls in the first six months, but that did not dampen the spirits of those Fijian leaders who had risen to prominence in the Mara/Rabuka regime, nor prevent them harvesting the fruits by holding on to lucrative positions. They retreated to a racial approach and began an internecine campaign, projecting the Chaudhary government as anti-Fijian.

The proposal by the Chaudhary Government to pay $28 000 each to the Indo-Fijian lessees evicted from Fijian land was highlighted as being discriminatory, with no assistance being given to Fijian farmers who had taken over the land upon expiry of the leases. Once again, the dirge of racism was replayed to poison the minds of Fijians against the Chaudhary Government. Even some from the Indo-Fijian business community, mostly Gujeratis, alleged persecution against its interests as Chaudhary instigated investigations into tax evasion, and they cooled towards the Government’s policies.

In the process of achieving his objectives, Chaudhary was anxious but not over-cautious. He clearly alienated the media, which aided his opponents. His idea to appoint a Land Use Commission to promote better utility of land for the benefit of landowners and tenants was portrayed by his adversaries as a policy against the landowners and the Native Land Trust Board. The perceived threat to Fijian institutions, land, culture and traditions, under an Indo-Fijian dominated Government, surfaced once again. Land had always been a volatile and emotional issue for the Fijians. They were prepared to defend it with their lives. These sentiments were evoked by the extremist elements and Fijians, in a spirit of anger, once again lost the thread of reason.

Dr Balwant Singh Rakka, while President of the NFP, asserted that there had never been any occasion in the history of Fiji when the Indo-Fijians had challenged ownership of Fijian land. All they asked for was security of tenancy. Indeed, in the history of Fiji, he claimed, there had never been a forceful occupation or seizure of a centimetre of Fijian land by the Indo-Fijians. Yet the early European settlers, with the connivance of the colonial Government, had robbed the Fijians of prime land in exchange for matches, muskets, liquor, tobacco or clothes. The Europeans had preyed on the gullibility of the Fijians and they were fleeced of almost half a million acres of freehold land.

Dr Rakka claimed that Fijian leaders planted fear in the mind of Fijians of a perceived threat of alienation of their land to the Indo-Fijians. He asserted that it could never happen for two reasons. First, the entrenched provisions in the Constitution protected Fijian land, and second, because of the inherent fear of reprisal from the Fijians. Land issues, at crucial times, invited not a reasoned but an emotive and sometimes violent response from the Fijians, thus creating grave fear in Indo-Fijians who wished to avoid the risk of violence and bloodshed.

During this new gestation period of fomenting discord by the extremists, the manager of the Native Land Trust Board, Marika Qarikau, mounted a vicious campaign against the Government, seeking the support of the landowners and the provincial councils in demanding the return of all state and freehold land to native ownership. With Qarikau at the helm, the NLTB became a powerful piece of anti-government machinery. It began a blatant campaign against the Chaudhary Government, evoking so much hatred from Fijian landowners against the Indo-Fijian tenants that eighty per cent indicated they would not renew leases due to expire within the next few years. The NLTB operated as if it was a law unto itself, not subject to, or answerable to the Government and, as will be seen later, Indo-Fijian tenants, mostly sugarcane farmers, became victims of mass eviction at the dawn of the new century.

As extremist elements incited Fijian communal passions, the NLTB campaign culminated on 19 May 2000, in a march of almost 5000 supporters through the streets of Suva led by the Taukei Movement and some of the former SVT Parliamentarians. A hardcore element of the group led by George Speight — a part-Fijian and failed businessman — entered the Fijian Parliament while it was in session, and held Prime Minister Chaudhary and his parliamentary colleagues hostage. They demanded their resignation. A few complied and left the premises while others, including Fijian members of the FLP and those parties aligned to it, were held captive amid threats of being shot. Among those held included President Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara’s daughter Adi Koila Nailatikau, who was a Minister in the Chaudhary Government, and other Fijian Ministers and members of the Parliament.

Both the police and the army response was muted amid rising support for George Speight. The Parliament building became the focus of world media as George Speight articulated his strategies unilaterally, while his wild band of supporters cheered and danced to the music of hate. In the meantime, the victims suffered in the confines of the Parliamentary chambers. Indo-Fijians once again became a community under siege. They were violated but they themselves did not engage in violence. They exercised reason, endured the pain and looked to the United Nations, the Commonwealth and outside countries to restore sanity, reason and democracy.

Prime Minister Chaudhary and his colleagues were held captive for fifty-six days in the Parliament buildings and the nation was held to ransom. Indo-Fijians bore the brunt of Fijian wrath and brutality in central and northern divisions. In Muaniweni, a village in Tailevu district, the Indo-Fijian community was brutalised. Fijians who had been their friends the day before became part of the malevolent force wreaking racial vengeance on Indo-Fijians. They acted as if they had never known them, which shocked the victims. In fear of their lives, some families spent several nights in the jungle. Physical violence against individuals and families, destruction of homes and looting of their possessions created mass hysteria. Allegations were even made that police vehicles had been used to transport slaughtered animals belonging to Indo-Fijian farmers to the Parliament buildings to feed the frenzied band of Speight supporters.

The entire Fijian community, however, did not engage in violence against Indo-Fijians. The truth was that the silent majority was manipulated by the hysteria of extremists whose cause was aided and abetted by the tacit support of the military, the police, and also the Great Council of Chiefs, which gave conflicting signals at crucial times. In the western part of Viti Levu, Fijians did not support the violence against Indo-Fijians that ravaged the central and northern districts. Even in those districts, many Fijians gave Indo-Fijian neighbours shelter to protect them from the rampaging mobs responding to George Speight’s fiery rhetoric.

As a state of anarchy, without police or military intervention, prevailed, Indo-Fijians from Muaniweni moved to the western division and settled in as refugees at the Fiji Girmit Council premises in Lautoka. In the city of Suva, shops were looted and burnt by Fijian louts as the police and the army maintained a token presence. The Indo-Fijian community again avoided the trouble spots and largely remained indoors, waiting for the ferocity of the storm to subside. The Chief Justice of Fiji, Justice Tuivaga, referred to it as one of the most traumatic episodes in Fiji’s history.9

This event created a deep chasm in race relations. The old wound bled profusely, and no one had the power, authority or will to apply medication to its festering. If anything, leadership in the Fijian community had gravitated towards people who espoused the retention and practice of racism as a way of retaining political power. They became beneficiaries of a situation created by George Speight. They clung to the belief that they and future Fijian leaders could only hold on to power if they continued to play the tune of hate against Indo-Fijians. Persecuting the Indo-Fijians had become a favourite ploy, oblivious to the harm it was causing the Fijians, the Indo-Fijians and Fiji as a nation.

Subsequent events proved that behind the façade of Indo-Fijian hate that had culminated in the civilian coup of 2000, there was also a hidden agenda to remove Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara as President and to restore the traditional power of governance into the hands of the Kubuna Confederacy, the traditional rulers of Fiji, which had its seat of power in the chiefly island of Bau. In this saga, Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, a paramount chief and the most distinguished leader in the recent history of Fiji, lost his office in tragic circumstances with threats of violence against him by his own people.

Some sources claim that Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara’s abdication was really a coup within a coup. It was executed by the military, using traditional Fijian protocol and prevailing upon him to abdicate from his office as President of the Republic of Fiji. Without the support of the army at this crucial time he capitulated. These sources claim that if the military had stood by Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara, he may never have left his office. As the coup drama intensified he, with his family, was moved to a naval vessel for their safety.

It became clear later that the Chaudhary Government was used as a decoy to achieve other intra-communal objectives. With Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara removed, Speight’s power and ambition increased. Backed by the frenzied support at the Parliament buildings and riding the crest of unprecedented popularity, he even defied the Great Council of Chiefs and the army to pursue both the known and the greater hidden agenda.

Speight, however, had miscalculated in his crude banishment of Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara. It dangerously stirred the nerves of many Fijians previously unaware of the plan to depose him as President. Following Mara’s abdication, the western Fijians fumed, and secessionist moves came to light. The army, which had itself shown signs of divided loyalty and was generally slow in response, under a reluctant leadership, reinvigorated itself. Following the release of the hostages and the surrender of arms as part of the Muanikau Accord, in agreement with the army, George Speight had lost his power to manipulate, dictate and intimidate. The army caught up with him at a checkpoint. He was arrested and exiled to Nukulau Island with a number of his close associates and charged with treason.10 With the tiger in the cage, Fiji sighed in relief. However, the impact of it had shaken Indo-Fijians and many, looking back to their past, were troubled by the uncertain future ahead.

Reflecting on the coups, critics claimed that both Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara and Rabuka became victims of their own making. They had failed to extinguish racism, occasionally using it to their own advantage. Racism, sustained by the fuel of emotion, was a tiger and those who mounted it were usually devoured by it. In arrogating the power of governance exclusively in Fijian hands, an unrealistic level of expectation was aroused in the Fijians. When the promise of Fijian prosperity did not eventuate, Fijian hopes became Fijian despair and Indo-Fijians the ultimate victims as Fijian leaders laid the blame on them for Fijian poverty.

Reflecting on Fiji’s early history, Dr Balwant Singh Rakka recalled that the British design in the recruitment of indentured labourers had retained its merit to the advantage of the British and of Fiji. They strictly forbade recruitment of Punjabis and the Kshatriyas, the warrior caste from India. In this they exercised vision and foresight. If these warrior castes had comprised the girmitiyas, Fiji would have experienced unprecedented violence during the post-indenture period. In his view they had deliberately recruited the more pliant of Indians rather than those who would have matched violence with violence.

It was for their traits of meekness, submissiveness and obedience, Dr Rakka grieved, that Indo-Fijians had paid a heavy price and continued to do so in Fiji. In his view, the Indo-Fijian traits of fortitude, endurance and tolerance had reached the point of fatalism during the girmit and had continued to manifest from time to time to the distinct advantage of Fiji and its indigenous people. The Indo-Fijians had offered no resistance to those who had violated them. The coup era was a time of apprehension and fear, marked by the exodus of Indo-Fijians to other countries. Thousands left, seeking the peace, tranquillity, happiness and security that had constantly eluded them in Fiji.








CHAPTER TWELVE

THE FIJI MALADY — CAUSES, CONFLICTS AND CASUALTIES


Race and religion emerged as divisive elements

In the fire of hatred, reason was lost to miscreants. 

Preachers of love turned into practitioners of hate,

Malice and hatred spat from the shepherds’ gait




Racism has been responsible for more deaths, pain and suffering in the world than any other cause. Fiji, heralded as a beacon of hope for multiracial and multicultural nations, was hiding the embers of racial hatred even as the world heaped praises on it — singing in chorus, ‘Fiji, the way world should be’. Fijian ire against Indo-Fijians continued for decades until finally it spilled over and culminated in the military (1987) and civilian coups (2000). The Fijian leadership kept up a sustained campaign, claiming that Indo-Fijians were the cause of Fijian privation. The use of racism as a political tool against the Indo-Fijians advantaged the Fijian aristocracy.

On the subject of economic dispossession, Alumita Durutalo, a Fijian academic at the University of South Pacific, made this clear:


Increasingly, the post-colonial Fijian ruling class found itself incapable of solving these problems. As a reaction the Eastern Fijian dominated Alliance Party, which inherited the structures of the colonial state at independence in 1970, equated the problems with other races in Fiji, especially Indo-Fijian … Logically then the source of indigenous Fijian problems cannot be located in the presence of Indo-Fijians.



One writer to whom Durutalo alluded wrote:


By restricting Fijian people to their communal life style in the face of a rapidly developing economy, the average Fijian has become more and more backward. This is particularly invidious when the leaders themselves amassed huge personal wealth by making use of their traditional and political powers.1



Race is a fact of life — a fact that ideally should mean no more than the identity of a community of people with its own distinctive culture, traditions and customs. However, in many countries the distinctiveness of race has been the cause of conflicts that have degenerated at times into violence and destruction. Fiji has been one of those unfortunate countries. Although the gravity of this aggression has not led to many deaths, it has certainly caused enormous damage and destruction. Fiji has been simmering with racial discord for several decades and the two dominant communities, Fijians and Indo-Fijians, have been its greatest victims.

Surprisingly, a problem of such magnitude has not induced Fiji’s leadership to identify and attempt to eliminate the racism that has seeped into the fabric of life in the country. Instead, to many leaders, racism has become a vital political tool to secure their power and position. This factor continues to wield enormous clout during elections, as the people respond to its appeal, discarding the politics of reason for the politics of deceit.

Sadly, Fiji rises and falls, battered by the winds of hate stirred up by racism. Everyone speaks privately of its evil impact; few speak publicly of it. Each community has its own perspectives, holding on to them without creating opportunities to remove racism from their midst. Fijians and Indo-Fijians have much in common but this has not been used to strengthen the unity and understanding so vital in building any nation.

The pioneer generation of Indo-Fijians was brought to Fiji to provide the labour needs for an emerging colonial outpost. This was a political and economic necessity. The British did not want to disturb traditional Fijian society and considered it prudent not to introduce Fijians to the cash economy, encouraging them to live in their traditional communes, earning their livelihood largely through subsistence farming.

With Fijians isolated, the burden of meeting the labour needs for the economic growth of colonial Fiji fell on the indentured labourers and their descendants. The entire period of indenture was brutal and cruel. Human labour was exploited with no regard for the victims and when indenture came to an end, the established traits of endurance and perseverance became the dominating influence in the lives of successive generations of Indo-Fijians. With such inherent qualities, Indo-Fijians made relatively large strides in the social, economic and political life of Fiji.

The burden of the indenture era — to provide for the labour needs of Fiji — continued unabated during the post-indenture period. The sugar industry became the lifeline of the nation and Indo-Fijians took over where the white planters had left off, making a success of Fiji’s sugar industry through their persistent toil, despite the cream having been taken by the CSR Company.

In the period leading up to Fiji’s independence in 1970, the Fijian contribution to Fiji’s economic life was passive but significant. They provided most of the land that was leased by Indo-Fijians for the cultivation of sugarcane. Before independence, Fiji had rested on a three-legged stool: European capital, cheap Indian labour and Fijian land.2 The Europeans and Indo-Fijians had greater interaction between them in the social and economic life of Fiji, yet the European attitude towards the Indo-Fijians remained cool, if not hostile.

Fijians, being estranged from economic pursuits, continued to lag behind and a sense of envy and animosity grew towards Indo-Fijians. Generally, Fijians were content with their social, economic and political structures. The authority of the chiefs strengthened while that of the commoners decreased. A new system of administration emerged that controlled the life of Fijians. Of this Durutalo wrote:


This new synthesis was neither traditional nor modern and it gave rise to a system in which those who were governed by it battled a dual system of oppression and exploitation, which was maintained partly through communal patronage.3



The chiefs’ authority and power was protected and promoted by the Government and where there was defiance it was remedied, sometimes with coercion. The Provincial Councils and the District Councils, headed by lesser chiefs, became the vehicles for promoting the chiefly rule and their authority reached to the village level. This system of administration remained intact until a change occurred in 1963, when the right of franchise was extended to Fijians.

The colonial Government astutely drove a wedge of distrust between Fijians and Indo-Fijians, continuing to inflame Fijian opinion, from time to time, against Indo-Fijians to inhibit integration and to dissuade any possible united resistance to its rule. Fijians were occasionally used, through their leaders, to subdue Indo-Fijian demands for political equality and slow their advance in social and economic areas that once were the preserve of whites. This contributed to the aggravation of race relations, which intensified in the build-up to independence. Subsequently, the European element receded in importance as their population dwindled to political insignificance. Interaction between Fijians and Indo-Fijians became a necessity and friction between the races flared, ultimately finding expression in the coups of 1987 and 2000, when Indo-Fijians comprised the majority in Government.

The tragedy of Fiji is that, following independence, not one of the leaders or Governments has attempted to bring the issues that divide the two dominant races into the public domain, or to remove the prejudices that continue to fuel racism. What’s more, neither the colonial nor the postcolonial Governments had considered it necessary to build Fiji on the foundations of its rich diversity, nor even to give a common identity to the peoples of Fiji in a bid to unite them. The ingredients for instilling a sense of unity in the peoples of Fiji and promoting harmony and goodwill were in abundance, but the necessary political will was noticeably absent.

In this regard, I take this unique journey through the minds of Indo-Fijians and Fijians to disclose their perspectives, their perceptions and their prejudices. I hope that this may reveal the causes for conflict and anxiety within each community and that it may help provide the platform for people of different races, religions and cultures to build a new Fiji from the ashes of the past, choosing a new road to reach a destiny of unshakable unity, prosperity and happiness. The frankness with which some of the views are divulged may be bitter to some, but it is done without malice or any desire to cause injury to anyone or any community.4

The Indo-Fijian view maintains that they were unfortunate victims of the coups. It was Fijian folly to harbour the notion that the Indo-Fijians had robbed them of their rights and to pretend that they were under their rule. Since independence, Fiji has had indigenous Governments for a total of twenty-nine years — twenty-two years under Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara as Prime Minister (five of those years under a military-backed government) and seven years under Rabuka. In this period, Indo-Fijian Governments ruled for a total of one year and one month before they were removed by the coups.

From 1987 to1992, Rabuka imposed military rule with vigour appointing Ministers from among civilians, former Alliance members and his own colleagues from the military. He promised Fijians to wipe away every tear and bring a smile to every lip. Despite his conclusive experiment, with various forms of Governments, the avowed aim of the coup failed miserably. The battle to restore power into Fijian hands was won but the war to uplift Fijian interests socially and economically was lost.

During the Rabuka era, Fijian leaders experimented with military dictatorship, autocracy, tyranny and imitation democracy, advocating positive discrimination against Indo-Fijians to attain Fijian success in the social and economic sectors. Indo-Fijians bore the inequities but, except for the Fijian oligarchy, the common Fijians’ plight at the end of the Rabuka rule remained as bad as if not worse than before the coup. The effects were obvious but Fijian leaders ignored or failed to identify the reasons for Fijian poverty, resulting in the myth of Indo-Fijians robbing Fijians being given credence.

At the end of Rabuka’s reign, Indo-Fijians claimed that they had again copped the blame for the economic gulf between the two races. In every situation, they claimed that they had become scapegoats for Fijian failure. It was a Fijian delusion that somehow Indo-Fijians were a serious impediment to their success in Fiji.

It was the Indo-Fijian view that they drove the economic engine that sustained the nation. However, there was hardly any genuine acknowledgement of this by the Government. It never expressed this viewpoint to stir any appreciation or realisation in the hearts and minds of Fijians of the role Indo-Fijians played in the social and economic life of the country. For example, everyone claimed that the sugar industry was the backbone of Fiji’s economy, yet there was no genuine public appreciation that Indo-Fijians were the backbone of the sugar industry. Without it, Fiji would have been one of the pauper states of the world, dependent on foreign generosity for its livelihood.

Indo-Fijians claimed that Fiji had earned its stability, prosperity and economic might through their toil. Imagine a Fiji without the sugar industry and a sugar industry without Indo-Fijians. The implications were easy to comprehend but in the blind heat of hate the critics portrayed Indo-Fijians as wallowing in wealth from the sugar industry. The truth is that Indo-Fijian farmers have remained indebted all their lives to build their homes, provide for their families and educate their children. When prosperity came, it was attained mostly through the employment of their educated sons and daughters who had pursued outside vocations in the public and private sectors or in commercial or industrial establishments.

Indo-Fijians held the view that not everyone had prospered and a significant number, following the coups and eviction from land leased from Fijians, were living a hand-to-mouth existence in shacks and shanties established on the peripheries of the urban centres. These were the forgotten people struggling on their own with little or no assistance from the Government whereas Fijians had access to Government assistance reaching them in one form or another. In April 2003, Dr Subramani, an academic at the University of the South Pacific, highlighted the gravity of Indo-Fijian poverty:


Indo-Fijians make up more than half of the total number of poor people and most of the destitute in the country. Indo-Fijian poverty is described in most reports as the worst kind of poverty because it has little communal support, and receives scant State attention with virtually no fall-back mechanism in place.5



From the Indo-Fijian perspective, their desire to work the land had given Fijians the opportunity to lease out their land; most of it was once heavily covered by impenetrable tropical rain forest. Indo-Fijians claimed that without Indo-Fijian toil and enterprise in agriculture, these lands would have remained uncultivated and static, compounding the poverty of Fijian landowners. Also, the Indo-Fijian desire to lease Fijian land provided a source of income to its owners. In the year 2000, Fijian land owners received rent, from Indo-Fijian farmers alone, in the vicinity of ten million dollars.6 With the eviction of Indo-Fijian farmers from their land, many Fijian landowners would be without this income. This would only compound Fijian poverty and again, Indo-Fijians claimed, they will be accused of having caused that. In the Indo-Fijian view, Fijians have never appreciated the fact that without Indo-Fijian demand for their land its value was negligible. Generally, Fijian perception was that it was through their magnanimity that Indo-Fijians became the beneficiaries of the riches from their land and failed to acknowledge or appreciate that the benefits were mutual.

Indo-Fijians maintained they were the nucleus of the commercial, agricultural, industrial, transport and service sectors in Fiji, and without them the country would suffer paralysis through economic downturn, and the paradise of the Pacific would lose its eminence among the island nations. Their presence and contribution made towns and the cities vibrant. Without them, where would the builder, tailor, barber, jeweller, butcher, mechanic, the manufacturer, wholesaler and retailer come from? Fijian representation in most of these vital sectors was either insignificant or non-existent and, therefore, inadequate to provide those vital services that Fiji needed to sustain itself.

In the Indo-Fijian view, Fiji had the advantage of having a community that had the versatility and adaptability to succeed under any conditions, making them a national asset. They had proven themselves with their industry and their enterprise. Yet they were not viewed in this light. Fijians seemed to see the Indo-Fijians as acquisitive, rich and greedy. If indeed Indo-Fijian industry and enterprise were a vice, then they wondered what comprised virtue.

Concerning Fijian poverty, Indo-Fijians considered it was not Indo-Fijians but the system and the Government policies that had contributed to their plight. Indeed, if Fijian assets were to be valued, with ownership of over ninety per cent of all land in Fiji, compared to Indo-Fijians, who owned a paltry 1.7 per cent of the land, it would show that Fijian poverty was a figment of their imagination. They had an enormous stake in the land, the river and sea resources under legal, traditional and customary rights, but could not use them productively or even prudently. These resources should have propelled them into an enviable prosperity. However, they could not exploit their inheritance to their advantage. The British had left them economically, politically and socially poor and they continued to be disadvantaged by subsequent Government policies and practices.

Indeed, Indo-Fijians have accepted that they did not toil in vain. Their toil has been relentless and though the rewards earned were low, they prudently used their scarce resources to educate their children and have expanded beyond the boundaries of their family farms for their livelihood. In their perseverance against hardship the culture of struggle and achievement continued to manifest itself, becoming their building blocks and the key to their success.

Interestingly, few Indo-Fijians maintained that the two communities were, in a sense, incompatible with each other. One was fired by the spirit of independence and the other restrained by a spirit of dependence. Indo-Fijians used reason and restraint at crucial times whereas Fijians were easily manipulated by their leaders for any real or fancied reason, based on the fear that the Indo-Fijians would rob them of their legal and traditional rights. Fijian leaders fed their people with rousing rhetoric couched in the language of fear and emotion. Fijians responded, mostly to their own detriment and that of the nation. However, the leaders were the ultimate beneficiaries, retaining or restoring political power into their own hands. In a heightened state of emotional response, democracy and the noble institutions created under it became meaningless and an easy object of plunder.

Another count on which Fijians and Indo-Fijians were incompatible was that Fijians were prone to violence, whereas Indo-Fijians avoided it. One of the tragedies that had befallen the Indo-Fijian community was the fear of Fijian violence. The Indo-Fijian mother, to discipline her children, had blatantly used the whip of fear. From childhood this fear was planted in the child and generation after generation of Indo-Fijians were crippled by the fear of Fijian violence. Their meekness and submissiveness had perhaps provoked Fijian excesses, belligerence and violence against them.

Indo-Fijians held that Fijians, being of tribal origin, thought and action had a distinct advantage over the individualistic lifestyle of Indo-Fijians. They were able to intimidate Indo-Fijians by operating in groups. The sword of intimidation generally achieved what reason could not. Those who held this view claimed that Indo-Fijians had never, in the history of Fiji, attempted to collectively lead an assault upon Fijians anywhere nor take over Fijian land. Yet Fijians had used groups to intimidate or attack Indo-Fijians from time to time. Forced takeover or occupation of Indo-Fijian homes and leased land sometimes happened.

The Indo-Fijians claimed that tenants, for fear of further reprisals, did not always pursue redress in court, fearing the consequences of subsequent encounters on the land they occupied. In most situations, Fijian actions against Indo-Fijians were instinctive and impulsive. They were aware that they would emerge the victors with little, if anything, to lose; whereas the Indo-Fijian response was restrained. They were aware that they had little, if anything, to gain. Under these prevailing conditions, Indo-Fijians had a difficult choice — they could not deal with Fijians on the intellectual plane nor resist them physically.

Most Indo-Fijians were of the view that the army and the police, in times of crisis, became the custodians of Fijian interests. At these crucial times they had displayed, by their actions, that their communal interests superseded the call of duty, neglecting national interests. Indo-Fijians held the view that when protectors became predators, they could hardly be blamed for having a lack of trust in those public institutions. It was because of this that most Indo-Fijians felt that Fiji was a lost cause, as past experience had shown that the road always ended at the edge of a precipitous cliff.

In addition to this, Indo-Fijians maintained that it was not commonly realised that Indo-Fijian culture and tradition had been a blessing to Fijians. They had been able to maintain their purity as a race, as Indo-Fijians were inhibited by societal and cultural restraints when it came to marrying outside their own community. Any other community would have ‘polluted’ the Fijian race, as had happened in many other countries. Today, the pride of Fijians in retaining their integrity as a race is partly due to Indo-Fijian restraint and not deliberate Fijian choice. During the indenture, there was a grave shortage of women. Yet the girmitiyas did not look for wives or sexual comfort among Fijian women. They came from a society that, rightly or wrongly, upheld its own values and stayed within the norms of its customs and traditions.

Indo-Fijians claimed that their coming to Fiji had saved the Fijian community from disintegration, fratricidal wars and from being exploited. The colonialists did not occupy Fiji to save the Fijian race. Their paramount interest had been the economic exploitation of the country, and in this pursuit, Fijians would not have escaped the exploitation that Indo-Fijians suffered. On this, Dr Hugh Laracy, after the Speight-led coup, wrote:


Ironically, the Indian community at which Speight’s animosity is primarily directed has been the saviour of the Fijian people … Fijians’ debt to the Indians is incalculable.7



Indo-Fijians felt that the debt of gratitude had never been acknowledged. Tunnel vision was maintained and Fijian leadership continued to echo the same sentiments in order to maintain Fijian unity on the speculative fear of Indo-Fijians.

On a conciliatory note, some Indo-Fijians claimed that the two races, despite their differences, had their distinctive roles to play in Fiji for their mutual benefit. The diversity offered richness and vibrancy and both communities had the advantage of nourishing each other from the reservoir of their political, economic, cultural and social values. A high degree of interdependence benefited both, as the use of Fijian land by Indo-Fijian farmers created the opportunity for both to earn income from it. However, these values were not appreciated and both communities operated from a negative mindset that was largely tuned by the politicians.

The majority of ordinary Indo-Fijians felt that there was remarkable unity between Indo-Fijians and Fijians in the villages, the workplace and the urban centres. But this was not anchored in respect for each other. Though Indo-Fijians and Fijians had lived together for over a century, the cord of trust between them remained fragile.

Fijians, on the other hand, held diverse views which ranged from wanting to see repatriation of Indo-Fijians to India to creating conditions for co-existence for all the races in Fiji based on Christian values of love and forgiveness. Many Fijians felt that the extremists were a misguided minority, but the truth is that they succeeded in derailing democracy and subsequently restoring Governments with whom they could reconcile. As the extremist views have largely prevailed and have contributed to the successful execution of the coups, they take precedence here against the moderate views.

Fijians felt that ‘Fiji was for Fijians’, and being the indigenous race, they had the right of governance of their country. In his book, The Facade of Democracy, Asesela Ravuvu, a Fijian academic with extremist leanings wrote:


Although the Alliance Government policy of encouraging multiracialism and commercial individualism among Fijians and other races living in Fiji is important, it must not be carried to the extent of challenging Fijian paramountcy and Fijian leadership.



Fijians held that Fiji was ceded to Great Britain by the chiefs and had been returned to them, and their paramount rights over their country could not be challenged or mitigated.

In this regard, Fijians held the view that the 1970 Constitution and, subsequently, the 1997 Constitution were flawed in that they did not secure the paramountcy of their political interests. This resulted in Fijian anguish and anger being unleashed through the military and the civilian coups. Fijians held that the Constitution must secure their right to govern Fiji and anything short of it was not acceptable to them.

In addition to this, the Fijian perception of their relationship with others was that they were the taukei (indigenous or owner) and others were the vulagis (visitors or foreigners). In this context, the Fijian position was that the vulagis had to understand and respect their position. The taukei were not oblivious to the position of the vulagis in that they accorded them due respect and care, as Ravuvu clarified:


Through the goodwill of the taukei, however, subsequent arrivals can be accommodated and assigned house and gardening sites. They are only allowed the rights to use those designated areas but not the rights of ownership which only belong to the taukei, or their direct descendants.8



In essence, according to the Fijian concept, the vulagis such as Indo-Fijians and other races do not have the right of ownership and they remain in occupation of what they have only through the generosity of the taukei. In this relationship, the vulagis must show their appreciation and retain the position of subservience and show humility to the taukei. This structure of relationship in Fijian hierarchy was firmly established; however its application was not enforced on other communities.

Fijians held that they were not averse to other races living in Fiji but they were not prepared to tolerate the abrogation of their God-given right to govern Fiji. They were prepared to defend that right at any cost, as Ravuvu, referring to the Alliance Party defeat in the April 1977 elections, wrote:


A civil war was close at hand. Fijian representatives were sent from the islands of Kadavu, Yasawa and elsewhere in Fiji to inform the Governor General, Ratu Sir Joji Cakobou, that men were ready to be called to action to regain control of their country. It was again the chiefs who discouraged what could have been a catastrophic attack on Indians.9



Fijians believed that Indo-Fijians were not sensitive to their views, were disinterested in their plight and always ignorant of their language, culture, customs and traditions. Indo-Fijians ruled the economic and social realms of the nation and were bent upon grabbing political control. The Fijians perceived them as, on the whole, largely acquisitive and greedy. It was in this light that the Indo-Fijian dream since 1929 of seeking a common roll system of voting was condemned by Fijians. Fijians saw it as an attempt by Indo-Fijians to gain political control of the nation. Many attempts were subsequently made to increase cross-voting seats, in a bid to accelerate racial integration. However, Fijian opposition to it remained bitter.

Fijians were also annoyed at the lack of Indo-Fijian response during the Second World War. Fijians blamed Indo-Fijians for a lack of patriotism when Fijians, on the other hand, had gallantly joined the Allied forces to defend their country. Few Indo-Fijians volunteered to go and, while the war was in progress, in 1943, the Indo-Fijian farmers’ unions went on strike in support of their demand for a higher price for sugarcane. These two issues, though old, were constantly used to chide Indo-Fijians.

Some Fijians claimed that Indo-Fijians used Fijian resources such as the land for their prosperity, thus inhibiting Fijians from using the land for their own benefit. Fijian land, which was leased to Indo-Fijians, became the power base for their social and economic advancement through the cultivation and production of crops like sugarcane. Once leased, Fijians had no claim over the land for the duration of the lease and had to be content with receiving a small rental income from such land.

Indo-Fijians claimed that they had used Fijian resources to establish themselves on a more secure economic footing. However, it was not they, but the Government, that had denied the Fijians the use of their land for their economic advancement. Some claimed that one of the most intriguing questions was that an Indo-Fijian who leased Fijian land could use it as security to secure a loan from a commercial bank. This allowed the Indo-Fijians to raise loans for their farms, build houses and educate their children. However, Fijians who owned the land could not use the same land as security and had to rely on rental income, subsistence farming, government handouts or charity to fulfil many of their personal and communal obligations. Indo-Fijians leased the land for a fixed period, so the Fijians who owned it could have utilised the land as security for economic advancement if the government had allowed it.

Critics of the system claimed that the manner in which it was estranged from using its land as security to procure loans for various purposes was a slight on the Fijian community. It was possible that the first generation may have failed or even squandered the resources. However, the next and successive generations of Fijians would have learned from this lesson. Truly, the system demeaned the Fijians in that they were seen as being incapable, by their own leaders, of succeeding like their counterparts, the Indo-Fijians. Sadly, generation after generation of Fijians sat on the richest resource, the land, and yet did not benefit commercially from it.

Fijians also maintained that Indo-Fijians had trampled on the proposal for building a multiracial Fiji as espoused by Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara soon after Fiji’s independence. His overtures were met by stiff Indo-Fijian resistance at successive elections as they overwhelmingly voted for the NFP, an Indo-Fijian-based political party. Since independence, Indo-Fijian leaders made no effort towards reconciliation and occasionally poured scorn on the Fijian chiefs and leaders. None of the Indo-Fijian leaders understood or spoke the Fijian language or even had elementary knowledge of Fijian culture and traditions. Fijians held that the yawning gap in race relations was not caused by Fijian leaders but by the insolence and selfishness of Indo-Fijian leaders who neglected their duties and responsibilities to their people and the nation.

Some critics held that the relationship between Fijians and Indo-Fijians also soured on cultural considerations. In the traditional Fijian society there is no place for opposition. However, in the Westminster system of government the place of the opposition is vital. In Parliament, Indo-Fijians always comprised the opposition and this contributed to the perception in the minds of ordinary Fijians, unfamiliar with the workings of a democracy, that Indo-Fijians were hostile and against their chiefs, leaders and their own interests. Surprisingly, the diverse views held by the two dominant races remain the subject for discussion and speculation at a grassroots level and around the kava bowl. No attempt has been made by the leaders to remove the misunderstandings that have stigmatised race relations in Fiji.

Instead, occasional volleys from Fijian leaders, such as ‘blood will flow’, from Prime Minister Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara or other Fijian leaders, confounded the Indo-Fijian mind and fuelled their fears that the cover of multiracialism was a deception, which could later degenerate into racial violence and bloodshed. Such rhetoric also fuelled Fijian anger and suspicion against Indo-Fijians. The above comment by Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara was made in 1978 on a speculative perception of threat to Fijian land, when of all people, as the architect of the 1970 Constitution, he knew that Fijian land was safe and secure from alienation under the entrenched provisions of the Constitution.

With such diverse views between the two races, the Fijians and Indo-Fijians were expected to foment a relationship of harmony and trust in each other. Those who followed the history of Fiji knew that it was desirable, but not likely. Sharing political power had brought the two races together in a largely confrontational stance. The distrust that Fijians had of Indo-Fijians turned to hostility after the coups.

Since independence much water has flowed under the bridge and many things, in regard to race relations, are now being viewed from a different perspective. Some writers, including Fijian academics, are shedding new light on this problem. They maintain that race relations between Fijians and Indo-Fijians is a decoy that hides a deeper malaise afflicting the Fijian community. They hold that forces of instability are rife and at work among Fijians, under a covert design that eclipses the strong undercurrents of rivalry and animosity that exist among the Confederacies of Kubuna, Tovata and Burebasaga and the provinces, with the dominant Ba province (part of Kubuna), wanting its own separate confederacy.

Observers claim that the current Fijian malaise is rooted in the past and has caused socio-economic depravity and consequent disquiet within the community. In order to explain the situation that led to the coups, a reflection on the past is made here to unveil the colonial design, the chiefly rule and the impact of post-independence Government policies.

Arguably, both Fijians and Indo-Fijians were the victims of colonial rule. Fijians were manipulated and, with chiefs at the forefront, their governance was modified to fit the colonial agenda. British imperialism abroad was achieved with great tact and skill, unlike that of other imperialists who went in with their intentions clearly signalled by hostility, violence and conquest. The British were restrained and diplomatic, respecting the existing institutions. Violence was used, where considered essential, with the intention of subduing their adversaries.

With British paternalistic autocracy, colonial subjects were made to feel that aggression was a last resort and conquest was a favour. If there was any move to confrontation and violence, the Christian missionaries subdued it with the Bible. In essence, Christian evangelism became an essential adjunct to British imperialism. In this, Fijians responded favourably, having been introduced to Christianity and subjected to the chiefly rule administered under the aegis of the State.

With their manipulative advocacy, the British gradually won the hearts and minds of Fijians and kept them removed from the mainstream of social, economic and political life in Fiji. At the outset powerful chiefs were identified and they formed the nucleus of what became the Fijian Administration under the auspices of the colonial administration. Fijians observed the societal norms and conventions under the strict surveillance of chiefs who comprised the Council of Chiefs and the institutions created under the Fijian Administration. These included the Provincial Councils and the District Councils headed by the Roko Tui, the Buli and at a village level, the village chief and the Turanga-ni-Koro.

The necessary legal machinery was promulgated under the Native Ordinance of 1875, which became the Fijian Affairs Ordinance in 1945, to provide separate administration for Fijians. The Ordinance established a system of indirect rule with chiefs at the forefront whose power and authority was augmented by the Fijian Administration. In a bid to retain the obedience of the chiefs, even individual freedom was strictly curtailed, as the villagers could not move freely outside their communes nor engage in individual or communal enterprise without the consent of the authorities.

Fijians, during the colonial rule, became a race in captivity to the colonial Government, the Fijian Administration, the chiefs who comprised the Council of Chiefs and the hereditary tribal or communal chiefs and the officials who comprised the Fijian Administration. Ratu Sir Lala Sukuna, the most powerful chief, acknowledged:


The Fijian’s life from infancy to old age is shaped by loyalties — loyalty to the clan and tribe, to the state and High Chief …10



The Governor Sir Everard im Thurn, a great advocate of the ordinary Fijians, decried the system and held the view that Fijians were denied, under the operative system, to think and act for themselves, and the strictness of the laws by which Fijians were required to serve their chiefs were obstacles to Fijian prosperity.10 The system continued for almost a century and ordinary Fijians remained trapped within its values.

Giving the chiefs an exalted position within their community made them feel more powerful and economically secure, able to rule without having their subjects decide their fate. The selected chiefs responded to the call of duty and led their people in accordance with colonial design — a design which is the cause of Fijian privation today. The system worked so well for the chiefs that Ratu Sir Lala Sukuna had boldly claimed:


What the Fijian wants is the proverbial loaf of bread, not the ballot box.



He also decried democracy as governance by ignorance and prejudice and was not overly keen on education for the Fijians, holding the intelligentsia:


… as potentially subversive, seeking for undermining and confusing authority for their own ends.11



Dr Tupeni Baba, a Fijian academic and a former politician, wrote:


Such an attitude did not encourage the development of talents and abilities of Fijians and it constrained them from moving beyond the traditional mode of existence … [the] Fijian was cocooned in an invented colonial tradition of administration. This led to a lot of criticism of the Fijian Administration by the Burns and Spate Commissions and scholars like Nayacakalou. They maintained that the Fijian Administration failed to prepare Fijians for life in the modern world.12



Critics claimed that the Fijian Administration was a colonial political vehicle used not for promoting Fijian interests in the socio-economic area but for restraining and controlling them to facilitate ease of governance by the chiefs and the colonial Government. In the post-independence period, the Fijian Administration remained a relic of the colonial era. It entered the new era, but critics claim that it lacked the vision and the ability to guide Fijians to succeed in the socio-economic arena despite having substantial financial resources at its disposal. Belshaw in Changing Melanesia (1954), also confirmed this view:


That the system of the Fijian Administration is archaic and operating in a world of unreality, and that it is a major factor holding back the development of Fijian people.13



Critics claimed that the so-called comfort zone created by the British for Fijians endeared them to the British but caused incalculable harm to an innocent and ignorant race. It is a fallacy to claim that the British protected the traditional structure of the indigenous society. They modified it with such shrewdness that the majority of Fijians remained oblivious to its adverse impact on them.

Dr Balvant Singh Rakka, NFP President, claimed that the British made Fijians dependent on them through the chiefs and this legacy killed the spirit of independence in Fijians. Independence came to Fiji, but Fijian dependence continued and it failed to ignite the spirit of individual or collective enterprise and industry in the people. He claimed that when the British established their colonial rule in 1874, Fijians were poor and when they left in 1970, poverty was endemic. The British pretence of being caring and concerned about Fijians was false and robbed Fijians of their freedom and rights and the opportunity to prosper.

Dr Rakka said that history was testimony to the long-term negative impact of colonial rule. However, Fijians have shunned the truth at their own peril. The truth is that Fijians became the victims of colonial design, the legacy of which continues to impede their success. He also commented that Fijians had remained ignorant of this legacy, and blamed Indo-Fijians for their plight, without justification. Dr Rakka held that current Fijian dispossession, in the social and economic sense, is a result of their cultural restraints and policies pursued by the colonial and post-independence Governments.

Many critics maintain that the traditional Fijian society cannot compete in a market-driven economy. Dr Nayacakalou, an unheralded Fijian visionary, former manager of the Native Land Trust Board, in his book, Leadership in Fiji (1978), confirmed the Fijian enigma:


On the one hand there are expressions of disappointment that they are not being helped enough to enter the modern world of competitive economic enterprise, while on the other, there is an emphatic demand that they must not alter their way of life.



He assertively claimed that the situation needed to be rectified:


It seems to me that one of the greatest obstacles facing Fijians today is the failure to recognise that there is contradiction; they must now make the momentous choice between preserving and changing their ‘way of life’. The belief that they can do both is a monstrous nonsense with which they have been saddled for so many years now that its eradication may be difficult to achieve.



Dr Nayacakalou laid the responsibility for its rectification on the Fijian Administration and the Government. Both failed.

These  predictive thoughts were made four decades ago, and the Fijian enigma continues. Observers claim that Fijians have no other choice but to merge into the mainstream of global culture. To do so needs acumen, commitment and discipline and Fijians have yet to gain an appreciation of these ground rules. The communities that have embraced the marketdriven economy have found a way to bring rhythm and vibrancy into their lives. They have learnt the art of producing cash and with it the prudent use of resources. Indo-Fijians are a prime example of a community that has the necessary attributes to harvest the rewards of a market-driven economy.

On Fijian unity, critics claimed that intra-Fijian political rivalries have always been lurking in the shadows and implosion had been avoided because Indo-Fijians had been regarded as a common adversary. Many critics claimed that without Indo-Fijians, the Fijians would have become deeply fractious, which would have given rise to provincialism and tribalism driven by the acrimony of the past. On this, Ratu Joni Madraiwiwi, a former judge and a high chief of Bau, in an article in Girmit’s Greatest Gift, published by the Fiji Girmit Council to mark the 125th anniversary of the arrival of Indians in Fiji, wrote:


Left to ourselves, the reality is that we may have become more fractured than societies like Papua New Guinea or the Solomons. It is a spectre that could befall us still for the dark clouds yet gather and wolves lurk in the wood. We have thus far been saved from that scenario by our collective resilience, due in no small part to the presence of the Indo-Fijian and other communities. It is a factor upon which Fijian leaders would do well to reflect in light of the one-dimensional vision with which many are afflicted.



The use of the race card by Fijian leaders to hold or wrench political power served their interests. Observers now predict that use of racism to gain political office cannot continue forever. The Speight-led coup of 2000 brought to the forefront the rivalries of provincial politics and the consequent divisions among the chiefs and the army that degenerated into a mutiny and caused the death of eight soldiers. The magnitude of the rivalry and animosity can be ascertained from the fact that a commoner, who would normally stoop in humility before the chiefs, had the audacity to carry out a crude banishment of the President of Fiji, Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara. It did not happen overnight nor by accident. It was part of a larger plan that was in the hatching for a long time but only came to light in the later phase of the coup.

The deposing of Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara as President was one of the saddest events in the history of Fiji and the Fijian community. Observers claim that Mara’s banishment spoke volumes about the disintegration of the chiefly system that had been waning both in stature and strength. Already the chiefs, who were the dominating influence in Fiji’s Parliament after independence, have slipped from their pedestal. Those few who continue to wield political power and authority are rapidly losing it within their own vanua (traditional boundaries) as changes in traditional Fijian society are brought about by urbanisation, education and the influence of the media. In addition to this, the inheritance of chiefly titles is riddled with disputes and this has contributed to divided allegiances with consequent bitterness among the subjects.

In pre-colonial Fiji, the chiefs established their authority and influence over their vanua largely by their leadership that was measured by their ability, mostly in tribal conquests. Subsequently, this measure of their ability lost significance as the colonial Government introduced a new regime that made chiefly titles hereditary.14

In the new political environment no protection of the chiefs, as in the colonial era, exists. The power base, following independence, has also shifted from the chiefly rule to the Parliament where, initially, the four high chiefs — Ratu Sir George Cakobou, Ratu Sir Edward Cakobou, Ratu Sir Penaia Ganilau and Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara — led Fiji through the transitional phase from colonial rule to independence. They launched the Alliance political party and also became political leaders. Observers claim that when the chiefs entered the political arena their traditional roles came into conflict and they were viewed more as political leaders then traditional chiefs.

Also, after independence, the role of the chiefs in the day-to-day lives of Fijians diminished as they began moving to the urban centres, shedding the restraints of the traditional lifestyle of the villages. In the urban centres no such structures could exist, no boundaries could be defined and chiefs could not claim their territory. The rural communities also fractured with the advent of education, exposure to news through radio, print media and television. The traditional chiefs retained their identity but not the authority or the power of the early days.

Arguably, critics claim, British colonial rule produced few great chiefs, but it inhibited great commoners from coming to the forefront of Fijian polity. Rightly or wrongly, Rabuka, through the execution of the first coup, broke the preserve of the chiefs and made way for commoners like him and later Prime Minister Lasenia Qarase to rise to the highest office in the land. Fijians seemed to be comfortable with this and so were the chiefs. Indeed, Ratu Sir Lala Sukuna had warned the chiefs in 1944 that they had to demonstrate their ability and maintain their edge to retain the following of their people.15

Some observers claim that the rise of commoners to political positions has introduced a dual form of leadership in Fijians — one traditional and the other political. The commoners now gravitate towards the political leaders, for they impact more on their personal and communal lives than do the traditional leaders. The most important chief, in the present circumstances, is the political leader, who has more sway than the traditional chiefs.

As late as the 1980s, the Alliance Government had become apprehensive about the gradual disintegration of traditional Fijian society and the consequent loss of authority of the chiefs over their people. It desperately tried to resurrect the old values in a bid to restore chiefly authority and Fijian unity. In a bid to achieve this, those institutions that were the pillars of the Fijian Administration in the colonial era were selectively reintroduced following the Cole Report of 1984. Concerning this Dr Baba wrote:


In essence, these moves represented a retreat into a familiar past of some 18 years. Its motivation was clearly political; there was fear that with education, urbanisation and increasing acceptance of democratic forms of leadership, an increasing number of Fijians no longer saw their future and that of their children in terms of Fijian administration and its unofficial arm, the Fijian Association of the then Alliance Government.16



The report was a regressive step and clearly did not consolidate Fijian support for the Alliance Party as it lost to the NFP/FLP Coalition in 1987.

Indeed, Fijian unity has been the catch-cry for Fijian leadership. Historians claim that Fijian unity was a myth and was non-existent in the pre-colonial era. In the colonial period the tribal and provincial wars had been contained and the communities locked into a system of indirect rule that made such wars redundant. In the post-independence era, Fijian unity was sustained for political convenience, using the fear of Indo-Fijian political dominance at the expense of race relations.

On post-independence Government policies, critics claim that Governments concentrated more on handouts and financial assistance to encourage Fijians into business. Programme after programme was initiated by the Government exclusively for Fijians in a bid to stimulate Fijian success in social and economic sectors. This was intensified and pursued with aggression in the post-coup era. Literally millions and millions of dollars were poured into scholarships for Fijian students and funding for Fijian participation in commerce, agriculture and other areas. During the first coup, the National Bank of Fiji became a conduit for doling out funds to all and sundry without any evaluation or assessment of the need, prudence of use or implications for the bank. Predictably, it ended belly-up with a debt exceeding $200 million.

After the 2000 coup, in the period preceding the first elections in 2001, the Interim Administration ran a scam through its Ministry of Agriculture and reportedly handed out over $30 million. Subsequent inquiries revealed corruption in which politicians comprising the Interim Administration and senior Fijian civil servants were implicated. The former governor of the Reserve Bank of Fiji, Vice-Chancellor of the University of the South Pacific, Savenaca Siwatibau, told the Regional Social Development Workshop in February 2002 that over $500 million had been squandered by Fiji within a decade.17

Critics maintain that funding was largely to pacify Fijians and to give credence to a caring Fijian leadership. Following the first coup, Fijians smiled on their leaders and were mesmerised by their generosity. By the end of the Rabuka era, the spring had run dry and Fijians again claimed poverty. Indeed, the positive discrimination against Indo-Fijians had produced negative effects on Fijians. It had only heightened Fijian expectations and consolidated their dependence on the Government. Durutalo wrote:


The political neutralisation of Indo-Fijians in the post-coup era has not affected the continued problems of indigenous Fijians in business, education, etc. The economic reality of the post-coup period has confused the majority of the Fijian masses because most of them believed that political dominance automatically implies financial well being for the majority of Fijians. However, in the economic crisis after the coups, Fijians in the rural subsistence and semi-subsistence sectors, and the urban poor have been most affected.18



Interestingly, the guru of the positive discrimination or affirmative action that Fiji had emulated was Mahathir Mohammed, the Prime Minister of Malaysia. Fiji largely copied his practices and maintained close links with his Government. Mahathir during his long term of office led a crusade for the indigenous Malays, who comprised two-thirds of Malaysia’s population, through affirmative-action programmes. All he was able to create in the Malays after twenty-one years was a culture of dependence on the state resources. His cherished dream became his greatest nightmare.

The ethnic Chinese community in Malaysia retained their economic edge despite Mahathir’s discriminatory policies, which had denied them equal access to state resources. At his party conference, in June 2002, he berated Malays for their lack of initiative and warned them that such preferential treatment could not continue for ever.19 At this meeting he gained official support to marginally reduce Malay education quotas, which many predicted would be difficult to achieve as the culture of dependence among the Malays had become habitual.20

Critics claim that Fijian leaders were not naïve. They knew the root cause of Fijian poverty. It was chronic, particularly in the rural areas, and it needed to be diagnosed with honesty and remedial measures administered. Fijians had all the God-given attributes that Indo-Fijians had. However, they had not been properly guided in the common disciplines and practices needed for success in business. It can no longer be avoided. Indeed, heaping scorn and condemnation on to the Indo-Fijians was not going to give them the riches and fulfilment which had eluded them thus far.

In this regard, Ratu Epeli Ganilau, the Chairman of the Great Council of Chiefs, warned Fijians in December 2001:


… at times Fijians tended to point fingers at other people and blame other races, however, Fijians needed to look at their own lives and see why they were behind in terms of prosperity … Relying on handouts needs to be stopped. We need to stop relying on others to provide for us. We need to work hard towards being independent and self-sufficient.21



It was evident that the leadership had correctly diagnosed the causes of the economic ills of Fijian society. However, knowing was one thing and doing something positive to remedy the economic ills was quite another.

Another chronic problem which afflicted the Fijian Administration was the abuse of funds. For example, during a meeting in 2002, the Fijian Teachers’ Association castigated the Fijian Affairs Board saying that its scholarships were:


… savagely abused … handed to relatives, friends and hangers on.



It emphatically said:


No amount of blueprints and affirmative action programmes can take the place of a progressive education system in which the students learn the value of hard work, dedication and serious study. And the sooner we learn that lesson the better it will be for all.



The call by the Fijian Teachers’ Association was indicative of wider abuse of public funds which prevented cautious use of the resources for the benefit of Fijians.

Since its inception the Fijian Administration was reviewed several times and each report castigated it for its failures and weaknesses. These reports failed to bring the desired change. In fact they brought strong repudiation from Fijian leaders, as in the case of the Jenny Seeto report of 2002, which suggested changes to Fijian institutions. The report, among other comments, stressed that Fijian parents were far more committed to their traditional and church obligations than to the education of their children.

In its fundraising endeavour the Methodist Church, in 2003, reportedly raised over two million dollars. Critics claim that most, if not all, of the funds raised would have come from Fijian members of the Methodist Church in Fiji. By all accounts it is a huge sum to be raised from a community that claims to be poor. In contrast, Indo-Fijians do not believe in giving huge donations to their religious organisations. Neither do these organisations seek such funding from their followers except for fulfilling the social, cultural and educational needs of the community. Comparatively, Fijians have invested heavily in churches and continue to; whereas Indo-Fijians have invested in schools.

Critics also claim that Fijians have squandered great opportunities for their social and economic advancement. They had an enormous stake in the land, traditional and customary rights that extended to the rivers and the sea yet the opportunity to harvest the riches from these sources was being wasted. Even leasable land, surplus to landowners’ own requirements, which was productively used, mostly for sugarcane cultivation by Indo-Fijian farmers, was taken back from them as an act of vengeance for supporting the Chaudhary Government in the 1999 elections.

Upon receipt of notice from the landowners, Indo-Fijian tenants vacated the land but Fijians lost the rental which had been a regular source of income for many. In the fulfilment of their vengeance, Fijians never calculated that it would also compound their own poverty and add to the poverty of future generations of their children. It also had wider implications, as the sugar industry teetered on the edge of collapse. It had supported thousands of families and given economic stability to Fiji.

The ultimate result of the eviction of Indo-Fijian farmers was that most of the reserved land reverted to bush with no economic benefit to the landowners. Most of the Indo-Fijian farmers who lost the land opted for employment in the urban centres or engaged in other gainful pursuits. Few wanted to return to the land. Many did not want to relive the pain of eviction. Fiji was caught in a vicious cycle with little in sight that could provide a lasting solution to its recurring problem of racial polarisation, largely caused by the policies advocated by the Fijian leadership.

Interestingly, in 1940 when land was being reserved in Ba, Ratu Sir Lala Sukuna, the most powerful chief in the colonial Government, asked landowners in the western provinces to adopt a rational approach to the emotive question of land. Scarr wrote:


They wanted to reserve wholesale. He, on the contrary, made it axiomatic that in the cane-producing provinces the claims of cash cropping, and so of Indian interests, were to be preferred. Only sufficient land for purely subsistence agriculture and grazing purposes would be carved out of existing leases, reserved and added to what Fijians still retained, unless the Taukei could convince him they would indeed grow cane themselves.22



In the land reservations that began at the end of the last century no such guidance came from Fijian chiefs or Fijian politicians. On the contrary, there appeared to be unanimity among the Fijian leaders to encourage eviction of Indo-Fijian tenants from land.

Despite the uncertainties, conflicts and turmoil, observers claim that there is hope. Fiji has been witnessing a rapid change, which may yet resurrect the nation from the destructive force of racial politics. These changes include the new educated generation of Fijians, growing away from the influences of the communal conventions. They may no longer be magnetised by racial appeals and will not be captive to the emotional hysteria of extremist elements. They will be driven by educated opinion to express their political will. Similarly, urban Fijians, who account for over thirty per cent of Fiji’s population, are a significant and powerful group, detached from the traditional communal cord. No longer living in the rural communal enclaves, many of them are prospering like their Indo-Fijian neighbours.

Undoubtedly, the urban Fijian population has been growing fast. Some observers hope that this emerging class of educated and informed urban Fijians may yet make that significant difference needed to save Fiji from the politics of racism. Indeed, urban Fijians showed their political prowess on two occasions, when they lent their support to the FLP/NFP Coalition in 1987 and to the FLP in 1999 breaking their tradition of supporting the Alliance Party, and again to the chief-sponsored SVT party (1999), which contributed to their defeat. They sent a strong message that they had the maturity to vote with their head and not with their feet.

Urban growth in Fiji has been the same phenomenon in Fiji as it is in other countries around the world. Rural Fijians, including Indo-Fijians, were drawn to the urban centres as moths to the light. The urban environment provided facilities and opportunities, and was no respecter of race, culture, institutions or the values they held. Individualistic lifestyles forced them to swim or sink. Fijians raised loans to buy their homes, educated their children and led a life more like that of Indo-Fijians. Fijians adjusted quickly to the urban culture.

In the urban environment, races and cultures could not operate in isolation and communalism gave way to individualism. Here the traditional societal structures fractured and the old values and influences dissolved as different races and cultures substantially reformed and redefined themselves within the new environment. Necessities such as regular income for housing, food and education for children rested on the individual and the broader social and cultural needs no longer impacted heavily on their lives. The singular success of the Fijian urban community proved, yet again, that the system had been socially and economically crucifying them.

In addition to this, critics have held that the common roll system of voting may yet be the panacea to Fiji’s racial problem. To Fijians, common roll was like a red rag to a bull. In it they saw the danger of Indo-Fijian political domination. Although circumstances have changed considerably, Fijian abomination of this issue still looms large and they have not been prepared to revisit what frightened them in the past. However, in time to come, common roll voting could save Fiji from divisive and acrimonious communal politics and help to unite its people. The nation could then attain the utopia of ‘one nation, one people, one vote and one value’. It would also contain the rise of Fijian provincial politics.

In hindsight, it would appear that the political turmoil which Fiji has suffered and which has resulted in the coups was a result of failed leadership. In this respect, the colonial Government (1874–1970) failed the people of Fiji through its avowed colonial policy of ‘divide and rule’. The military and the civilian coups that followed were the harvest of the seeds of discord planted by the British. The aggravation of race relations that followed in the post-independence period leading to the first coup, was also a slight on the leaders of that period because they did little to avoid the catastrophe that followed.

Following the coups, the politics of race came dangerously close to becoming a conflagration. Only the muted response of Indo-Fijians averted it, despite Fijian extremist elements being poised for bloodshed. Later, as the dust of the political storm settled and Fijian leaders regained their positions and power, they sought racial reconciliation. The practitioners of hate became preachers of love.

Critics claim that in pursuing reconciliation, Fijians, who were overwhelmingly Christian, observed none of the values upon which the teachings of the Bible are based. They did not even follow their own ceremony of matanigasau, a ceremony of apology in accordance with Fijian protocol for reconciling with the aggrieved parties. Prime Minister Qarase, at a special ceremony on 15 November 2003, highlighted the significance of this ceremony when the people of Navatusila apologised to the Church and the descendants of Reverend Thomas Baker for his killing by their ancestors in 1876. He said:


The ceremony brings about three important things. One is to own up to the wrongs you’ve done, secondly is to seek forgiveness from the other party and most importantly is for you to reconcile.23



Surprisingly, he did not see the importance of seeking reconciliation with Indo-Fijians through the medium of the matanigasau ceremony, or even the Bible.

During the first coup, the Methodist Church held the flaming torch of racism, spewing a fiery rhetoric of hate against Indo-Fijians. Alarmingly, in the Speight-led coup, some prominent Fijian preachers came to the forefront and openly gave moral and vocal support to extremists in the persecution of Indo-Fijians, lending a veneer of authority, as if George Speight’s despicable mission to remove the Chaudhary Government was God-ordained.

Many Christians condemned the involvement of the church in the coups, and claimed that by their actions they shamed Christ and blasphemed the love for which he chose the Cross. Yet Fijians, particularly the Methodists, wanted Fiji to be declared a Christian state when, critics claim, many Church adherents had professed or executed violence against Indo-Fijians. Even a few hooded shepherds of Christ ran amok, brandishing the sword of violence and baying for Indo-Fijian blood. As a Christian, I have been deeply shamed by the actions of my Fijian Christian brothers and sisters. However, I applaud the silent majority of Fijian preachers and Fijian brothers and sisters who maintained a code of benign respect and dignity.

On the Indo-Fijian leadership front, it was a pathetic display of vision and devoted leadership. This, however, is no reflection on the ability of the leadership, for it had some of the most prolific orators and debaters like A.D. Patel, K.C. Ramrakha, S.M. Koya, Jai Ram Reddy and Irene Jai Narayan. They, with others, comprised a formidable team of able politicians, but they could not help create a political environment that would bring about a better relationship between Indo-Fijians and Fijians. Critics say that as opposition members they played their role with gusto, yet failed to appreciate the impact this had on ordinary Fijians who considered them to be rabble-rousers and perennially opposed to their leaders and their own interests.

The NFP emerged as the dominant voice of Indo-Fijians and its leaders largely remained content with their place among them until 1999, yet they lacked cohesion or commitment in dispensing their political duties and obligations. In the early days of their advent into Fiji politics, the NFP had a token ally in Apisai Tora, an extremist Fijian, who featured prominently in the persecution of Indo-Fijians in both the coups of 1987 and 2000. His role in fomenting the two coups was crucial. Why he chose to join the NFP and why the NFP leadership accepted him, knowing his virulent anti-Indian stance, even before the coups, remained a mystery. The difference between the two races was that Fijians had the benefit of a more committed leadership while Indo-Fijians had a majority of professionals who plied between their professional and political commitments.

Could Indo-Fijian leaders have contributed to racial integration? Most critics hold that they could have substantially contributed to racial integration but that they lacked the political will to guide the destiny of their people or that of Fiji. None spoke the Fijian language fluently or understood Fijian culture, customs and traditions. Wise leaders in multiracial and multi-cultural communities have always attempted to understand the language, customs, traditions and culture of other races. It facilitated better interaction, appreciation and understanding between or among the various races.

Critics claim that if Indo-Fijian leaders had understood the Fijian language, customs and traditions the confrontational stance could have changed to a conciliatory response from Fijians. Indo-Fijian leaders, in their ignorance, could never understand the Fijian mind or heart. The Fijian heart, could be an ocean of love and its generosity beyond comprehension. The same heart, however, could also generate the heat of an anger that could melt its adversaries. Indeed, with Fijians, there had to be a reconciliation of the heart and the mind to have an abiding impact. In this regard, the British played their cards with shrewdness during the colonial rule and left a legacy of affection in the hearts of Fijians that has not diminished.

In June 1997, the leader of the Opposition, Jai Ram Reddy, was given the unique honour of addressing the Great Council of Chiefs. With introductory words in Fijian and a moving speech in English, he touched the hearts and the minds of the chiefs. The chiefs sat listening with tear-brimmed eyes. Following this, Reddy gained a place of honour and respect among Fijians as no other Indo-Fijian leader had in the post-independence history of Fiji. The goodwill thus generated laid the groundwork for the unanimous approval of the much-vaunted 1997 Constitution. Some observers held the view that much could be achieved not by confrontation or provocation of Fijians but by pursuing a conciliatory approach with sincerity, honesty and humility.

Prime Minister Chaudhary during his short-term, 1999–2000, with the best of intentions, sent Fijian chiefs to Malaysia to study land utilisation hoping that upon their return they would emulate the Malaysian practices and facilitate a better use of land resources for the benefit of both landowners and tenants. It failed. The chiefs took the trips, returned and pursued massive eviction of Indo-Fijian tenants from Fijian land. Neglect by past Indo-Fijian leaders in building harmonious relations between the two races had contributed to Fijians generally being suspicious of them. By this simple neglect, the future of Indo-Fijians lay in peril with little hope for lasting peace in Fiji.

In addition to this, Indo-Fijian leaders, apart from being fractious, built power structures within the Indo-Fijian community to secure their own positions. The ability of members, their commitment and attributes were of little significance. The NFP spent most of its latent energies in divisive intra-communal politics. This emerged openly into the public arena in 1977 and the NFP never regained the composure of old.

Critics also blame past Indo-Fijian leadership for not guiding Indo-Fijians in the use of land leased from Fijians. Most tenants treated their leases as if they had freehold possession of the land, and built substantial homes or made other permanent improvements. In the history of Fiji, following indenture, not one of the Indo-Fijian leaders advised or prepared Indo-Fijians tenants for eviction from their leased land. If the tenants had been advised of their ultimate eviction, it would not have been as traumatic. Tenants could have prepared themselves for relocation and rehabilitation. The ultimate consequence was that the victims, who believed eviction would not take place, had to vacate their place of residence and their farms in haste and in fear, to escape forced occupation of their homes by the landowners.

The FLP advent into Fiji’s political landscape marked a new era. It retained its broad political spectrum, but Fijians viewed it as an Indo-Fijian party and shunned it. The FLP became the voice of Indo-Fijians in Parliament and their leader, Mahendra Chaudhary, led his party with rare courage and conviction through a difficult period. His assertiveness has largely been portrayed by his adversaries as provocative to Fijians when, in essence, his supporters claim that he has stood firm to protect the freedom and rights of Indo-Fijians and at the same time maintained a delicate balance in not impinging on traditional and customary rights of Fijians.

Concerning the Fijian and Indo-Fijian relationship, two strong schools of thought prevail among the Indo-Fijians. One is that the Indo-Fijians should not ignore Fijian culture and traditions, and relate to them with sensitivity, respecting their rights as the indigenous race and helping them to attain their dreams and aspirations. The other is that Indo-Fijians should assert their rights without fear or favour. Those who hold this view claim that entreaties and pleas in the past have only contributed to Fijian belligerence, adding to their humiliation and to the intimidation and violence against them. They hold that the Indo-Fijians need to stand up to claim their respect, dignity and rights. Observers claim that between the two schools of thought is the elusive road that needs to be taken by the leaders of the two races to solve Fiji’s racial problem.

On reflection, and taking cognisance of the various factors, one would be drawn to the logical conclusion that the racial conflict between Fijians and Indo-Fijians arises from the economic dispossession of Fijians and for this critics claim that Indo-Fijians cannot be held responsible.

Indeed, Fijian antagonism to Indo-Fijians is without foundation. There is no evidence of Indo-Fijians sabotaging Fijian interests or depriving them of their personal, communal, traditional or customary rights. Even in losing the political control of the Government on two occasions (1987 and 1999), it was the Fijians themselves who voted for other parties that contributed to Indo-Fijian dominated parties winning the elections. When Indo-Fijian parties formed the Government, Fijian extremists did not see anything wrong with their own people being fractious, but only with Indo-Fijians for winning the elections.

Critics claim that Fijians often seem to infer that their situation is the same as that of the Maori in New Zealand and the Aboriginals in Australia. Indeed, the Fijian situation is not on a par with the situation in New Zealand or Australia, where the indigenous races are subject to the rule of Europeans, who comprise the majority. Critics claim that Fijians have often clamoured on indigenous rights when they themselves comprised the Government. Such a stance is the tragedy of Fiji, where reality is lost to fantasy and Indo-Fijians are the unfortunate casualty.

While increasingly the race card is now being perceived as a distraction, there is no doubt that the two races have retained an animosity towards each other, which has had a disastrous effect on everyone. On the scale of intensity, Fijian attitudes towards Indo-Fijians was hostile, aggressive and occasionally violent at crucial times, whereas Indo-Fijians were on the whole apprehensive and their forbearance remained fatalistic. On this, Ratu Joni Madraiwiwi, a former judge and a high chief of Bau, told the National Reconciliation Workshop:


… our recent history might have been far bloodier and more violent had Indo-Fijians physically retaliated. They did not do so, not from weakness, but from profound wisdom born of adversity. This allowed them to choose to fight the battles they knew could be won. At a personal level for me, this conduct underscored the Christian message of turning the other cheek and returning good for evil.24



Few Fijian leaders have spoken with such conviction.


Race still has the potential to play a significant role in Fiji’s future, depending on the present and the future leaders and the road they decide to take. However, with the exodus of Indo-Fijians, time is running out — Fiji and Fijians may one day realise that they, by their indiscretion, have cut off the economic hand that had fed the nation. By then, it is left to conjecture as to what may follow. Few have the courage to probe that question, but by all accounts Fiji will implode into provincial rivalries hitherto contained at the expense of Indo-Fijians.










CHAPTER THIRTEEN

INDO-FIJIAN TRAUMA AND TEARS


Coups ravaged and destroyed the fabric of trust,

Indo-Fijian tears flowed, traumatised by Fijian thrust.




The advent of a new century ushered in a new era in the history of Fiji. The world welcomed the new year with some degree of apprehension, fearing a computer crash in the changeover of the date to the new century. As a security measure planes were grounded to ensure that computer malfunction in the air did not cause any disaster in flight. Due to the uncertainty, the event gained even greater recognition as some expected the second coming of Christ, others expected the world to end with a bang, while a few mothers expected to land the first baby of the new century within seconds of the last midnight of the last century.

Memories of the passing of the old and the coming of the new century faded within weeks, and the world relaxed as if nothing had happened except that which lingered in our minds. However, for Indo-Fijians disaster was not far away. On 19 May 2000 George Speight and his mob cruelly dislodged the one-year-old Chaudhary Government from its perch. Violence against Indo-Fijians in the Southern and the Northern districts was carried out by Speight supporters, and families took shelter wherever they felt secure.

Following the first coup of 1987, Indo-Fijians have persevered in silence for 12 years, the latter part being less traumatic as the sting of the draconian policies began to bite the nation. When the ultimate goal was reached and the 1997 Constitution promulgated, Indo-Fijians breathed a sigh of relief, reassured that Fiji would not falter again, having learnt that coups do not deliver but destroy nations and their people. Indo-Fijians had hoped that the bitter lessons of the first coup would inspire Fijians never to tread that dangerous path again.

Yet the edifice of democracy came tumbling down again in May 2000. The police and the army allowed conditions to degenerate as they themselves became part of the evil forces wreaking havoc on the lives of the innocent. With their political leaders held in captivity and their voice suppressed, Indo-Fijians remained nervous but calm. They came to the grim realisation that the 1997 Constitution was no more than a figment of their imagination.

The 1997 Constitution was demeaned by Fijians, and many called for the restoration of the 1990 Constitution promulgated by Rabuka, advocating positive discrimination against Indo-Fijians. However, following rule by an Interim Administration, headed by Prime Minister Lasenia Qarase, Fiji again went to the polls in September of 2001 and elected a new Government. The SDL Party headed by Prime Minister Lasenia Qarase won thirty-two seats and with the help of the CAMV Party ( six seats), the New Labour Party (one seat) and two independents, he was able to form a Government.

Prime Minister Lasenia Qarase began his rule by maintaining his vigour in appeasing Fijians pursuing an affirmative action plan — a diluted version of the positive discrimination programme initiated by Rabuka — and also resisting the FLP being represented in his cabinet in accordance with the 1997 Constitution. Court battles ensued, with nothing in sight to save Fiji from the politics of hate.

Following the coup of 2000, migration of Indo-Fijians rose from a trickle to a torrent. Thousands of Indo-Fijians left for America, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and England, as uncertainty in the land of their birth finally established that racism in Fiji had turned chronic and was beyond cure within the foreseeable future. Fiji lost the majority of those people whom it needed the most: doctors, nurses, engineers, accountants and teachers emigrated.

Those who could not leave waited anxiously for an opportunity to emigrate. It was their only hope, as the Fiji of their dreams had become a nightmare beset with uncertainty and instability. Families that left made determined efforts to get others out of Fiji under any pretence, and it was working well for them. Indo-Fijians had a powerful presence in most of the major cities of New Zealand, Australia, America, Canada and England, relishing the peace, freedom, equality and unlimited opportunities for progress and prosperity.

At the peak of the departures that followed the coups, the Nadi International Airport was awash with Indo-Fijian tears as family after family left, recounting the struggles and sacrifices of their ancestors and the final sunset of their hopes in Fiji. As the planes lifted off they saw below them a carpet of greenery and the familiar sugarcane fields that were to become a distant memory as they began a new life in foreign countries. For most who emigrated, the new country and new environment gave them freedom and an opportunity for success.

Indeed, Indo-Fijians were making their mark on the socio-economic landscape of their new countries and were rated as a community with one of the highest per-capita incomes anywhere in the world. Those who had lived in the shacks and shanties in Fiji, now lived in homes worth anything from 200 000 to millions of dollars. These new immigrants included many millionaires of recent making. There are literally thousands of millionaires among Indo-Fijian communities now living overseas. Their work ethic and their economic discipline was tempered by their culture and steeled by the parched conditions of Fiji. In their attempt to establish in new countries, they used the benefit of their inheritance in collective endeavours, as families combined to work hard and long hours to buy their homes and adjust to a new life and lifestyles, but without abrogating their religious, cultural and social obligations. It is a community that is vibrant and resourceful, with a low rate of crime and low dependence on Government welfare.

There was no doubt that nothing could prevent the tide of outflow of Indo-Fijians from Fiji. Indeed, it was their greatest desire to get out before the country imploded — with catastrophic consequences for themselves and their families. These sentiments constantly gripped Indo-Fijians. Amid the assurances by Fijian leaders of their rights, the occasional volley of hatred fired at the Indo-Fijian community caused them great anguish. Racial integration, which should have come about with the passage of time, had failed to materialise.

The true meaning of the Constitution to Indo-Fijians brought a new realisation and new revelations. It was meant to be the founding document of the nation and the supreme law of the land to which the other laws were subordinated. For Indo-Fijians, it held hope; it clarified their rights and gave them an assurance of equality and of being part of a civilised community. However, for some Fijian leaders, as long as the Constitution operated in their favour, it was tolerated and, if not, it was trampled with little regard for the interests of others or the implications for the nation.

To Indo-Fijians, the Constitution became a decoy, camouflage beneath which the forces of instability operated with impunity. They were caught off-guard and their faith in the Constitution largely evaporated after the coups. The Government’s subsequent call for national reconciliation sounded hollow. A lot was said, but little of it was meant or acted upon with sincerity.

Indeed, it came to light that the Fijian army was the final arbiter as to who really ruled Fiji. It had had the guns to impose its will with unanimity in the past. However, it became fractious after the May 2000 coup, which in the end descended into a mutiny with consequent loss of lives. The army was rancorous and vicious. A divided army is the fear of every nation. Fiji had a glimpse of what could develop from an internal ferment within the army. It was a cautionary event, and a message to both Fijians and Indo-Fijians that the Fijian army was not to be taken for granted.

Indo-Fijians realised that in any crossfire they could be brutalised and Fijians were rudely awakened to the fact that if the soldiers could kill each other, then the guns could be turned on them. What role a fractious Fijian army would play in future coups or in any uprising was a frightening thought. Indeed, provincial allegiances held a strong sway among the soldiers. Armed forces, in many Third World countries, had left a trail of death and destruction in their bid to take over the governance and once they had tasted power, they were loath to return to the barracks. To the credit of Fiji’s armed forces they had not shown any such inclination, but there was no assurance that it would always remain so.

Since the mutiny the army had maintained an uneasy calm. It was left to speculation, with pundits predicting an even more violent response in any future political upheaval. Undeniably, those who used the army to wrench power remained at its mercy and became its ultimate victim. The adage, those who live by the sword die by the sword, retains its relevance.

It is a moot point why Fiji even needs an army. Critics say that it is foolhardy for a small developing nation like Fiji to maintain a regular army, which consumes millions of dollars of state resources. None of the other island nations has an army and there is no justification for Fiji to retain an army as it is not under any external military threat, nor has it had designs to conquer any of the island nations or its bigger neighbours, Australia and New Zealand. Indeed, it no longer needs an army to steal power from any future Indo-Fijian dominated Government, as it has been shown that a civilian coup can attain the same objectives at a fraction of the cost.

In the case of Fiji, one of the most surprising things is that foreign Governments have constantly given aid funds to a non-productive unit without assessing the need and the utility of the resource. Following the coup of 1987, while the dust of the coup had barely settled and the persecution of Indo-Fijians was at its peak, Britain, of all nations, restored military training for the very army that had slaughtered democracy in Fiji.

On reflection, the coup of 14 May 1987 was a watershed which grievously wounded Indo-Fijians. The subsequent coup of May 2000 and the persecution which followed confirmed their worst fears that Fiji was no longer safe for themselves or their children. In this coup, even the judiciary capitulated when Chief Justice Tuivaga aided the regime in formulating decrees that destroyed democracy. Interestingly, in the first coup of May 1987, the Chief Justice, along with other judges, stood firm and resigned in protest but some, including Tuivaga, were later reappointed.

In defence of his actions following the coup of May 2000, Justice Tuivaga labelled the coup as:


One of the most traumatic episodes in the history of an ethnicallydivided developing nation caught in the swirling dangerous cross currents of race, culture, tribalism and tradition.



He claimed that working with the army was the best choice:


because tensions were high and I had to work with my conscience to safeguard the lives of all the citizens of Fiji, including those who were held hostage in Parliament.1



His critics claimed that no matter how noble his intentions, the involvement of the Chief Justice in this episode badly stained Fiji’s judiciary.

What is the future of Indo-Fijians in Fiji?

Most Indo-Fijians felt that Fiji was a lost cause for them, with no solution to their woes within the near future. The forces of destruction were wellestablished in the political life of the nation. Deceptive calm, from time to time, may eclipse the storm to follow. Political upheavals will continue to ravage Fiji and Indo-Fijians will continue to be its worst victims. Indeed, the exodus of Indo-Fijians following the coups was indicative that they had matured to the political reality of Fiji. They had sensed the prevailing instability and their response towards the review of the 1997 Constitution was cold. They were unmoved by Fijian leaders, the very people who used the sword at crucial times — while mouthing sanctimonious platitudes — in seeking to restore power to themselves.

Under the prevailing circumstances, most Indo-Fijians felt that emigration remained their best option. Racism was likely to rise in the build-up to the elections and recede thereafter. This then was the vicious political cycle of Fiji which was likely to continue for as long as Indo-Fijians comprised a significant segment of Fiji’s population. It will take Fijians many years to subdue their destructive and impulsive emotions in favour of reason and restraint, as they remain the subject of manipulation by their leaders.

Reflecting on the fallout from the last coup, Indo-Fijians felt that it would continue to pollute the minds of Fijians for a long time. Think of the innocent Fijian children who gleefully joined their Fijian parents in the march singing hymns of hate, carrying banners castigating Indo-Fijians, or those who joined them in looting Indo-Fijian homes and shops. What legacy have these parents left on these children? In the next twenty years, they will be adults saturated with hate, even rising to leadership positions, to continue their persecution of Indo-Fijians. On this, Durutalo wrote:


A high ranking Methodist Church Minister argued that Fijian dominance since the coups had a negative psychological effect on Fijian youths. The criminal nature of the coups encouraged a false sense of consciousness amongst Fijian youths, i.e. that Fiji is theirs, and they can do whatever they want to other non-Fijian peoples, especially Indo-Fijians.2



Indeed, nothing was in sight to allay Indo-Fijian fears. In the climate of uncertainty and instability, Fiji could no longer guarantee a safe and secure future for Indo-Fijians. The venom of hate continued to spill over in the new Parliament elected in September 2001 as some Fijian members, including Government Ministers, continued at times to pour scorn upon Indo-Fijians. One Minister labelled Indo-Fijians as, ‘weeds taking up other people’s space,’ and doggedly stood by the remark when calls were made for her to retract and apologise. She responded with added venom saying:


I have been labelled a racist and a sadist, and I disagree with that because what I am saying is the truth and I stand by it.3



Surprisingly, Prime Minister Qarase, the architect of national reconciliation, who had created a special Ministry for Reconciliation, conveniently evaded the issue when asked if he intended taking disciplinary action against the Minister, saying:


… any disciplinary action would come from the speaker of the House, Ratu Epeli Nailatikau.4



In any other democracy the Prime Minister would have admonished or sacked the minister. This evasion by Prime Minister Qarase clearly showed that national reconciliation was only velvet covering a double-edged sword.

Attitudes such as this and the resultant effects of clandestine, sometimes blatant, persecution of Indo-Fijians were noticeable in the Government policies and practices. The massive displacement of Indo-Fijian farmers from land leased from Fijians, unemployment, the rising cost of goods and resultant poverty, all contributed to a sudden rise of suicide in the Indo-Fijian community. The Ministry of Health reported that suicide rates within the Indo-Fijian community were among the highest in the world.5 Hanging, drinking paraquat or immolation were the chosen methods of escaping the Fiji trauma.

Looking at the current crop of Fijian leaders, observers claim that there are none who could change the course of events in favour of Indo-Fijians. Indeed, the Prime Minister and the ministers, by their actions and narrow vision, are often perceived as the Prime Minister and ministers for Fijian people and not for all the peoples of Fiji. Observers claim that the reality of Fijian politics is that any Fijian leader who attempts to get Indo-Fijians on board is likely to lose his position to the extremist elements, as did former Prime Minister Rabuka. In the current climate a Messiah to save Fiji and the Indo-Fijian community does not exist, and may never emerge, and it is time for Indo-Fijians to put down anchor elsewhere.

Ratu Epeli Ganilau, Chairman of the Great Council of Chiefs, speaking at the annual Fiji Law Society Convention, made a grim forecast concerning Fiji in 2024:


Unemployment would be at its all-time high, tribal conflict would reemerge, 50 per cent of the population would be HIV positive and the other 50 per cent drug addicts … Ethnic tension and ethnic cleansing would be the order of the day.6



Ratu Epeli Ganilau’s vision is based on the emerging trends in the political life of a nation that is making a calamitous descent into disaster. It is a sad commentary, but reaffirms Indo-Fijian concerns about their future in Fiji.

In recent decades, the gamut of politics in some third-world countries has changed considerably and there is little room for the moderates or the visionaries to operate in an environment of manipulation and deceit. Political verities of the past have become moribund and leaders with the values and virtues of leadership of the past have lost their power, largely to the political manipulators. In today’s context divisiveness is glorified, unity is denigrated and the human soul is buried beneath the debris of violence, hatred and malice. In the past, to assume the mantle of leadership ordinarily meant to lead; leaders spoke with vision, courage and conviction and gave direction to their people, guiding and leading them to their chosen destiny. In return, the people laid their faith and trust in their leaders.

In Fiji, since the first coup of 1987, the politics of degeneration have greatly affected the quality of leadership as some, without the attributes, qualifications or commitment (except to their leaders), have taken roles for which they have been ill-prepared. This trend began soon after independence and, after the first coup, attaining the ultimate office in Parliament became a dream even for those who despaired of local leadership. Honesty and integrity waned as the leaders began to shape their political philosophies and election manifestos regardless of what was realistic, feasible or desirable in a multiracial and multicultural society like Fiji.

An article in Fiji Times Online (27 June 2004) entitled ‘Our Fiji Politician’ read:


The Fiji politician creates magical illusions and unique blueprints which continue to divide the Fiji population, not unlike our former colonial masters … The aftermath of the coups has provided newer platforms for disunity, mistrust and suspicion … Our Fiji politician continues to suffer a complex, tunnelled and short-term vision. Very few can think laterally or far enough … The politician continues to play on the fears of all concerned to keep his position safe.



In the race to attain power, Fijian leaders depended on racial appeal to secure their political positions during the elections. Racial appeals demeaning and denigrating Indo-Fijians always ignited hate and anger in Fijians and fear in Indo-Fijians. Critics claim that for Indo-Fijians, having travelled through Fiji’s political wilderness, through difficult and traumatic conditions, nothing could easily persuade them to have trust or faith in Fiji. In the years to come, emigration will increase and it will gradually reduce Indo-Fijian political power and influence.

Indeed, the restive Indo-Fijian spirit cannot be persuaded to wait in hope. Indo-Fijians are not only concerned with the present but also with the future. The Indo-Fijian parents’ obsession with the future of their children and families is a strong communal inheritance. The toil of the girmitiyas and their sacrifices for a better future for their families had left the same traits of sacrifice in subsequent generations of Indo-Fijians.

In May 1987, following the coup, I left Fiji for New Zealand, sacrificing my position as Town Clerk of the town of Ba (1972–1987) for a better future for my children. In doing so, I sacrificed my status, aware that I would never rise to the same heights of success in New Zealand where I began my career in local government at middle management level. Mentally, it tore me apart. Though deeply frustrated, I did not waver in my duty to the future of my children and my family. I resigned after five years and entered business, which offered financial rewards, but I never found the intellectual stimulation or the public interaction I had had in my position as Town Clerk of Ba.

However, in the security of my children and family, I found hope, peace and joy, although the initial toil was heart-breaking. Indeed, many Indo-Fijian parents, including their families, have made similar or even greater sacrifices and struggled hard to fulfil their needs and desires both in Fiji and out of Fiji. While the Indo-Fijian population shows a rapid decline, those that emigrated have become a powerful voice outside Fiji. They left, but they did not turn their backs on Fiji.

To me, like others who have emigrated, Fiji continues to beckon. Love of Fiji has an eternal place in the hearts of Indo-Fijians abroad, but the murkiness of its politics causes them great pain. The subconscious, in moments of escape, often takes us on a journey to the beloved land of our birth, only to return to its reality in total despair. The Fiji of our dreams recedes, as we knew it and as we hoped that it would restore itself after the first coup.

The clouds of uncertainty, anxiety, sorrow and trauma continue to affect the lives of our families, friends and our community at large. We cannot ignore their plight, in the freedom and comfort of the countries where we now reside. In times of political instability, we hope and pray for sanity and normalcy to return to Fiji. Indeed, this is the sentiment which courses through the veins of the majority of Indo-Fijians abroad. The magnetism of Fiji remains alive in our minds and hearts.

Many of us took our first breath of life in the purity of Fiji’s environs, and always relished its sights and sounds. Since immigrating to New Zealand, I have returned to Fiji several times, and each time, when in solitude, I have allowed my meditative mind to journey into the past. The days of my childhood constantly draw me back to the sprawling sugarcane fields of Vaqia and into our extended family. I fondly remember and relish those moments, the nostalgic smell of the dry earth receiving the first tropical rains, milking and grazing cows, riding horses, swimming in the river or fording the drains and creeks swollen with rain.

It is the land where my parents, my brothers and sisters, myself and my three children were born. It is the land where my grandparents served their girmit. In Vaqia is the final resting-place for my grandparents and my parents. It is deeply personal, historical and spiritual and in this mystical embrace with Fiji, my heart is torn apart. My mind is the victim of the torment of the heart, for it struggles to find expression in words, to truly echo the sorrows and sentiments that constantly ravage it. And in this torment, there is a heartache I have been through every day of my life since leaving Fiji. In this, I find the unique bonding with the land of my birth grows stronger.

I yearn and fervently wish that my Fijian brothers and sisters can understand the anguish of my heart and that of the majority of Indo-Fijians who have had to leave Fiji in circumstances like mine. Indeed, I am emotionally attached to this land, and no force on earth can separate me from this attachment. It is my right, and I will hold to it until my last sigh. In January 2001, I returned to Fiji and travelled through the villages of Veisaru, Busa Busa, Bula Bula and Navoli, in Ba, that were vacated by the evicted Indo-Fijian farmers. The road we took had not been used for a long time and it was being reclaimed by the bush, as were the farms that had once been cultivated by Indo-Fijian farmers. For several kilometres there was no sight of people or animals. They had all left. I passed through many sites that had once comprised Indo-Fijian farmers’ homes. These sites stood silent, sullen and soaked in a consuming grief.

In the villages, mounds of scattered house sites with clumps of fruit trees — mangoes, coconuts, oranges, lemons, guavas — and flowers of many hues, which had been planted by the occupants, were the only relics of their existence. They were not simply house sites; they were family sanctuaries laden with history. This was once a hive of activity, but it stood silent and somnolent, the familiar sights and sounds a faded memory. Unexpectedly, the intensity of my gaze on one of these deserted sites caused me to see something that I wish I had not investigated. It continues to haunt me.

I was drawn by some movement in the distance. A lone dog stood sentinel, left behind by his owner. Dejectedly, the dog crawled towards us, unsure of our response. His eyes were dull, body emaciated, the ears drooped and the tail and head were lowered in submission. The dog was reconciled to its plight and had abandoned the right to defend his traditional territory. What went through the dog’s mind is a matter of conjecture. I was overcome with sadness, and tears welled in my eyes. My heart went out to this lone animal in this lonely village, waiting to reunite with his master and a lost family.

In the process of eviction, some families were victims of intimidation, violence and forceful takeover of their possessions by the landowners. In fear, some families whose leases had not expired vacated the land to avoid the distress of eviction suffered by their neighbours. Most farmers removed their houses, tearing away whatever they could and leaving the empty shells in haste. Most of the evictions were unnecessary, as the landowners, in most cases, did not need the land. Their response was purely impulsive, ignited by anger that had been fed by hate.

In the past, the villages were often ravaged in the rainy season by tropical cyclones which left a trail of destruction in their deadly paths. But villages recovered within a few months. This was the cycle of life in the villages. Yet this cyclone of evictions had left a trail which cannot be erased from the memory of those who suffered them. The deserted roads in these villages also have a history that is lost in time. Except for the few arterial routes, the roads in the rural areas, where Indo-Fijians lived, were built by them. They raised funds through voluntary contributions that were usually deducted at source from the cane proceeds. The roads that Indo-Fijians built in the early days subsequently became public roads serving the nation and its people. For generations to come, these roads would remain a testament to the sacrifices of Indo-Fijians.

Indeed, the world and most Fijians looked at the urban centres and saw the shops and buildings largely owned by Indo-Fijians. This represented a small sector of Indo-Fijians: the business community. They were not the descendants of the girmitiyas. They comprised the rich Gujerati community, a community of astute businessmen. The Gujeratis came to Fiji mostly in the post-indenture period and made a success of their business pursuits, enriching themselves and Fiji. They, like the other Indo-Fijians, pursued their occupations with diligence and discipline, paying taxes, providing employment, turning the economic wheels, fulfilling their immediate familial obligations and wider social and cultural obligations and enjoying the fruits of their toil.

The majority of Indo-Fijians who resided in the rural areas, descendants of the girmitiyas, escaped the public scrutiny. This contributed to a perception that Indo-Fijians were floating in wealth while Fijians drowned in poverty. This perception was so deeply ingrained in the Fijian mind that it became another cause for deep-seated hatred of the Indo-Fijians. It was hoped that through the medium of the new 1997 Constitution, under an inclusive Government, the two races would work together, understand each other and gradually integrate. However, the opportunity was lost through the execution of the May 2000 coup. In its aftermath, Fiji relapsed into a mourning mode with its environs bathed in sorrow.

Following my heart-wrenching journey through the deserted villages and other districts, I returned to my home in Vaqia and captured the spirit of my village from the hill above my home. The spirit of the village seemed representative of the spirit of the nation: it was sombre and sullen. The sparkle was lost. Fiji had relapsed into distress and shock and an uneasy calm had descended over it. Fijians rejoiced in their worthless victory; Indo-Fijians bore the tears of sadness, deeply traumatised and anxious about their future in Fiji.

I stood on a rock, a small lip on the slope of the hill. It was the rock of my conjecture and fountain of my varied thoughts. The beauty of the landscape before me was mellowed with sadness. The village where I had lived as a child and spent forty years of my life was sleepy — no longer full of verve and vibrancy. It was wrapped in the national sorrow. People with whom I grew up, and those who were the children of the girmitiyas, occupied their final resting-place — the Vaqia cemetery. They had become part of this land.

As I focused on the landscape below, I did not see the farm animals or the farmers as they ploughed the fields or grazed their animals on the edge of the drains or along the tramlines. The old houses remained, with some unimpressive extensions to accommodate extended families. The village was by no means a symbol of prosperity. However, to its advantage, the land may not have been Fijian-owned and offered, therefore, a possible respite to the occupants that they might not suffer the trauma of eviction. However, this was all conjecture as Fiji was an enigma shrouded in mystery.

Many of my generation had left the village, emigrated overseas or to other towns and cities in pursuit of greener pastures. Every family had some member outside Fiji. Everyone spoke of emigrating and those who had teenage sons or daughters sought their marriage outside of Fiji. Moreover, it was happening with greater rapidity as families and friends overseas assisted them in their endeavour to escape the Fiji trauma.

The silence around me offered a profound message. The village was emptying with the Indo-Fijian exodus and so was the nation of Fiji. The violence that had followed the coups had fuelled their fear and Indo-Fijian departure from Fiji was being realised faster than many had envisaged. I stood and my mind was captive to imagination. I closed my eyes and visualised the scene before me when the last Indo-Fijian farmer had left this village.

There was no sugarcane and the old railway line, through which had daily coursed the CSR Company’s steam engines, was submerged in bush. The sugarcane fields, which had been cultivated by the sweat and blood of our ancestors, were covered in thick bush. Herds of cattle grazed unaware of the history of these sacred environs. The river was deserted, lonely and silent. The roar of the Rarawai sugar mill, which I used to hear from the hill, was no more. It had been silenced many years ago. In the fire of racial hatred, the nation of Fiji was consumed. This hatred led to death and destruction and finally to desertion and desolation.

Nature had again asserted its authority over a land which humanity could not harmonise. I awoke to the thought that in comparing animals and human beings, we were the more vicious and destructive. It was all driven by greed and fed with hatred. Humanity had failed to abide in the adage that Nature had enough for everyone’s need but not for greed.

But alas! My vision was fading. A chorus of one of my favourite songs eclipsed the forlorn wilderness before me. I was captive to its deepest sentiments. The song was wrapped in pain, filled with sorrow and it was tearing my heart. It echoed and resonated across the valley below me:


Chal ud jaa re panchee ab ye desh huwa veerana; Khatam huwe din us daali ke jispar tera basera tha … Tune tinka tinka chun kar nagri ek basaai;

Vaarish mein teri bhigee paankhen, dhoop ne garmi khayee, Gum na kar ki teri kismet teri kaam na ayee.



The song is a deep lamentation that had enormous relevance to Indo-Fijian trauma in Fiji. Translated, the lyricist urges the birds of ill-fate to take flight, reminding them that the days of residing on the familiar branch have come to an end. He relates their struggles to a bird, soaked in rain and scorched by the sun yet collecting twigs to build her nest. He appeals to the victims not to grieve for their fate if it has failed to reward them for their deepest struggles, and to take flight from the desolate land.

In grief, I opened my eyes and saw the variety and harmony of Nature before me, co-existing without jealousy, hatred, malice or violence. I wondered why God’s finest creation — humanity — continued, wilfully, to immolate itself in the volatile flames of racism. Human beings were created and willed by God to rule over the rest of His creations. However, from time to time, humanity allowed the brute within itself to manifest and destroy its image as a reasonable and a sensible being. Abandoning our role as protectors of our inheritance, we had become predators, pillaging and destroying with reckless disregard for the consequences.

I could not remain any longer on the hill. The western hills were being drenched with tropical rain and it was threatening to soak me. Lightning lit up the western sky. It was followed by peals of thunder which rolled across the valley before me. I descended, immersed in thought. The thunder and lightning seemed to reflect the depth of Fijian hatred and the raging clouds seemed to signal the sunset of hope for our people in Fiji.

I hoped not. I hope that the Spirit of Christ will one day bring a deep conviction to the hearts of Fijians — those misinformed and misguided — that they will replace malice and hatred with love and forgiveness. I hope one day they will hoist the flag of Christ, anchored to the foundation of love, that will mark the beginning of a new dawn, ushering in new hope for all the people of Fiji to live together in harmony. Only this will allow Fiji to restore its lost soul and its lost spirit.

The two communities need each other in many aspects of Fiji’s social, economic and political life. It devolves on the leaders to build and not burn the bridges of understanding and goodwill. Indeed, violence is not the tool of sanity or humanity. It is the weapon of weakness, which attempts to justify the unjustifiable. It inhibits the use of reason in favour of might. It does not reside in justice but finds fulfilment in injustice. In its deadly embrace, ultimately, there are no victors when a nation is vanquished.

Yes, I have faith. I am not one of those who finds solace and comfort glued to the mourner’s bench. In the passage of life there is always hope just as the arrival of dawn comes after the darkness of night. Fiji has the power and the potential to rise from its ruins, and strengthen the cord of unity that binds all its people together. I hope the present and the future leaders of Fiji will take on this challenge and, in this, I share and echo the sentiments of the legendary freedom fighter of America, Dr Martin Luther King, when he wrote his famous letter of April 1963, from the Birmingham Jail:


Let us hope that the dark clouds of racial prejudice will soon pass away and the deep fog of misunderstanding will be lifted from our fear-drenched communities and in some not too distant tomorrow the radiant stars of love and brotherhood will shine over our great nation with all of their scintillating beauty.



God bless Fiji!








AFTERWORD

In this book, I have covered two very distinct periods of Indo-Fijian history. The indenture period is portrayed from a new perspective, noting that this era has not previously been scrutinised with vigour or with intensity from the Indo-Fijian point of view, and it has left a legacy that needs to be redeemed.

In my view, a significant period of our history is wrongfully embedded in shame and a generation of people, who toiled and sacrificed most, did not find anyone subsequently to redeem their suffering and shame. This book is written to instil a sense of awareness and appreciation in the hearts and minds of the Indo-Fijians, and to take the issue forward in seeking appropriate acknowledgement and expression of remorse from those who violated and robbed the pioneer generation of their labour, dignity, rights and freedom.

The second part of my book is a journey through the haze and the maze of the Fiji enigma, through its history — as it impacted on the Indo-Fijians — that ultimately peaked with the coups of 1987 and 2000. The coups, ostensibly executed to fulfil Fijian dreams and aspirations in the socio-economic area, failed. They caused social, economic and political chaos and re-ignited racial acrimony between the Indo-Fijians and Fijians.

It is time for leaders of honesty, courage, vision, compassion and commitment from every community to come forward to save Fiji from its calamitous descent into the abyss of racism. I have tried to be honest and frank and, in so doing, I have not been driven by anger or hate against individuals or any of the races. It has been done to facilitate better understanding of the perspectives and the perceptions, the currents that drive the volatile politics of Fiji, the ultimate victors and the victims. I conclude with hope, but do not discard the despair of the Indo-Fijian future in Fiji. There is despair in hope but there is also hope in despair — Fiji remains a mystery, and will remain so until its leaders make a wilful choice and commitment to build a new Fiji on the foundations of trust, love, forgiveness and goodwill.
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AUTHOR’S COMMENTS

Following the release of the first edition of Tears in Paradise in August 2004, I wrote to the British Government and the CSR Company asking them to accept their iniquities and to express their remorse. I also asked the British Government to consider some form of reparation to the descendants of Indian indentured labourers as a gesture of goodwill. In its response, the British Government ignored the contents of my letter saying: ‘I have passed your book to our research analyst on Fiji. He advises that the account it provides will prove a useful addition to our background sources on Fiji’.

I felt slighted by this response and the British claim to being the torch-bearer to the world on human rights, freedom and justice rang hollow. It was also inconsistent in its approach to such claims in that it has apologized to the Kenyan people for the excesses and failures of the British army in the 1970s and paid reparations of US$70 million as compensation to the victims. The destruction of lives of Indian indentured labourers and consequent damage it caused, through its ‘divide and rule’ policy, to the descendants of indentured labourers’ cries for justice. The British Government cannot escape its culpability. Seeds of racism planted during its colonial rule, for ease of governance, today bear bitter fruits and Indo-Fijians, the descendants of Indian indentured labourers, are victims of instability and insecurity in Fiji.

However, the CSR Company did express its regrets at the ill treatment of Indian indentured saying: ‘… I can understand and share your concern, and regret the treatment of labour (and Indian labour particularly) during CSR’s involvement in Fiji and I hope this gives you some comfort’.

A similar letter written to the Australian Government, accused of benefiting from the loot of CSR Company in Fiji, failed to receive any response.

I remain hopeful that the British Government will live up to its international image and accept its iniquities and express its remorse. Such a gesture will help the descendants of Indian indentured labourers to view their early history in light of its unique sacrifices with empathy and understanding. It will help them to redeem, reconnect and restore their lost history. It is tragic but fascinating and inspirational and it must be viewed in its proper context, as it represents struggle, suffering and sacrifice on a monumental scale.

I am overwhelmed with readers’ response to Tears in Paradise and I am sure that it will retain its eternal glow on our painful past for now and for posterity.
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APPENDIX ONE

(Introduction) Terms and Conditions of Indenture Agreement



	Period of service — Five years from the Date of Arrival in the Colony.

	Nature of labour — Work in connection with the Cultivation of the soil or the manufacture of the produce on any plantation.

	Number of days on which the Emigrant is required to labour each Week — Every day, excepting Sundays and authorised holidays.

	Number of hours in every day during which he is required to labour without extra remuneration — Nine hours on each of five consecutive days in every week commencing with the Monday of each week, and five hours on the Saturday of each week.

	Monthly or Daily Wages and Task-Work Rates — When employed at time-work every adult male Emigrant above the age of fifteen years will be paid not less than one shilling, which is at present equivalent to twelve annas and every adult female Emigrant above that age not less than nine pence, which is at present equivalent to nine annas, for every working day of nine hours; children below that age will receive wages proportionate to the amount of work done.

	When employed at task or ticca-work every adult male Emigrant above the age of fifteen years will be paid not less than one shilling, and every adult female Emigrant above that age not less than nine pence for every task which shall be performed.

	The law is that a man’s task shall be as much as an ordinary able-bodied adult male Emigrant can do in six hours’ steady work, and that a woman’s task shall be three-fourths of a man’s task. An employer is not bound to allot, nor is an Emigrant bound to perform more than one task in each day, but by mutual agreement such extra work may be allotted, performed and paid for.

	 Wages are paid weekly on the Saturday of each week.

	Conditions as to return passage — Emigrants may return to India at their own expense after completing five years’ industrial residence in the Colony.

	After ten years’ continuous residence every Emigrant who was above the age of twelve on introduction to the Colony and who during that period has completed an industrial residence of five years, shall be entitled to a free return passage if he claims it within two years after the completion of ten years’ continuous residence. If the Emigrant was under twelve years of age when he was introduced into the Colony, he will be entitled to a free return passage if he claims it before he reaches 24 years of age and fulfils the other conditions as to residence. A child of an Emigrant born within the colony will be entitled to a free return passage until he reaches the age of twelve, and must be accompanied on the voyage by his parents or guardian.

	Other Conditions — Emigrants will receive rations from their employers during the first six months after their arrival on the plantation according to the scale prescribed by the government of Fiji at a daily cost of four pence, which is at present equivalent to four annas, for each person of twelve years of age and upwards.

	Every child between five and twelve years of age will receive approximately half rations free of cost, and every child, five years of age and under, nine chattacks of milk daily free of cost, during the first year after their arrival.

	Suitable dwelling will be assigned to Emigrants under indenture free of rent and will be kept in good repair by the employers. When Emigrants under indenture are ill they will be provided with Hospital accommodation, Medical attendance, Medicines, Medical comforts and Food free of charge.

	An Emigrant who has a wife still living is not allowed to marry another wife in the Colony unless his marriage with his first wife shall have been legally dissolved; but if he is married to more than one wife in his country he can take them all with him to the Colony and they will then be legally registered and acknowledged as his wives.












APPENDIX TWO (Chapter Two)

Kunti’s Letter

The writer is Kunti, daughter of Charan Chamar of Lakhuapur P.O.Belghat, district Gorakhpur. She left her home with her husband named Jal and went to Gorakhpur where a coolie emigration agent induced them by holding out tempting offers to have them registered for emigration to the Fiji Island and took them to Calcutta where he left them in the emigration depot. They had to live there amidst great difficulties for some days after which they were huddled with other immigrants into a steamer bound for Fiji. When the steamer reached Suva in the island they were taken out and were huddled like sheep into a boat and were taken to depot named Nukulau. Whence she and her husband were sent to a firm named Wini Wakasi in district Rewa. She worked there with her husband for four years and was able to maintain her chastity although with great difficulty. Now the sardar and the overseer desired to violate her chastity. There is great difficulty in procuring evidence for all were afraid of the sardar. When the sardar and the overseer desired to violate the chastity of any woman they allotted work to her in a lonely place, where no evidence could be procured. A similar procedure was adopted when they wanted to beat any coolie. Under such circumstances several persons committed suicide or drowned themselves into a river. On 10 April 1913, she was sent to work in an out-of-the-way field alone. The sardar and the overseer came there bent on violating her chastity. When the sardar attempted to get hold of her hand she ran away in utter despair and plunged into the river but was rescued by a boy in his boat and landed on the other shore. When she referred the matter to the owner of the firm, he refused to listen to her. Now both she and her husband were being treated with greater harshness by the sardar and the overseer and were allotted extremely hard tasks. She and her husband were required to work separately at a distance of one mile from each other. She said that she was prepared to commit suicide if she found it impossible to maintain her chastity.

The woman concluded the letter with a warning to such Indian women as might, like her, be tempted to go to Fiji and with stirring appeal to the leaders of this country to try to put a stop to emigration to the Fiji Islands.1
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APPENDIX THREE

(Chapter 2) List of Ships and Date of Arrival



	Leonidas, 1879 May 15

	Berar, 1882 June 29

	Poonah I, 1882 Sept 17

	Poonah II, 1883 June 19

	Bayard, 1883 Aug 20

	 Syria, 1884 May 14

	Howrah, 1884 June 26

	 Pericles, 1884 July 3

	 Newnham S.S., 1884 July 23

	Naine, 1885 April 30

	Ganges I, 1885 June 27

	Boyne, 1886 April 26

	Bruce, 1886 May 21

	Hereford I, 1888 April 24

	Moy I, 1889 May 3

	Rhone 1, 1890 May 15

	Allanshaw, 1890 June 17

	Danube, 1891 June 15

	Jamuna I, 1891 June 27

	British Peer, 1892 April 23

	Avon I, 1892 May 5

	Hereford II, 1892 June 15

	Moy II, 1893 April 14

	Jumna II, 1893 May 23

	Elms I, 1894 April 20

	Hereford Ill, 1894 June 28

	Vadala S.S., 1895 March 26

	 Virawa S.S., 1 1895 April 26

	Erne, 1896 April 24

	Elbe II, 1896 June 13

	Rhone II, 1897 May 11

	Clyde, 1897 June 1

	Moy III, 1898 June 1

	Avon II, 1899 July 25

	Ganges II, 1899 Sept 3

	Ganges Ill, 1900 June 21

	EIbe II, 1900 July 26

	Amo I, 1900 July 23

	Rhine, 1900 August 30

	FaziIka, I 1901 March 28

	FultaIa I, 1901 May 12

	Fazilka II, 1901 June 18

	Virawa II, 1902 April 26

	Fazilka III, 1902 June 20

	Mersey, 1903 June 13

	Elbe lll, 1903 August 5

	Amo II, 1903 Sept. 4

	 Arno, 1904 May 3

	Elms II, 1904 July 30

	Fultala II, 1905 April 10

	Virawa Ill, 1905 July 17

	Wardha I, 1905 July 28

	Fultala III, 1905 Aug 17

	Fazilka IV, 1906 April 17

	Fultala IV, 1906 April 18

	Wardha II, 1906 June 28

	Fazilka V, 1907 January 28

	Virawa IV, 1907 March 23

	Fazilka VI, 1907 April 25

	 SangoIa I, 1908 March 18

	Sangola II, 1908 June 6

	Sangola III, 1909 February 1

	Sangola IV, 1909 April 21

	Sangola V, 1910 March 7

	Santhia I, 1910 April 22

	 Sangola VI, 1910 June 5

	Santhia II, 1910 July 8

	 Mutlah I, 1911 May 22

	 Sutlej I, 1911 June 25

	Ganges IV, 1911 July 22

	Mutlah ll, 1911 August 18

	Sutlej II, 1911 October 4

	Sutlej Ill, 1912 April 27

	Indus, 1912 June 8

	Ganges V, 1912 July 18

	Ganges VI, 1912 November 8

	Ganges VII, 1913 February 21

	Sutlej IV, 1913 April 11

	Ganges VIII, 1913 May 29

	 Ganges IX, 1913 Sept 9

	Chenab I, 1914 March 24

	 Chenab II, 1914 June 16

	Mutlah III,1915 May 7

	 Ganges X, 1915 June 21

	Mutlah IV,1915 August 1

	 Chenab Ill, 1916 September 1

	Sutlej V, 1916 November 11












APPENDIX FOUR

(Chapter 4) Hannah Dudley’s letter

Sir

Living in a country where the system called ‘Indentured labour’ is in vogue, one is continually oppressed in spirit by the fraud, injustice, and inhumanity of which fellow creatures are the victims.

Fifteen years ago I came to Fiji to do mission work among the Indian people here. I had previously lived in India for five years. Knowing the natural timidity of Indian village people and knowing also that they had no knowledge of any country beyond their own immediate district, it was a matter of great wonder to me as to how these people could have been induced to come thousands of miles from their own country to Fiji. The women were pleased to see me as I had lived in India and could talk with them of their own country. They would tell me of their troubles and how they had been entrapped by the recruiter or his agents. I will cite a few cases.

One woman told me she had quarrelled with her husband and in anger ran away from her mother-in-law’s house to go to her mother’s. A man on the road questioned her, and said he would show her the way. He took her to a depot for Indentured labour. Another woman said her husband went to work at another place. He sent word to his wife to follow him. On her way a man said he knew her husband and that he would take her to him. This woman was taken to a depot. She said that one day she saw her husband passing and cried out to him but was silenced. An Indian girl, was asked by a neighbour to go and see the Muharram festival. Whilst there she was prevailed upon to go to a depot. Another woman told me that she was going to a bathing ghat and was misled by a woman to a depot.

When in the depot these women are told that they can not go till they pay for food they have had and for the other expenses, they are unable to do so. They arrive in this country timid fearful women not knowing where they are to be sent. They are allotted to plantations like so many dumb animals. If they do not perform satisfactorily the work given to them, they are punished by being struck or fined, or they are even sent to gaol. The life on the plantations alters their demeanour and even their very faces. Some look crushed and broken-hearted, others sullen, others hard and evil, I shall never forget the first time I saw ‘indentured’ women. They were returning from their day’s work. The look on those women’s faces haunts me.

It is probably known to you that only about 33 women are brought out to Fiji to every one hundred men. I can not go into details concerning this system of legalised prostitution. To give you some idea of the result, it will be sufficient to say that every few months some Indian man murders for unfaithfulness of the woman whom he regards as his wife.

It makes one burn with indignation to think of the helpless little children born under the revolting condition of the ‘indentured labour’ system. I adopted two little girls — daughters of two unfortunate women who had been murdered. One was a sweet, graceful child so good and true. It is always a marvel to me how such a fair jewel could have come out of such loathsome environments. I took her with me to India some years ago, and there she died of tuberculosis. Her fair form was laid to rest on a hillside facing snow-capped Kinchin-chinga. The other child is still with me now grown up to be a loyal, true and pure girl. But what of the children — what of the girls — who are left to be brought up in such pollution?

After five years of slavery, after five years of legalised immorality — the people are ‘free’. And what kind of a community emerges after five years of such a life? Could it be a moral and self-respecting one? Yet some argue in favour of this worse than barbarous system, that the free Indians are better off financially than would be in their own country! I would ask you at what cost to the Indian people? What have their women forfeited? What is the heritage of their children?

And for what all this suffering and wrong against humanity? To gain profits — pounds, shillings and pence for sugar companies and planters and others interested.

I beseech you not to be satisfied with any reforms to the system of indentured labour. I beg you not to cease to use your influence against this iniquitous system till it be utterly abolished —

H. Dudley, Suva, Fiji, November 4, 1912.








APPENDIX FIVE


(Chapter 6) Pundit Totaram Sanadhya — A reflection

Reverend J.W. Burton acknowledged Sanadhya to be a man of intellect, a cool debater, a clever and well-educated Brahmin. He reflected on his ability in one of his conversations as Sanadhya defended himself and his religion with astuteness. He pre-empted Burton from suggesting his conversion to Christianity, saying:


‘Padri Saheb, why do you come here so often’? The speaker was a clever and well-educated Brahman with the finely chiselled features and lofty brow so typical of his kind.

‘Do you think that you will ever convert me?’ He laughed with mingled pride and courtesy upon his face; but the pride leapt forward and spoke.

‘I am of the sacred thread; my people, long generations before you were born, worshipped after this way. They discovered the only way for my caste, and our feet love the path. They spent their lives — not in winning bread, not in accumulating wealth — but in thinking about religion. For five thousand years they have been thinking, and here are their thoughts.’ He tapped his Vedas gently with his finger.

‘There are thoughts here that you English, clever as you are in science and machines, can never understand. All the good and true things in the Bible — love to the neighbour, forgiveness of injuries, purity of life and motive — and many more beside. Don’t think, please, that I dislike your coming. I am glad to talk about religion with any fair-minded man; but do not deceive yourself that you will ever influence me. The chances of your becoming a Hindu are much greater than those of my becoming a Christian. You may convert a few pariahs and ignorant men for whom Christianity is probably the best thing they can embrace. Your big missions are doing that — but I am not of that class, I am one who knows. Why do you come here so often, padri saheb?’2



Sanadhya worked in a difficult environment but it could not completely deter him from exerting his influence on his compatriots through his works. His stature rose amongst his people and this was reflected in an article in the Pacific Herald, dated 30 March 1914:


Tota Ram (Sanadhya) is leaving for good and his departure is much felt by the Indo-Fijians of Fiji, as he has been one of the leading Aryan lecturers and debaters in the Colony. It is noteworthy that Pundit Tota Ram is the first Indo-Fijian who has received an address from his fellow countrymen in Fiji.



The text of the address given to Pundit Totaram Sanadhya by his countrymen on his departure from Fiji read:


We will be indebted our whole lives for all your good deeds in the twenty-one years you have lived among the Fiji-dwelling Indians. Flying the flag of Sanatan Dharm in Fiji you have made all of us inclined towards religion. God will give you the reward for these deeds. You corresponded with Mahatma Gandhi and Dr Manilal and in the course of collecting money to call Dr Manilal you expended your own personal earning, went to plantations in the bush and in the mountains and not seeing your wife and children, collected 2,600 rupees and called Dr Manilal. It is not improper to say that Dr Manilal came by your hard work. The government of India sent a commission to investigate our sorrows. The Fiji Agent General gave the news of the coming investigation to the white landlords. We didn’t even dream that the commission would come. Showing your intelligence at this time, you took notice of the coolie agent about the commission’s investigation, had it translated into Hindi and sent to each and every plantation …

On seeing what happened to Kunti, it was you who had it published in the newspapers of India, and sent it as far as the leaders of the Indian government. You also told the government should accept the Hindu and Muslim religious marriages …3



Sanadhya believed in the dictum of the Hindu scripture, Hitopadesha, that the lives of good people were for the sake of others. He made the ultimate sacrifice in service to others. Truly, in his service to his people, he neither sought fame nor acclaim.

Indeed, Sanadhya was the first ‘political leader’ who sacrificed his entire life in the service of his people. He was the only leader who knew the Fijian culture, learned the Fijian language, and used it extensively. In a rare moment of difficulty, while in Australia, and not knowing the English language, he fended off a group of anxious locals, converging on him in his room, in the Fijian language. He said to them, ‘Lako, sa levu, oso ike!’4 (Move, it is so crowded here).

Sanadhya died at the Sabarmati Aashram and Mahatma Gandhi wrote the following eulogy:


Aged Totaram Ji, died without suffering. He was an ornament to the Sabarmati Aashram … With his single-wired instrument he used to charm the people of this ashram. Just as he was, so was his wife … He went to Fiji as a girmitiya. Deenbandhu Andrews found him. Banarsi Das Chaturvedi brought him to the ashram.



Sadly, ninety-eight per cent of Indo-Fijians did not know his name and yet his achievement in leadership and sacrifice is unequalled in the history of Indo-Fijians in the period covered by this book.
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GLOSSARY

This glossary provides meaning of words in the context they have been used in this text and may, in some cases, not be a standard Hindi word and, occasionally, differ in meaning to the original Hindi word.

Aarkathi deceitful person. People who recruited indentured labourers by deceit were called aarkathi by the recruits

Agni-pariksha acid test

Attariya attic, sleeping space

Baba father-in-law

Bhagao elope, runaway with someone’s daughter or wife

Bhajan religious hymn

Bhakti devotion

Bharossa trust

Bidesia Hindu folk song

Bilibili (Fijian word) banana stems tied together and used as raft for crossing river

Bilo (Fijian word) Bowl used to drink kava

C.S.O. Colonial Secretary’s office (National Archives Fiji reference)

Chaachi aunt

Chacha uncle

Daadaji grandfather

Daadiji grandmother

Daasnam traditional South Indian greeting

Dai midwife. She had dual role during indenture — delivered babies and also looked after them

Daighar children’s nursery during indenture period

Dandtaal piece of iron rod struck rhythmically with another small piece of iron

Dhal lentil

Dholakia drum player

Dhoti long loin cloth traditionally worn by Indians

Diwaali Hindu festival

Doli palanquin

Faag/Fagua hymns sung during Holi festival

Fukni metal tube used to blow air to stoke fire

Gathka a type of stick-play where stick is held between fingers and spun like rotary to attack, or defend oneself

Girmit indenture and girmit used interchangeably in this text. Indentured labourers unable to prononunce Indenture Agreement called it ‘girmit’ a distortion of the word ‘agreement’

Girmitiya Indentured labourers identified themselves as ‘girmitiya’

Guli-danda children’s game played with sticks

Hanumaanji monkey lieutenant in Lord Rama’s army

Holi Hindu festival

Indo-Fijian people of Indian origin born in Fiji

Izzat honour, self-respect

Jaat caste, race

Jahajibhai girmitiyas who travelled together in a ship called themselves jahajibhai and women called themselves jahajin

Jhuggi jhopris shacks and shanties

Junglee murgi organically grown chicken

Kaamchor lazy

Karambhumi Land of sacrifice

Karma Hindu belief on deeds and rewards

Kismet fate

Kotar jute bag

Kothariya residence

Kothi residence of CSR Company Kulambar in the villages was commonly referred to kothi

Kulambar referred to the white overseer. Each indentured labourer was allocated a number. The Overseers called the number to record attendance of girmitiyas each morning and word kulambar was articulated from words ‘call number’ by the illiterate girmitiyas

Kurbaan sacrifice

Kurta top worn by Indian women

Lala money lender

Lascar Indian sailor

Lehnga long skirt worn by Indian women

Maamledaar magistrate

Machaan raised platform

Mahajan rich man

Majeera cymbals

Mandap marriage shed

Mathni cream separator

Melas festivals

Moulvi Muslim Priest

Mukka fist

Mukti salvation

Murga rooster

Murgichor chicken thief

Nagara Indian drum

Nagonchi kava addict

Nakai (Fijian word) fresh water mussels

Namaste traditional Hindu greeting usually with hands joined together

Nana maternal grandfather

Narak Hell

Natli (South Indian word) word for schools of small fish

Odhni veil (was) traditionally worn by Hindu women over their head.

Pagla madman

Pagdi turban

Pagli mad woman

Pani water

Paniwallah water carrier

Pundit Hindu Priest

Purdah cover, veil

Ram Ram traditional Hindu greeting

Randi girlish

Randiwallah kulambar who supervised group of girmitya women

Rickshawallah rickshaw drivers in India

Sahib word of respect used after a name — Indians used it to address British men and memsahib for British women and was commonly used by them in Fiji until the 1970s.

Salaam Urdu word, extensively used for greeting the kulambars with right hand raised in salute

Sardar (sirdar) Headman (one of the girmitiyas) appointed by the kulambar and in the post-indenture period the head of a sugarcane harvesting unit

Sati old Hindu tradition where a widow immolated herself on the funeral pyre of husband

Sena army

Shikaar hunting

Soch downhearted, depressed

Tirnaal South Indian drama

Ullu mela carnival of madness

Vulagi (Fijian word) visitor
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Glimpses of the Indenture Period 1879–1919




[image: image_017]
Manilal Maganlal Doctor, barrister, who
was sent by Mahatma Gandhi to Fiji in 1912.






[image: image_018]
Totaram Sanadhya and his wife. He served the indentured
labourers with distinction and returned to India in 1914.






[image: image_019]
Coolie lines, grotesque structures, built to provide accommodation to the indentured labourers.






[image: image_020]
The sugar mill at Lautoka, established in 1904, is the largest sugar mill in the Southern Hemisphere.






[image: image_021]
Barge on the Rewa river being loaded with sugarcane and others in tow to the sugar mill.






[image: image_022]
Reverend Charles Freer Andrews, an emissary of Mahatma Gandhi, a man of rare courage
and conviction, who led a gallant fight against the indenture system and helped bring
its ultimate demise. In Fiji he was bestowed the title, Deenbandhu (the friend of the poor),
and schools were established in his name in Nadi and Suva.




Glimpses of the Post-Indenture Period 1920–1970


[image: image_023]
A proud corn farmer displays his produce but is unable to hide the poverty of his family
– a father wearing torn clothes with a naked baby in arms and children with tattered clothes.







[image: image_024]
The village Nawoo (barber) providing his services on the fringes of a farm.
The bottle next to him contains water that was a substitute to shaving cream.







[image: image_025]
A visibly tired sugarcane cutter returns home with cane-tops loaded onto his horse.
Cane-tops have always been valuable fodder for farmer’s cattle.






[image: image_026]
An Indian settlement in Nadi.
Bures (grass-thatched houses)
dotted the landscape breaking
the pervading greenery of the
sugarcane fields. In the foreground
a small projection in the
middle is the family well. The
majority of families relied on
wells for water.







[image: image_027]
An aerial view of the Ba River
valley shows the sprawling sugarcane
fields. Some of the richest
cane land lie on either side of the
Ba River.







[image: image_028]
Last barges of sugarcane brought
for crushing at Nausori Mill.
Until its closure in 1959, CSR
Company management operations
were based in Nausori.






[image: image_029]
Indo-Fijian farmer ploughing field.






[image: image_030]
A market day where the vendors sold their produce. Saturday remains the most prominent market day in
Fiji, and until the 1950s, most markets adjoined the sugar mills.






[image: image_031]
My parents, father Sardar Ram Lal (1910–1984)
and mother Ram Rati (1913–1997).






[image: image_032]
Daadaji, my grandfather, who went to Fiji as
an indentured labourer in 1908.







[image: image_033]
Typical scene when farmers congregated, some with their happy children, outside the mill offices
to receive payment for the sugarcane supplied to the CSR Company mills.







Glimpses of the Post-Indenture Period 1920–1970



[image: image_001]
Indo-Fijians returning home after
shopping with sacks of merchandise
being carried on their heads. Most
rural areas where the Indo-Fijian
farmers lived were without public
transport and people carried their
commodities on their shoulders or on
their heads for long distances.







[image: image_002]
Indo-Fijian farmer leads his cattle to
the grazing fields. Indo-Fijian bure
houses in the background and part of
a passenger bus on the right side.






[image: image_003]
Cattle amble home in the evening after
grazing. Indo-Fijians kept cows for
milk and bullocks for ploughing fields.






[image: image_004]
Roadside stall set-up by Indo-Fijian farmers. Many farmers supplemented their income growing food
crops on their farm and selling it at the markets or from roadside stalls.






[image: image_005]
An Indo-Fijian farmer transports seed cane on a cart pulled by a pair of bullock.








[image: image_006]
Humble beginnings – tin shacks and dilapidated bures comprised
Indo-Fijian family homes that gradually improved.






[image: image_007]
CSR Company free train service was a popular mode of transport in western Viti Levu
when public transport was scarce or unavailable in certain areas.




Pilgrimage to my roots, 1974


[image: image_008]
Shambhunath Tandon, Aruna and Ram Kumar Khare pose for a photograph
before our ride on the elephant.






[image: image_009]
Part of the family witnessing our ride on the elephant through the family sanctuary.







[image: image_010]
Family members watch our ride.






[image: image_011]
Aruna in the midst of women of the household.






[image: image_012]
At Ram Kumar Khare’s home. Sitting from left: Sant Ram, Ram Kumar Khare, Jangli, Daadaji’s cousin.
Standing from left: Shambhunath Tandon, myself, Aruna and an unidentified person.






[image: image_013]
Aruna paying traditional respect, touching the feet of Daadaji’s cousin Jangli
before we finally leave for the bus station.




In the aftermath of the coup of 19 May 2000


[image: image_014]
An Indo-Fijian family mourns as their house is destroyed by rebels.
(Indian Newslink NZ).








[image: image_016]
A distraught Indo-Fijian cries in front of his home that was burnt to the ground by Fijian youths. (NZ Herald)






[image: image_015]
Amidst threats and violence Indo-Fijian families flee their homes in fear
and are given shelter in a Fijian village hall. (NZ Herald)




    





		
			
				


			
			
				[image: back_cover]
			


		

	images/00031.jpeg





images/00030.jpeg





images/00033.jpeg





images/00032.jpeg





images/00035.jpeg





images/00034.jpeg





images/00037.jpeg





images/00036.jpeg





cover.jpeg
THIRD REVISED EDITION

Overseer’s whip comes down upon her half-naked back and legs.
The child is struck also. Both'are crying ...
Barnicoat poured boiling water on Poligardu’s genitals , . .
Overseer Blomfield bashed Narzini’s head on stones'.” .
her face covered in blood . . .

— Haunting tales of torture, torment and tedrs in Fijil

TEARS IN
PARADISE

.Sftﬂt;rz'ng am{; .Strz/‘q‘q/t:: g/[
Indians in Fiyi 1879-2004

o - —,
Mﬁ" — T

Rﬂéﬂd;ﬂ Prasad”

g





images/00028.jpeg





images/00027.jpeg





images/00029.jpeg





images/00020.jpeg





images/00022.jpeg





images/00021.jpeg





images/00024.jpeg





images/00023.jpeg





images/00026.jpeg





images/00025.jpeg





images/00017.jpeg
SRS R S






images/00016.jpeg





images/00019.jpeg





images/00018.jpeg
R
Rt N e






images/00011.jpeg





images/00010.jpeg





images/00013.jpeg





images/00012.jpeg





images/00015.jpeg





images/00014.jpeg





images/00040.jpeg
have constantly been drawn into this sorrow and
1o this solitude. T have grieved in the stillness of
the night and, in the fliflr [mf g/‘ thunder, I have

beard the muffled cries of our ancestors, imploring us, their
descendants, to ensure that their pain ani{_#ﬁn during
the indenture period (1879-1920) in Fiji, was not-lost-in the
mist of time and that those who destroyed their lives were
made o realize and accept their inequities and to express
their remarse.

“Thisis an aceotii of a former cra for peoplé of Tndian origin in Fij. Tt describes the

legacy that has been lef for 4 pevw generation to absorb and now move beyond. Rajendra

Prasads words fow from botk hear and head in a way that has taken 125 years o ell.
Anand Satyanand, Governor-General, New Zealand

Rajendra Prasad jsa direct descendant of a family that came to Fiji from India under the
Indenture System, He grew upin its shadows and has incimate knowledge of the trials
and tribulations of those who served under that pernicious system, and writes about
life under, indenture with knowledge, sincerity, sympathy and indeed compassion.
“This book is an important read for all those who are interested in an unbiased account
of the history of Fiji and in particular, the Indo-Fijians, over a period of more than a
hundred years,

Justice Jai Ram Reddy, Retired Judge, UN International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda

To thousands of modern-day Indo-Fijians and the diaspora, the girmit period is an
enigma. It constitutes a dark era i their history. The author has endured the pain of
delving deep into the years tounveil the mystery: The book makes compulsive reading;
more, it tells you about paradise lost n the real world.

Venkat Raman, Editor, Indian Newslink, duckland, New Zealand

Tears in Paradise, extensively researched and eloquently written, is the history of our
forefachers who were brought under the infamous i system to Fiji
by the British Colonial authoriti 9 mostly
illterate, simple rural

soberead and
story of this In peopl
it system, yet preserving their culture
the land they made their home.

*

-

Ajay Singh, High Commissioner, Government of India,
Siva, Fiji (2005-2006)

ISBN 978.0-473

" Rajendra Prasad,
author and former
" Town Clert, Ba, Fiji






images/00038.jpeg









images/00006.jpeg





images/00005.jpeg





images/00008.jpeg





images/00007.jpeg





images/00009.jpeg





